
Commissioners 
Nancy Shopay, Chair • Ron Kott, Vice-Chair • John Vasquez • Mitch Mashburn • Steve Bird 

Alternate Commissioners 
Robert Guerrero • Alma Hernandez • Wanda Williams 

Staff 
Rich Seithel, Executive Officer • Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer • Aaron Norman, Analyst II • Tova Guevara, 

Office Administrator/Clerk • Mala Subramanian, Lead Legal Counsel 

Solano County Government Center 
Board of Supervisors Chambers 

675 Texas Street  
Fairfield, CA 94533 

August 14, 2023 10:00 A.M. 

ATTENTION: This meeting is in person and open to the public. 

AGENDA 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND SALUTE TO THE FLAG

2. ROLL CALL

3. CHANGES AND APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

4. PUBLIC COMMENT

Opportunity for the public to speak to the Commission on any subject matter within the
Commission’s jurisdiction but not appearing on today’s agenda.

5. PUBLIC COMMENT ON CONSENT ITEMS

Each speaker shall have 3 minutes to address any or all items under Consent.

6. CONSENT ITEMS

A. Meeting Minutes – July 19,  2023
B. Financial Reports – July 2023
C. Technical Adjustment to Budget to Allocate Fund Balance to Re-Encumber for Active

Contracts.

7. PUBLIC HEARING

A. LAFCO Project No. 2023-05 Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1 – Pittman Road,
Blessed Baptist Church, Sunset Apartments (APNs: 0044-080-170, 0044-080-160,
0037-160-040, 0037-160-060, 0037-060-480, 0037-060-490) – The City of Fairfield
(City) is requesting to annex about 15 acres of Solano County jurisdictional island
areas.  The 15 acres consist of 3 separate islands broken into 6 parcels.  The islands
are not contiguous to each other, but are all substantially surrounded by the City of
Fairfield.  Additionally, the City requests the following concurrent actions: annexation

Solano Local Agency Formation Commission 
675 Texas St. Ste. 6700 • Fairfield, California 94533 

(707) 439-3897 • FAX: (707) 438-1788

Agenda Packet Page 1 of 338



into Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District; and detachment from the Suisun Fire Protection 
District, Cordelia Fire Protection District, Special Road Fund 108, and Solano County 
Lighting Service Area.  The 3 islands are more generally referred to as: (A-PR) Pittman 
Road, (B-SA) Sunset Apartments, (C-BBC) Blessed Baptist Church.   

 
CEQA: Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 is consistent through: 

- Categorically Exempt under PRC §15319 and §15303 for Pittman Road  
- Reaffirm the City of Fairfield's Mitigated Negative Declaration for Sunset 

Avenue Apartments (SCH# 2022080702) 
- Reaffirm the City of Fairfield’s Mitigated Negative Declaration for Blessed 

Baptist Church 
 
8. BUSINESS ITEMS 
 

A. LAFCO Project 2023-12: Update the Personnel and Salary Resolution Appendix 
A to Reflect a 5% Cost of Living Adjustment for LAFCO Classifications of Office 
Administrator/Clerk, Analyst I, Analyst II, Sr. Analyst, and Deputy Executive 
Officer, Effective July 1, 2023, and Update the Executive Officer’s Salary. 
 
Execute Contract Amendment 2023-01 Amending Section 5.01 Executive Officer 
Annual Salary, Effective June 12, 2023. 
 
During the June 12, 2023 Commission Hearing for the FY 2023-24 Final Budget, the 
Commission approved a 5% COLA for non-contracted employees.  This action adopts 
the COLA revisions and amends the Salary Schedule.  
 
Additionally, the Commission held a closed session for the Executive Officer 
evaluation and contract negotiation for a salary increase.  This action amends the 
Executive Officer Contract’s annual salary. 

 
B. LAFCO Project 2023-11: Amend the Personnel and Salary Resolution by 

Approving the New LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification and Related 
Changes to Section 4.11 Administrative Leave, Position Descriptions, and 
Appendix A and B; and Appropriate Funds to Fill the Position. 
 
During the LAFCO Commission public hearing on the Final Budget for Fiscal Year 
2023-2024 on June 12, 2023, the Commission directed staff to review the fund balance 
in consideration of a possible new employment position with a primary focus on in-
house service reviews and sphere of influence updates as opposed to continuing to 
contract with outside consultants.  Therefore, the staff proposes the attached job 
classification for LAFCO Project Specialist.  

9. EXECUTIVE OFFICER UPDATES 
 

The Executive Officer will briefly provide Commission status updates on major ongoing 
tasks and inform Commission of any known upcoming projects. 

 
10. CLOSED SESSION  

 
None.   

 
11. REPORT OF CLOSED SESSION 

 

Agenda Packet Page 2 of 338



12. ADJOURNMENT  
 
Materials related to an item on this agenda are available for public inspection at the LAFCO office 
at 675 Texas St. Ste. 6700 Fairfield, CA during normal business hours and on LAFCO’s website 
at https://www.solanolafco.com/. Please note: LAFCO meetings are recorded and posted on 
the Commission’s website.   
 
Any person who has contributed $250 or more to a Commissioner or Alternate is obligated to 
disclose the contribution to the Commissioner or Alternate or to LAFCO staff. 
  
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you are a disabled person and you need 
a disability-related modification or accommodation to participate in this meeting, please contact 
the LAFCO staff at (707) 439-3898 by email to clove@solanolafco.com.   Requests must be made 
as early as possible and at least two business days before the start of the meeting. 
 
Non-confidential materials related to an item on this agenda submitted to the Commission after 
distribution of the agenda packet will be e-mailed to you upon request. You may request materials 
by emailing clove@solanolafco.com.  
 

Agenda Packet Page 3 of 338

https://www.solanolafco.com/
mailto:clove@solanolafco.com
mailto:clove@solanolafco.com


Commissioners 
Nancy Shopay, Chair • Ron Kott, Vice-Chair • John Vasquez • Mitch Mashburn • Steve Bird 

Alternate Commissioners 
Robert Guerrero • Alma Hernandez • Wanda Williams 

Staff 
Rich Seithel, Executive Officer • Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer • Aaron Norman, Analyst II 

• Mala Subramanian, Lead Legal Counsel

                                                                                                  
5t.rj 

Solano County Government Center 
Board of Supervisors Chambers 

675 Texas Street  
Fairfield, CA 94533 

July 19, 2023 10:00 A.M. 
SPECIAL MEETING 

MINUTES 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND SALUTE TO THE FLAG

10:00AM

2. ROLL CALL

Present:
Commissioners: Nancy Shopay, Ron Kott, John Vasquez, Steven 

Bird, Mitch Mashburn 
Alternate Commissioners: Robert Guerrero 

Staff: 
Rich Seithel, Executive Officer; Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer; Aaron 
Norman, Analyst II; Mala Subramanian, Lead Legal Counsel 

3. CHANGES AND APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

None.
Com. Kott moved to approve. Com. Vasquez seconded.

AYES:   Shopay, Kott, Vasquez, Bird, Mashburn 
NOES: None 
ABSENT:  None 
ABSTAIN: None 

4. PUBLIC COMMENT

None.

Solano Local Agency Formation Commission 
675 Texas St. Ste. 6700 • Fairfield, California 94533 

(707) 439-3897 • FAX: (707) 438-1788

Agenda Item 6.A - Minutes July 19, 2023

Page 1 of 3

Agenda Packet Page 4 of 338



5. PUBLIC COMMENT ON CONSENT ITEMS

None.

6. CONSENT ITEMS

A. Meeting Minutes – June 12, 2023
B. Financial Reports – June 2023

Com. Vasquez moved to approve. Com. Mashburn seconded. 

AYES: Shopay, Kott, Vasquez, Bird, Mashburn 
NOES: None 
ABSENT: None 
ABSTAIN: None 

7. PUBLIC HEARING

A. 2023-07 Solano Irrigation District detachment of Lower Lagoon Valley Project
(Vacaville) (APNs 0128-050-140, 0128-090-070, & 0128-040-380) – Staff presented
the project and recommend that Commission approved the detachment.  There were
no public speakers.  Com. Vasquez asked if the remaining Lower Lagoon Plan area is
going to remain in SID.  Staff explained that the JPA between Vacaville and SID allows
the land to remain until it is ready to be developed.

Com. Mashburn moved to approve. Com. Vasquez seconded. 

AYES: Shopay, Kott, Vasquez, Bird, Mashburn 
NOES: None 
ABSENT: None 
ABSTAIN: None 

8. BUSINESS ITEMS

None.

9. EXECUTIVE OFFICER UPDATES

Executive Officer reminded the Commission that the annual CALAFCO Conference is
coming up on October 18-20 in Monterey.  EO recommended that if any commissioner is
interested, please let staff know in the next week so staff can make the arrangements
before accommodations are booked up.  Commission asked that staff send the 2023
agenda if available, or the 2022 agenda to give commissioners an idea of the topics
discussed.  EO agreed.

EO also reminded Commissioners to deposit stipend checks when received, as the auditor
has advised staff that there are several outstanding warrants.

10. CLOSED SESSION

None.

11. REPORT OF CLOSED SESSION

Agenda Item 6.A - Minutes July 19, 2023

Page 2 of 3

Agenda Packet Page 5 of 338



None. 

12. ADJOURNMENT

10:15 am.

Materials related to an item on this agenda are available for public inspection at the LAFCO office 
at 675 Texas St. Ste. 6700 Fairfield, CA during normal business hours and on LAFCO’s website 
at https://www.solanolafco.com/. Please note: LAFCO meetings are recorded and posted on 
the Commission’s website.   

Any person who has contributed $250 or more to a Commissioner or Alternate is obligated to 
disclose the contribution to the Commissioner or Alternate or to LAFCO staff. 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you are a disabled person and you need 
a disability-related modification or accommodation to participate in this meeting, please contact 
the LAFCO staff at (707) 439-3898 by email to clove@solanolafco.com.   Requests must be made 
as early as possible and at least two business days before the start of the meeting. 

Non-confidential materials related to an item on this agenda submitted to the Commission after 
distribution of the agenda packet will be e-mailed to you upon request. You may request materials 
by emailing clove@solanolafco.com.  

Agenda Item 6.A - Minutes July 19, 2023

Page 3 of 3

Agenda Packet Page 6 of 338

https://www.solanolafco.com/
mailto:clove@solanolafco.com
mailto:clove@solanolafco.com


*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
7
/
3
1
/
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
S
 
T
 
A
 
T
 
U
 
S
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
1

T
H
U
,
 
A
U
G
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
3
,
 
 
4
:
3
9
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
C
L
O
V
E
-
-
-
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
6
9
4
3
8
9
4
 
J
6
4
5
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
6
9
 
<
1
.
1
6
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
S
M
S
R
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
E
C
T
I
O
N
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
B
U
R
E
A
U
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
I
V
I
S
I
O
N
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d

F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5

L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
M
o
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
 
Y
T
D
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
5
0
 
 
 
 
D
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
F
U
N
D
S

0
0
0
1
0
2
5
 
I
N
T
R
A
F
U
N
D
 
C
L
E
A
R
I
N
G

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

-
6
4
,
1
7
2
.
3
3

-
6
4
,
1
7
2
.
3
3

0
.
0
0

6
4
,
1
7
2
.
3
3
 
9
9
9
9
%

0
0
5
0
 
 
 
 
D
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
F
U
N
D
S

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

-
6
4
,
1
7
2
.
3
3

-
6
4
,
1
7
2
.
3
3

0
.
0
0

6
4
,
1
7
2
.
3
3
 
9
9
9
9
%

1
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
S
A
L
A
R
I
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
E
 
B
E
N
E
F
I
T
S

0
0
0
1
1
1
0
 
S
A
L
A
R
Y
/
W
A
G
E
S
 
R
E
G
U
L
A
R

4
2
6
,
1
7
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

2
3
,
2
3
8
.
5
4

2
3
,
2
3
8
.
5
4

0
.
0
0

4
0
2
,
9
3
1
.
4
6
 
 
 
 
5
%

0
0
0
1
2
1
0
 
R
E
T
I
R
E
M
E
N
T
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R

5
0
,
4
5
2
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

2
,
5
9
7
.
7
5

2
,
5
9
7
.
7
5

0
.
0
0

4
7
,
8
5
4
.
2
5
 
 
 
 
5
%

0
0
0
1
2
1
2
 
D
E
F
E
R
R
E
D
 
C
O
M
P
-
C
O
U
N
T
Y
 
M
A
T
C

5
2
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

1
5
.
0
0

1
5
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

5
0
5
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
3
%

0
0
0
1
2
2
0
 
F
I
C
A
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R

6
,
1
8
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

3
5
3
.
3
0

3
5
3
.
3
0

0
.
0
0

5
,
8
2
6
.
7
0
 
 
 
 
6
%

0
0
0
1
2
3
0
 
H
E
A
L
T
H
 
I
N
S
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R

6
6
,
2
5
9
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

2
,
5
6
7
.
0
5

2
,
5
6
7
.
0
5

0
.
0
0

6
3
,
6
9
1
.
9
5
 
 
 
 
4
%

0
0
0
1
2
3
1
 
V
I
S
I
O
N
 
C
A
R
E
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E

7
8
1
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

2
4
.
1
2

2
4
.
1
2

0
.
0
0

7
5
6
.
8
8
 
 
 
 
3
%

0
0
0
1
2
4
0
 
C
O
M
P
E
N
S
A
T
I
O
N
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E

1
,
9
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

1
,
9
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
1
2
4
1
 
L
T
 
D
I
S
A
B
I
L
I
T
Y
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
E

3
,
6
6
6
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

9
1
.
8
9

9
1
.
8
9

0
.
0
0

3
,
5
7
4
.
1
1
 
 
 
 
3
%

0
0
0
1
2
5
0
 
U
N
E
M
P
L
O
Y
M
E
N
T
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E

1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

4
3
.
8
7

4
3
.
8
7

0
.
0
0

1
,
4
5
6
.
1
3
 
 
 
 
3
%

0
0
0
1
2
6
0
 
D
E
N
T
A
L
 
I
N
S
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R

3
,
6
3
8
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

2
5
9
.
2
0

2
5
9
.
2
0

0
.
0
0

3
,
3
7
8
.
8
0
 
 
 
 
7
%

0
0
0
1
2
7
0
 
A
C
C
R
U
E
D
 
L
E
A
V
E
 
C
T
O
 
P
A
Y
O
F
F

2
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

2
,
2
5
1
.
0
4

2
,
2
5
1
.
0
4

0
.
0
0

2
2
,
7
4
8
.
9
6
 
 
 
 
9
%

0
0
0
1
2
9
0
 
L
I
F
E
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R

3
,
5
0
7
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

1
3
7
.
6
7

1
3
7
.
6
7

0
.
0
0

3
,
3
6
9
.
3
3
 
 
 
 
4
%

1
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
S
A
L
A
R
I
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
E
 
B
E
N

5
8
9
,
5
7
3
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

3
1
,
5
7
9
.
4
3

3
1
,
5
7
9
.
4
3

0
.
0
0

5
5
7
,
9
9
3
.
5
7
 
 
 
 
5
%

2
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
0
0
2
0
2
1
 
C
O
M
M
U
N
I
C
A
T
I
O
N
-
T
E
L
E
P
H
O
N
E
 
S

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
0
2
6
 
C
E
L
L
 
P
H
O
N
E
 
A
L
L
O
W
A
N
C
E

2
,
5
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

1
1
2
.
5
0

1
1
2
.
5
0

0
.
0
0

2
,
3
8
7
.
5
0
 
 
 
 
5
%

0
0
0
2
0
2
8
 
T
E
L
E
P
H
O
N
E
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S

4
,
8
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

3
6
3
.
3
3

3
6
3
.
3
3

0
.
0
0

4
,
4
3
6
.
6
7
 
 
 
 
8
%

0
0
0
2
0
5
1
 
L
I
A
B
I
L
I
T
Y
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E

7
,
4
6
7
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

8
,
3
1
6
.
7
9

8
,
3
1
6
.
7
9

0
.
0
0

-
8
4
9
.
7
9
 
 
1
1
1
%

0
0
0
2
1
4
0
 
M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E
-
B
L
D
G
S
 
&
 
I
M
P
R
O

5
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

5
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
1
7
0
 
M
E
M
B
E
R
S
H
I
P
S

1
1
,
5
5
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

8
,
1
0
7
.
0
0

8
,
1
0
7
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

3
,
4
4
3
.
0
0
 
 
 
7
0
%

0
0
0
2
1
8
0
 
B
O
O
K
S
 
&
 
S
U
B
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N
S

4
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

4
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
0
0
 
O
F
F
I
C
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E

1
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

2
4
1
.
5
8

2
4
1
.
5
8

0
.
0
0

1
4
,
7
5
8
.
4
2
 
 
 
 
2
%

0
0
0
2
2
0
2
 
C
O
N
T
 
A
S
S
E
T
S
 
C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
R
E
L
A

3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
0
4
 
C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
R
E
L
A
T
E
D
 
I
T
E
M
S
:
<
$

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

Agenda Item 6.B - Financial Reports: July 2023

Staff Report Page 1 of 11

Agenda Packet Page 7 of 338



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
7
/
3
1
/
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
S
 
T
 
A
 
T
 
U
 
S
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
2

T
H
U
,
 
A
U
G
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
3
,
 
 
4
:
3
9
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
C
L
O
V
E
-
-
-
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
6
9
4
3
8
9
4
 
J
6
4
5
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
6
9
 
<
1
.
1
6
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
S
M
S
R
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
E
C
T
I
O
N
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
B
U
R
E
A
U
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
I
V
I
S
I
O
N
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d

F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5

L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
M
o
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
 
Y
T
D
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
2
2
0
5
 
P
O
S
T
A
G
E

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
3
5
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
I
N
G
 
&
 
F
I
N
A
N
C
I
A
L
 
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
9
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
2
4
3
.
4
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
2
4
3
.
4
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
8
,
2
5
6
.
5
2
 
 
 
 
4
%

0
0
0
2
2
3
9
 
L
E
G
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E

4
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

4
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
4
5
 
C
O
N
T
R
A
C
T
E
D
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S

1
8
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

1
8
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
5
0
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
P
R
O
F
E
S
S
I
O
N
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
3
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
0
8
.
7
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
0
8
.
7
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
2
,
8
9
1
.
2
4
 
 
 
 
2
%

0
0
0
2
2
6
6
 
C
E
N
T
R
A
L
 
D
A
T
A
 
P
R
O
C
E
S
S
I
N
G
 
S

2
3
,
1
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

2
3
,
1
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
7
1
 
S
O
F
T
W
A
R
E
 
R
E
N
T
A
L
 
/
 
S
U
B
S
C
R
I

3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
8
0
 
P
U
B
L
I
C
A
T
I
O
N
S
 
A
N
D
 
L
E
G
A
L
 
N
O

1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
8
5
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
-
C
O
P
I
E
R
S
/
M
F
D
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
4
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
1
5
.
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
1
5
.
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
9
8
4
.
7
7
 
 
 
 
5
%

0
0
0
2
2
9
5
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
-
 
B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G
S

2
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

2
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
3
1
0
 
E
D
U
C
A
T
I
O
N
 
&
 
T
R
A
I
N
I
N
G

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
3
3
5
 
T
R
A
V
E
L
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E

1
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

1
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
3
3
9
 
M
A
N
A
G
E
M
E
N
T
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
E
X
P
E
N

2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
3
5
4
 
C
A
R
 
A
L
L
O
W
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
2
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
,
7
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
6
%

0
0
0
2
3
5
5
 
P
E
R
S
O
N
A
L
 
M
I
L
E
A
G
E

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

2
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

4
1
5
,
4
1
7
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

1
9
,
8
5
8
.
6
7

1
9
,
8
5
8
.
6
7

0
.
0
0

3
9
5
,
5
5
8
.
3
3
 
 
 
 
5
%

3
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
C
H
A
R
G
E
S

0
0
0
3
2
3
5
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
-
 
L
T
 
L
E
A
S
E
-

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

3
4
.
2
7

3
4
.
2
7

0
.
0
0

-
3
4
.
2
7
 
9
9
9
9
%

3
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
C
H
A
R
G
E
S

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

3
4
.
2
7

3
4
.
2
7

0
.
0
0

-
3
4
.
2
7
 
9
9
9
9
%

9
2
0
0
 
 
 
 
L
I
C
E
N
S
E
S
,
 
P
E
R
M
I
T
S
 
&
 
F
R
A
N
C
H
I
S
E

0
0
0
9
2
2
9
 
L
I
C
E
N
S
E
S
 
&
 
P
E
R
M
I
T
S
-
O
T
H
E
R

7
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

7
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

9
2
0
0
 
 
 
 
L
I
C
E
N
S
E
S
,
 
P
E
R
M
I
T
S
 
&
 
F
R
A
N
C

7
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

7
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

9
4
0
0
 
 
 
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
U
S
E
 
O
F
 
M
O
N
E
Y
/
P
R
O
P

0
0
0
9
4
0
1
 
I
N
T
E
R
E
S
T
 
I
N
C
O
M
E

3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

9
4
0
0
 
 
 
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
U
S
E
 
O
F
 
M
O
N
E
Y

3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

Agenda Item 6.B - Financial Reports: July 2023

Staff Report Page 2 of 11

Agenda Packet Page 8 of 338



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
7
/
3
1
/
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
S
 
T
 
A
 
T
 
U
 
S
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
3

T
H
U
,
 
A
U
G
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
3
,
 
 
4
:
3
9
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
C
L
O
V
E
-
-
-
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
6
9
4
3
8
9
4
 
J
6
4
5
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
6
9
 
<
1
.
1
6
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
S
M
S
R
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
E
C
T
I
O
N
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
B
U
R
E
A
U
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
I
V
I
S
I
O
N
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d

F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5

L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
M
o
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
 
Y
T
D
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

9
5
0
0
 
 
 
 
I
N
T
E
R
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
S

0
0
0
9
5
1
1
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 
A
G
E
N
C
I

8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

9
5
0
0
 
 
 
 
I
N
T
E
R
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E

8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

T
o
t
a
l
 
R
e
v
e
n
u
e

9
7
3
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

9
7
3
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

T
o
t
a
l
 
E
x
p
e
n
s
e

1
,
0
0
4
,
9
9
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

5
1
,
4
7
2
.
3
7

5
1
,
4
7
2
.
3
7

0
.
0
0

9
5
3
,
5
1
7
.
6
3
 
 
 
 
5
%

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

-
5
1
,
4
7
2
.
3
7

-
5
1
,
4
7
2
.
3
7

Agenda Item 6.B - Financial Reports: July 2023

Staff Report Page 3 of 11

Agenda Packet Page 9 of 338



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
7
/
3
1
/
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
1

T
H
U
,
 
A
U
G
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
3
,
 
 
4
:
4
0
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
C
L
O
V
E
-
-
-
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
6
9
4
3
8
9
5
 
J
6
4
6
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d

F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

K
e
y

K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5

L
A
F
C
O

3
4
5
0

L
A
F
C
O

3
4
5
0

L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
5
0

D
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
F
U
N
D
S

0
0
0
1
0
2
5
 
 
I
N
T
R
A
F
U
N
D
 
C
L
E
A
R
I
N
G

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
0
9
6
7
6
7
 
J
o
b
:
6
8
6
0
8
 
0
7
/
0
6
/
2
3
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H

-
1
6
,
4
2
3
.
7
9

A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
0
9
6
9
7
7
 
J
o
b
:
6
8
6
4
5
 
0
7
/
0
7
/
2
3
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H

-
1
7
2
.
3
6

A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
1
0
8
5
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
6
8
 
0
7
/
0
7
/
2
3
 
2
4
0
0
0
0
1
4
 
-
 
J
E

-
8
.
7
6

A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
1
1
5
9
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
6
8
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E

-
2
5
,
3
9
9
.
8
8

A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
1
2
1
5
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
6
8
 
0
7
/
1
7
/
2
3
 
2
4
0
0
0
1
5
0
 
-
 
J
E

-
8
4
.
0
0

A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
0
9
8
7
0
5
 
J
o
b
:
6
8
9
9
6
 
0
7
/
2
0
/
2
3
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H

-
1
9
0
.
9
7

A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
0
9
8
9
7
8
 
J
o
b
:
6
9
1
1
0
 
0
7
/
2
4
/
2
3
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H

-
6
0
0
.
0
0

A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
0
9
9
2
0
2
 
J
o
b
:
6
9
2
2
1
 
0
7
/
2
6
/
2
3
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H

-
2
4
1
.
5
8

A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
1
4
7
7
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
6
9
 
0
7
/
2
6
/
2
3
 
2
4
0
0
0
4
2
5
 
-
 
J
E

-
1
,
2
4
3
.
4
8

A
u
t
o
I
D
:
 
J
V
0
2
1
5
3
0
 
J
o
b
:
 
 
6
9
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E

-
1
9
,
3
5
8
.
0
1

A
u
t
o
I
D
:
A
P
0
9
9
5
3
9
 
J
o
b
:
6
9
3
1
3
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
T
T
L
O
H
 
-
 
O
H

-
4
4
9
.
5
0

0
0
0
1
0
2
5
 
 
I
N
T
R
A
F
U
N
D
 
C
L
E
A
R
I
N
G

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

-
6
4
,
1
7
2
.
3
3

0
.
0
0

6
4
,
1
7
2
.
3
3
 
9
9
9
9
%

0
0
5
0

D
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
F
U
N
D
S

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

-
6
4
,
1
7
2
.
3
3

0
.
0
0

6
4
,
1
7
2
.
3
3
 
9
9
9
9
%

1
0
0
0

S
A
L
A
R
I
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
E
 
B
E
N
E
F
I
T
S

0
0
0
1
1
1
0
 
 
S
A
L
A
R
Y
/
W
A
G
E
S
 
R
E
G
U
L
A
R

4
2
6
,
1
7
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

4
2
6
,
1
7
0
.
0
0

P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E

1
6
,
3
8
8
.
2
0

P
/
R
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
5
0
%
 
T
O
 
2
0
2
2
/
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
/
R
 
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
-
 
J
E

-
8
,
1
9
4
.
1
0

P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E

1
5
,
0
4
4
.
4
4

0
0
0
1
1
1
0
 
 
S
A
L
A
R
Y
/
W
A
G
E
S
 
R
E
G
U
L
A
R

4
2
6
,
1
7
0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

2
3
,
2
3
8
.
5
4

0
.
0
0

4
0
2
,
9
3
1
.
4
6
 
 
 
 
5
%

0
0
0
1
2
1
0
 
 
R
E
T
I
R
E
M
E
N
T
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R

5
0
,
4
5
2
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

5
0
,
4
5
2
.
0
0

P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E

1
,
7
4
7
.
5
0

P
/
R
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
5
0
%
 
T
O
 
2
0
2
2
/
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
/
R
 
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
-
 
J
E

-
8
7
3
.
7
5

C
A
L
P
E
R
S
 
1
9
5
9
 
S
U
R
V
I
V
O
R
 
B
E
N
 
0
7
/
1
7
/
2
3
 
2
4
0
0
0
1
5
0
 
-
 
J
E

8
4
.
0
0

P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E

1
,
6
4
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
1
2
1
0
 
 
R
E
T
I
R
E
M
E
N
T
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R

5
0
,
4
5
2
.
0
0

0
.
0
0

2
,
5
9
7
.
7
5

0
.
0
0

4
7
,
8
5
4
.
2
5
 
 
 
 
5
%

Agenda Item 6.B - Financial Reports: July 2023

Staff Report Page 4 of 11

Agenda Packet Page 10 of 338



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
7
/
3
1
/
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
2

T
H
U
,
 
A
U
G
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
3
,
 
 
4
:
4
0
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
C
L
O
V
E
-
-
-
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
6
9
4
3
8
9
5
 
J
6
4
6
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
1
2
1
2
 
 
D
E
F
E
R
R
E
D
 
C
O
M
P
-
C
O
U
N
T
Y
 
M
A
T
C
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
2
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
2
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
/
R
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
5
0
%
 
T
O
 
2
0
2
2
/
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
/
R
 
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
5
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
1
2
1
2
 
 
D
E
F
E
R
R
E
D
 
C
O
M
P
-
C
O
U
N
T
Y
 
M
A
T
C
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
2
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
5
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
5
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
3
%

0
0
0
1
2
2
0
 
 
F
I
C
A
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
,
1
8
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
,
1
8
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
4
8
.
4
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
/
R
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
5
0
%
 
T
O
 
2
0
2
2
/
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
/
R
 
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
2
4
.
2
4

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
2
9
.
0
7

0
0
0
1
2
2
0
 
 
F
I
C
A
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
,
1
8
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
5
3
.
3
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
,
8
2
6
.
7
0
 
 
 
 
6
%

0
0
0
1
2
3
0
 
 
H
E
A
L
T
H
 
I
N
S
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
6
,
2
5
9
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
6
,
2
5
9
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
7
1
2
.
3
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
/
R
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
5
0
%
 
T
O
 
2
0
2
2
/
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
/
R
 
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
8
5
6
.
1
9

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
7
1
0
.
8
7

0
0
0
1
2
3
0
 
 
H
E
A
L
T
H
 
I
N
S
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
6
,
2
5
9
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
5
6
7
.
0
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
3
,
6
9
1
.
9
5
 
 
 
 
4
%

0
0
0
1
2
3
1
 
 
V
I
S
I
O
N
 
C
A
R
E
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
8
1
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
8
1
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
.
0
8

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
/
R
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
5
0
%
 
T
O
 
2
0
2
2
/
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
/
R
 
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
8
.
0
4

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
6
.
0
8

0
0
0
1
2
3
1
 
 
V
I
S
I
O
N
 
C
A
R
E
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
8
1
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
4
.
1
2
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
6
.
8
8
 
 
 
 
3
%

0
0
0
1
2
4
0
 
 
C
O
M
P
E
N
S
A
T
I
O
N
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
9
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
9
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
1
2
4
0
 
 
C
O
M
P
E
N
S
A
T
I
O
N
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
9
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
9
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
1
2
4
1
 
 
L
T
 
D
I
S
A
B
I
L
I
T
Y
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
6
6
6
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
6
6
6
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
1
.
2
6

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
/
R
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
5
0
%
 
T
O
 
2
0
2
2
/
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
/
R
 
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
0
.
6
3

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
1
.
2
6

Agenda Item 6.B - Financial Reports: July 2023

Staff Report Page 5 of 11

Agenda Packet Page 11 of 338



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
7
/
3
1
/
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
3

T
H
U
,
 
A
U
G
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
3
,
 
 
4
:
4
0
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
C
L
O
V
E
-
-
-
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
6
9
4
3
8
9
5
 
J
6
4
6
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
1
2
4
1
 
 
L
T
 
D
I
S
A
B
I
L
I
T
Y
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
6
6
6
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
1
.
8
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
5
7
4
.
1
1
 
 
 
 
3
%

0
0
0
1
2
5
0
 
 
U
N
E
M
P
L
O
Y
M
E
N
T
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
0
.
4
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
/
R
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
5
0
%
 
T
O
 
2
0
2
2
/
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
/
R
 
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
0
.
2
4

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
3
.
6
4

0
0
0
1
2
5
0
 
 
U
N
E
M
P
L
O
Y
M
E
N
T
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
3
.
8
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
4
5
6
.
1
3
 
 
 
 
3
%

0
0
0
1
2
6
0
 
 
D
E
N
T
A
L
 
I
N
S
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
6
3
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
6
3
8
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
7
2
.
8
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
/
R
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
5
0
%
 
T
O
 
2
0
2
2
/
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
/
R
 
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
8
6
.
4
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
7
2
.
8
0

0
0
0
1
2
6
0
 
 
D
E
N
T
A
L
 
I
N
S
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
6
3
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
5
9
.
2
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
3
7
8
.
8
0
 
 
 
 
7
%

0
0
0
1
2
7
0
 
 
A
C
C
R
U
E
D
 
L
E
A
V
E
 
C
T
O
 
P
A
Y
O
F
F
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
5
0
2
.
0
8

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
/
R
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
5
0
%
 
T
O
 
2
0
2
2
/
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
/
R
 
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
2
,
2
5
1
.
0
4

0
0
0
1
2
7
0
 
 
A
C
C
R
U
E
D
 
L
E
A
V
E
 
C
T
O
 
P
A
Y
O
F
F
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
2
5
1
.
0
4
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
2
,
7
4
8
.
9
6
 
 
 
 
9
%

0
0
0
1
2
9
0
 
 
L
I
F
E
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
5
0
7
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
5
0
7
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
5
.
6
5

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
/
R
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
5
0
%
 
T
O
 
2
0
2
2
/
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
/
R
 
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
5
2
.
8
3

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
4
.
8
5

0
0
0
1
2
9
0
 
 
L
I
F
E
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
-
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
5
0
7
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
3
7
.
6
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
3
6
9
.
3
3
 
 
 
 
4
%

1
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
S
A
L
A
R
I
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
E
 
B
E
N
E
F
I
T
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
8
9
,
5
7
3
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
1
,
5
7
9
.
4
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
5
7
,
9
9
3
.
5
7
 
 
 
 
5
%

2
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S

0
0
0
2
0
2
1
 
 
C
O
M
M
U
N
I
C
A
T
I
O
N
-
T
E
L
E
P
H
O
N
E
 
S
Y
S
T
E
M
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

Agenda Item 6.B - Financial Reports: July 2023

Staff Report Page 6 of 11

Agenda Packet Page 12 of 338



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
7
/
3
1
/
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
4

T
H
U
,
 
A
U
G
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
3
,
 
 
4
:
4
0
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
C
L
O
V
E
-
-
-
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
6
9
4
3
8
9
5
 
J
6
4
6
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
2
0
2
1
 
 
C
O
M
M
U
N
I
C
A
T
I
O
N
-
T
E
L
E
P
H
O
N
E
 
S
Y
S
T
E
M
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
0
2
6
 
 
C
E
L
L
 
P
H
O
N
E
 
A
L
L
O
W
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
5
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
/
R
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
5
0
%
 
T
O
 
2
0
2
2
/
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
/
R
 
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
7
.
5
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
0
2
6
 
 
C
E
L
L
 
P
H
O
N
E
 
A
L
L
O
W
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
2
.
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
3
8
7
.
5
0
 
 
 
 
5
%

0
0
0
2
0
2
8
 
 
T
E
L
E
P
H
O
N
E
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
8
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
8
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C
O
M
C
A
S
T
 
A
:
8
1
5
5
 
3
0
 
0
3
0
 
1
7
0
 
0
7
/
0
7
/
2
3
 
8
4
0
5
2
7
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
7
2
.
3
6

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C
O
M
C
A
S
T
 
A
:
9
0
5
8
6
1
2
6
4
 
 
7
/
1
/
 
0
7
/
2
0
/
2
3
 
8
4
1
1
4
3
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
9
0
.
9
7

0
0
0
2
0
2
8
 
 
T
E
L
E
P
H
O
N
E
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
8
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
6
3
.
3
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
,
4
3
6
.
6
7
 
 
 
 
8
%

0
0
0
2
0
5
1
 
 
L
I
A
B
I
L
I
T
Y
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
4
6
7
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
4
6
7
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
S
D
R
M
A
 
M
:
7
5
2
1
 
P
R
O
P
 
L
I
A
B
I
L
I
 
0
7
/
0
6
/
2
3
 
8
4
0
4
4
6
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
3
1
6
.
7
9

0
0
0
2
0
5
1
 
 
L
I
A
B
I
L
I
T
Y
 
I
N
S
U
R
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
4
6
7
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
3
1
6
.
7
9
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
8
4
9
.
7
9
 
 
1
1
1
%

0
0
0
2
1
4
0
 
 
M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E
-
B
L
D
G
S
 
&
 
I
M
P
R
O
V
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
1
4
0
 
 
M
A
I
N
T
E
N
A
N
C
E
-
B
L
D
G
S
 
&
 
I
M
P
R
O
V
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
1
7
0
 
 
M
E
M
B
E
R
S
H
I
P
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
,
5
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
,
5
5
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C
A
L
A
F
C
O
 
2
0
2
3
 
-
2
4
 
A
N
N
U
A
L
 
M
 
0
7
/
0
6
/
2
3
 
8
4
0
4
4
5
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
1
0
7
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
1
7
0
 
 
M
E
M
B
E
R
S
H
I
P
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
1
,
5
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
1
0
7
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
4
4
3
.
0
0
 
 
 
7
0
%

0
0
0
2
1
8
0
 
 
B
O
O
K
S
 
&
 
S
U
B
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
1
8
0
 
 
B
O
O
K
S
 
&
 
S
U
B
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
0
0
 
 
O
F
F
I
C
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
O
D
P
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
S
O
 
A
:
 
8
9
5
8
6
6
 
0
7
/
2
6
/
2
3
 
8
4
1
3
4
6
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
4
1
.
5
8

Agenda Item 6.B - Financial Reports: July 2023

Staff Report Page 7 of 11

Agenda Packet Page 13 of 338



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
7
/
3
1
/
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
5

T
H
U
,
 
A
U
G
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
3
,
 
 
4
:
4
0
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
C
L
O
V
E
-
-
-
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
6
9
4
3
8
9
5
 
J
6
4
6
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
2
2
0
0
 
 
O
F
F
I
C
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
4
1
.
5
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
4
,
7
5
8
.
4
2
 
 
 
 
2
%

0
0
0
2
2
0
2
 
 
C
O
N
T
 
A
S
S
E
T
S
 
C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
R
E
L
A
T
E
D
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
0
2
 
 
C
O
N
T
 
A
S
S
E
T
S
 
C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
R
E
L
A
T
E
D
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
0
4
 
 
C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
R
E
L
A
T
E
D
 
I
T
E
M
S
:
<
$
5
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
0
4
 
 
C
O
M
P
U
T
E
R
 
R
E
L
A
T
E
D
 
I
T
E
M
S
:
<
$
5
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
0
5
 
 
P
O
S
T
A
G
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
0
5
 
 
P
O
S
T
A
G
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
3
5
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
I
N
G
 
&
 
F
I
N
A
N
C
I
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
9
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
9
,
5
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
S
V
C
 
C
H
G
 
F
Y
2
0
2
3
/
2
4
 
 
 
0
7
/
2
6
/
2
3
 
2
4
0
0
0
4
2
5
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
2
4
3
.
4
8

0
0
0
2
2
3
5
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
I
N
G
 
&
 
F
I
N
A
N
C
I
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
9
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
2
4
3
.
4
8
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
8
,
2
5
6
.
5
2
 
 
 
 
4
%

0
0
0
2
2
3
9
 
 
L
E
G
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
3
9
 
 
L
E
G
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
4
5
 
 
C
O
N
T
R
A
C
T
E
D
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
8
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
8
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
4
5
 
 
C
O
N
T
R
A
C
T
E
D
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
8
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
8
0
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
5
0
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
P
R
O
F
E
S
S
I
O
N
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
3
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
3
,
5
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C
A
L
P
E
R
S
 
 
J
U
L
-
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
7
/
0
7
/
2
3
 
2
4
0
0
0
0
1
4
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
.
7
6

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
S
T
E
V
E
N
 
B
I
R
D
 
S
T
I
P
E
N
D
 
 
L
A
F
C
 
0
7
/
2
4
/
2
3
 
8
4
1
2
5
8
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
R
O
B
E
R
T
 
G
U
E
R
R
E
R
O
 
S
T
I
P
E
N
D
 
 
 
0
7
/
2
4
/
2
3
 
8
4
1
2
5
9
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
R
O
N
A
L
D
 
A
 
K
O
T
T
 
S
T
I
P
E
N
D
 
 
L
A
 
0
7
/
2
4
/
2
3
 
8
4
1
2
6
0
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
M
I
T
C
H
E
L
L
 
H
 
M
A
S
H
 
S
T
I
P
E
N
D
 
 
 
0
7
/
2
4
/
2
3
 
8
4
1
2
6
1
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
N
A
N
C
Y
 
S
H
O
P
A
Y
 
S
T
I
P
E
N
D
 
 
L
A
F
 
0
7
/
2
4
/
2
3
 
8
4
1
2
6
2
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
J
O
H
N
 
M
 
V
A
S
Q
U
E
Z
 
S
T
I
P
E
N
D
 
 
L
 
0
7
/
2
4
/
2
3
 
8
4
1
2
6
3
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
5
0
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
P
R
O
F
E
S
S
I
O
N
A
L
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
3
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
0
8
.
7
6
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
2
,
8
9
1
.
2
4
 
 
 
 
2
%

Agenda Item 6.B - Financial Reports: July 2023

Staff Report Page 8 of 11

Agenda Packet Page 14 of 338



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
7
/
3
1
/
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
6

T
H
U
,
 
A
U
G
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
3
,
 
 
4
:
4
0
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
C
L
O
V
E
-
-
-
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
6
9
4
3
8
9
5
 
J
6
4
6
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
2
2
6
6
 
 
C
E
N
T
R
A
L
 
D
A
T
A
 
P
R
O
C
E
S
S
I
N
G
 
S
V
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
,
1
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
,
1
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
6
6
 
 
C
E
N
T
R
A
L
 
D
A
T
A
 
P
R
O
C
E
S
S
I
N
G
 
S
V
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
,
1
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
3
,
1
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
7
1
 
 
S
O
F
T
W
A
R
E
 
R
E
N
T
A
L
 
/
 
S
U
B
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
7
1
 
 
S
O
F
T
W
A
R
E
 
R
E
N
T
A
L
 
/
 
S
U
B
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
8
0
 
 
P
U
B
L
I
C
A
T
I
O
N
S
 
A
N
D
 
L
E
G
A
L
 
N
O
T
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
8
0
 
 
P
U
B
L
I
C
A
T
I
O
N
S
 
A
N
D
 
L
E
G
A
L
 
N
O
T
I
C
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
5
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
8
5
 
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
-
C
O
P
I
E
R
S
/
M
F
D
'
S
 
S
T
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
4
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
4
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G
R
E
A
T
 
A
M
E
R
I
C
A
 
F
 
A
 
:
0
1
5
-
1
5
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
8
4
1
4
0
9
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
1
5
.
2
3

0
0
0
2
2
8
5
 
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
-
C
O
P
I
E
R
S
/
M
F
D
'
S
 
S
T
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
,
4
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
1
5
.
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
9
8
4
.
7
7
 
 
 
 
5
%

0
0
0
2
2
9
5
 
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
-
 
B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G
S
 
S
T
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
2
9
5
 
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
-
 
B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G
S
 
S
T
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
3
1
0
 
 
E
D
U
C
A
T
I
O
N
 
&
 
T
R
A
I
N
I
N
G
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
3
1
0
 
 
E
D
U
C
A
T
I
O
N
 
&
 
T
R
A
I
N
I
N
G
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
3
3
5
 
 
T
R
A
V
E
L
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
3
3
5
 
 
T
R
A
V
E
L
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
3
3
9
 
 
M
A
N
A
G
E
M
E
N
T
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
3
3
9
 
 
M
A
N
A
G
E
M
E
N
T
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
3
5
4
 
 
C
A
R
 
A
L
L
O
W
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
2
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
2
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
0
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
/
R
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
5
0
%
 
T
O
 
2
0
2
2
/
 
0
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
P
/
R
 
7
/
1
4
/
2
3
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
1
5
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
e
o
p
l
e
S
o
f
t
 
P
a
y
r
o
l
l
 
P
o
s
t
i
n
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
P
S
D
A
T
A
 
-
 
J
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
0
0
.
0
0

Agenda Item 6.B - Financial Reports: July 2023

Staff Report Page 9 of 11

Agenda Packet Page 15 of 338



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
7
/
3
1
/
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
7

T
H
U
,
 
A
U
G
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
3
,
 
 
4
:
4
0
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
C
L
O
V
E
-
-
-
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
6
9
4
3
8
9
5
 
J
6
4
6
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

0
0
0
2
3
5
4
 
 
C
A
R
 
A
L
L
O
W
A
N
C
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
,
2
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6
,
7
5
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
6
%

0
0
0
2
3
5
5
 
 
P
E
R
S
O
N
A
L
 
M
I
L
E
A
G
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
2
3
5
5
 
 
P
E
R
S
O
N
A
L
 
M
I
L
E
A
G
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

2
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
S
E
R
V
I
C
E
S
 
A
N
D
 
S
U
P
P
L
I
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
1
5
,
4
1
7
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
9
,
8
5
8
.
6
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
9
5
,
5
5
8
.
3
3
 
 
 
 
5
%

3
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
C
H
A
R
G
E
S

0
0
0
3
2
3
5
 
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
-
 
L
T
 
L
E
A
S
E
-
C
P
,
M
F
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
U
B
E
O
 
W
E
S
T
 
L
L
C
 
A
:
 
S
L
1
8
 
 
 
7
 
0
7
/
2
8
/
2
3
 
8
4
1
4
1
0
 
-
 
O
H
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
.
2
7

0
0
0
3
2
3
5
 
 
L
E
A
S
E
 
E
X
P
E
N
S
E
 
-
 
L
T
 
L
E
A
S
E
-
C
P
,
M
F
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
.
2
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
4
.
2
7
 
9
9
9
9
%

3
0
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
C
H
A
R
G
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
.
2
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
3
4
.
2
7
 
9
9
9
9
%

9
2
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
I
C
E
N
S
E
S
,
 
P
E
R
M
I
T
S
 
&
 
F
R
A
N
C
H
I
S
E

0
0
0
9
2
2
9
 
 
L
I
C
E
N
S
E
S
 
&
 
P
E
R
M
I
T
S
-
O
T
H
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
9
2
2
9
 
 
L
I
C
E
N
S
E
S
 
&
 
P
E
R
M
I
T
S
-
O
T
H
E
R
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

9
2
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
I
C
E
N
S
E
S
,
 
P
E
R
M
I
T
S
 
&
 
F
R
A
N
C
H
I
S
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7
5
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

9
4
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
U
S
E
 
O
F
 
M
O
N
E
Y
/
P
R
O
P

0
0
0
9
4
0
1
 
 
I
N
T
E
R
E
S
T
 
I
N
C
O
M
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

0
0
0
9
4
0
1
 
 
I
N
T
E
R
E
S
T
 
I
N
C
O
M
E
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

9
4
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 
F
R
O
M
 
U
S
E
 
O
F
 
M
O
N
E
Y
/
P
R
O
P
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
,
0
0
0
.
0
0

9
5
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
I
N
T
E
R
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
S

0
0
0
9
5
1
1
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 
A
G
E
N
C
I
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

0
0
0
9
5
1
1
 
 
O
T
H
E
R
 
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 
A
G
E
N
C
I
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

9
5
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
I
N
T
E
R
G
O
V
E
R
N
M
E
N
T
A
L
 
R
E
V
E
N
U
E
S
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
9
5
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

Agenda Item 6.B - Financial Reports: July 2023

Staff Report Page 10 of 11

Agenda Packet Page 16 of 338



*
*
 
S
o
l
a
n
o
 
C
o
u
n
t
y
*
*
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
7
/
3
1
/
2
3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[
M
 
O
 
N
 
T
 
H
 
L
 
Y
 
 
 
D
 
E
 
T
 
A
 
I
 
L
]
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8
%
 
o
f
 
F
i
s
c
a
l
 
Y
e
a
r
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P
a
g
e
 
8

T
H
U
,
 
A
U
G
 
0
3
,
 
2
0
2
3
,
 
 
4
:
4
0
 
P
M
 
-
-
r
e
q
:
 
C
L
O
V
E
-
-
-
-
-
l
e
g
:
 
G
L
 
C
P
-
-
l
o
c
:
 
E
X
T
E
R
N
A
L
-
-
j
o
b
:
6
9
4
3
8
9
5
 
J
6
4
6
-
-
-
-
-
p
r
o
g
:
 
G
L
5
7
1
 
<
1
.
1
3
>
-
-
r
e
p
o
r
t
 
i
d
:
 
G
L
M
D
E
T
0
1

S
O
R
T
 
O
R
D
E
R
:
 
S
U
B
O
B
J
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
C
A
T
E
G
O
R
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
K
E
Y
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
D
E
P
T
M
N
T
 
w
i
t
h
i
n
 
F
U
N
D

S
E
L
E
C
T
 
 
A
C
C
O
U
N
T
 
K
E
Y
:
 
3
4
5
0

F
u
n
d
 
 
 
 
 
F
u
n
d
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
t
.
 
 
 
 
D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
K
e
y
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

3
4
5
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3
4
5
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
A
F
C
O

O
b
j
e
c
t
 
 
 
D
e
s
c
r
i
p
t
i
o
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D
a
t
e
 
 
 
 
R
e
f
.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
u
d
g
e
t
 
 
 
 
A
d
j
u
s
t
m
e
n
t
s
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A
c
t
u
a
l
 
 
 
 
E
n
c
u
m
b
r
a
n
c
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B
a
l
a
n
c
e
 
 
P
c
t
.

=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
 
=
=
=
=
=

K
e
y
 
T
o
t
a
l
 
-
 
R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
7
3
,
7
8
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
7
3
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

K
e
y
 
T
o
t
a
l
 
-
 
E
x
p
e
n
s
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
4
,
9
9
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
1
,
4
7
2
.
3
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
5
3
,
5
1
7
.
6
3
 
 
 
 
5
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
5
1
,
4
7
2
.
3
7

D
e
p
t
 
T
o
t
a
l
 
-
 
R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
7
3
,
7
8
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
7
3
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

D
e
p
t
 
T
o
t
a
l
 
-
 
E
x
p
e
n
s
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
4
,
9
9
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
1
,
4
7
2
.
3
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
5
3
,
5
1
7
.
6
3
 
 
 
 
5
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
5
1
,
4
7
2
.
3
7

F
u
n
d
 
T
o
t
a
l
 
-
 
R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
7
3
,
7
8
8
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
7
3
,
7
8
8
.
0
0

F
u
n
d
 
T
o
t
a
l
 
-
 
E
x
p
e
n
s
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1
,
0
0
4
,
9
9
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5
1
,
4
7
2
.
3
7
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
0
.
0
0
 
 
 
 
 
 
9
5
3
,
5
1
7
.
6
3
 
 
 
 
5
%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=
=

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-
5
1
,
4
7
2
.
3
7

Agenda Item 6.B - Financial Reports: July 2023

Staff Report Page 11 of 11

Agenda Packet Page 17 of 338



Commissioners 
Nancy Shopay, Chair • Ron Kott, Vice-Chair • John Vasquez • Mitch Mashburn • Steve Bird 

Alternate Commissioners 
Robert Guerrero • Alma Hernandez • Wanda Williams 

Staff 
Rich Seithel, Executive Officer • Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer • Aaron Norman, Analyst II • Tova Guevara, 

Office Administrator/Clerk • Mala Subramanian, Lead Legal Counsel 

Staff Report 

DATE: August 14, 2023 

TO: Local Agency Formation Commission 

FROM:  Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: TECHNICAL ADJUSTMENT TO BUDGET TO APPROPRIATE FUNDS TO RE-
ENCUMBER FOR ACTIVE CONTRACTED SERVICES 

Recommendation: 

REVIEW and ADOPT the LAFCO Resolution Approving an $88,430 Technical Adjustment to 
the FY2023-24 Budget Subobject 2245 (Contracted Services).  

Background: 

In Fiscal Year 2021-22, LAFCO entered into two contracts for services: 

(1) Rollings & McDonald Consulting for the City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Protection District
for $8,500, and

(2) Milani & Associates for the Solano Irrigation District MSR/SOI for $79,930

LAFCO budget processing is done by the Auditor-Controller’s Office, similar to other special 
districts within Solano County.  As such, staff learned that all encumbrances from the previous 
fiscal year are automatically unencumbered during the end-of-year process for all special 
districts.  The Auditor-Controller’s Office stated that this is a standard and required policy for 
Fund 8 agencies (special districts).   

As such, the $88,430 that was still encumbered for the above contracts was released and put 
into the LAFCO fund balance.  However, the contracts are still active.  Therefore, staff 
recommends that the $88,430 be re-allocated from the fund balance and back into the account 
for contracted services.  When the funds are placed back into the contracted services account, 
staff will re-encumber the funds under the existing contracts.    

Action item: 
- Solano LAFCO Resolution Approving an $88,430 Technical Adjustment to the FY2023-

24 Budget Subobject 2245 (Contracted Services) and Exhibit A: Journal Voucher for the
Allocation
Exhibit A - Journal Voucher LAFCO #23-0009

Solano Local Agency Formation Commission 
675 Texas St. Ste. 6700 • Fairfield, California 94533 

(707) 439-3897 • FAX: (707) 438-1788

Agenda Item 6.C - Technical Adjustment for Encumbrances

Staff Report Page 1 of 3

Agenda Packet Page 18 of 338



6.C - Action Item
LAFCO RESOLUTION NO. 2023-xx 

RESOLUTION OF THE LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF SOLANO 
COUNTY APPROVING AN $88,430 TECHNICAL ADJUSTMENT TO THE FY2023-24 

BUDGET SUBOBJECT 2245 (CONTRACTED SERVICES)  

WHEREAS, the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of Solano County 
LAFCO encumbered $88,430 in sub object #2245 (contracted services) in Fiscal Year 2022-23 
for the following: 

(1) Rollings & McDonald Consulting for the City of Fairfield/Cordelia Fire Protection
District for $8,500, and

(2) Milani & Associates for the Solano Irrigation District MSR/SOI for $79,930; and,

WHEREAS, Solano County Auditor-Controller’s Office end-of-year procedures require
all remaining encumbrances for special districts to be unencumbered and included in end-of-
year fund balance (740); and,   

WHEREAS, this technical adjustment will appropriate $88,430 from end of FY 2022/23 
available fund balance (740) and, transfer to LAFCO #0345: Line Item #2245, and    

WHEREAS, the fund balance #740 shall be decreased by $88,430; and, 

WHEREAS, the department #0345, expense line item #2245, shall be increased by 
$88,430; and, 

WHEREAS, upon completion of the appropriation, LAFCO staff will re-encumber the 
funds to the aforementioned open contracts; and, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Local Agency Formation Commission of 
Solano County adopt the appropriation outlined above.    

The foregoing Resolution was duly passed and adopted by the Local Agency Formation 
Commission of Solano County at a regular meeting, August 14, 2023 by the following votes: 

AYES: 
NOES: 

     ABSTAIN: 
ABSENT: 

  ________________________________ 
Nancy Shopay, Chair  
Presiding Officer, Solano LAFCO  

ATTEST: 

_________________________________ 
Tova Guevara, Clerk to the Commission 

Exhibit A: Journal Voucher LAFCO #23-0009 

Agenda Item 6.C - Technical Adjustment for Encumbrances

Staff Report Page 2 of 3

Agenda Packet Page 19 of 338



AU
D

IT
O

R
-C

O
N

TR
O

LL
ER

'S
 O

FF
IC

E 
O

N
LY

PH
YL

LI
S 

S.
 T

AY
N

TO
N

, C
PA

AU
D

IT
O

R
-C

O
N

TR
O

LL
ER

JE
 D

AT
E

JO
U

R
N

AL
 V

O
U

C
H

ER

JE
 D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N

FY
24

 T
ec

hn
ca

l A
dj

us
tm

en
t f

or
 e

nc
um

br
an

ce
s

JV
-2

3-
00

09

PR
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y

PH
O

N
E

D
AT

E

D
EP

AR
TM

EN
T 

H
EA

D
D

AT
E

D
EP

AR
TM

EN
T 

H
EA

D
D

AT
E

D
EP

U
TY

 A
U

D
IT

O
R

-C
O

N
TR

O
LL

ER
D

AT
E

R
ev

is
ed

:  
01

/1
7/

19
 (C

L)

08
/0

7/
23

EX
PL

AN
AT

IO
N

TO
TA

L:
88

,4
30

.0
0

  
88

,4
30

.0
0

  

88
,4

30
.0

0
88

,4
30

.0
0

03
45

00
02

24
5

03
45

00
00

74
0

JE
ID

O
ffs

et
P 

or
 F

Pa
ym

en
t

C
on

tr
ac

t
Pe

rio
d

D
eb

it
C

re
di

t

En
cu

m
br

an
ce

 a
dj

us
tm

en
t

Ac
ct

K
ey

Su
bo

bj
ec

t
JL

 K
ey

JL
 S

ub
ob

je
ct

En
cu

m
br

an
ce

Exhibit A

Staff Report Page 3 of 3

Agenda Packet Page 20 of 338



 

Commissioners 
Nancy Shopay, Chair • Ron Kott, Vice-Chair • John Vasquez • Mitch Mashburn • Steve Bird 

Alternate Commissioners 
Robert Guerrero • Alma Hernandez • Wanda Williams 

Staff 
Rich Seithel, Executive Officer • Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer • Aaron Norman, Analyst II • Tova Guevara, 

Office Administrator/Clerk • Mala Subramanian, Lead Legal Counsel 

0 

STAFF REPORT 

DATE: August 14, 2023 

TO: Solano Local Agency Formation Commission 

FROM: Rich Seithel, Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: LAFCO PROJECT #2023-05: FAIRFIELD ISLAND ANNEXATIONS PHASE 1–
PITTMAN ROAD, BLESSED BAPTIST CHURCH, SUNSET APARTMENTS 
(APNS: 0044-080-170, 0044-080-160, 0037-160-040, 0037-160-060, 0037-060-
480, 0037-060-490) 

Recommendation: 

WAIVE the conducting authority proceedings pursuant to Government Code (GC) Section 
56662. 

CONSIDER and ADOPT the LAFCO Resolution finding the Fairfield Island Annexations 
Phase 1 to be consistent with California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) through: 

- Categorical Exemption §15319 and §15303 for Pittman Road
- Reaffirmation of the City of Fairfield's Mitigated Negative Declaration for Sunset

Avenue Apartments (SCH# 2022080702)
- Reaffirmation of the City of Fairfield’s Mitigated Negative Declaration for Blessed

Baptist Church

CONSIDER and ADOPT the LAFCO Resolution approving the annexation of the Pittman Road 
island to the City of Fairfield and related district reorganizations, (APN 0044-080-170 and 0044-
080-160) (8.10 acres).

CONSIDER and ADOPT the LAFCO Resolution approving the annexation of the Sunset 
Avenue Apartment island to the City of Fairfield and related district reorganizations, (APN 0037-
060-480 and 0037-060-490) (2.08 acres).

CONSIDER and ADOPT the LAFCO Resolution approving the annexation of the Blessed 
Baptist Church island to the City of Fairfield and related district reorganizations, (APN 0037-160-
040 and 0037-160-060) (4.72 acres).  

Executive Summary: 

The City of Fairfield (City) is requesting to annex about 15 acres of Solano County jurisdictional 
island areas.  The 15-acre proposal is comprised of 3 separate islands broken into 6 parcels 
(Attachment B – Maps of Islands).  The islands are not contiguous to each other but are all 
substantially surrounded by the City of Fairfield.  Additionally, the City requests the following 

Solano Local Agency Formation Commission 
675 Texas St. Ste. 6700 • Fairfield, California 94533 

(707) 439-3897 • FAX: (707) 438-1788

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 1 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 21 of 338



 

Page 2 of 15 

concurrent actions: annexation into Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District; and detachment from the 
Suisun Fire Protection District, Cordelia Fire Protection District, Special Road Fund 108, and 
Solano County Lighting Service Area.   

The 3 islands are more generally referred to as (A-PR) Pittman Road, (B-SA) Sunset 
Apartments, (C-BBC) Blessed Baptist Church. 

Staff is recommending that the Commission approve the island annexations because the 
proposal is consistent with the City of Fairfield’s General Plan, Zoning, Sphere of Influence, and 
assists LAFCO in the legislative directive of correcting islands of jurisdiction to create logical 
boundaries.   

The following staff report provides a detailed analysis of the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg (CKH) 
Act’s required seventeen factors (a-q) pursuant to GC Section 56668, and the Solano LAFCO 
adopted policies (Standards 1-11 per Section 56375(g)).  The following report provides a 
discussion of I. Background; II. Project Description; III. Analysis of CEQA, Statutory, and 
Standards; IV. Conducting Authority; V. Summary of Findings and Determinations, and VI. 
Conclusions. 

I. Background:

LAFCO “Islands”

One of LAFCO’s primary legislative directives is to ensure the “logical formation and 
modification of the boundaries of local agencies, with a preference granted to accommodating 
additional growth within, or through the expansion of, the boundaries of those local agencies 
which can best accommodate and provide necessary governmental services and housing for 
persons and families of all incomes in the most efficient manner feasible.” 1  One very 
challenging aspect of meeting this directive is that of islands.  

Islands are unincorporated urban pockets completely or substantially surrounded by the city to 
which annexation is proposed and are byproducts of the annexation and land use policies that 
existed prior to the 1970s.  The law allows cities to annex urban pockets through a streamlined 
process that does not require protest proceedings or elections, provided the island meets 
special criteria.2 

Most of the islands in Fairfield were developed back in the 1950s and 1960s and remain 
unincorporated for a variety of reasons. These include opposition to annexation by some pocket 
residents and/or property owners, cumbersome and expensive annexation procedures, and 
limited efforts by cities to annex them. 

Phased Island Annexation Plan 

In total, the City of Fairfield has nine (9) individual unincorporated islands (Attachment B).  Of 
the nine, Fairfield has requested, by resolutions, to annex seven (7) of the individual islands.3  
LAFCO staff recommended that these seven islands be advanced in two phases.  Phase 1 
includes three islands with proposed development that is consistent with the City of Fairfield’s 
General Plan and Pre-zoning.  Phase 2 constitutes the other four (4) islands which are existing 

1 Gov. Code. §56001 
2 Attachment A is the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Government Code §56375.3 for Island Annexations.  
3 Of the 2 leftover islands, the Suisun City owns one, the other is not pre-zoned because of a 2020 moratorium. 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 2 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 22 of 338



 

Page 3 of 15 

residential units and required further community outreach.4  Phase 1 is the subject of this staff 
report.  However, it is important to note that the Phase 1 Certificate of Completion will be 
conditioned on LAFCO receiving a complete application for Phase 2.   

Upon annexation, the City of Fairfield will provide municipal services to the islands.  Additionally, 
the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District can provide sewer services to the developments.  

II. Project Description:

The City of Fairfield is requesting to annex three (3) distinct islands that are substantially or 
completely surrounded by the City of Fairfield.  The three islands are generally referred to as: 

(A-PR) Pittman Road: (APN 0044-080-160, 
0044-080-170) The two parcels total 8.1 acres 
and are 74% surrounded by Fairfield.  This site 
is currently uninhabited and pre-zoned for 
commercial development consistent with the 
adjacent parcel to the north and south. 

(B-SA) Sunset Apartments: (APN 0037-060-480, 
0038-060-490) The two parcels total 4.72 acres 

and 
are 

100% surrounded by Fairfield. Both are vacant 
and undeveloped.  The western parcel has been 
tentatively approved for the residential 
development of townhomes, consistent with 
Fairfield’s General Plan and Pre-zoning of Low-
Medium Density Residential.  The eastern parcel 
is pre-zoned Open Space Conservation and is 

owned by the Sacramento & San Joaquin 
Drainage District, which has not objected to 
annexation. (Appendix B.3)   

(C-BBC) Blessed Baptist Church: (0037-160-
040, 0037-160-060)  The two parcels total 2.08 
acres and is 100% surrounded by Fairfield and 
Suisun City.  The western parcel is owned by 
the Blessed Baptist Church and is tentatively 
approved to be developed with a new church 
facility.  The eastern parcel is an existing 
residential unit and is separately owned.  The 

4 Attachment C is the City of Fairfield’s Notice of Community Meeting to the residents in the affected islands. 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 3 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 23 of 338



 

Page 4 of 15 

property owner has not objected to annexation. Church construction and residential use are 
consistent with Fairfield’s General Plan and Pre-zoning of Residential-Medium Density.  

Fairfield has requested this change of organization consistent with GC §56650 et seq. by City of 
Fairfield Resolution 2021-301 adopted on December 7, 2021 (Pittman), Resolution 2022-342 
adopted on December 20, 2022 (Sunset Apt), and Resolution 2021-20 adopted on January 19, 
2021 (BBC).   All City of Fairfield resolutions are in the attached Appendices A.1, B.1, and C.1.  
With the annexation into the City of Fairfield, the islands will also be annexed into the Fairfield-
Suisun Sewer District; and detached from the Cordelia Fire Protection District, Suisun Fire 
Protection District, Special Road, and Solano County Lighting Service Area.  

III. Project Analysis:

California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA): 

The City of Fairfield is the Lead Agency for the CEQA actions of the islands.  Pursuant to 
Section 15096 of the CEQA Guidelines, LAFCO can consider and reaffirm the CEQA 
determination of the lead agency.  As such, LAFCO finds the change of organization for each 
island is consistent with the determinations of the City, as listed below.  

(A) Notice of Exemption under CEQA §15319 and §15303 for Pittman Road
(B) Reaffirm the City of Fairfield's Mitigated Negative Declaration for Sunset Avenue

Apartments (SCH# 2022080702)
(C) Reaffirm the City of Fairfield’s Mitigated Negative Declaration for Blessed Baptist

Church

Statutory and Policy Considerations: 

Per the requirements of the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg (CKH) Act, the Commission is required to 
consider seventeen factors (a-q) pursuant to GC §56668.  Island annexations are also subject 
to GC §56375.5, as outlined below.  Additionally, the Commission must measure a proposal’s 
consistency with its locally adopted policies (Standards 1-11 per Section 56375(g)) when 
reviewing an application for a change of organization or reorganization.  The following 
subsections first provide staff analysis for the factors pursuant to the CKH Act followed by 
analysis and consistency statements with respect to the Commission’s adopted Standards: 

Statutory Factors to be Considered in Review of a Proposal (GC §56668(a-q)): 

CKH requires the Commission to consider seventeen factors when reviewing proposals for a 
change of organization.  The purpose is to ensure the Commission has reviewed these factors 
during its decision-making process.  Each section includes a specific analysis for each individual 
island: (A-PR) Pittman Road; (B-SA) Sunset Apartments; (C-BBC) Blessed Baptist Church  

a. Population and population density; land area and land use; assessed valuation;
topography, natural boundaries, and drainage basins; proximity to other populated
areas; and the likelihood of significant growth in the area, and in adjacent
incorporated and unincorporated areas, during the next 10 years.

(A-PR)  This annexation is consistent with the City of Fairfield’s Sphere of Influence, General
Plan, and commercial zoning of the parcels.  Adjacent parcels to the north and south of 
the island are zoned service commercial as well.  The site is largely flat with a residential 
unit and accessory detached structure but is vacant.  Across Pittman Road are existing 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 4 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 24 of 338



 

Page 5 of 15 

residential developments within Fairfield.  Commercial use of the island will support 
existing and potential future growth but is not likely to result in significant growth.  
Population and population density within the Fairfield boundary area will remain 
unchanged with this island annexation as it will be annexed for use consistent with 
Commercial Service zoning.  The assessed valuation is $860,6535 as of the 2022/23 
assessment tax roll.   

(B-SA)  This annexation is consistent with the City of Fairfield’s Sphere of Influence, General 
Plan, and zoning of the parcels for residential and open space.  The island is surrounded 
by residential zoning and an existing school.  The eastern parcel is a mostly flat existing 
drainage site owned and maintained by the Sacramento & San Joaquin Drainage District 
and will not increase the population.  The western parcel of the island is flat and a small 
part of an approved residential development for 130 townhomes.  Residential use will 
increase the population but will not be substantial, as the entire project is projected to 
house 351 persons6.  The assessed valuation is $84,2437 as of the 2022/23 assessment 
tax roll.   

(C-BBC)  This annexation is consistent with the City of Fairfield’s Sphere of Influence, 
General Plan, and zoning of the parcels for residential purposes.  The island is adjacent 
to existing residential development on the north train tracks and Suisun to the south, 
across from existing commercial development on the northwest, and across from a 
vacant commercial lot to the west.  The island is flat and does not contain any drainage 
basins but is near an existing drainage canal.  The western parcel is an existing 
residential development and will not be changed with annexation.  The eastern parcel is 
proposed for the construction of a new church facility.  The development of a church site 
will not increase growth or population but will serve the existing population. The 
assessed valuation is $758,1398 as of the 2022/23 assessment tax roll.  

b. The need for organized community services; the present cost and adequacy of
governmental services and controls in the area; probable future needs for those
services and controls; and probable effect of the proposed incorporation, formation,
annexation, or exclusion and of alternative courses of action on the cost and
adequacy of services and controls in the area and adjacent areas.

(A-PR)   The island is substantially surrounded by Fairfield and is only accessible by Pittman
Road which is primarily in Fairfield.  The island is in the jurisdiction of the Cordelia Fire 
Protect District and the Solano County Sherriff.  Upon annexation, Fairfield will provide 
fire and law enforcement services.   

(B-SA)  The island is surrounded by Fairfield and is only accessible by Sunset Avenue 
which is in Fairfield.  The island is in the jurisdiction of the Suisun Fire Protect District 
and the Solano County Sherriff.  Upon annexation, Fairfield will provide fire and law 
enforcement services.   

(C-BBC)  The island is substantially surrounded by Fairfield, with Suisun City on one side, 
and is only accessible by Sunset Avenue which is in Fairfield.  The island is in the 

5 (APN 0044-080-170) $368,006 + (APN 0044-080-160) $492,647 
6 Standard population rate assumes 2.7 people per unit.  130 units multiplied by 2.8 persons equals 364 people. 
7 (APN 0037-060-480) $84,243 + (APN 0037-060-490) $0 
8 (APN 0037-160-040) $136,705 + (APN 0037-160-060) $621,434   

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 5 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 25 of 338



 

Page 6 of 15 

jurisdiction of the Cordelia Fire Protect District and the Solano County Sherriff.  Upon 
annexation, Fairfield will provide fire and law enforcement services.   

The City of Fairfield and Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District are prepared to provide all services 
to the proposed development project.  Fairfield and the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District have 
existing water, storm drains, and sewer lines in the existing roadway.  Annexation will not 
have any impact on their ability to serve adjacent areas. According to the City, the existing 
residential uses are connected to the existing sewer and water facilities already.   

Not annexing the islands is against LAFCO’s directive to clean up illogical jurisdictional 
boundaries, including correcting “out of boundary” service connections.   

c. The effect of the proposed action and of alternative actions, on adjacent areas, on
mutual social and economic interests, and on the local governmental structure of the
county.

Detachment from the Fire Districts will have an economic impact on them, but Solano
LAFCO Standard No. 11 requires mitigation to help compensate for the change.  However,
all three islands have been surrounded by the City of Fairfield for many years, therefore
annexation into Fairfield will not negatively affect the District’s ability to continue to serve
other lands that remain in their jurisdiction.  There are no effects on the local governmental
structure of the County.

d. The conformity of both the proposal and its anticipated effects with both the adopted
commission policies on providing planned, orderly, efficient patterns of urban
development, and the policies and priorities in Section 563779.

Annexation of all three islands will help Fairfield, Solano County, and the Fire Districts have
more logical boundaries by removing the tiny pockets of different jurisdictional authorities.
None of the islands will convert existing open space under Section 56377.  Additionally, the
annexation of the islands is consistent with Fairfield’s SOI and General Plan for urban
development of the islands that are consistent with existing development.

e. The effect of the proposal on maintaining the physical and economic integrity of
agricultural lands, as defined by Section 5601610.

None of the islands meet the definition of agricultural lands and therefore the annexation will
not have an effect on agricultural lands.

f. The definiteness and certainty of the boundaries of the territory, the nonconformance
of proposed boundaries with lines of assessment or ownership, the creation of
islands or corridors of unincorporated territory, and other similar matters affecting
the proposed boundaries.

The map and geographic descriptions of all three islands have been reviewed and corrected
by the County Surveyor per Commission policy.  These documents provide certainty of the
proposed boundary of the territory.

9 Conversion of existing open space. 
10 "Agricultural lands" means land currently used for the purpose of producing an agricultural commodity for commercial purposes, 
land left fallow under a crop rotational program, or land enrolled in an agricultural subsidy or set-aside program. 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 6 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 26 of 338



 

Page 7 of 15 

g. A regional transportation plan adopted pursuant to Section 65080.

This factor is not applicable as the islands are surrounded by the existing urban
development of the City of Fairfield with primary access to Fairfield roads and existing
transportation.

h. The proposal's consistency with city or county general and specific plans.

The annexation is consistent with Fairfield’s General Plan.

i. The sphere of influence of any local agency that may be applicable to the proposal
being reviewed.

The annexation is consistent with Fairfield’s Sphere of Influence.

j. The comments of any affected local agency or other public agency.

Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District provided Will-Serve letters for all three islands. Appendices
A.2, B.2, and C.2.

Cordelia Fire Protection District was contacted by Denova Homes regarding Island A and 
Island C on September 16, 2022.  The two parties agreed to a “detachment fee” as part of 
LAFCO Standard No. 11.  (Appendices A.3 and C.4)  

Suisun Fire Protection District was notified by TK Consulting for Island B on February 13, 
2023 and subsequently mailed a “detachment fee” check for $1,666.79 as part of LAFCO 
Standard No. 11.  (Appendices B.4) 

The Master Tax Sharing Agreement applies. 

k. The ability of the newly formed or receiving entity to provide the services that are the
subject of the application to the area, including the sufficiency of revenues for those
services following the proposed boundary change.

Fairfield’s individual project-level analysis has determined that the City has sufficient
revenues and services for the annexations.  Per Fairfield, all annexation fees have been
paid by all three islands.  The individual developers of the islands will be responsible for
constructing relevant and necessary infrastructure for the urban development on site.

l. Timely availability of water supplies adequate for projected needs as specified in
Section 65352.5.

As noted above, the City will provide potable and non-potable water services to the property.
Fairfield has existing water services sufficient for the annexation and urban development of
the islands, consistent with their general plan and utilities plans.

m. The extent to which the proposal will affect a city or cities and the county in achieving
their respective fair shares of the regional housing needs as determined by the
appropriate council of governments consistent with Article 10.6 (commencing with
Section 65580) of Chapter 3 of Division 1 of Title 7.

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 7 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 27 of 338



 

Page 8 of 15 

(A-PR)  This island is zoned Exclusive Agriculture 20 acre minimum by Solano County. The 
entire island is about 8 acres, making the island inconsistent with the current zoning.  
Fairfield requests to annex it for commercial use, consistent with the existing adjacent 
parcels.  Annexation will not affect RHNAs for the City of the County.  

(B-SA)  The island is zoned Rural Residential 2.5 acre minimum by Solano County.  One 
parcel is 2.5 acres, but is operated as a detention basin and therefore cannot be used 
for residential units.  The other parcel is 2.92 acres and vacant but surrounded by 
existing urban development which impedes well water and septic abilities.  Therefore, 
this parcel cannot be developed under County standards to effect RHNA.  This parcel is 
a small part of a larger residential development tentatively approved in Fairfield for 130 
townhomes, which will help Fairfield with RHNA requirements.  Annexation will not affect 
RHNA for the County but will assist Fairfield. 

(C-BBC)  This island is zoned Rural Residential 2.5 acre minimum by Solano County.  One 
parcel is less than one acre and has existing residential units that are connected to City 
water and sewer.  The other parcel is 1.28 acres and vacant but surrounded by existing 
urban development which impedes well water and septic abilities and therefore cannot 
be developed under County standards to help RHNA.  Fairfield has tentatively approved 
the development of a church on this parcel.  Annexation will not affect RHNAs for the 
City of the County 

n. Any information or comments from the landowner or landowners, voters, or residents
of the affected territory.

Fairfield held a neighborhood meeting for the residents and landowners of the existing
residential development within the affected territory.11  LAFCO participated in this outreach
meeting held on Saturday, March 25, 2023, at 10:30 am at the Fairfield Civic Center Library.
The resident adjacent to Island C attended.  He did not oppose the annexation but had
inquiries related to land use questions for Fairfield not applicable to LAFCO.  Fairfield also
mailed notices to each island and surrounding properties for all their public hearings
regarding the annexation proposals.

LAFCO posted the 21-day public meeting notice in the newspaper in addition to mailing
notices to the affected territories and surrounding properties.

As of the writing of this report, LAFCO does not have any active letters of opposition from
landowners, voters, or residents of the affected territory.

o. Any information relating to existing land use designations.

(A-PR)  Pre-zoned Commercial Services (CS)
(B-SA)  Pre-zoned Residential Low-Medium Density (RLM) and Open Space Conservation
(OSC)
(C-BBC)  Pre-zoned Residential Medium (RM)

p. The extent to which the proposal will promote environmental justice. As used in this
subdivision, "environmental justice" means the fair treatment and meaningful
involvement of people of all races, cultures, incomes, and national origins, with
respect to the location of public facilities and the provision of public services, to

11 Attachment C 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 8 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 28 of 338



 

Page 9 of 15 

ensure a healthy environment for all people such that the effects of pollution are not 
disproportionately borne by any particular populations or communities. 

There are no environmental justice issues identified. 

q. Information contained in a local hazard mitigation plan, information contained in a
safety element of a general plan, and any maps that identify land as a very high fire
hazard zone pursuant to Section 51178 or maps that identify land determined to be in
a state responsibility area pursuant to Section 4102 of the Public Resources Code, if
it is determined that such information is relevant to the area that is the subject of the
proposal.

This factor is not applicable as the property is located within the City limits and surrounded
by existing urban development.

Statutory Requirements for Islands GC GC §56375(a)(4): 

A commission shall not disapprove an annexation to a city, initiated by resolution, of contiguous 
territory that the commission finds is any of the following:  
(A) Surrounded or substantially surrounded by the city to which the annexation is

proposed or by that city and a county boundary or the Pacific Ocean if the territory to
be annexed is substantially developed or developing, is not prime agricultural land as
defined in Section 56064, is designated for urban growth by the general plan of the
annexing city, and is not within the sphere of influence of another city.

A-PR is 74% surrounded by the City of Fairfield and is only accessible from a city road.
Therefore, this island is substantially surrounded by the City.
B-SA is 100% surrounded by the City of Fairfield.
C-BBC is 80% surrounded by the City of Fairfield and 20% surrounded by Suisun City.  It is
only accessible from a Fairfield roadway.  Therefore, this island is substantially surrounded
by the City.
The islands are not prime agricultural land under §56064.
This factor is met for each island.

(B) Located within an urban service area that has been delineated and adopted by a
commission, which is not prime agricultural land, as defined by Section 56064, and is
designated for urban growth by the general plan of the annexing city.

All the islands are within the City of Fairfield urban service SOI as adopted by LAFCO
without prime agricultural land under §56064 and are all part of the existing Fairfield General
Plan.  This factor is met.

(C) An annexation or reorganization of unincorporated islands meeting the requirements
of Section 56375.3.

See the next section for a detailed discussion.  This factor is met.

Statutory Requirements for Islands GC §56375.3 (a) and (b): 

Island annexations may be approved without protest and election if all the following 
requirements are met: 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 9 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 29 of 338



 

Page 10 of 15 

(1) The change of organization or reorganization is initiated on or after January 1, 2000.

The City of Fairfield initiated the island annexations in 2021 and 2022.  This factor is met.

(2) The change of organization or reorganization is proposed by resolution adopted by
the affected city.

This factor is met.  Fairfield approved each island annexation by individual resolutions as
follows:

A-PR: City Council Resolution 2022-301 (Appendices A.1)
B-SA: City Council Resolution 2022-342 (Appendices B.1)
C-BBC: City Council Resolution 2022-20 (Appendices C.1)

(3) It does not exceed 150 acres in area, and that area constitutes the entire island.

The annexation project is a total of 15.1 acres.  This factor is met.

(4) The territory constitutes an entire unincorporated island located within the limits of a
city, or constitutes a reorganization containing a number of individual unincorporated
islands.

Each island annexation constitutes the entire unincorporated island.  This factor met.

(5) It is surrounded in either of the following ways: (a) Surrounded, or substantially
surrounded, by the city to which annexation is proposed or by the city and a county
boundary or the Pacific Ocean. Or (b) Surrounded by the city to which annexation is
proposed and adjacent cities.

Island A-PR is 74% surrounded by the City of Fairfield making it substantially surrounded by
the city that requests to annex.  Island B-SA is 100% surrounded by the City of Fairfield
making it surrounded by the city that requests to annex.  Island C-BBC is 80% surrounded
by the City of Fairfield and 20% surrounded by the City of Suisun making it substantially
surrounded by the city that requests to annex.  This factor is met.

(6) It is substantially developed or developing. The finding required by this paragraph
shall be based upon one or more factors, including, but not limited to, any of the
following factors: (a) The availability of public utility services.  (b) The presence of
public improvements. (c) The presence of physical improvements upon the parcel or
parcels within the area.

Each island is adjacent to existing public utilities and public improvements within the existing
roadways.  They are also adjacent to parcels with physical improvements.  This factor is met

(7) It is not prime agricultural land, as defined by Section 56064.

The islands do not have prime agricultural land under §56064.  This factor is met.

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 10 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 30 of 338



 

Page 11 of 15 

(8) It will benefit from the change of organization or reorganization or is receiving
benefits from the annexing city.

The islands will have access to municipal services provided by the City and Fairfield-Suisun
Sewer District.  Additionally, the small, vacant parcels will be able to develop under City
standards, which allows more options than County.  This factor is met.

(9) This subdivision does not apply to any unincorporated island within a city that is a
gated community where services are currently provided by a community services
district.

This project does not include a subdivision.  Additionally, no gated communities are
included.  This factor is met.

(10) Notwithstanding any other law, at the option of either the city or the county, a
separate property tax transfer agreement may be agreed to between a city and a
county pursuant to Section 99 of the Revenue and Taxation Code regarding an
annexation subject to this subdivision without affecting any existing master tax
sharing agreement between the city and county.

The existing master tax-sharing agreement applies.  This factor is met.  

In conclusion, the Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 project meets the factors necessary to 
meet the “Island” provision and to waive the protest and election process.  

Solano LAFCO Adopted Standards (GC §56375(g)): 

Solano LAFCO has 11 locally adopted standards that must be evaluated. The following is an 
analysis of the proposal’s consistency with those Standards 1-11. 

Standard Policy 
Consistency Analysis 

1. Consistency with Sphere of
Influence (SOI) Boundaries Consistent The islands are within Fairfield’s SOI, therefore 

annexation is consistent with the SOI. 

2. Change of Organization and
Reorganization to the Limits of
the SOI Boundaries

N/A 

The islands will be annexed into Fairfield’s city 
limits and Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District. 
The islands will be detached from Suisun Fire 
Protection District, Cordelia Fire Protection 
District, Special Road Fund No. 108, and Solano 
County Lighting Service Area. (Attachment D) 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 11 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 31 of 338



 

Page 12 of 15 

Standard Policy 
Consistency Analysis 

3. Consistency with
Appropriate City General Plan,
Specific Plan, Area-Wide Plan,
and Zoning Ordinance

Consistent 

The islands have all been pre-zoned consistent 
with the current Fairfield General Plan as 
follows: 
A-PR: Commercial Service (CS)
B-SA: Residential Low Medium and Open

Space Conservation (RLM, OSC) 
C-BBC: Residential Medium (RM)

4. Consistency with the County
General Plan of Proposed
Change of Organization or
Reorganization Outside of a
City’s SOI Boundary

N/A 

The islands are substantially or completely 
surrounded by the City of Fairfield.  The change 
of organization is consistent with the County's 
General Plan showing the properties as part of 
urban development.  

5. Requirement for Pre-
Approval Consistent 

Fairfield approved the islands for annexation by 
separate resolutions for each island, as follows: 
A-PR: City Council Resolution 2022-301

(Appendices A.1) 
B-SA: City Council Resolution 2022-342

(Appendices B.1) 
C-BBC: City Council Resolution 2022-20

(Appendices C.1) 

6. Effect on Natural Resources
(California Environmental
Quality Act – CEQA)

Consistent 

Annexing the islands is consistent with CEQA by 
the following:  
A-PR: Exempt under §15319 and §15303
B-SA: Mitigated Negative Declaration (SCH#

2022080702) 
C-BBC: Mitigated Negative Declaration

7. Proposal Boundaries, Map
and Geographic Description
Requirements, Other Exhibits

Consistent The legal description and map for each island 
are attached as Appendices A.4, B.6, C.5. 

8. Likelihood of Significant
Growth and Effect on Other
Incorporated or
Unincorporated Territory

Consistent 

Annexation of the islands will not create 
significant growth because of the restrictive size 
of the islands.  Annexing the islands will not 
have an effect on other incorporated or 
unincorporated territories because it is 
consistent with Fairfield General Plan and SOI.  

9. Protection of Prime
Agricultural Land N/A The islands do not include prime agricultural 

land under §56064. 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 12 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 32 of 338



 

Page 13 of 15 

Standard Policy 
Consistency Analysis 

10. Provision and Cost of
Community Services N/A 

The City of Fairfield and Fairfield-Suisun Sewer 
District will provide municipal services to all the 
islands.  Appendices A.2, B.2, and C.2 include 
all the will-serve letters related to other 
community services. The cost of service 
connections is the responsibility of the property 
developers.  Master tax agreement applies.  

11. The Effect of the Proposed
Action on Adjacent Areas,
Mutual Social and Economic
Interests, and on Local
Governmental Structure

Consistent 

Annexing the islands assists to create clear and 
logical boundaries which help service providers 
to better serve and respond.  These annexations 
do not affect the local government structure. 

IV. Conducting Authority (Protest Hearing) Proceeding:

The island annexations may be approved without protest and election because the project is 
consistent with Gov. Code. §56375.312: the total acreage for the island annexations of Phase 1 
and Phase 2 is less than 150 acres and constitutes the entirety of each individual 
unincorporated island; each individual island is completely surrounded or substantially 
surrounded by the City of Fairfield; each individual island is substantially developed or will be 
developing consistent with existing pre-zoning; each individual island can be served by Fairfield 
and Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District municipal services and each individual island will benefit 
from the ability to be served; the land is not prime ag land; and Solano County and Fairfield 
agree on the existing Tax Sharing Agreement.   

V. Summary of Findings and Determinations:

Staff recommends the following findings and determinations based on project research and 
analysis included in prior sections of this document, State law, and the Commission’s adopted 
policies: 

1. The subject island annexations are consistent with the City of Fairfield’s SOI.

2. The Commission has considered the factors in the review of a proposal pursuant to GC
§56668 a-q.

3. The Commission waives the Conducting Authority Proceeding/Protest Proceeding
consistent with GC §53675 and GC §56375.3 et seq.

4. The Commission determines that annexation of the proposal area promotes the logical
extension of municipal services and efficient government services because it is an
unincorporated island that is substantially surrounded by the City of Fairfield.

12 Attachment A 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 13 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 33 of 338



 

Page 14 of 15 

5. The subject proposal area is “uninhabited” as defined by Government Code (GC)
§56079.5.  Application for the subject annexation is made subject to GC §56650 et seq.
by resolutions of the City of Fairfield.

6. The boundaries are definite and certain and conform to lines of ownership and parcel
lines. The detachment will provide a logical and orderly boundary for the Solano
Irrigation District.

7. The Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 to be consistent with California Environmental
Quality Act (CEQA) through:

o Notice of Exemption §15319 and §15303 for Pittman Road
o Reaffirm the City of Fairfield's Mitigated Negative Declaration for Sunset

Avenue Apartments (SCH# 2022080702)
o Reaffirm the City of Fairfield’s Mitigated Negative Declaration for Blessed

Baptist Church

8. The subject annexations and detachments are in the best interests of the citizens within
the affected area.

9. The subject detachment will not result in negative impacts on the cost and adequacy of
services otherwise provided by SID to adjacent areas within their service boundaries.

10. The subject annexations will result in a loss of $2,120.36 tax base from Solano County,
Special Road Fund 108, Cordelia Fire Protection District, and Suisun Fire Protection
District and a gain of the same amount for the City of Fairfield.

11. Commission determines that upon the adoption of the conditions of approval including
financial mitigation for the Cordelia Fire Protection District, and Suisun Fire District, the
proposal is consistent with its adopted written Standards 1-11.

VI. Terms and Conditions of Approval per GC Sections: 56885, 56885.5, and 56886:

Staff recommends that the Commission approve the proposed change of organization with the 
following terms and conditions of approval: 

1. The Commission orders the change of organization without an election as provided by
GC §53675 and GC §56375.3.

2. Immediately following LAFCO approval, the City shall submit a warrant to Solano
LAFCO for the CA State Board of Equalization in the amount of $1,200.00.

3. Immediately following LAFCO approval, the City shall submit a warrant to Solano
LAFCO for $768.00.  ($128.00 per parcel)

4. The effective date of the change of organization shall be the date of the recordation
made with the County Recorder of the Certificate of Completion per GC Section 57202.

5. To fulfill the agreements between the property owners and the fire protection districts
consistent with Solano LAFCO Standard No. 11, Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1
shall submit proof of payment to the Suisun Fire Protection District of $15,542.77 and
$19,122.85 to Cordelia Fire Protection District to mitigate impacts.

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 14 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 34 of 338



 

Page 15 of 15 

6. Prior to signing the Certificate of Completion for Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1,
the Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 2 application shall be submitted and deemed
complete.

VII. Conclusion:

In conclusion, the Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 meets the requirements for island 
annexations under GC §53675 and GC §56375.3 because the annexing 15 acres of separate 
unincorporated islands that are substantially or completely surrounded by the City of Fairfield 
creates clear logical boundaries and supports orderly growth.  Phase 1 also supports and 
promotes the Phase 2 set of island annexations.   

Attachments: 

Action Item: LAFCO Resolution finding the Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 to be 
consistent with California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) through: 

- Notice of Exemption §15319 and §15303 for Pittman Road
- Reaffirm the City of Fairfield's Mitigated Negative Declaration for Sunset Avenue

Apartments (SCH# 2022080702)
- Reaffirm the City of Fairfield’s Mitigated Negative Declaration for Blessed Baptist

Church

Action Item: LAFCO Resolution approving the annexation of the Pittman Road site to the City of 
Fairfield and related district reorganizations, (APN 0044-080-170 and 0044-080-
160) (8.10 acres)

Action Item: LAFCO Resolution approving the annexation of the Sunset Avenue Apartment site 
to the City of Fairfield and related district reorganizations, (APN 0037-060-480 and 
0037-060-490) (2.08 acres) 

Action Item: LAFCO Resolution approving the annexation of the Blessed Baptist Church site to 
the City of Fairfield and related district reorganizations, (APN 0037-160-040 and 
0037-160-060) (4.72 acres) 

Appendix A: Island A – Pittman Road Documents 
Appendix B: Island B – Sunset Apartment Documents 
Appendix C: Island C – Blessed Baptist Church Documents 

Attachment A: Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Island Annexations Government Code Sections 
Attachment B: LAFCO Map of Existing Islands in City of Fairfield  
Attachment C: City of Fairfield Community Meeting Letter for Property Owners 
Attachment D: Location Maps for Each Island 
Attachment E: Tax Exchange Letter 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 15 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 35 of 338



7.A Action Item: CEQA
LAFCO RESOLUTION 2023- 

RESOLUTION OF THE LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
OF SOLANO COUNTY FINDING THE FAIRFIELD ISLAND ANNEXATIONS PHASE 1 
PROJECT TO BE CONSISTENT WITH THE CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL ACT  

(APNS: 0044-080-170, 0044-080-160, 0037-160-040, 0037-160-060, 0037-060-480, 
0037-060-490)  

(LAFCO PROJECT 2023-05) 

WHEREAS, Solano Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) received an 
application for the City of Fairfield to annex approximately 15.1 acres that consists of 3 separate 
islands broken into 6 parcels; and 

WHEREAS, the 3 islands are more generally referred to as: Pittman Road (APNs 0044-
080-170, 0044-080-160), Sunset Apartments (APNs, 0037-160-040, 0037-160-060,), and
Blessed Baptist Church (APNs 0037-060-480, 0037-060-490); and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Fairfield adopted three separate resolutions 
for each individual island as follows:  

(A) Fairfield Resolution 2021-301: Categorical Exemption §15319 and §15303 for
Pittman Road;

(B) Fairfield Resolution 2022-342: Mitigated Negative Declaration for Sunset Avenue
Apartments (SCH# 2022080702);

(C) Fairfield Resolution 2021-20: Mitigated Negative Declaration for Blessed Baptist
Church; and

WHEREAS, Pursuant to Section 15096 of the CEQA Guidelines, Solano LAFCO can
consider and reaffirm the CEQA determination of the lead agency; and 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Solano LAFCO does resolve, declare, determine, 
and order the following:  

1. Find Pittman Road Island annexation to be Categorically Exemption under
§15319 and §15303;

2. Reaffirm the City of Fairfield's Mitigated Negative Declaration for Sunset Avenue
Apartments (SCH# 2022080702);

3. Reaffirm the City of Fairfield’s Mitigated Negative Declaration for Blessed Baptist
Church;

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing resolution was duly passed and adopted by the 
Local Agency Formation Commission of Solano County at a regular meeting, held on the 14th 
day of August 2023, by the following vote: 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 16 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 36 of 338



2 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 

________________________________ 
Nancy Shopay, Chair  
Presiding Officer Solano LAFCO 

ATTEST: 

Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer 

Attachments (Incorporated by Reference) 
Exhibit A: NOE for Pittman Road 
Exhibit B: Sunset Apartments Mitigation Negative Declaration  
Exhibit C: Blessed Baptist Church Mitigation Negative Declaration 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 17 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 37 of 338



7.A Action Item: Pittman Road Approval
LAFCO RESOLUTION NO. 2023-xx 

RESOLUTION OF THE LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
OF SOLANO COUNTY APPROVING THE ANNEXATION OF THE PITTMAN ROAD 

ISLAND TO THE CITY OF FAIRFIELD AND RELATED DISTRICT REORGANIZATIONS, 
(APN 0044-080-170 AND 0044-080-160) (8.10 ACRES) 

 (LAFCO PROJECT 2023-05)  

WHEREAS, the City of Fairfield filed an application initiation by City resolutions to annex 
island territories into the City of Fairfield with the Executive Officer of this Local Agency 
Formation Commission pursuant to the Cortese/Knox/Hertzberg Local Government 
Reorganization Act, commencing with Section §56000, et seq. of the Government Code by the 
City of Fairfield; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Fairfield requested to annex approximately 15.1 acres that 
consist of 3 separate islands broken into 6 parcels more generally referred to as: Pittman Road 
(APNs 0044-080-170, 0044-080-160), Sunset Apartments (APNs, 0037-160-040, 0037-160-
060,), and Blessed Baptist Church (APNs 0037-060-480, 0037-060-490); and  

WHEREAS, the Commission’s action will also approve the following: 
- Annexation into Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District
- Detachment from Cordelia Fire Protection District
- Detachment from Special Road Fund 108
- Detachment from Solano County Lighting Service Aera; and

WHEREAS, the Executive Officer has examined the proposal and certified that it is 
complete and has accepted the proposal for filing as of April 6, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Vacaville and Solano County have agreed to use the Master 
Property Tax Transfer Agreement as authorized pursuant to California Revenue and Tax Code 
Section 99(d); and  

WHEREAS, the Executive Officer, pursuant to Government Code §56375 and §56375.3 
has reviewed this proposal and prepared a report including his recommendations, and has 
furnished a copy of this report to each person entitled to a copy; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Fairfield, as the lead agency, determined that annexing Pittman 
Road island into the City is exempt from CEQA under §15319 and §15303; and,  

WHEREAS, the Commission has received, heard, discussed and considered all oral and 
written testimony related to the proposal, including but not limited to comments and objections, 
the staff report and recommendation, the environmental document and determination, plans for 
providing service, spheres of influence, and the City’s general plan; and, 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 18 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 38 of 338



WHEREAS, the Commission has considered and made findings with respect to the 
reorganization’s compliance with Solano LAFCO's "Standards for Evaluation of Annexation 
Proposals"; and, 

WHEREAS, LAFCO finds that the Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 meets the 
following Statutory Requirements for Islands GC GC §56375(a)(4): 

A commission shall not disapprove an annexation to a city, initiated by resolution, of contiguous 
territory that the commission finds is any of the following:  

(A) Surrounded or substantially surrounded by the city to which the annexation is proposed 
or by that city and a county boundary or the Pacific Ocean if the territory to be annexed is 
substantially developed or developing, is not prime agricultural land as defined in Section 
56064, is designated for urban growth by the general plan of the annexing city, and is not 
within the sphere of influence of another city.  A-PR is 74% surrounded by the City of 
Fairfield and in only accessible from a city road.  Therefore this island is substantially 
surrounded by the City.  B-SA is 100% surrounded by the City of Fairfield. C-BBC is 80% 
surrounded by the City of Fairfield and 20% surrounded by Suisun City.  It is only accessible 
from a Fairfield roadway.  Therefore, this island is substantially surrounded by the City.   
The islands are not prime agricultural land under §56064. This factor is met for each island.  
 
(B) Located within an urban service area that has been delineated and adopted by a 
commission, which is not prime agricultural land, as defined by Section 56064, and is 
designated for urban growth by the general plan of the annexing city.  All the islands are 
within the City of Fairfield urban service are/SOI as adopted by LAFCO without prime 
agricultural land under §56064 and are all part of the existing Fairfield General Plan.  This 
factor is met.  
 
(C) An annexation or reorganization of unincorporated islands meeting the requirements of 
Section 56375.3.  See the next section for a detailed discussion.  This factor is met.  
  
WHEREAS, LAFCO finds that the Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 meets the following 

Statutory Requirements for Islands GC §56375.3 (a) and (b): 

Island annexations may be approved without protest and election if all of the following 
requirements are met: 

(1) The change of organization or reorganization is initiated on or after January 1, 2000.  
The City of Fairfield initiated the island annexations in 2021 and 2022.  This factor is met. 
  
(2) The change of organization or reorganization is proposed by resolution adopted by the 
affected city. This factor is met.  Fairfield approved each island annexation by individual 
resolutions as follows: 

A-PR: City Council Resolution 2022-301 (Appendices A.1) 
B-SA: City Council Resolution 2022-342 (Appendices B.1) 
C-BBC: City Council Resolution 2022-20 (Appendices C.1) 

(3) It does not exceed 150 acres in area, and that area constitutes the entire island.  The 
annexation project is a total of 15.1 acres.  This factor is met. 
 
(4)  The territory constitutes an entire unincorporated island located within the limits of a 
city, or constitutes a reorganization containing a number of individual unincorporated 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 19 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 39 of 338



islands. Each island annexation constitutes the entire unincorporated island.  This factor 
met. 

(5) It is surrounded in either of the following ways: (a) Surrounded, or substantially
surrounded, by the city to which annexation is proposed or by the city and a county
boundary or the Pacific Ocean. Or (b) Surrounded by the city to which annexation is
proposed and adjacent cities.  Island A-PR is 74% surrounded by the City of Fairfield
making it substantially surrounded by the city that requests to annex.  Island B-SA is 100%
surrounded by the City of Fairfield making it surrounded by the city that requests to annex.
Island C-BBC is 80% surrounded by the City of Fairfield and 20% surrounded by the City of
Suisun making it substantially surrounded by the city that requests to annex.  This factor is
met.

(6) It is substantially developed or developing. The finding required by this paragraph shall
be based upon one or more factors, including, but not limited to, any of the following factors:
(a) The availability of public utility services.  (b) The presence of public improvements. (c)
The presence of physical improvements upon the parcel or parcels within the area.  Each
island is adjacent to existing public utilities and public improvements within the existing
roadways.  They are also adjacent to parcels with physical improvements.  This factor is met

(7) It is not prime agricultural land, as defined by Section 56064.  The islands do not have
prime agricultural land under §56064.  This factor is met.

(8) It will benefit from the change of organization or reorganization or is receiving benefits
from the annexing city.  The islands will have access to municipal services provided by the
City and Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District.  Additionally, the small, vacant parcels will be able
to develop under City standards, which allow more options than County.  This factor is met.

(9) This subdivision does not apply to any unincorporated island within a city that is a gated
community where services are currently provided by a community services district.  This
project does not include a subdivision.  Additionally, no gated communities are included.
This factor is met.

(10) Notwithstanding any other law, at the option of either the city or the county, a
separate property tax transfer agreement may be agreed to between a city and a county
pursuant to Section 99 of the Revenue and Taxation Code regarding an annexation subject
to this subdivision without affecting any existing master tax sharing agreement between the
city and county.  The existing master tax-sharing agreement applies.  This factor is met.

WHEREAS, the Commission does hereby make the following findings and 
determinations regarding the proposal: 

1. The subject island annexations are consistent with the City of Fairfield’s SOI.

2. The Commission has considered the factors in the review of a proposal pursuant to GC
§56668 a-q.

3. The Commission waives the Conducting Authority Proceeding/Protest Proceeding
consistent with GC §53675 and GC §56375.3 et seq.

4. The Commission determines that annexation of the proposal area promotes the logical

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 20 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 40 of 338



extension of municipal services and efficient government services because it is an 
unincorporated island that is substantially surrounded by the City of Fairfield. 

5. The subject proposal area is “uninhabited” as defined by Government Code (GC)
§56079.5.  Application for the subject annexation is made subject to GC §56650 et seq.
by resolutions of the City of Fairfield.

6. The boundaries are definite and certain and conform to lines of ownership and parcel
lines. The detachment will provide a logical and orderly boundary for the Solano
Irrigation District.

7. The Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 to be consistent with California Environmental
Quality Act (CEQA) through (LAFCO Reso 2023-XX):

o Notice of Exemption §15319 and §15303 for Pittman Road
o Reaffirm the City of Fairfield's Mitigated Negative Declaration for Sunset

Avenue Apartments (SCH# 2022080702)
o Reaffirm the City of Fairfield’s Mitigated Negative Declaration for Blessed

Baptist Church

8. The subject annexations and detachments are in the best interests of the citizens within
the affected area.

9. The subject annexations will not result in negative impacts on the cost and adequacy of
services otherwise provided by the City of Fairfield to adjacent areas within their service
boundaries.

10. The Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 will result in a loss of $2,120.36 tax base from
Solano County, Special Road Fund 108, Cordelia Fire Protection District, and Suisun
Fire Protection District and a gain of the same amount for the City of Fairfield.

11. Commission determines that upon the adoption of the conditions of approval including
financial mitigation for the Cordelia Fire Protection District, and Suisun Fire District, that
the proposal is consistent with its adopted written Standards 1-11.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED, DETERMINED AND ORDERED as 
follows: 

1. The Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1, specifically the Pittman Road Island; is
approved, subject to the conditions listed below.

2. The Pittman Road island territory is annexed as proposed and as set forth and described
in the attached descriptive map and geographical description marked “Exhibit A” and by
this reference incorporated herein.

3. Pursuant to §15319 and §15303 of the CEQA Guidelines, LAFCO finds the project to be
categorically exempt from CEQA.

4. The Pittman Road island territory includes approximately 8.10 acres and is found to be
uninhabited, and the territory is assigned the following short form designation:

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 21 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 41 of 338



Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 

5. The proposal area shall be removed from the sphere of influence of the Solano Irrigation
District concurrent with the subject detachment.

6. The following changes of organization or reorganization are approved:

• Annexation into City of Fairfield
• Annexation into Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District
• Detachment from Cordelia Fire Protection District
• Detachment from Special Road Fund 108
• Detachment from Solano County Lighting Service Aera

7. All subsequent proceedings in connection with this annexation shall be conducted only
in compliance with the approved boundaries and conditions set forth in the attachments
and any terms and conditions specified in this resolution.

8. Conducting Authority proceedings are waived.

9. The Executive Officer is hereby directed to file a Notice of Exemption in compliance with
the California Environmental Quality Act and local ordinances implementing the same.

Terms and Conditions of Approval per GC Sections: 56885, 56885.5, and 56886: 

1. The Commission orders the change of organization without an election as provided by
GC §53675 and GC §56375.3.

2. Immediately following LAFCO approval, the City shall submit a warrant to Solano
LAFCO for the CA State Board of Equalization in the amount of $500.00.

3. Immediately following LAFCO approval, the City shall submit a warrant to Solano
LAFCO for $768.00.  ($128.00 per parcel)

4. The effective date of the change of organization shall be the date of the recordation
made with the County Recorder of the Certificate of Completion per GC Section 57202.

5. To fulfill the agreements between the property owners and the fire protection districts
consistent with Solano LAFCO Standard No. 11, Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1
shall submit proof of payment to the Suisun Fire Protection District of $15,542.77 and
$19,122.85 to Cordelia Fire Protection District to mitigate impacts.

6. Prior to signing the Certificate of Completion for Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1,
the Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 2 application shall be submitted and deemed
complete.

I HEREBY CERTIFY  that the foregoing resolution was duly passed and adopted by the 
Local Agency Formation Commission of Solano County at a regular meeting, held on the 14th 
day of July 2023, by the following vote: 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 22 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 42 of 338



AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 

________________________________ 
Nancy Shopay, Chair  
Presiding Officer Solano LAFCO 

ATTEST: 

_________________________ 
Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer 

Exhibit A – Legal Description and Map Pittman Road Property 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 23 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 43 of 338



7.A Action Item: Sunset Apartments Approval
LAFCO RESOLUTION NO. 2023-xx 

RESOLUTION OF THE LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
OF SOLANO COUNTY APPROVING THE ANNEXATION OF THE SUNSET AVENUE 

APARTMENT SITE TO THE CITY OF FAIRFIELD AND RELATED DISTRICT 
REORGANIZATIONS, (APN 0037-060-480 AND 0037-060-490) (2.08 ACRES) 

 (LAFCO PROJECT 2023-05)  

WHEREAS, the City of Fairfield filed an application initiation by City resolutions to annex 
island territories into the City of Fairfield with the Executive Officer of this Local Agency 
Formation Commission pursuant to the Cortese/Knox/Hertzberg Local Government 
Reorganization Act, commencing with Section §56000, et seq. of the Government Code by the 
City of Fairfield; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Fairfield requested to annex approximately 15.1 acres that 
consist of 3 separate islands broken into 6 parcels more generally referred to as: Pittman Road 
(APNs 0044-080-170, 0044-080-160), Sunset Apartments (APNs, 0037-160-040, 0037-160-
060,), and Blessed Baptist Church (APNs 0037-060-480, 0037-060-490); and  

WHEREAS, the Commission’s action will also approve the following: 
- Annexation into Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District
- Detachment from Cordelia Fire Protection District
- Detachment from Special Road Fund 108
- Detachment from Solano County Lighting Service Aera; and

WHEREAS, the Executive Officer has examined the proposal and certified that it is 
complete and has accepted the proposal for filing as of April 6, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Vacaville and Solano County have agreed to use the Master 
Property Tax Transfer Agreement as authorized pursuant to California Revenue and Tax Code 
Section 99(d); and  

WHEREAS, the Executive Officer, pursuant to Government Code §56375 and §56375.3 
has reviewed this proposal and prepared a report including his recommendations, and has 
furnished a copy of this report to each person entitled to a copy; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Fairfield, as the lead agency, adopted a Mitigated Negative 
Declaration (SCH# 2022080702) finding that the annexation of the Sunset Apartments island 
has a less than significant impact at a duly notice City Council hearing on December 6, 2022; 
and,  

WHEREAS, the Commission has received, heard, discussed and considered all oral and 
written testimony related to the proposal, including but not limited to comments and objections, 
the staff report and recommendation, the environmental document and determination, plans for 
providing service, spheres of influence, and the City’s general plan; and, 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 24 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 44 of 338



WHEREAS, the Commission has considered and made findings with respect to the 
reorganization’s compliance with Solano LAFCO's "Standards for Evaluation of Annexation 
Proposals"; and, 

WHEREAS, LAFCO finds that the Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 meets the 
following Statutory Requirements for Islands GC GC §56375(a)(4): 

A commission shall not disapprove an annexation to a city, initiated by resolution, of contiguous 
territory that the commission finds is any of the following:  

(A) Surrounded or substantially surrounded by the city to which the annexation is proposed
or by that city and a county boundary or the Pacific Ocean if the territory to be annexed is
substantially developed or developing, is not prime agricultural land as defined in Section
56064, is designated for urban growth by the general plan of the annexing city, and is not
within the sphere of influence of another city.  A-PR is 74% surrounded by the City of
Fairfield and in only accessible from a city road.  Therefore this island is substantially
surrounded by the City.  B-SA is 100% surrounded by the City of Fairfield. C-BBC is 80%
surrounded by the City of Fairfield and 20% surrounded by Suisun City.  It is only accessible
from a Fairfield roadway.  Therefore, this island is substantially surrounded by the City.
The islands are not prime agricultural land under §56064. This factor is met for each island.

(B) Located within an urban service area that has been delineated and adopted by a
commission, which is not prime agricultural land, as defined by Section 56064, and is
designated for urban growth by the general plan of the annexing city.  All the islands are
within the City of Fairfield urban service are/SOI as adopted by LAFCO without prime
agricultural land under §56064 and are all part of the existing Fairfield General Plan.  This
factor is met.

(C) An annexation or reorganization of unincorporated islands meeting the requirements of
Section 56375.3.  See the next section for a detailed discussion.  This factor is met.

WHEREAS, LAFCO finds that the Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 meets the following 
Statutory Requirements for Islands GC §56375.3 (a) and (b): 

Island annexations may be approved without protest and election if all of the following 
requirements are met: 

(1) The change of organization or reorganization is initiated on or after January 1, 2000.
The City of Fairfield initiated the island annexations in 2021 and 2022.  This factor is met.

(2) The change of organization or reorganization is proposed by resolution adopted by the
affected city. This factor is met.  Fairfield approved each island annexation by individual
resolutions as follows:

A-PR: City Council Resolution 2022-301 (Appendices A.1)
B-SA: City Council Resolution 2022-342 (Appendices B.1)
C-BBC: City Council Resolution 2022-20 (Appendices C.1)

(3) It does not exceed 150 acres in area, and that area constitutes the entire island.  The
annexation project is a total of 15.1 acres.  This factor is met.

(4) The territory constitutes an entire unincorporated island located within the limits of a
city, or constitutes a reorganization containing a number of individual unincorporated

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 25 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 45 of 338



islands. Each island annexation constitutes the entire unincorporated island.  This factor 
met. 

(5) It is surrounded in either of the following ways: (a) Surrounded, or substantially
surrounded, by the city to which annexation is proposed or by the city and a county
boundary or the Pacific Ocean. Or (b) Surrounded by the city to which annexation is
proposed and adjacent cities.  Island A-PR is 74% surrounded by the City of Fairfield
making it substantially surrounded by the city that requests to annex.  Island B-SA is 100%
surrounded by the City of Fairfield making it surrounded by the city that requests to annex.
Island C-BBC is 80% surrounded by the City of Fairfield and 20% surrounded by the City of
Suisun making it substantially surrounded by the city that requests to annex.  This factor is
met.

(6) It is substantially developed or developing. The finding required by this paragraph shall
be based upon one or more factors, including, but not limited to, any of the following factors:
(a) The availability of public utility services.  (b) The presence of public improvements. (c)
The presence of physical improvements upon the parcel or parcels within the area.  Each
island is adjacent to existing public utilities and public improvements within the existing
roadways.  They are also adjacent to parcels with physical improvements.  This factor is met

(7) It is not prime agricultural land, as defined by Section 56064.  The islands do not have
prime agricultural land under §56064.  This factor is met.

(8) It will benefit from the change of organization or reorganization or is receiving benefits
from the annexing city.  The islands will have access to municipal services provided by the
City and Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District.  Additionally, the small, vacant parcels will be able
to develop under City standards, which allow more options than County.  This factor is met.

(9) This subdivision does not apply to any unincorporated island within a city that is a gated
community where services are currently provided by a community services district.  This
project does not include a subdivision.  Additionally, no gated communities are included.
This factor is met.

(10) Notwithstanding any other law, at the option of either the city or the county, a
separate property tax transfer agreement may be agreed to between a city and a county
pursuant to Section 99 of the Revenue and Taxation Code regarding an annexation subject
to this subdivision without affecting any existing master tax sharing agreement between the
city and county.  The existing master tax-sharing agreement applies.  This factor is met.

WHEREAS, the Commission does hereby make the following findings and 
determinations regarding the proposal: 

1. The subject island annexations are consistent with the City of Fairfield’s SOI.

2. The Commission has considered the factors in the review of a proposal pursuant to GC
§56668 a-q.

3. The Commission waives the Conducting Authority Proceeding/Protest Proceeding
consistent with GC §53675 and GC §56375.3 et seq.

4. The Commission determines that annexation of the proposal area promotes the logical

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 26 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 46 of 338



extension of municipal services and efficient government services because it is an 
unincorporated island that is substantially surrounded by the City of Fairfield. 

5. The subject proposal area is “uninhabited” as defined by Government Code (GC)
§56079.5.  Application for the subject annexation is made subject to GC §56650 et seq.
by resolutions of the City of Fairfield.

6. The boundaries are definite and certain and conform to lines of ownership and parcel
lines. The detachment will provide a logical and orderly boundary for the Solano
Irrigation District.

7. The Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 to be consistent with California Environmental
Quality Act (CEQA) through (LAFCO Reso 2023-XX):

o Notice of Exemption §15319 and §15303 for Pittman Road
o Reaffirm the City of Fairfield's Mitigated Negative Declaration for Sunset

Avenue Apartments (SCH# 2022080702)
o Reaffirm the City of Fairfield’s Mitigated Negative Declaration for Blessed

Baptist Church

8. The subject annexations and detachments are in the best interests of the citizens within
the affected area.

9. The subject annexations will not result in negative impacts on the cost and adequacy of
services otherwise provided by the City of Fairfield to adjacent areas within their service
boundaries.

10. The Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 will result in a loss of $2,120.36 tax base from
Solano County, Special Road Fund 108, Cordelia Fire Protection District, and Suisun
Fire Protection District and a gain of the same amount for the City of Fairfield.

11. Commission determines that upon the adoption of the conditions of approval including
financial mitigation for the Cordelia Fire Protection District, and Suisun Fire District, that
the proposal is consistent with its adopted written Standards 1-11.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED, DETERMINED AND ORDERED as 
follows: 

1. The Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1, specifically the Sunset Apartments island; is
approved, subject to the conditions listed below.

2. The Sunset Apartments island territory is annexed as proposed and as set forth and
described in the attached descriptive map and geographical description marked “Exhibit
A” and by this reference incorporated herein.

3. Pursuant to CEQA §15096, LAFCO reaffirms the City of Fairfield's Mitigated Negative
Declaration for Sunset Apartments (SCH# 2022080702).

4. The Sunset Apartments island territory includes approximately 2.08 acres and is found
to be uninhabited, and the territory is assigned the following short form designation:

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 27 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 47 of 338



Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 

5. The proposal area shall be removed from the sphere of influence of the Solano Irrigation
District concurrent with the subject detachment.

6. The following changes of organization or reorganization are approved:

• Annexation into City of Fairfield
• Annexation into Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District
• Detachment from Cordelia Fire Protection District
• Detachment from Special Road Fund 108
• Detachment from Solano County Lighting Service Aera

7. All subsequent proceedings in connection with this annexation shall be conducted only
in compliance with the approved boundaries and conditions set forth in the attachments
and any terms and conditions specified in this resolution.

8. Conducting Authority proceedings are waived.

9. The Executive Officer is hereby directed to file a Notice of Exemption in compliance with
the California Environmental Quality Act and local ordinances implementing the same.

Terms and Conditions of Approval per GC Sections: 56885, 56885.5, and 56886: 

1. The Commission orders the change of organization without an election as provided by
GC §53675 and GC §56375.3.

2. Immediately following LAFCO approval, the City shall submit a warrant to Solano
LAFCO for the CA State Board of Equalization in the amount of $350.00.

3. Immediately following LAFCO approval, the City shall submit a warrant to Solano
LAFCO for $768.00.  ($128.00 per parcel)

4. The effective date of the change of organization shall be the date of the recordation
made with the County Recorder of the Certificate of Completion per GC §57202.

5. To fulfill the agreements between the property owners and the fire protection districts
consistent with Solano LAFCO Standard No. 11, Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1
shall submit proof of payment to the Suisun Fire Protection District of $15,542.77 and
$19,122.85 to Cordelia Fire Protection District to mitigate impacts.

6. Prior to signing the Certificate of Completion for Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1,
the Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 2 application shall be submitted and deemed
complete.

I HEREBY CERTIFY  that the foregoing resolution was duly passed and adopted by the 
Local Agency Formation Commission of Solano County at a regular meeting, held on the 14th 
day of July 2023, by the following vote: 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 28 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 48 of 338



AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 

________________________________ 
Nancy Shopay, Chair  
Presiding Officer Solano LAFCO 

ATTEST: 

_________________________ 
Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer 

Exhibit A – Legal Description and Map Sunset Apartments Property 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 29 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 49 of 338



 

Commissioners 
John Vasquez, Chair • Nancy Shopay, Vice-Chair • Ron Rowlett • Harry Price • Jim Spering 

Alternate Commissioners 
Robert Guerrero • Ron Kott • Mitch Mashburn 

Staff 
Rich Seithel, Executive Officer • Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer • Aaron Norman, Analyst II • 

Mala Subramanian, Lead Legal Counsel 

7.A Action Item: Blessed Baptist Church Approval
LAFCO RESOLUTION NO. 2023-xx 

RESOLUTION OF THE LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF SOLANO 
COUNTY APPROVING THE ANNEXATION OF THE BLESSED BAPTIST CHURCH SITE TO 
THE CITY OF FAIRFIELD AND RELATED DISTRICT REORGANIZATIONS, (APN 0037-160-

040 AND 0037-160-060) (4.72 ACRES) 
 (LAFCO PROJECT 2023-05)   

WHEREAS, the City of Fairfield filed an application initiation by City resolutions to annex 
island territories into the City of Fairfield with the Executive Officer of this Local Agency 
Formation Commission pursuant to the Cortese/Knox/Hertzberg Local Government 
Reorganization Act, commencing with Section §56000, et seq. of the Government Code by the 
City of Fairfield; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Fairfield requested to annex approximately 15.1 acres that 
consist of 3 separate islands broken into 6 parcels more generally referred to as: Pittman Road 
(APNs 0044-080-170, 0044-080-160), Sunset Apartments (APNs, 0037-160-040, 0037-160-
060,), and Blessed Baptist Church (APNs 0037-060-480, 0037-060-490); and  

WHEREAS, the Commission’s action will also approve the following: 
- Annexation into Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District
- Detachment from Cordelia Fire Protection District
- Detachment from Special Road Fund 108
- Detachment from Solano County Lighting Service Aera; and

WHEREAS, the Executive Officer has examined the proposal and certified that it is 
complete and has accepted the proposal for filing as of April 6, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Vacaville and Solano County have agreed to use the Master 
Property Tax Transfer Agreement as authorized pursuant to California Revenue and Tax Code 
Section 99(d); and  

WHEREAS, the Executive Officer, pursuant to Government Code §56375 and §56375.3 
has reviewed this proposal and prepared a report including his recommendations, and has 
furnished a copy of this report to each person entitled to a copy; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Fairfield, as the lead agency, adopted a Mitigated Negative 
Declaration for the Blessed Baptist Church development and annexation at a duly notice City 
Council hearing on January 19, 2021; and,  

WHEREAS, the Commission has received, heard, discussed and considered all oral and 
written testimony related to the proposal, including but not limited to comments and objections, 
the staff report and recommendation, the environmental document and determination, plans for 
providing service, spheres of influence, and the City’s general plan; and, 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 30 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 50 of 338



 

WHEREAS, the Commission has considered and made findings with respect to the 
reorganization’s compliance with Solano LAFCO's "Standards for Evaluation of Annexation 
Proposals"; and, 

WHEREAS, LAFCO finds that the Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 meets the 
following Statutory Requirements for Islands GC GC §56375(a)(4): 

A commission shall not disapprove an annexation to a city, initiated by resolution, of contiguous 
territory that the commission finds is any of the following:  

(A) Surrounded or substantially surrounded by the city to which the annexation is proposed 
or by that city and a county boundary or the Pacific Ocean if the territory to be annexed is 
substantially developed or developing, is not prime agricultural land as defined in Section 
56064, is designated for urban growth by the general plan of the annexing city, and is not 
within the sphere of influence of another city.  A-PR is 74% surrounded by the City of 
Fairfield and in only accessible from a city road.  Therefore this island is substantially 
surrounded by the City.  B-SA is 100% surrounded by the City of Fairfield. C-BBC is 80% 
surrounded by the City of Fairfield and 20% surrounded by Suisun City.  It is only accessible 
from a Fairfield roadway.  Therefore, this island is substantially surrounded by the City.   
The islands are not prime agricultural land under §56064. This factor is met for each island.  
 
(B) Located within an urban service area that has been delineated and adopted by a 
commission, which is not prime agricultural land, as defined by Section 56064, and is 
designated for urban growth by the general plan of the annexing city.  All the islands are 
within the City of Fairfield urban service are/SOI as adopted by LAFCO without prime 
agricultural land under §56064 and are all part of the existing Fairfield General Plan.  This 
factor is met.  
 
(C) An annexation or reorganization of unincorporated islands meeting the requirements of 
Section 56375.3.  See the next section for a detailed discussion.  This factor is met.  
  
WHEREAS, LAFCO finds that the Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 meets the following 

Statutory Requirements for Islands GC §56375.3 (a) and (b): 

Island annexations may be approved without protest and election if all of the following 
requirements are met: 

(1) The change of organization or reorganization is initiated on or after January 1, 2000.  
The City of Fairfield initiated the island annexations in 2021 and 2022.  This factor is met. 
  
(2) The change of organization or reorganization is proposed by resolution adopted by the 
affected city. This factor is met.  Fairfield approved each island annexation by individual 
resolutions as follows: 

A-PR: City Council Resolution 2022-301 (Appendices A.1) 
B-SA: City Council Resolution 2022-342 (Appendices B.1) 
C-BBC: City Council Resolution 2022-20 (Appendices C.1) 

(3) It does not exceed 150 acres in area, and that area constitutes the entire island.  The 
annexation project is a total of 15.1 acres.  This factor is met. 
 
(4)  The territory constitutes an entire unincorporated island located within the limits of a 
city, or constitutes a reorganization containing a number of individual unincorporated 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 31 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 51 of 338



 

islands. Each island annexation constitutes the entire unincorporated island.  This factor 
met. 
  
(5) It is surrounded in either of the following ways: (a) Surrounded, or substantially 
surrounded, by the city to which annexation is proposed or by the city and a county 
boundary or the Pacific Ocean. Or (b) Surrounded by the city to which annexation is 
proposed and adjacent cities.  Island A-PR is 74% surrounded by the City of Fairfield 
making it substantially surrounded by the city that requests to annex.  Island B-SA is 100% 
surrounded by the City of Fairfield making it surrounded by the city that requests to annex.  
Island C-BBC is 80% surrounded by the City of Fairfield and 20% surrounded by the City of 
Suisun making it substantially surrounded by the city that requests to annex.  This factor is 
met.  
 
(6) It is substantially developed or developing. The finding required by this paragraph shall 
be based upon one or more factors, including, but not limited to, any of the following factors: 
(a) The availability of public utility services.  (b) The presence of public improvements. (c) 
The presence of physical improvements upon the parcel or parcels within the area.  Each 
island is adjacent to existing public utilities and public improvements within the existing 
roadways.  They are also adjacent to parcels with physical improvements.  This factor is met 
 
(7) It is not prime agricultural land, as defined by Section 56064.  The islands do not have 
prime agricultural land under §56064.  This factor is met. 
 
(8) It will benefit from the change of organization or reorganization or is receiving benefits 
from the annexing city.  The islands will have access to municipal services provided by the 
City and Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District.  Additionally, the small, vacant parcels will be able 
to develop under City standards, which allow more options than County.  This factor is met.  

 
(9) This subdivision does not apply to any unincorporated island within a city that is a gated 
community where services are currently provided by a community services district.  This 
project does not include a subdivision.  Additionally, no gated communities are included.  
This factor is met.   
 
(10) Notwithstanding any other law, at the option of either the city or the county, a 
separate property tax transfer agreement may be agreed to between a city and a county 
pursuant to Section 99 of the Revenue and Taxation Code regarding an annexation subject 
to this subdivision without affecting any existing master tax sharing agreement between the 
city and county.  The existing master tax-sharing agreement applies.  This factor is met.   

 
WHEREAS, the Commission does hereby make the following findings and 

determinations regarding the proposal: 
 

1. The subject island annexations are consistent with the City of Fairfield’s SOI.    

2. The Commission has considered the factors in the review of a proposal pursuant to GC 
§56668 a-q. 

3. The Commission waives the Conducting Authority Proceeding/Protest Proceeding 
consistent with GC §53675 and GC §56375.3 et seq. 

4. The Commission determines that annexation of the proposal area promotes the logical 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 32 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 52 of 338



 

extension of municipal services and efficient government services because it is an 
unincorporated island that is substantially surrounded by the City of Fairfield. 

5. The subject proposal area is “uninhabited” as defined by Government Code (GC) 
§56079.5.  Application for the subject annexation is made subject to GC §56650 et seq. 
by resolutions of the City of Fairfield.   

6. The boundaries are definite and certain and conform to lines of ownership and parcel 
lines. The detachment will provide a logical and orderly boundary for the Solano 
Irrigation District. 

7. The Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 to be consistent with California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) through (LAFCO Reso 2023-XX): 

o Notice of Exemption §15319 and §15303 for Pittman Road  
o Reaffirm the City of Fairfield's Mitigated Negative Declaration for Sunset 

Avenue Apartments (SCH# 2022080702) 
o Reaffirm the City of Fairfield’s Mitigated Negative Declaration for Blessed 

Baptist Church  

8. The subject annexations and detachments are in the best interests of the citizens within 
the affected area. 

9. The subject annexations will not result in negative impacts on the cost and adequacy of 
services otherwise provided by the City of Fairfield to adjacent areas within their service 
boundaries. 

10. The Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1 will result in a loss of $2,120.36 tax base from 
Solano County, Special Road Fund 108, Cordelia Fire Protection District, and Suisun 
Fire Protection District and a gain of the same amount for the City of Fairfield. 

11. Commission determines that upon the adoption of the conditions of approval including 
financial mitigation for the Cordelia Fire Protection District, and Suisun Fire District, that 
the proposal is consistent with its adopted written Standards 1-11. 

 
 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED, DETERMINED AND ORDERED as 
follows: 

1. The Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1, specifically the Blessed Baptist Church Island; 
is approved, subject to the conditions listed below. 
 

2. The Blessed Baptist Church island territory is annexed as proposed and as set forth and 
described in the attached descriptive map and geographical description marked “Exhibit 
A” and by this reference incorporated herein. 
 

3. Pursuant to §15319 and §15303 of the CEQA Guidelines, LAFCO finds the project to be 
categorically exempt from CEQA.  
 

4. The Blessed Baptist Church island territory includes approximately 4.72 acres and is 
found to be uninhabited, and the territory is assigned the following short form 
designation: 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 33 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 53 of 338



 

 
Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1  

5. The proposal area shall be removed from the sphere of influence of the Solano Irrigation 
District concurrent with the subject detachment. 
 

6. The following changes of organization or reorganization are approved: 
 

• Annexation into City of Fairfield 
• Annexation into Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 
• Detachment from Cordelia Fire Protection District 
• Detachment from Special Road Fund 108 
• Detachment from Solano County Lighting Service Aera  

 
7. All subsequent proceedings in connection with this annexation shall be conducted only 

in compliance with the approved boundaries and conditions set forth in the attachments 
and any terms and conditions specified in this resolution. 
 

8. Conducting Authority proceedings are waived.  
 

9. The Executive Officer is hereby directed to file a Notice of Exemption in compliance with 
the California Environmental Quality Act and local ordinances implementing the same. 

 
Terms and Conditions of Approval per GC Sections: 56885, 56885.5, and 56886: 
 

1. The Commission orders the change of organization without an election as provided by 
GC §53675 and GC §56375.3. 
 

2. Immediately following LAFCO approval, the City shall submit a warrant to Solano 
LAFCO for the CA State Board of Equalization in the amount of $350.00.   
 

3. Immediately following LAFCO approval, the City shall submit a warrant to Solano 
LAFCO for $768.00.  ($128.00 per parcel) 
 

4. The effective date of the change of organization shall be the date of the recordation 
made with the County Recorder of the Certificate of Completion per GC Section 57202. 
 

5. To fulfill the agreements between the property owners and the fire protection districts 
consistent with Solano LAFCO Standard No. 11, Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1 
shall submit proof of payment to the Suisun Fire Protection District of $15,542.77 and 
$19,122.85 to Cordelia Fire Protection District to mitigate impacts.   
 

6. Prior to signing the Certificate of Completion for Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 1, 
the Fairfield Island Annexations Phase 2 application shall be submitted and deemed 
complete.  
 

I HEREBY CERTIFY  that the foregoing resolution was duly passed and adopted by the 
Local Agency Formation Commission of Solano County at a regular meeting, held on the 14th 
day of July 2023, by the following vote: 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 34 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 54 of 338



 

 
 AYES: 
 NOES: 

ABSENT: 
 
    ________________________________ 

      Nancy Shopay, Chair  
Presiding Officer Solano LAFCO    

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________  
Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer  

 

Exhibit A – Legal Description and Map Blessed Baptist Church Property  

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 35 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 55 of 338



APPENDIX A 

PITTMAN ROAD ISLAND DOCUMENTS 

1. City of Fairfield City Council Approval Actions
2. Will Serve Letters
3. Cordelia Fire Protection District Standard No. 11 Notice
4. Pittman Road Island Map and Legal Description

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 36 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 56 of 338



CITY OF FAIRFIELD

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-301

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAIRFIELD FINDING THE PROPOSED

ANNEXATION ( ANX2020-001) OF± 8.07 ACRES LOCATED OFF OF PITTMAN ROAD( APNS: 0044-

080-160 AND 0044-080- 170) CONSISTENT WITH THE CITY' S GENERAL PLAN AND MUNICIPAL

SERVICE REVIEW; AND REQUEST THE SOLANO LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION

LAFCO) TO INITIATE PROCEEDINGS FOR THE REORGANIZATION OF TERRITORY

WHEREAS, On July 30, 2020, an Annexation application ( ANX2020-001; ER2020- 026) for a

proposed 8. 07- acre site annexation located off Pittman Road ( APNs: 0044-080- 170 and 0044-

080- 160) ( Project) was properly filed with the Department of Community Development in
accordance with the rules and regulations governing the official filing of such applications; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing on May 26, 2021,
approving Resolution 2021-013 recommending City Council find the proposed annexation
consistent with the City' s General Plan and Municipal Service Review; and request Solano Local

Agency Formation Commission ( LAFCO) to initiate proceedings for the reorganization of territory;
and

WHEREAS, the commission has determined that the Project is categorically exempt( ER2020- 026)
from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act ( CEQA), pursuant to CEQA

Guidelines, Section 15319 Annexation of Existing Facilities and Lots for Exempt Facilities) which
exempts ( a) annexations to a city of areas containing existing private uses and structures

developed to the density allowed by the current zoning or pre- zoning of either the gaining or
losing governmental agency, whichever is more restrictive, provided that the extension of utility
services to the existing facilities would have a capacity to serve only the existing facilities; and ( b)
annexations of individual small parcels of the minimum size for facilities exempted by CEQA
Guidelines Section 15303. The property proposed for annexation is developed with a single-

family home to the density allowed by the zoning of Solano County, with no changes currently
proposed to the existing structures. The City has the capacity to serve the property, and upon
annexation will provide utility services. The Project is further exempt under Section 15061( b)( 3)

of the CEQA Guidelines, which states that CEQA only applies to projects which have the potential
to have a significant effect on the environment. The annexation will not change the use of the

property, and further environmental review will be conducted if development applications are

submitted to the City; and

WHEREAS, the council has held a duly noticed public hearing on December 7, 2021. Substantial
factual information regarding the proposed Project was presented in staff reports and through

oral presentations before the council, and the council considered all public testimony and
information presented during the public hearing regarding this application; and

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 37 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 57 of 338



RES. NO. 2021- 301

Page 2

WHEREAS, the council has determined the following findings exist in support of this Annexation
request:

a)      The proposed annexation is consistent with the goals, policies, and objectives of the

General Plan. The site is designated CS on the General Plan Land Use Diagram. The

annexation is necessary order to obtain the provision of City services, such as sewer
and water. The proposed annexation is consistent with the following General Plan

Objectives: Objective LU 4: Achieve a rate of growth that is consistent with the

provision ofpublicfacilities and services, that balances jobs and housing, and that does
not result in the degradation of the natural environment. (See Objectives CI 1, PF 1,
and ED 3).  Policy LU 4. 1: Expand the city limits only in conformance with the
Comprehensive Annexation Plan. Objective ED 4: Select commercial and industrial

locations which are convenient, while compatible with the growth and future service

needs of the community. Policy PF 1. 2: Encourage the concurrent ( as opposed to
piecemeal) annexation of adjacent unincorporated properties in order to facilitate the
formation of assessment districts,   Mello-Roos districts,   and other financial

mechanisms which will provide public facilities in an efficient and effective manner;

and

b)      The proposed annexation would not be detrimental to the public interest, health,

safety, or welfare of the city. Annexation of the site would not be detrimental to the
public interest, health, safety or welfare of the city. Annexation is necessary to
facilitate future development of the site within the City of Fairfield.  Future

development proposals shall be subject to the review and approval of the City of

Fairfield, including CEQA review, to ensure development will not bear an adverse effect
on the general welfare of the surrounding neighborhoods and the City; and

c)      The proposed annexation is consistent with the 2012 Municipal Service Review. The

project site is within of the City' s " Sphere of Influence" and has been analyzed in the
most recent 2012 Municipal Service Review,  where the site is identified as an

annexation site within the City's planned growth areas( Section 8. 1. A). The Project will

require LAFCO approval of the proposed reorganization.

WHEREAS, the council desires to initiate proceedings pursuant to the Cortese- Knox- Hertberg Act

of 2000, commencing with Section 56000 of the California Government Code, for a reorganization
which would annex territory to the City.

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 38 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 58 of 338



RES. NO. 2021-301

Page 3

NOW, THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAIRFIELD HEREBY RESOLVES:

Section 1.      The annexation of the property described in Exhibit A is hereby found consistent
with the General Plan and Focused Municipal Service Review. The LAFCO is hereby requested to
take proceedings for the annexation of territory as authorized and in the manner provided by
the Cortese- Knox- Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th

day of December 2021, by the following vote:

AYES:    COUNCILMEMBERS:   PRICE/ BERTANI/ MOY/ PANDURO/ TIMM/ TONNESEN/ VACCARO

NOES:   COUNCILMEMBERS:

ABSENT: COUNCILMEMBERS: ohe-

ABSTAIN:       COUNCILMEMBERS:     / lJOh(

4.64

MAYOR    /

ATTEST:

A r! I.,
CITY CLERK

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 39 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 59 of 338



Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 
1010 C hadbour ne R oad ● Fai r f i el d, C al i f or nia 94534 ● ( 707) 429 - 8 9 30 ● www. f s s d .c om 

8/3/2021 Enter File No. 

Denova Homes 
1500 Willow Pass Court 
Concord, CA 94520 
 Attention: Peter Giles 

RE: Wastewater Service for Parcels 535 Pittman Rd and 475 Pittman Rd 

Dear Mr. Giles: 

Thank you for contacting the District regarding sewer service for 535 Pittman Rd (APN 
0044080160) and 475 Pittman Rd (APN 0044080170) located in Old Cordelia, Fairfield. 

According to our records, these parcels are currently being served by Fairfield-Suisun Sewer 
District (District) with a single service to each parcel.  The District typically does not extend service 
to parcels outside the city limits of Fairfield and Suisun City, however according to an agreement 
initially recorded May 13, 2003 and amended in 2004 between Solano County and the District 
(attached), the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) identified parcels eligible for 
connection, this being the two parcels of interest.  Per Subsection 2.1.c, sewer service is currently 
limited to a single unit per parcel.   

Having said that, should you pursue the annexation of these parcels to the City of Fairfield as 
mentioned in your email dated July 29, 2021, the District is obligated to provide sewer service to all 
development within these parcels, in accordance with the established City zoning 
designations.  Development of these parcels was considered in the District’s most recent sewer 
model. About 8000 gallons per day are expected from the combined parcels in 2035.  Any 
anticipated sewer flows above and beyond this amount will require a downstream collection system 
evaluation, and the developer is responsible for funding the evaluation as well as funding all 
projects required to address downstream sewer impacts.  Also, note that capacity fees must be 
paid in order to secure entitlement to sewer capacity. 

Should there be additional questions about this matter, feel free to reach out to either Meg Herston 
or Nellie Dimalanta.  We look forward to working with you as developments are made for this area. 

Sincerely, 

Nellie Dimalanta 
GIS Coordinator 

Attachments 

cc: 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 40 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 60 of 338

http://www.fssd.com/


Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 41 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 61 of 338



AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE DISPOSAL OF SEWAGE

TillS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this 13th day of May ,2003, by and between
the FAIRFIELD-SUlSUN SEWER DISTRICT, hereinafter referred to as "DISTRICT," and the COUNTY OF
SOLANO, hereinafter referred to as "COUNTY."

Recitals

WHEREAS, DISTRICT and COUNTY wish to enter into an agreement to provide for disposal of
sewage emanating from certain buildings outside of the DISTRICT, and

WHEREAS, the DISTRICT'S enabling act allows the DISTRICT, pursuant to California Government
Code Section 56133, to contract with COUNTY for disposal of sewage emanating from buildings outside of
the DISTRICT if the District Board makes certain determinations; and

WHEREAS, a network of sewers exists, hereinafter referred to collectively as COLLECTION
SYSTEM, which is capable of transporting sewage to DISTRICT'S sewage treatment plant; and

WHEREAS, DISTRICT operating under rules and regulations mandated by both state and federal
regulations, is capable of providing said sewage service; and

WHEREAS, DISTRICT and COUNTY further wish to establish policies and procedures to govern the
provision of sewer service to parcels within COUNTY that are connected to COLLECTION SYSTEM; and

\VHEREAS, land parcels within the COUNTY cOlmected to the COLLECTION SYSEM and
receiving DISTRICT sanitary sewer service as ofMarch I, 2002 shall continue to be eligible to receive sewer
service as shown in Attachment A "Existing Sewer Service Parcel Table - Suisun Valley Road"; Attachment
B "Existing Sewer Service Parcel Map - Suisun Valley Road"; Attachment C "Existing Sewer Service Parcel
Table - Old Cordelia"; and Attachment D "Existing Sewer Service Parcel Map - Old Cordelia", attached
hereto and incorporated herein by reference; and

WHEREAS, the DISTRICT has detennined that the Agreement furthers the protection ofpublic
health and safety and is in the best interests of the DISTRICT.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, and agreements set forth
herein, the parties do hereby agree as follows:

Agreement

I. SEWER CONNECTION POLICY. The DISTRICT A.ND COUNTY shall authorize connections to
the COLLECTION SYSTEM as follows. For the purpose of this Agreement, "Connection" is defined
as a sewer lateral directly or indirectly connecting a single parcel ofland to COLLECTION SYSTEM
for the purpose of providing sanitary sewer service to such parcel of land.

a. Eligible Parcels. Land parcels within the COUNTY eligible to connect to COLLECTION
SYSTEM for the p1.Lrpose ofreceiving DISTRICT sanitary sewer service under this
Agreement are listed in Attachment E "Sewer Service Parcel Eligibility Table - Suisun
Valley Road; Attachment F "Sewer Service Parcel Eligibility Map - Suisun Valley Road";
Attachment G "Sewer Service Parcel Eligibility Table - Old Cordelia"; and Attachment H

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 42 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 62 of 338



"Sewer Service Parcel Eligibility Map - Old Cordelia", attached hereto and incorporated
herein by reference. Eligible parcels may connect to the COLLECTION SYSTEM upon
finding of a Sewage-related Health Hazard by the Solano County Health Officer or his duly
authorized representative as defined in paragraph l.b. below. Both parties acknowledge that
Attachments E, F, G, and H are the initial lists and maps and may be modified by future
amendments to this Agreement.

Existing Service Parcels and Eligible Parcels are hereinafter referred to as PARCELS.

b. Sewage-related Health Hazard is defined as the ineffective treatment and disposal of waste
water resulting in the surfacing of sewage effluent, the degradation of water quality, andlor
any condition resulting from the use or operation of a sewage treatment and disposal system
which creates the potential for the transmission of disease, illness or environmental pollution,
as detem1ined by the Solano COW1ty Health Officer or his duly authorized representative.

c. Connection to COLLECTION SYSTEM. Unless otherwise approved in writing by
DISTRICT, all connections to COLLECTION SYSTEM shall be made with a single sewer
lateral serving the PARCEL.

d. Secondary Living Units. In the case of PARCELS that are zoned RE-l or RE-1/2, one (1)
additional connection shall be permitted to provide sanitary sewer service to not more than
one (1) secondary living unit on such PARCEL, provided the secondary living unit complies
with all COUNTY zoning and land use laws and regulations. The sewer lateral serving the
secondary living unit shall be connected to the sewer lateral for the primary structure, and
shall not be connected directly to COLLECTION SYSTEM.

e. Number of Connections. No more than one (1) connection shall be permitted per PARCEL,
except as permitted under Subparagraph l.d.

f. Point of Connection. Sewer laterals shall be connected to the public sewer line in accordance
with all of the requirements of the agency that owns the sewer line being connected to.

g. Fees. Owners ofPARCELS who elect to connect to COLLECTION SYSTEM shall pay all
fees established by DISTRICT for sewer connection and service. Fees shall be collected by
DISTRICT. No permits, including building and encroachment permits, shall be issued by
COUNTY to an owner of a PARCEL who elects to connect to COLLECTION SYSTEM until
DISTRICT provides written notice to COUNTY that all fees have been paid.

2. LAFCO If required by the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO), DISTRICT shall be
responsible for applying to the LAFCO for timely approval of this Agreement and any amendment
thereto, in accordance with Califomia Govemment Code Section 56133, LAFCO Policy and any other
applicable law or regulation. COUNTY shall supply all necessary and reasonable support services for
said application to LAFCO and shall also be responsible for providing LAFCO with any appropriate
documentation of a threat to the health and safety of the public or affected residents, as required by
referenced Section 56133, LAFCO Policy or other applicable law or regulation.

3. ADDITIONAL FEES. The DISTRICT evaluates changes in use to determine if additional sewer fees
may be required. To this end, COUNTY shall notify DISTRICT of any applications for, expansion,
remodeling, or other changes in use of buildings on connected PARCELS for the purpose of potential

Page 2 of4

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 43 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 63 of 338



requirement of additional sewer fees. The COUNTY shall not issue approval for such changes of use
without prior written notice to DISTRICT and prior written notice by DISTRICT to COUNTY that all
applicable fees have been paid.

4. REGULATIONS FOR SEWER USE AND CONNECTIONS, EXTENSIONS, OR
MODIFICATIONS. All use of COLLECTION SYSTEM and connections, extensions, or
modifications thereto shall comply with all laws and regulations ofDISTRICT and the public agency
that owns the public sewer line to which connection is made.

5. OPERATING AND MAINTENANCE COSTS. Billing and payment of 0 & M costs shall be
conducted in accordance with DISTRICT laws and regulations. Non-payment or late payment for
sewer service will be enforced in accordance with DISTRICT laws and regulations.

6. BILLING AND COLLECTION. DISTRICT shall be responsible for billing and collection. COUNTY
agrees to allow DISTRICT to utilize COUNTY property tax bill for collection of fees for service to
PARCELS in COUNTY.

7. UPDATED SEWER USER LIST. In order for DISTRICT to update its billing list for current sewer
users, COUNTY will provide to DISTRICT a list of current property owners, and, if available, current
renters for all PARCELS shown as connected in Attachments A, B, C, D, E, F, G, and H. The list
shall include the following information if available: name, parcel number, street address, and mailing
address. The COUNTY shall provide this list to DISTRICT within 45 days of the signing of this
Agreement. The COUNTY shall provide an updated list to DISTRICT upon request up to annually.

8. INDEMNITY. DISTRICT shall defend, indertfuif'y, save and hold harmless COUNTY, its Board
members, officers, employees, and agents from any and all claims, demands, suits, costs, liability and
expenses, including reasonable attorney's fees, for any damages, injury, siclmess or death including'
liability for inverse condemnation, nuisance or trespass (collectively "liability") to the extent arising
out of the DISTRICT's obligations under this Agreement, except to the extent liability arises out of the
sole or active negligence or willful misconduct of COUNTY, its Board members, officers, employees
or agents.

COUNTY shall defend, indemnif'y, save and hold harmless the DISTRICT, its officers, directors,
employees and agents from any and all claims, demands suits, costs, liability and expenses, including
reasonable attorney's fees, for any damages, injury, siclmess or death, including liability for inverse
condemnation, nuisance or trespass (collectively "liability") to the extent arising out of the
COUNTY's obligations under this Agreement, except to the extent liability arises out of the sole or
active negligence or willful misconduct of the DISTRICT, its officers, directors, employees or agents.

Nothing in this Agreement is intended to affect the legal liability of either party by imposing any
standard of care different from the standard of care imposed by law.

9. ACCOUNTABILITY. Both parties shall strictly account for all funds directly related to this
Agreement and shall report to the other, upon request, on all pertinent records and disbursements.

Page 3 of4

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 44 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 64 of 338



10. MODIFICATION. This Agreement shall be subject to modification only by a subsequent written
agreement executed by both of the parties.

11. NOTICES. Any and all notices or documents required or desired to be delivered by the parties under
this Agreement shall be deemed delivered: (1) upon hand delivery to the address below; (2) upon
being sent and received via certified mail to the address below as evidenced by certified mail receipt;
(3) upon being sent via facsimile to the telephone number below as evidenced by facsimile receipt; or
(4) five days after being sent via first class mail. Facsimile transmission shall be promptly followed by
first class mail. The addresses and facsimile numbers are as follows:

To DISTRICT:
General ManagerlDistrict Engineer
Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District
1010 Chadbourne Road
Fairfield, CA 94534-9700
Fax: (707) 429-1280

To COUNTY:
Director
Department of Environmental Management
470 Chadbourne Road, Suite 200
Fairfield, CA 94534
Fax: (707) 421-4805

12. INTERPRETATION. Both parties have had ample opportunity to comment upon the contents of this
Agreement; therefore, the rule that ambiguities shall be construed against the drafter and any similar
rules shall not apply.

13. TERM. This Agreement may be terminated for good cause by either party upon 180 days written
notice to the other party, provided, however, that this Agreement may not be terminated with respect
to those PARCELS that have already connected to the COLLECTION SYSTEM.

In WITNESS the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the day first above written.

FAIRFIELD-SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT

ATTEST:

_v~Clerk .-t4----

BoardPre~f::~~~

SOLANO COUNTY

Duane Kromm, Chail:man

ATTEST:
Michael D. Johnson, Clerk
Of the Board of Supervisors

C;\OClGumenlS aM Settiogs\krlslineal\Local Settlngs\Temporary Internet Flles\OLK3lSVRAgrellmenl 05 1003 F!nal.docMay 6, 2003

Page 4 of4

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 45 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 65 of 338



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

A
E

X
IS

T
IN

G
S

E
W

E
R

S
E

R
V

IC
E

P
A

R
C

E
L

T
A

B
L

E
-S

U
IS

U
N

V
A

L
L

E
Y

R
D

.

1
K

en
K

e
m

b
le

In
c.

2
1

0
0

R
o

ck
vi

lle
R

d
0

1
5

3
1

8
0

1
2

0
N

e
ig

h
b

o
rh

o
o

d
C

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l
1

.5
2

2
A

m
e

lia
M

ur
at

or
i

22
91

R
o

ck
vi

lle
R

d
0

1
5

3
1

8
0

0
6

0
N

e
ig

h
b

o
rh

o
o

d
C

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l
0

.6
6

3
W

ill
y

G
&

R
M

F
le

e
m

a
n

41
41

S
u

is
u

n
V

a
lle

y
R

d
0

0
2

7
1

4
1

1
1

0
R

e
si

d
e

n
tia

l
E

st
a

te
1

A
c

M
in

.
1

.0
5

4
E

d
w

a
rd

D
&

A
D

u
le

y
4

1
3

7
S

u
is

u
n

V
a

lle
yR

d
0

0
2

7
1

4
1

1
3

0
R

e
si

d
e

n
tia

l
E

st
a

te
1

A
c

M
in

.
1

.0
0

5
T

ill
ie

B
o

d
h

a
in

e
4

1
3

3
S

u
is

u
n

V
a

lle
y

R
d

0
0

2
7

1
4

1
0

7
0

R
e

si
d

e
n

tia
l

E
st

a
te

1
A

c
M

in
.

1
.0

0
6

S
te

ve
n

A
&

D
e

b
o

ra
h

A
M

o
rt

o
n

4
0

7
5

S
u

is
u

n
V

a
lle

y
R

d
0

0
2

7
1

8
0

0
5

0
R

e
si

d
e

n
tia

lE
st

a
te

1
A

c
M

in
.

0
.4

3
7

S
te

ve
n

A
&

D
e

b
o

ra
h

A
M

o
rt

o
n

4
0

7
5

S
u

is
u

n
V

a
lle

y
R

d
0

0
2

7
1

8
0

0
8

0
R

e
si

d
e

n
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1

A
c

M
in

.
0

.3
5

8
S

te
ve

n
A

&
D

e
b

o
ra

h
A

M
o

rt
o

n
4

0
7

5
S

u
is

u
n

V
a

lle
y

R
d

0
0

2
7

1
8

0
0

7
0

R
e

si
d

e
n

tia
l

E
st

a
te

1
A

c
M

in
.

0
.5

2
9

T
h

o
m

a
s

E
H

u
o

u
e

n
in

4
0

6
9

S
u

is
u

n
V

a
lle

v
R

d
0

0
2

7
1

8
0

0
6

0
R

e
si

d
e

n
tia

l
E

st
a

te
1

A
c

M
in

.
0

.6
3

1
0

N
o

rm
a

n
D

&
Je

a
n

Z
S

m
ith

4
0

6
5

S
u

is
u

n
V

a
lle

v
R

d
0

0
2

7
1

9
0

0
1

0
R

e
si

d
e

n
tia

l
E

st
a

te
1

A
c

M
in

.
4

.8
2

11
M

a
m

e
rt

o
F

&
L

u
z

Z
D

a
a

ci
o

n
40

51
S

u
is

u
n

V
a

lle
v

R
d

0
0

2
7

1
9

0
0

4
0

R
e

si
d

e
n

tia
lE

st
a

te
1

A
c

M
in

.
0

.1
9

~__,
_"

I
1

2
M

a
tt

h
e

w
D

&
T

ra
cy

A
S

tt
t

4
0

4
7

S
u

is
u

n
V

a
lle

v
R

d
0

0
2

7
1

9
0

1
0

0
R

e
si

d
e

n
tia

l
E

st
a

te
1

A
c

M
in

.
0

.2
2

c.
;:,
I

1
3

D
av

id
W

C
o

rb
e

tt
4

1
0

0
S

u
is

u
n

V
a

lle
v

R
d

0
0

2
7

2
0

0
1

9
0

A
o

ic
u

ltu
re

4
0

A
c

M
in

.
0

.2
6

1
4

O
ra

P
B

er
de

ll
4

0
9

6
S

u
is

u
n

V
a

lle
v

R
d

0
0

2
7

2
0

0
2

1
0

A
o

ic
u

ltu
re

4
0

A
c

M
in

.
0

.2
4

1
5

B
e

a
tr

ic
e

L
o

u
is

e
Le

4
0

6
6

S
u

is
u

n
V

a
lle

y
R

d
0

0
2

7
2

1
0

1
0

0
A

o
ic

u
ltu

re
4

0
A

c
M

in
.

1
.3

7
R

fp
la

m
nr

>
gl

lo
ng

ra
n

g
e

p<
oj

ec
lS

lf
ai

rt
le

kl
·S

\l
fs

un
s
e

w
<

!f
di

sl
ri

ct
la

ll
ac

hm
en

lA
""

ls
ti

t'l
ls

sw
e'

$
lil

V
ka

p
ar

ce
ll

ab
l..

..S
O

Jis
un

va
ll

ey
rd

P
ag

e
1

of
1

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 46 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 66 of 338



...\SVR-OldCord\attach-b(b).dgn 05/01/200309:48:16 AM

.~
NO SCALE

Attachment B
xisting Sewer Ser'vice Parcel Map

SUISUN VALLEY ROAD

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 47 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 67 of 338



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

C
E

X
IS

T
IN

G
S

E
W

E
R

S
E

R
V

IC
E

-O
L

D
C

O
R

D
E

L
IA

2
IG

er
al

d
H

La
ne

3
IF

re
d

G
&

V
io

le
t

W
e

b
e

r
4

ID
om

in
ia

ue
J

&
M

au
de

L
S

m
ith

5
IT

od
d

J
H

ov
de

6
IW

hi
tn

ey
M

&
C

D
B

a
ke

r
7

IJ
ef

fr
ey

F
&

LM
D

itt
m

e
r

8
IJ

a
ck

L
&

A
ni

to
0

D
ur

re
nt

S
r

9
IJ

on
at

ha
n

0
S

to
ve

r
10

IM
ar

k
A

&
T

ra
ci

e
L

M
ag

le
by

11
IA

lia
n

M
&

Li
nd

a
D

ai
le

y
12

IV
ic

to
r

B
&

S
ha

un
a

H
ar

dy
13

IS
te

ph
en

L
&

S
us

an
M

La
re

n
14

IM
ar

y
R

E
lls

w
or

th
15

IW
an

da
G

H
en

dr
ix

16
IW

ili
ia

m
P

&
T

af
fy

L
P

ao
li

17
IR

on
al

d
A

&
G

L
P

ie
no

vi
18

IH
el

en
M

ax
in

e
La

ng

19
IJ

oh
n

E
E

lls
w

or
th

20
IV

io
le

t
L

W
eb

er
21

IJ
oh

n
E

&
M

ar
v

R
E

lls
w

or
th

22
IJ

oh
n

C
&

Li
nd

a
M

cC
ul

lo
ch

23
IR

al
ph

&
Li

iv
E

tta
M

or
ris

on
24

IJ
oh

n
C

&
Li

nd
a

M
cC

ul
lo

ch
25

IJ
ac

k
M

cC
ul

lo
ch

26
IR

o
a

e
rG

D
e

a
n

e
27

IC
or

de
lia

F
ire

P
ro

te
ct

io
n

D
is

t
28

IR
eb

ec
a

A
T

ab
er

t-
K

os
lo

w
29

IM
ar

v
M

ar
aa

re
t

R
en

ne
r

36
20

C
en

tr
al

W
a

y
36

21
R

itc
hi

e
R

d
36

17
R

itc
hi

e
R

d
36

09
T

ho
m

ps
on

C
t

36
05

T
ho

m
ps

on
C

t
35

97
T

ho
m

ps
on

C
t

35
91

T
ho

m
ps

on
C

t
35

87
T

ho
m

ps
on

C
t

35
85

T
ho

m
ps

on
C

t
35

83
T

ho
m

ps
on

C
t

35
82

T
ho

m
ps

on
C

t
.

35
88

T
ho

m
ps

on
C

t
36

21
T

ho
m

ps
on

C
t

36
00

T
ho

m
ps

on
C

t
36

07
R

itc
hi

e
R

d
36

02
R

itc
hi

e
R

d
36

03
R

itc
hi

e
R

d

35
99

R
itc

hi
e

R
d

35
89

,3
59

3,
35

95
R

itc
hi

e
R

d
35

77
R

itc
hi

e
R

d
20

97
C

or
de

lia
R

d
21

01
C

or
de

lia
R

d
21

05
C

or
de

lia
R

d
2

1
1

7
,2

1
1

9
C

or
de

lia
R

d
10

00
C

or
de

lia
R

d
21

55
C

or
de

lia
R

d
21

37
B

ri
do

ep
or

tA
ve

nu
e

21
45

B
rid

oe
po

rt
A

ve
nu

e

0
0

4
5

3
0

0
3

2
0

IC
om

m
er

ci
al

O
ff

ic
e

0
0

4
5

3
0

0
3

3
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1/
3

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
3

0
0

3
1

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
8

1
30

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
8

1
31

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
8

1
16

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
8

1
17

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
8

1
18

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
8

1
19

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
8

1
20

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
8

1
2

1
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1/
3

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
0

8
1

2
2

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
8

1
23

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
8

1
2

4
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1/
3

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
0

8
1

2
9

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
8

2
0

2
0

IR
ur

al
R

es
id

en
tia

l
2

1/
2

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
0

8
1

01
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1/
3

A
c

M
in

.

0
0

4
5

0
8

1
02

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
8

1
03

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
9

0
0

1
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1/
3

A
c

M
in

.
00

45
09

0
11

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
9

0
1

0
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1
/3

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
0

9
0

18
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1/
3

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
0

9
0

0
7

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

3
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

0
9

0
0

3
0

IN
ei

ah
bo

rh
oo

d
C

om
m

er
ci

al
0

0
4

5
1

0
0

1
3

0
IR

ur
al

R
es

id
en

tia
l

2
1/

2
A

c
M

in
.

00
45

13
1

06
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1/
2

A
c

M
in

.
00

45
13

1
07

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

2
A

c
M

in
.

0.
69

0.
35

0.
35

0.
35

0.
38

0.
33

0.
35

0.
35

0.
34

0.
33

0.
46

0.
36

0.
36

0.
38

0.
36

0.
69

0.
72

0.
88

1.
48

0.
17

0.
50

0.
41

0.
41

1.
22

0.
20

0.
29

0.
76

0.
45

P
ag

e
1

o
f2

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 48 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 68 of 338



30
IC

hl
or

is
M

K
in

ca
id

31
ID

ai
e

E
uq

en
e

K
in

ca
id

32
IR

ob
er

t
S

ni
de

r
G

ar
tle

33
IE

ile
en

M
aq

ui
re

34
IK

en
ne

th
R

&
G

ai
l

L
B

ec
ht

le
35

IL
er

ov
&

E
lle

n
M

ae
st

as
36

ID
ol

or
es

L
R

uf
fe

r
37

IA
ld

en
e

H
H

ar
pe

r
38

IS
ue

D
P

in
kh

am
39

IJ
oh

n
P

&
M

vr
a

A
Lo

rd
40

IC
at

he
rin

e
D

C
ol

lin
s

41
IA

lb
er

t
K

&
C

ar
ol

Je
an

G
uv

an
4

2
IJ

oh
ns

on
Li

lli
an

C
ol

lin
s

T
r

21
51

B
rid

qe
po

rt
A

ve
nu

e
21

59
B

rid
qe

po
rt

A
ve

nu
e

21
65

B
rid

qe
oo

rt
A

ve
nu

e
21

00
B

rid
qe

po
rt

A
ve

nu
e

21
10

B
rid

qe
po

rt
A

ve
nu

e
21

24
B

rid
qe

oo
rt

A
ve

nu
e

21
32

B
rid

qe
po

rt
A

ve
nu

e
21

38
B

rid
qe

po
rt

A
ve

nu
e

21
46

B
rid

qe
oo

rt
A

ve
nu

e
*N

o
S

ite
A

dd
re

ss
*

21
66

B
rid

qe
po

rt
A

ve
nu

e
21

72
B

rid
qe

po
rt

A
ve

nu
e

36
24

R
itc

hi
e

R
oa

d

0
0

4
5

1
3

1
02

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

2
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

1
3

1
03

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

2
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

1
3

1
04

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

2
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

1
4

0
0

4
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1/
2

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
1

4
0

0
6

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

2
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

1
4

0
1

9
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1/
2

A
c

M
in

.
00

45
13

2
01

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

2
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

1
3

2
0

2
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1/
2

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
1

3
2

0
3

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

2
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

1
3

2
0

6
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1/
2

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
1

3
2

0
7

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

2
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

1
3

2
0

8
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1/
2

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
3

0
0

1
3

0
IR

ur
al

R
es

id
en

tia
l

2
1/

2
A

c
M

in
.

0.
36

0.
39

0.
36

0.
28

1.
00

0.
45

0.
88

0.
86

0.
66

1.
00

0.
10

0.
12

2.
31

R
:tp

l<
!l1

ni
ng

!lo
ng

ra
og

e
pm

je
et

sl
fa

i'f
>e

i:l
-S

U
ls

un
s<

!:N
ef

dl
sl

riC
lia

tta
ch

m
en

tC
ex

is
tin

g
se

;o
,..

"
$e

rv
ir

e
p

a
rr

o
lt

ab
le

ol
d

co
/d

el
ia

P
ag

e
2

o
f2

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 49 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 69 of 338



'. • I

rn
..,

,",
O

Il

...
\P

ha
se

1\
al

ta
ch

--
d(

b)
.d

gn
05

/0
8/

20
03

09
:3

9:
30

A
M

.''''
"'V

li , !

I
_

iw
l•

•

LE
G

EN
D

'
@

PA
RC

EL
RE

fE
RE

N
CE

N
lM

lE
fl

PR
O

PE
RT

Y
W

IT
H

IlU
IL

O
JN

G
AN

D
SE

\l'I
i.R

C
O

N
N

EC
TI

O
N

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t
D

E
x

is
ti

n
g

S
ew

er
S

er
v

ic
e

P
a
rc

e
l

M
ap

O
LD

C
O

R
D

E
L

IA

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 50 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 70 of 338



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

E
S

E
W

E
R

S
E

R
V

IC
E

P
A

R
C

E
L

E
L

IG
IB

IL
IT

Y
T

A
B

L
E

-S
U

IS
U

N
V

A
L

L
E

Y
R

D
.

1
P

re
sb

yt
e

ry
o

ft
h

e
R

e
d

w
o

o
d

s
4

1
7

7
S

u
is

u
n

V
a

lle
y

R
d

0
1

5
3

1
8

0
0

4
0

R
e

si
d

e
n

tia
l

E
st

a
te

1
A

c
M

in
.

2
.2

6
2

T
o

w
e

r
E

n
e

rg
y

G
ro

u
p

4
1

5
5

S
u

is
u

n
V

a
lle

y
R

d
0

0
2

7
1

4
1

3
8

0
N

e
ig

h
b

o
rh

o
o

d
C

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l
0.

41
3

A
lla

n
F

&
N

a
n

cy
L

M
u

e
lle

r
4

1
4

9
S

u
is

u
n

V
a

lle
y

R
d

0
0

2
7

1
4

1
0

4
0

N
e

ig
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l

0
.3

4
4

L
a

w
re

n
ce

E
P

e
a

co
ck

4
1

2
9

S
u

is
u

n
V

a
lle

y
R

d
0

0
2

7
1

4
1

2
0

0
R

e
si

d
e

n
tia

l
E

st
a

te
1

A
c

M
in

.
1

.0
0

5
D

o
lo

re
s

Jo
h

n
so

n
40

91
S

u
is

u
n

V
a

lle
y

R
d

0
0

2
7

1
8

0
0

2
0

R
e

si
d

e
n

tia
l

E
st

a
te

1
A

c
M

in
.

1
.4

0
6

F
ra

n
k

&
R

a
n

e
lle

A
sc

a
ri

z
4

0
8

5
S

u
is

u
n

V
a

lle
y

R
d

0
0

2
7

1
8

0
0

3
0

R
e

si
d

e
n

tia
lE

st
a

te
1

A
c

M
in

.
1

.1
0

7
Ja

n
n

M
R

o
w

b
a

ll
40

81
S

u
is

u
n

V
a

lle
y

R
d

0
0

2
7

1
8

0
0

4
0

R
e

si
d

e
n

tia
lE

st
a

te
1

A
c

M
in

.
0

.3
2

8
M

a
u

ri
ce

J
K

oc
h

2
2

8
0

R
o

ck
vi

lle
R

d
0

0
2

7
1

4
1

2
4

0
N

e
ig

h
b

o
rh

o
o

d
C

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l
1

.1
5

9
E

dw
in

L
&

C
h

e
re

iA
M

o
p

a
s

4
0

5
5

S
u

is
u

n
V

a
lle

y
R

d
0

0
2

7
1

9
0

0
3

0
R

e
si

d
e

n
tia

l
E

st
a

te
1

A
c

M
in

.
0

.1
9

1
0

M
a

rv
B

et
h

T
ir

e
v-

Ji
n

e
s

4
0

4
3

S
u

is
u

n
V

a
lle

y
R

d
0

0
2

7
1

9
0

1
1

0
R

e
si

d
e

n
tia

lE
st

a
te

1
A

c
M

in
.

0
.7

8
11

Ju
dY

&
B

ri
an

L
a

d
sc

h
o

o
t

4
1

6
0

S
u

is
u

n
V

a
lle

y
R

d
0

0
2

7
1

4
2

0
7

0
N

e
ig

h
b

o
rh

o
o

d
C

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l
0

.5
0

1
2

L
o

n
n

ie
W

C
hu

i
4

0
9

2
S

u
is

u
n

V
a

lle
y

R
d

0
0

2
7

2
0

0
0

6
0

A
q

ic
u

ltu
re

4
0

A
c

M
in

.
6

.5
0

:.
'I

1
3

B
a

v
A

re
a

S
te

w
a

rd
sh

ip
C

o
ra

4
0

8
4

S
u

is
u

n
V

a
lle

y
R

d
0

0
2

7
2

0
0

2
0

0
A

q
ic

u
ltu

re
4

0
A

c
M

in
.

6
.6

5
1

4
Ji

m
H

&
G

ra
ce

S
H

C
h

a
n

4
0

7
0

S
u

is
u

n
V

a
lle

y
R

d
0

0
2

7
2

1
0

0
2

0
A

q
ic

u
ltu

re
4

0
A

c
M

in
.

3
.1

0
1

5
Jo

se
p

h
F

&
D

e
b

o
ra

h
D

L
o

p
e

z
4

0
6

0
S

u
is

u
n

V
a

lle
y

R
d

0
0

2
7

2
1

0
1

1
0

A
q

ic
u

ltu
re

4
0

A
c

M
in

.
2

.3
3

1
6

M
a

u
ri

ce
J

K
oc

h
2

2
8

8
R

o
ck

vi
lle

R
d

0
0

2
7

1
4

1
3

7
0

N
e

ig
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l

0
.7

4
~
f
p
l
a
n
n
i
n
g
i
1
o
"
'
J
""

'9
"

",
oj

e<
:l

S
Il

ai
ff

ie
kl

.s
tJ

ls
un
=

d<
st

ri
ct

la
ll

ac
hm

en
t

E
"
"
"
'"

se
tV

ic
e
I
'
~

el
ig

fb
'll

y
la

bl
e-

su
is

un
va

ll
ey

rd

P
ag

e
1

o
f

1

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 51 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 71 of 338



...\8VR"OldCord\attach.f(b).dgn 05/01/200301 :47:59 PM

--_ _-.._----

~
NO BCAU

_.

(
') ,/"'"

Attachnient F

Sewer ~$ervice Parcel Eligibility
SUISUN VALLEY ROAD

"'n"' ....

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 52 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 72 of 338



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

G
S

E
W

E
R

S
E

R
V

IC
E

P
A

R
C

E
L

E
L

IG
IB

IL
IT

Y
T

A
B

L
E

-O
L

D
C

O
R

D
E

L
IA

2
IP

&
C

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
IE

S

3
IE

ar
l

R
P

ie
rs

on
4

IJ
ef

fr
ev

W
O

M
N

ix
on

5
lE

m
m

a
B

al
l

6
IR

ic
ha

rd
L

W
at

so
n

7
IR

en
ee

0
N

ov
es

8
IL

aw
re

nc
e

U
H

ud
so

n
9

IE
dn

a
Le

e
K

el
l

10
IW

ill
ia

m
&

A
lfr

ed
in

a
P

ao
li

35
94

R
itc

hi
e

R
d

*N
o

S
ite

A
dd

re
ss

*
21

81
C

or
de

lia
R

d
20

92
B

rid
ae

oo
rt

A
ve

nu
e

21
02

B
rid

ae
oo

rt
A

ve
nu

e
21

16
B

rid
ae

oo
rt

A
ve

nu
e

21
20

B
rid

ae
oo

rt
A

ve
nu

e
21

58
B

rid
ae

oo
rt

A
ve

nu
e

21
62

B
rid

ae
oo

rt
A

ve
nu

e

00
45

30
0

06
0

IR
ur

al
R

es
id

en
tia

l
2

1/
2

A
c

M
in

.

0
0

4
5

1
0

0
3

8
0

12
1/

2
R

ur
al

R
es

id
en

tia
l2

1/
3

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
1

0
0

2
3

0
IR

ur
al

R
es

id
en

tia
l2

1/
2

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
1

4
0

1
6

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

2
A

c
M

in
.

0
0

4
5

1
4

0
0

5
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1/
2

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
1

4
0

1
7

0
IR

es
id

en
tia

l
E

st
at

e
1/

2
A

c
M

in
.

00
45

14
0

18
0

IR
es

id
en

tia
l

E
st

at
e

1/
2

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
1

2
0

0
3

0
IA

ar
ic

ul
tu

re
20

A
c

M
in

.
0

0
4

5
1

2
0

0
2

0
IA

ar
ic

ul
tu

re
20

A
c

M
in

.

4.
11

3.
24

0.
36

1.
15

1.
01

0.
50

0.
46

3.
09

4.
07

~.
-
\

R
:lp

la
nr

nl
1g

/io
ng

ra
ng

e
pr

oj
ec

ts
lla

ilf
le

!d
-S

\lO
;u

n
se

-...
.e

rd
is

tri
ct

/a
tta

ch
m

en
tG

se
w

er
S>

'lr
vi

re
pa

rc
el

ef
'1

m
ilit

y
ta

bk
H

Ik
iO

lld
et

la

P
ag

e
1

o
f

1

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 53 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 73 of 338



;.
:;

f.
..

.~
1

.....
.....

I , I , v·

..
..
1

'"
"'

''

...
\S

V
A

-O
ld

C
or

d\
au

ac
h-

h(
b)

.d
gn

05
{0

1{
20

03
09

:5
0:

23
A

M

r..
..1

l>
l

M"
'" , I

\
~(

j-
Q

()

{]

LE
G

E
N

D
:

@
PA

RC
EL

RE
FE

RE
N

CE
!M

Il
E

R

r.
,.
~.
,,
·'
.o
q.
~'
fl

PR
O

PE
RT

Y
E

L
IG

fB
l.£

FO
R

'}
-:
'~
""
&l
'

SE
llE

R
C

O
N

N
EC

TI
O

N
S

A
tt

a
c
h

m
e
n

t
H

S
ew

er
S

e
rv

ic
e

P
a
rc

e
l

E
li

g
ib

il
it

y
M

ap
O

LD
C

O
R

D
EL

IA

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 54 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 74 of 338



Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 55 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 75 of 338



Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 56 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 76 of 338



Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 57 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 77 of 338



Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 58 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 78 of 338



Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 59 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 79 of 338



4
5

-1
0

 
P

O
R

. M
W

. 1
/4

, N
.W

. 1
/4

, S
E

C
. 7

, T
.4

N
., 

R
.2

W
., 

M
.D

.B
.&

M
. 

■ 

T
a
x 

A
re

a
 C

o
d
e 

3
1
1
4
 

6
0

0
4

1
 

6
0
0
4
2
 

60
04

1  

7
0
o
• 

Zge'ON u8 DO 

CO
RD

EL
 IA

 
A

z
L
i 4

4
°  

F
A

V
Z

O
-1

1
 

E
iN

,'
A

E
.

1•
G

9M
1i

M
 

M
E

.
--

N
iM

i■
 =

C
C

M
 

- (
co

. R
D

. N
O

.7
6)

 10
0-

32
 C

H
G

. 
(O

rl
.)

 5
-2

7-
04

 
R

E
M

A
P

 D
A

T
E

: 
1

2
-3

1
-2

0
1

0
 

SE
 

A
dj

 P
g 

23
 (

R
rn

) 	
1

2
-1

-0
0

 

A
s
s
e

s
s
o

r'
s
 M

a
p

 B
k
. 

4
5

 P
g

. 
1

0
 

C
o
u
n
ty

 o
f 
S

o
la

n
o
, 

FG
 

10
0-

40
 t

hr
u 

42
 	

7
-1

0
-9

1
 

FG
 

N
O

T
E

: 
A

ss
es

so
r'

s 
B

lo
ck

 N
u

m
b
er

s 
S
h
o
w

n
 i

n
 E

ll
ip

se
s 

A
ss

e
ss

o
r'

s 
P

a
rc

e
l 

N
u

m
b

e
rs

 S
h

o
w

n
 i

n
 C

ir
c
le

s 
10

0-
38

 &
 3

9 
	

1
0
-2

6
-8

4
 

EK
E 

N
O

T
E

: T
hi

s 
m

ap
 is

 f
or

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t 

pu
rp

os
es

 o
nl

y 
an

d 
is

 n
ot

 f
or

 t
he

 
in

te
nt

 o
f 

in
te

rp
re

ti
ng

 le
ga

l b
ou

nd
ar

y 
ri

gh
ts

, z
on

in
g 

re
gu

la
ti

on
s 

an
d/

or
 

le
ga

li
ty

 o
f 

la
nd

 d
iv

is
io

n 
la

w
s.

 

BY
 

RE
V

IS
IO

N
 	

D
A

TE
 

C
o
p
yr

ig
h
t 

©
 

1
9
9
6
, 
S
o
la

n
a
 C

o
u
n
t/

 A
ss

e
ss

o
r/

R
e
c
o
rd

e
r,

 A
ll

 r
ig

h
ts

 R
e
se

rv
e
d
 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 60 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 80 of 338



Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 61 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 81 of 338



Will-serve email from Pacific Gas and Electric: 

 

From: Harvey, Michael [mailto:MQHJ@pge.com]  
Sent: Friday, July 30, 2021 10:00 AM 
To: Peter Giles <pgiles@denovahomes.com> 
Subject: RE: PG&E Will Serve Letter 

 

Hi Pete, 
We can serve that property with gas and electric. Please use this email as a formal response that PG&E 
can serve gas and electric to the 475 & 535 Pittman Rd Addresses. 
 
I can’t issue the PG&E “will serve” letter until an application is created. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Mike Harvey 
Senior New Business Representative 
Pacific Gas & Electric 
Phone: 530-434-3603 
Email: MQHJ@pge.com 
 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 62 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 82 of 338

mailto:MQHJ@pge.com
mailto:pgiles@denovahomes.com
mailto:MQHJ@pge.com


8/3/23, 12:51 PM Yahoo Mail - Pittman Road Annexation: Letter and emails to Fire Districts re "De-Annexation" Payments

about:blank 1/3

Pittman Road Annexation: Letter and emails to Fire Districts re "De-Annexation" Payments

From: Kerri Watt (kwatt@denovahomes.com)

To: rseithel@solanolafco.com; clove@solanolafco.com

Date: Thursday, December 8, 2022 at 01:54 PM PST

Hello Rich,

A� ached please find the le� er I have sent to the Cordelia Fire District, with an email reply from Chief Carpenter.  I apologize, I had only sent an email to Chief Abruzinni (see a� ached), 

K���� W���
Director of En�tlements
DeNova Homes, Inc.
1500 Willow Pass Court
Concord, CA 94520
Office: (925) 685-0110, ext 610
Direct: (925) 291-6828
Cell:      (925) 605-9304

Hello Kerri,

My apologies for not getting back to you sooner. 

I have reached our to all board members involved with finance and taxes. None have any objections and the reimbursement amount provided by LAFCO

Dave Carpenter
Fire Chief 
Cordelia Fire Protection District
2155 Cordelia Road
Fairfield, CA  94534
(o) 707-864-0468
(m) 707-580-2485

On Thursday, September 15, 2022 at 05:16:24 PM PDT, Kerri Watt <kwatt@denovahomes.com> wrote:

Hello Dave,

I hope you are doing well.  Thank you again for speaking with me several weeks ago regarding this property detachment and the proposed pay-out to the District.  I realize you have quite a
your Board about this or have the item scheduled for a Board meeting, if so required? 

Do you foresee any concerns or is this something you think the Board would be willing to accept? 

Although I will be out of the office for a few weeks, please don’t’ hesitate to “reply all” to this email:  Trent Sanson, my VP, will be happy to answer any questions you may have, as will Meily

PLEASE NOTE I WILL BE OUT OF THE OFFICE BEGINNING SEPT 19th, RETURNING OCT 10th. 

Kerri Watt
Director of Entitlements

DeNova Homes, Inc.

Cell:  (925) 605-9304

From: Kerri Watt
Sent: Wednesday, August 31, 2022 4:42 PM
To: firechief3100@yahoo.com
Subject: Detachment of 475/535 Pittman Road -

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 63 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 83 of 338

http://www.denovahomes.com/


8/3/23, 12:51 PM Yahoo Mail - Pittman Road Annexation: Letter and emails to Fire Districts re "De-Annexation" Payments

about:blank 2/3

Hello Dave,

It was a pleasure speaking with you just now.   Attached is the letter which apparently never made it to you.  Nonetheless, as we discussed, the Solano Local Area Formation Commission (L
historically, the CFPD has requested a lump sum payout equivalent to 20 years’ worth of the ad valorem fire tax.  The 2 parcels in question would pay just over $19,000.

I sincerely would appreciate if the CFPD could respond to my letter indicating that it supports the annexation, the detachment and is willing to accept the proffered lump sum payment.  Plea

Kerri Watt
Director of Entitlements

DeNova Homes, Inc.

1500 Willow Pass Court

Concord, CA 94520

Office: (925) 685-0110, ext 610

Direct: (925) 291-6828

Cell:      (925) 605-9304

PLEASE NOTE I WILL BE OUT OF THE OFFICE BEGINNING SEPT 19TH, RETURNING OCT 10TH.

Hello Chief Abruzinni,

Thanks for returning my call so quickly and discussing the “detachment” from the Suisun Fire Protec� on District (SFPD) in order to annex some property “islands” into the City of Fairfi
Seithel of LAFCo has indicated that the SFPD generally requests that a mi� ga� on fee be paid for the “detachment” of service from the District, based upon a calcula� on of assessment
hopefully receive concurrence that the detachment mi� ga� on fee is correct and acceptable.  I have cc’d on this email Trent Sanson, DeNova’s vice president of Land Acquisi� on.  Pleas
Thanks so very much!

PLEASE NOTE I WILL BE OUT OF THE OFFICE BEGINNING SEPT 19th, RETURNING OCT 10th. 

K���� W���
Director of En�tlements
DeNova Homes, Inc.
Cell:  (925) 605-9304

From: Rich Seithel <rseithel@solanolafco.com>
Sent: Thursday, September 15, 2022 2:28 PM
To: Chief Abruzinni <firechief33sui@gmail.com>
Cc: Kerri Wa�  <kwa� @denovahomes.com>
Subject: Annexa� on mi� ga� on

Chief,

You will be receiving a call from Kerri Watt, Director of Entitlements, Denova Homes, regarding the City of Fairfield annexing several parcels.  Many of the
ensure that the 20-yr mitigation fee payable to the Suisun Fire District is covered.   I shared your cell phone # with Kerri.

Rich

Rich Seithel
Executive Officer

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 64 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 84 of 338

https://nam10.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.denovahomes.com%2F&data=05%7C01%7Ckwatt%40denovahomes.com%7C4b15669835c14fa43a9008da981295ea%7Cb1c9b07ea88044cd888538ce164d4f1a%7C0%7C0%7C637989502847129881%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=L73hvzXWAGL3%2FWpkNbSbD3TmFjwni18J6eHbmhhU1NQ%3D&reserved=0


8/3/23, 12:51 PM Yahoo Mail - Pittman Road Annexation: Letter and emails to Fire Districts re "De-Annexation" Payments

about:blank 3/3

22.08.19_Cordelia Fire District_Detachment Payment Ltr.pdf
565.7kB

Untitled
43.2kB

Untitled
128kB

Solano LAFCO
675 Texas St.
Suite 6700
Fairfield, CA  94533
(707) 439-3897

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 65 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 85 of 338



Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 66 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 86 of 338



Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 67 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 87 of 338



 
Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 68 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 88 of 338



Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 69 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 89 of 338



Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 70 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 90 of 338



Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 71 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 91 of 338



APPENDIX B 

SUNSET APARTMENTS ISLAND DOCUMENTS 

1. City of Fairfield City Council Approval Actions
2. Will Serve Letters
3. Central Valley Flood Protection Board Consent to be Annexed 
4. Suisun Fire Protection District Standard No. 11 Notice
5. Sunset Apartment CEQA: Adopted Mitigated Negative Declaration
6. Sunset Apartments Island Map and Legal Description

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 72 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 92 of 338



CITY OF FAIRFIELD

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-342

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAIRFIELD ADOPTING A MITIGATED
NEGATIVE DECLARATION ( ER2021-039) FOR THE SUNSET AVENUE APARTMENTS PROJECT

INVOLVING 130 APARTMENTS ON APPROXIMATELY 8.71 -ACRES AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER
OF SUNSET AVENUE AND EAST TABOR AVENUE ( APNs: 0037-030-200; 0037-030-210; 0037- 
060-480); FINDING THE PROPOSED ANNEXATION ( ANX2021- 002) OF t4.72 -ACRES LOCATED

ON SUNSET AVENUE (APNS: 0037-060-480 AND 0037-060-490) CONSISTENT WITH THE CITY' S
GENERAL PLAN AND MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW; AND REQUESTING THE SOLANO LOCAL

AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION ( LAFCO) TO INITIATE PROCEEDINGS FOR THE
REORGANIZATION OF TERRITORY

WHEREAS, on September 29, 2021, Annexation ( ANX2021-002), Zone Change ( ZC2021- 006), 

Development Review ( DR2021-017), and Environmental Review ( ER2021- 039) applications for a

proposed multifamily residential development involving 130 apartments and annexation of two
parcels (APNs: 0037-060-480 and 0037-060-490) into Fairfield City limits and Zone Change from
Residential, Low Medium Density ( RLM) District to Residential, Medium Density ( RM) District
located at the southeast corner of Sunset Avenue and East Tabor Avenue (APNs: 0037-030-200; 
0037- 030-210; and 0037-060-480) ( Project) were properly filed with the Community
Development Department in accordance with the rules and regulations governing the official

filing of such applications; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing on September 28, 2022. 
City staff presented substantial factual information regarding the proposed Project in staff
reports and through oral presentations before the commission, and the commission considered

all public testimony and information presented during the public hearing regarding this
application; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has held a duly noticed public hearing for the proposed Mitigated
Negative Declaration and Annexation requests on December 6, 2022; and

WHEREAS, the Mitigated Negative Declaration has been prepared for the Project that satisfies
the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA); and

WHEREAS, the Mitigated Negative Declaration prepared for the Project applies to the City
Council' s actions as well as the Project' s actions during the public hearing of the Planning
Commission on September 28, 2022; and

WHEREAS, the council has determined the following findings exist in support of the Annexation
request: 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 73 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 93 of 338



RES. NO. 2022- 342

Page 2

a) The proposed annexation is consistent with the goals, policies, and objectives of the General
Plan. The Project site has a General Plan land use designation of Medium Density Residential
and Open Space Conservation, including the 4. 72 acres of land to be annexed into Fairfield City
limits. The annexation of the subject parcels is necessary to facilitate the Project and provide
City services, such as water and service. The Project is consistent with this land use designation
in that the General Plan anticipates a variety of attached residential units, such as duets, 
townhomes, rowhouses, condominiums, and apartments for properties with the Medium

Density Residential designations and the Laurel Creek Flood Control Chanel shall remain in its
form within the Open Space Conservation designation. The Project is consistent with the

following General Plan Objectives: Objective HO 1: Provide for varied housing opportunities, in
terms of type, price, amenities, neighborhood design, and location, for all income groups and
family types; Objective HO 2: Encourage infill housing in developed areas of the City; Objective
LU 8: Develop and maintain a pattern of residential land uses which provides for a variety and
balance of densities and opportunities for a mixture of different dwelling and tenure types, 
Objective LU 11: Provide multifamily ownership and rental units in a variety of cost ranges
dispersed throughout the City; Objective LU 18: Encourage infill development and compact
growth; Objective UD4: Ensure high standards of quality in development; and Objective UD 8: 
Encourage and approve infill development which is compatible with the surrounding area. 

Overall, the Project is consistent with each of these General Plan Objectives. The Project
provides 130 large market -rate rental units on an infill site. The residential buildings that
comprise the Project site are sited in a compact manner with a high-quality design of the
Spanish Colonial architectural style. 

b) The proposed annexation would not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, or
welfare of the city. Annexation of the subject parcels would not be detrimental to the public
interest, health, safety, or welfare of the city. The parcel fronting Sunset Avenue (APN: 0037- 
060-480) will be incorporated into a proposed multifamily residential development with 130
units following the annexation into the City of Fairfield. The rear parcel (APN: 0037-060-490) 
contains the existing Laurel Creek Flood Control Channel and is not part of the Project
development area. The Project will be subject to a collection of development standards and

conditions of approval to ensure that it is constructed in a manner that does not endanger the
public interest, health, or the general welfare of Fairfield. 

c) The proposed annexation is consistent with the 2012 Municipal Service Review. The subject
parcels are within the City of Fairfield Sphere of influence, and it has been analyzed in the most
recent 2012 Municipal Service Review ( MSR). The MSR identifies the site as Annexation Area
H," an " Island Annexation," for which the City and LAFCO encourage annexation to promote

the efficient provision of urban services and utilities. The Project will require LAFCO approval
of the proposed annexation. Therefore, the Project approvals shall not be valid unless and until
LAFCO approves and completes the proposed annexation into the City of Fairfield; and

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 74 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 94 of 338



RES. NO. 2022- 342

Page 3

WHEREAS, the council desires to initiate proceedings pursuant to the Cortese -Knox -Hertzberg

Act of 2000, commencing with Section 56000 of the California Government Code, for a
reorganization which would annex territory to the City of Fairfield. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAIRFIELD HEREBY RESOLVES: 

Section 1. The Mitigated Negative Declaration, as contained in Exhibit A, is hereby adopted. 

Section 2. The annexation of the property described in Exhibit B is hereby found consistent
with the General Plan and Municipal Service Review. The Solano LAFCO is hereby
requested to take proceedings for the annexation of territory, as authorized, in
the manner provided by the Cortese -Knox -Hertzberg Local Government

Reorganization Act of 2000. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 20th day of December, 2022, by the following vote: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

ATTEST: 

COUNCILMEMBERS: Mov BERTANI CARR ZPANDURO TONNESEN VACCARO WILLIAMS

COUNCILMEMBERS: Ume, 

COUNCILMEMBERS: 

COUNCILMEMBERS: 

MAYOR

74
jZu"n Z-Ko-sz 

CITY CLERK

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 75 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 95 of 338



ANNEXATION EXHIBIT

Sunset Avenue Apartments

APNs: 0037-060-480 and 0037- 060-490) EXHIBIT B

LEGEND
NZoneDesignations

MEADOWLARK OR a AG Agriculture

F=— PF
RLM: 6

CC Community Commercial

RLM' 6 -
47

CD Downtown Commercial
WARBLER WY— c o

Z 0 CDC Downtown Commercial Core
k

PF _. j CM Mixed Commercial

2 CN Neighborhood Commercial
MOCKINGBIRD -LNQ

CO Office Commercial

U  
CR Regional Commercial

E TABOR AV
C5 Service Commercial

CT Thoroughfare Commercial

F

RH U IBP Industrial Business Park

LME
IG General Industrial

WN
RLM: 6 RM IL Limited Industrial

l—
PF m

N ITP Industrial Technology Park

QU OSC Open Space Conservation

SAN PE RO ST 0 PF Public Facilities

HRECRecreation

SAN REMO ST RVL Very Low Density Residential

RLM ( RLM) (
SSG) 

RL Low Density Residential

RLM Low -Medium Density Residential

SANTAMONICA 0 1 DUSTIN -WY

BRANDON WY RM Medium Density Residential

RLM: 6
03 RH

RH High Density Residential
7

WREN CT 0 0

RVH
Very High Density Residential

Mv, V) U
0 None Not in City / No Pre -Zoning

F _ 

RH ui az 3SCOverlays
w

Q
O RM - NC North Cordelia Overlay

O
C) PD Proposed Development Overlay
z_ RM

RLM - P1 Downtown Parking Overlay

REC f -
H Hillside Overlay

N
CN

MA7TiHEW CT -_

PXRLIO
N

AVIS BL - 
m

CN
RH CC ( RM) 

l

Proposed Annexation Area

Parcels

Zoning

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 76 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 96 of 338



Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 
1010 Chadbourne Road ● Fairfield, California 94534 ● (707) 429-8930 ● www.fssd.com

2/15/2023 

Autumn Gasparella 
TK Consulting, Inc 
c/o Red Tail Multifamily Land Development, LLC 
2082 Michelson Drive, 3rd Floor 
Irvine, CA 92612 

RE:  Wastewater Service for APN Nos. 0037-030-200, 0037-030-210, 0037-060-480, 
0037-060-490 

Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District (FSSD) is obligated to provide sewer service to all 
projects approved by the City of Fairfield on parcels within the limits of the City of 
Fairfield.  The southerly parcel would need to be annexed into the City of Fairfield in 
order to obtain sewer service.  Please note that sewer capacity fees must be paid in 
order to secure entitlement to sewer capacity.   

Sincerely, 

Kyle Broughton 
Senior Engineer 

Sent via email 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 77 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 97 of 338

http://www.fssd.com/


 Comcast Cable  

 3011 Triad Place 

 Livermore, CA 94551 

 

 

14 February 2023 

 

Red Tail Multifamily Land Development, LLC 

Attn: Autumn Gasparella & Christopher Jellison 

2082 Michelson Drive, Irvine, CA 92612 

agasparella@rtacq.com, cjellison@rtacq.com  

 

RE: Comcast Broadband Communications Services Availability at – E. Tabor Ave. & Sunset Ave., Fairfield, CA 

94533   

 

 

Dear Property Owner: 

 

This letter is to confirm that your proposed project located at – E. Tabor Ave. & Sunset Ave., Fairfield, CA 

94533 is within Comcast’s service territory. 

 

Under its present plans, and upon owner’s/developer’s completion of the service application documents, 

Comcast expects to be in a position to provide its services to occupants in the referenced projects. Our 

broadband services include television, telephone services, and high-speed internet. 

 

• For Retail High-Speed Internet service, Xfinity offers a wide range of residential High-Speed Internet 

choices, ranging from minimum average speeds of 50 Mbps for downloading and 5 Mbps for 

uploading to 1.2 Gbps for downloading and 35 Mbps for uploading. 

 

• For Bulk Managed Wi-Fi, Xfinity can offer high-speed internet service with average minimum speeds 

of 100 Mbps for downloading and 100 Mbps for uploading. 

 

Arrangements to install the necessary service facilities are being made in accordance with Comcast’s wiring 

infrastructure specifications and requirements.  

 

You will be contacted by our local Engineering department, as well as our Contract Access Department, to 

discuss the specifics and align your project details to our internal processes. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 
 

David Higginbotham | COMCAST – California Region | Sr. Specialist, Business Development Operations | 

WSTCAL_XC_FIELD_OPS@comcast.com 

 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 78 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 98 of 338

mailto:agasparella@rtacq.com
mailto:cjellison@rtacq.com
mailto:WSTCAL_XC_FIELD_OPS@comcast.com


324073 (rev. 1/31/06) 

 
 
 
 
 
February 27, 2023 
 
 
Red Tail Multifamily Land Development, LLC 
2082 Michelson Dr 
Irvine, CA 92612 
 
 
Re: Will Serve Notice 
 
Dear Autumn Gasparella & Christopher Jellison, 
 
This letter is written to confirm that the proposed project at E. Tabor Ave & Sunset Ave 
in Fairfield, California is within the Base Rate Area of the AT&T California serving area 
in the Fairfield Exchange.  AT&T expects to be in a position to provide telephone service 
to applicants in the above-referenced development upon request in accordance with 
requirements of, and at the rates and charges specified in, its Tariffs that are on file with 
the California Public Utilities Commission. 
 
This offer to provide service will terminate 24 months after the date of this letter unless 
both of the following first occur: 1) you, in your capacity as the developer, enter into a 
written service agreement with AT&T; and, 2) you, in your capacity as developer, pay all 
charges you are required by AT&T’s Tariffs to pay. 
 
If you have any questions, I can be contacted on 707-639-4481. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Charles Jones 
AT&T California – North C&E 
OSP Design Engineer 
 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 79 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 99 of 338



 
Public  

 
PG&E Service Planning, 850 Stillwater Rd West Sacramento CA 95605 

 
February 14, 2023 
 
 
 

Red Tail Multifamily Land Development, LLC 

Attn: Autumn Gasparella & Christopher Jellison 

2082 Michelson Drive, Irvine, CA 92612 

 
RE: E. Tabor Ave & Sunset Ave, Fairfield, CA 94533 
 
Dear Autumn Gasparella & Christopher Jellison 
 
This is to inform you that the Pacific Gas and Electric Company is the utility and the certified 
carrier of gas and electric energy serving the territory wherein the above captioned project is 
located. 
 
Gas & Electric main extensions are made in accordance with the provisions of Gas & Electric Rule 
15.  Services are provided under Gas & Electric Rule 16.  Copies of these Rules are available upon 
request. 
 
To date, there has been no action on the part of the California Public Utilities Commission to close 
our residential or commercial rates to new or additional gas requirements.  However, since all of 
our tariffs are subject to decisions of this Commission, you should be aware that our rules and 
rates in effect at the time service to the project is required will apply. 
 
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
 
Michael Harvey 
Industrial Power Engineer 
850 Stillwater Road, West Sacramento, CA 95605 
C: (530) 434-3603 
 
 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 80 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 100 of 338



February 26, 2023 

Ms. Christina Love 
Solano Local Agency Formation Commission 
675 Texas St., Ste. 6700 
Fairfield, CA 94533 

RE: Intersection of Sunset Ave and E. Tabor Ave., Fairfield, Solano County, California 
“Island Annexation” of County Parcel into the City of Fairfield 
Central Valley Flood Protection Board Letter of Consent 

Dear Ms. Love: 

We understand the Local Agency Formation Commission of the County of Solano, together with the City 
of Fairfield, is in the process of annexing County Island parcels into the City of Fairfield. As part of the 
Island Annexation, it is our intent to assist and include the Central Valley Flood Protection Board (the 
“Flood Board”) parcel, identified as Solano County Assessor’s Parcel Number 00037-060-490 consisting 
of approximately 2.82-acres, from the County into the City.  The Flood Board’s parcel is adjacent to the 
parcel we have applied to annex (APN 0037-060-480) under Red Tail Multifamily Land Development, 
LLC.  

As part of the process, we made several attempts to engage with the Central Valley Flood Protection 
Board to request a Letter of Consent with no avail. The first attempt was made through a Microsoft 
Teams Meeting on November 17, 2022, as requested from Jessica Heidari (TK Consulting, Inc.) to 
Humberto Negrete (CVFPB) and Andrea Buckley (CVFPB). Since the first attempt, several emails were 
sent to Humberto Negrete, Angela Buckley, and Jaime Silva (See Exhibit A and Exhibit B attached 
hereto). 

We believe the Flood Board’s parcel should be included in the annexation submittal package as to not 
leave the parcel as an island parcel. We have included the Flood Board’s parcel in our Solano LAFCO 
Change of Organization/Reorganization Application materials. Please accept this letter to proceed with 
the annexation of as Central Valley Flood Protection Board’s parcel. 

Sincerely, 

Jessica Heidari 
Assistant Project Manager 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 81 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 101 of 338



1

Jessica Heidari

From: Jessica Heidari
Sent: Thursday, February 9, 2023 12:34 PM
To: Brent Little; Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB; Silva, Jamie@CVFPB
Cc: Chris Santala; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB; Tyler White; Christopher Jellison; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV 

USARMY CESPN (USA); Autumn Gasparella; Natalie Goetz; clove .; Sheehan, Meily
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408

Hi Jaime and Humberto, 

We still have not received the Letter of Consent yet for the annexation. We have a deadline and need the signed copy as 
soon as possible. Can you please forward no later than tomorrow? 

Many thanks, 

Jessica Heidari 
Assistant Project Manager 
TK Consulting, Inc.  

2082 Michelson Dr. 4th Floor 
Irvine, CA 92612 
jheidari@rtacq.com  
949.299.0861 

From: Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>  
Sent: Monday, January 23, 2023 4:32 PM 
To: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Silva, 
Jamie@CVFPB <Jamie.Silva@cvflood.ca.gov> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White 
<twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) 
<Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil>; Autumn Gasparella <AGasparella@rtacq.com>; Natalie Goetz 
<ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; clove . <clove@solanolafco.com>; Sheehan, Meily <msheehan@fairfield.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Hi Humberto, 

This is really a letter of non‐objection to the annexation.  I have also included Christina Love with Solano County LAFCO 
and Meily Sheehan with the City of Fairfield.  They are our principal points of contact for this annexation. 

By way of background, the County and City are cooperating to annex all County islands in the City.  This is to effectuate 
several County and City planning and service policies.   

We are glad to coordinate a call amongst the agencies and stakeholders to answer any questions.  However, if there is 
no objection, please have the appropriate person execute the document on your letterhead and provide it to this group. 

Thanks, 

Brent 

EXHIBIT A
Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 82 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 102 of 338



2

From: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>  
Sent: Monday, January 23, 2023 12:55 PM 
To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Silva, Jamie@CVFPB 
<Jamie.Silva@cvflood.ca.gov> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White 
<twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Matsumoto, 
Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil>; Autumn Gasparella 
<AGasparella@rtacq.com>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Hi Humberto, 

Can you please confirm the ETA on the Letter of Consent needed for the LAFCO application? We’d like to obtain as soon 
as possible, please. Let me know if there is anything further I can do to help move this along. 

Kind Regards, 

Jessica Heidari 
Assistant Project Manager 
TK Consulting, Inc.  

2082 Michelson Dr. 4th Floor 
Irvine, CA 92612 
jheidari@rtacq.com  
949.299.0861 

From: Jessica Heidari  
Sent: Tuesday, November 22, 2022 3:41 PM 
To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie 
Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White 
<twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Hi Humberto and Andrea, 

Thank you for taking the time to be on a call with us late last week. Were you able to get the 408 permit to ACOE last 
Friday? If not, can you please confirm it will go out Monday 11/28/22 at latest?  

Please see attached LAFCO application that is being included as a package application to annex in other “Fairfield 
Islands” with the City of Fairfield. At this time, we haven’t had to supply any other materials as this is being led by Solano 
LAFCO and the City of Fairfield. We’ll keep you updated on the process, but in the meantime, please review the 
application and Letter of Consent. Upon review, please add the Letter of Consent to the Flood Board’s letter head and 
return a signed copy. We will forward the Letter of Consent to LAFCO and copy you and Humberto. 

Hope you and yours have a wonderful Thanksgiving holiday! 

Kind Regards, 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 83 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 103 of 338



3

Jessica Heidari 
Project Coordinator  
TK Consulting, Inc. 

2082 Michelson Dr. 4th Floor 
Irvine, CA 92612 
jheidari@rtacq.com  
949.299.0861 

From: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, November 16, 2022 10:31 AM 
To: Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; 
Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White 
<twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Sounds good. Thank you. 

Humberto Negrete 

Water Resources Engineer 
Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

(916) 574‐0633 direct
Humberto.Negrete@CVFlood.ca.gov

From: Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, November 16, 2022 9:45 AM 
To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Natalie 
Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White 
<tyler.white@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Hi Humberto, 

Let’s proceed with the meeting as you proposed.  Jessica will lead the meeting on our side and Chris will be available to 
represent Padre. 

Thanks, 

Brent 

From: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, November 16, 2022 9:09 AM 
To: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; 
Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Good morning, 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 84 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 104 of 338



4

Unfortunately, Andrea and I will not be in‐officeI’ve received two requests to change the meeting date and time.   next  
week. If the Thursday date is not desirable, the meeting will need to wait until the week of the 28th. Let me know if the 
meeting needs to be rescheduled until after the holiday week. 

Regards, 

Humberto Negrete 

Water Resources Engineer 
Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

(916) 574‐0633 direct
Humberto.Negrete@CVFlood.ca.gov

From: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, November 15, 2022 2:40 PM 
To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie 
Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Hi Humberto, 

Just following up on the below. Did you get a chance to look at Board staff schedules? I know we are kind of pinching 
against the Thanksgiving holiday. 

Thanks, 

Jessica Heidari 
Project Coordinator  
TK Consulting, Inc. 

2082 Michelson Dr. 4th Floor 
Irvine, CA 92612 
jheidari@rtacq.com  
949.299.0861 

From: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>  
Sent: Tuesday, November 8, 2022 2:34 PM 
To: Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY 
CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB 
<Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Hi Brent, 

I’ll look over our Board staff schedules and send you some meeting dates for next week. 

Thanks, 

Humberto Negrete 

Water Resources Engineer 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 85 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 105 of 338



5

Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

(916) 574‐0633 direct
Humberto.Negrete@CVFlood.ca.gov

From: Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, November 8, 2022 2:31 PM 
To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; 
Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB 
<Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Hi Humberto, 

Can we also have arrange a call with your land management group so I can debrief everyone on the LAFCO annexation? 

Thanks, 

Brent 

From: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>  
Sent: Tuesday, November 8, 2022 1:45 PM 
To: Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) 
<Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; 
Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Good afternoon Natalie, 

I will have the package transmitted early next week. Once the 408 Group receives the submittal, we can schedule a 
meeting, if needed. 

Regards, 

Humberto Negrete 

Water Resources Engineer 
Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

(916) 574‐0633 direct
Humberto.Negrete@CVFlood.ca.gov

From: Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, November 8, 2022 1:38 PM 
To: Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Jessica 
Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB 
<Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov> 
Subject: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Hi Bryan,   

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 86 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 106 of 338



6

tion regarding the Project’s need for an Chris mentioned that you have been gathering more informa 
encroachment permit and 408 permission. 
We submitted an encroachment permit request to the CVFPB earlier this year and have been working toward 
having them initiate 408 consultation.  The last we heard, Humberto mentioned on 10/18 that he was preparing 
the application package to send to the 408 department.  Humberto, do you have any updates on this? 

We are also trying to arrange a meeting to collaborate regarding the annexation process with LAFCO.  Would 
you like to join these meetings or get any updates regarding the above next steps? 

Thank you! 

Natalie Goetz 
Staff Planner 
Padre Associates, Inc. 
369 Pacific Street 
San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 
Cell Phone: (805) 863-3452 

The information contained in this message may be CONFIDENTIAL and is for the intended addressee 
only.  Any unauthorized use, dissemination of the information, or copying of this message is prohibited.  If you 
are not the intended addressee, please notify the sender immediately and delete this message.  Thank you. 

Please consider the environment before printing this email. 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 87 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 107 of 338



1

Jessica Heidari

From: Jessica Heidari
Sent: Friday, February 3, 2023 4:47 PM
To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA); Silva, Jamie@CVFPB
Cc: Tai, Kinwai CESPK; Chris Santala; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB; Tyler White; Christopher Jellison; Brent 

Little; Natalie Goetz; Campbell, Seth SPK; Lamb, Steven@CVFPB; Angela Pedroncelli; Andrew Palffy
Subject: RE: Permit 19688 - Storm Outfall Project - Laurel Creek Diversion Channel - USACE Incomplete Letter

Hi Humberto 

Thank you so much for you, CVFPB, and the Corps’ time and attention with the Fairfield Apartments project. In our 
attempt to maintain the Local Maintaining Agency endorsement, the City of Fairfield chose not to sign. Instead, the City 
requested a study of alternatives in which we accomplished a design to drain into the existing storm drain along Sunset 
Ave. While it was our original design intention for the Fairfield Apartments to outfall into the Laurel Creek Diversion 
Channel, we will no longer need to pursue the 408 permit due to the revised project design. 

We will, however, still be pursuing and coordinating for the annexation of our one island parcel and CVFPB’s island 
parcel into the City of Fairfield. With that, we are still in need of the consent letter, please! Your continued support and 
collaboration is appreciated.  

We are happy to discuss further by phone if needed. Again, thank you so much! 

Respectfully, 

Jessica Heidari 
Assistant Project Manager 
TK Consulting, Inc.  

2082 Michelson Dr. 4th Floor 
Irvine, CA 92612 
jheidari@rtacq.com  
949.299.0861 

From: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>  
Sent: Thursday, January 19, 2023 12:55 PM 
To: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) 
<Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil>; Silva, Jamie@CVFPB <Jamie.Silva@cvflood.ca.gov> 
Cc: Tai, Kinwai CESPK <Kinwai.Tai@usace.army.mil>; Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB 
<Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White <twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com>; 
Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Campbell, Seth SPK 
<Seth.Campbell@usace.army.mil>; Lamb, Steven@CVFPB <Steven.Lamb@cvflood.ca.gov>; Aquino, Melvin 
<maquino@fairfield.ca.gov>; Aquino, Melvin <maquino@fairfield.ca.gov>; Angela Pedroncelli 
<apedroncelli@dkengin.com>; Andrew Palffy <apalffy@dkengin.com> 
Subject: RE: Permit 19688 ‐ Storm Outfall Project ‐ Laurel Creek Diversion Channel ‐ USACE Incomplete Letter 

Good afternoon Jessica, 

EXHIBIT B
Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 88 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 108 of 338



2

uary 3rd is approved. I will check back with you Thank you for the notification. The requested extension until Febr by the  
end of next week. 

Regards, 

Humberto Negrete 

Water Resources Engineer 
Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

(916) 574‐0633 direct
Humberto.Negrete@CVFlood.ca.gov

From: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>  
Sent: Thursday, January 19, 2023 11:58 AM 
To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) 
<Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil>; Silva, Jamie@CVFPB <Jamie.Silva@cvflood.ca.gov> 
Cc: Tai, Kinwai CESPK <Kinwai.Tai@usace.army.mil>; Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB 
<Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White <twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com>; 
Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Campbell, Seth SPK 
<Seth.Campbell@usace.army.mil>; Lamb, Steven@CVFPB <Steven.Lamb@cvflood.ca.gov>; Aquino, Melvin 
<maquino@fairfield.ca.gov>; Aquino, Melvin <maquino@fairfield.ca.gov>; Angela Pedroncelli 
<apedroncelli@dkengin.com>; Andrew Palffy <apalffy@dkengin.com> 
Subject: RE: Permit 19688 ‐ Storm Outfall Project ‐ Laurel Creek Diversion Channel ‐ USACE Incomplete Letter 

Hi Humberto and Jamie, 

Our team has been diligently working on the requested information and working directly with the City of Fairfield. The 
City has asked us to study an alternative before they sign the Maintenance Agreement. With that, we would like to 
request an extension for the requested information originally due within 30 days of the attached USACE Incomplete 
Letter. Can you please confirm if we can extend the information submittal deadline to Friday, February 3rd, 2023? 

I have copied Alivn Lei and Melvin Aquino from the Public Works Engineering Department at the City of Fairfield. 

Thank you, 

Jessica Heidari 
Assistant Project Manager 
TK Consulting, Inc.  

2082 Michelson Dr. 4th Floor 
Irvine, CA 92612 
jheidari@rtacq.com  
949.299.0861 

From: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>  
Sent: Friday, January 6, 2023 3:29 PM 
To: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; 
Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Tai, Kinwai CESPK <Kinwai.Tai@usace.army.mil>; Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB 
<Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White <twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com>; 
Campbell, Seth SPK <Seth.Campbell@usace.army.mil>; Lamb, Steven@CVFPB <Steven.Lamb@cvflood.ca.gov>; Silva, 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 89 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 109 of 338



3

Jamie@CVFPB <Jamie.Silva@cvflood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Permit 19688 ‐ Storm Outfall Project ‐ Laurel Creek Diversion Channel ‐ USACE Incomplete Letter 
 
Ok, thank you. I will get back to you on an ETA. 
 
Have a good weekend. 
 
Humberto Negrete 

Water Resources Engineer 
Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

(916) 574‐0633 direct 
Humberto.Negrete@CVFlood.ca.gov 
 

From: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>  
Sent: Friday, January 6, 2023 3:27 PM 
To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie 
Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Tai, Kinwai CESPK <Kinwai.Tai@usace.army.mil>; Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB 
<Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White <twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com>; 
Campbell, Seth SPK <Seth.Campbell@usace.army.mil>; Lamb, Steven@CVFPB <Steven.Lamb@cvflood.ca.gov>; Silva, 
Jamie@CVFPB <Jamie.Silva@cvflood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Permit 19688 ‐ Storm Outfall Project ‐ Laurel Creek Diversion Channel ‐ USACE Incomplete Letter 
 
Hi Humberto, 
 
No need at this point, but thank you!! 
 
Can you please confirm when we can expect the Letter of Consent?  
 
 
 
Much appreciated, 
 
 
Jessica Heidari 
Assistant Project Manager 
TK Consulting, Inc.  
  
2082 Michelson Dr. 4th Floor 
Irvine, CA 92612 
jheidari@rtacq.com  
949.299.0861 
 

From: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>  
Sent: Tuesday, January 3, 2023 1:16 PM 
To: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; 
Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Tai, Kinwai CESPK <Kinwai.Tai@usace.army.mil>; Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB 
<Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White <twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com>; 
Campbell, Seth SPK <Seth.Campbell@usace.army.mil>; Lamb, Steven@CVFPB <Steven.Lamb@cvflood.ca.gov>; Silva, 
Jamie@CVFPB <Jamie.Silva@cvflood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Permit 19688 ‐ Storm Outfall Project ‐ Laurel Creek Diversion Channel ‐ USACE Incomplete Letter 
 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 90 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 110 of 338



4

Good afternoon, 
 
Apologies for the delayed response. The requested information is from the USACE 408 Group so I will need to check on 
their availability and then coordinate a meeting date. I will get back to you as soon as I have some information. 
 
Regards, 
 
Humberto Negrete 

Water Resources Engineer 
Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

(916) 574‐0633 direct 
Humberto.Negrete@CVFlood.ca.gov 
 

From: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>  
Sent: Friday, December 23, 2022 11:22 AM 
To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie 
Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Tai, Kinwai CESPK <Kinwai.Tai@usace.army.mil>; Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB 
<Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White <twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com>; 
Campbell, Seth SPK <Seth.Campbell@usace.army.mil>; Lamb, Steven@CVFPB <Steven.Lamb@cvflood.ca.gov>; Silva, 
Jamie@CVFPB <Jamie.Silva@cvflood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Permit 19688 ‐ Storm Outfall Project ‐ Laurel Creek Diversion Channel ‐ USACE Incomplete Letter 
 
Good Morning Humberto, 
 
Thank you for forwarding. We will review internally and confirm our expected date of submittal for the items listed 
under “a. Information for requester to provide.” It might be worth a call between you/your team and ours to ensure we 
understand the items in full before the submittal. Do you have availability the first week of January? 
 
 
Thank you, 
 
 
Jessica Heidari 
Project Coordinator  
TK Consulting, Inc.  
  
2082 Michelson Dr. 4th Floor 
Irvine, CA 92612 
jheidari@rtacq.com  
949.299.0861 
 

From: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>  
Sent: Friday, December 23, 2022 10:44 AM 
To: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; 
Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Tai, Kinwai CESPK <Kinwai.Tai@usace.army.mil>; Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB 
<Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White <twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com>; 
Campbell, Seth SPK <Seth.Campbell@usace.army.mil>; Lamb, Steven@CVFPB <Steven.Lamb@cvflood.ca.gov>; Silva, 
Jamie@CVFPB <Jamie.Silva@cvflood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Permit 19688 ‐ Storm Outfall Project ‐ Laurel Creek Diversion Channel ‐ USACE Incomplete Letter 
 
Good morning, 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 91 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 111 of 338



5

 
The Board has received the attached correspondence from the USACE 408 Group regarding information needed to 
render a decision letter.  
 
Additionally, please verify the coordinates for the following proposed encroachments: 
 

 
Please let me know if you have any questions or if you will need more than 30 days to submit the information, which a 
expected date of submittal. Include the Board in any direct correspondence with the USACE. 
 
Have a great holiday season. 
 
Regards, 
 
Humberto Negrete 

Water Resources Engineer 
Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

(916) 574‐0633 direct 
Humberto.Negrete@CVFlood.ca.gov 
 

From: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB  
Sent: Friday, December 2, 2022 1:51 PM 
To: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; 
Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White 
<twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com>; Campbell, Seth SPK 
<Seth.Campbell@usace.army.mil>; Lamb, Steven@CVFPB <Steven.Lamb@cvflood.ca.gov>; Silva, Jamie@CVFPB 
<Jamie.Silva@cvflood.ca.gov> 
Subject: Permit 19688 ‐ Sunset Ave Apts Storm Outfall Project ‐ Laurel Creek Diversion Channel ‐ Transmitted 
 
Good afternoon, 
 
The transmittal was sent today to 408 requesting they initiate their federal review. A copy of the transmittal can be 
access from the following link: https://cadwr.box.com/s/depxhbex9m2zx0i4nfa888kl3fevlpzs 
 
Some outstanding items or items that still need clarification, and might be requested by the USACE 408 Group, are: 
 

1. LMA endorsement from Fairfield Suisun Sewer District. Stated as in‐progress at application submission. 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 92 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 112 of 338



6

2. USACE going to require positive closure for the pipe.
3. Lease/agreement for constructing, operating, and maintaining the encroachment within the channel, which is

owned in fee by the Board. This is needed to issue the permit to non‐landowner.
4. Is the embankment between the outfall and detention basin designed to limit seepage and failure due to

hydraulic loading?
5. Are there hydraulic drainage calculations prepared to account for the HGL of the channel?
6. Provide an overland release path should the basin be blocked or closed for any period of time to determine

impacts to existing channel banks.
7. Does the design discharge of the outfall exceed predevelopment conditions?
8. Expected impacts to design flow due to pipe discharges.

A more detailed request should follow from 408 within 30 days of this submission. Let me know if you have any 
questions. 

Regards, 

Humberto Negrete 

Water Resources Engineer 
Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

(916) 574‐0633 direct
Humberto.Negrete@CVFlood.ca.gov

From: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>  
Sent: Friday, December 2, 2022 1:11 PM 
To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie 
Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White 
<twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Hi Humberto,  

I don’t recall receiving a confirmation from you on the 408 permit, but I know you working on  were clearing it. Can you 
please confirm? 

Thank you, 

Jessica Heidari 
Project Coordinator  
TK Consulting, Inc. 

2082 Michelson Dr. 4th Floor 
Irvine, CA 92612 
jheidari@rtacq.com  
949.299.0861 

From: Jessica Heidari  
Sent: Tuesday, November 29, 2022 3:14 PM 
To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie 
Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 93 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 113 of 338



7

FPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CV White  
<twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Hi Humberto, 

I hope you had a nice Thanksgiving holiday. Can you please confirm if the 408 permit has been sent to ACOE? If you 
haven’t already, will you be copying us on the email? 

Thank you, 

Jessica Heidari 
Project Coordinator  
TK Consulting, Inc. 

2082 Michelson Dr. 4th Floor 
Irvine, CA 92612 
jheidari@rtacq.com  
949.299.0861 

From: Jessica Heidari  
Sent: Tuesday, November 22, 2022 3:41 PM 
To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie 
Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White 
<twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Hi Humberto and Andrea, 

Thank you for taking the time to be on a call with us late last week. Were you able to get the 408 permit to ACOE last 
Friday? If not, can you please confirm it will go out Monday 11/28/22 at latest?  

Please see attached LAFCO application that is being included as a package application to annex in other “Fairfield 
Islands” with the City of Fairfield. At this time, we haven’t had to supply any other materials as this is being led by Solano 
LAFCO and the City of Fairfield. We’ll keep you updated on the process, but in the meantime, please review the 
application and Letter of Consent. Upon review, please add the Letter of Consent to the Flood Board’s letter head and 
return a signed copy. We will forward the Letter of Consent to LAFCO and copy you and Humberto. 

Hope you and yours have a wonderful Thanksgiving holiday! 

Kind Regards, 

Jessica Heidari 
Project Coordinator  
TK Consulting, Inc. 

2082 Michelson Dr. 4th Floor 
Irvine, CA 92612 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 94 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 114 of 338



8

jheidari@rtacq.com  
949.299.0861 
 

From: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, November 16, 2022 10:31 AM 
To: Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; 
Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White 
<twhite@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 
 
Sounds good. Thank you. 
 
Humberto Negrete 

Water Resources Engineer 
Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

(916) 574‐0633 direct 
Humberto.Negrete@CVFlood.ca.gov 
 

From: Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, November 16, 2022 9:45 AM 
To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Natalie 
Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov>; Tyler White 
<tyler.white@rtacq.com>; Christopher Jellison <cjellison@rtacq.com> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 
 
Hi Humberto, 
 
Let’s proceed with the meeting as you proposed.  Jessica will lead the meeting on our side and Chris will be available to 
represent Padre. 
 
Thanks, 
 
Brent 
 

From: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, November 16, 2022 9:09 AM 
To: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; 
Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 
 
Good morning, 
 
I’ve received two requests to change the meeting date and time. Unfortunately, Andrea and I will not be in‐office next 
week. If the Thursday date is not desirable, the meeting will need to wait until the week of the 28th. Let me know if the 
meeting needs to be rescheduled until after the holiday week. 
 
Regards, 
 
Humberto Negrete 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 95 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 115 of 338



9

Water Resources Engineer 
Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

(916) 574‐0633 direct 
Humberto.Negrete@CVFlood.ca.gov 
 

From: Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, November 15, 2022 2:40 PM 
To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie 
Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 
 
Hi Humberto, 
 
Just following up on the below. Did you get a chance to look at Board staff schedules? I know we are kind of pinching 
against the Thanksgiving holiday. 
 
 
Thanks, 
 
 
Jessica Heidari 
Project Coordinator  
TK Consulting, Inc.  
  
2082 Michelson Dr. 4th Floor 
Irvine, CA 92612 
jheidari@rtacq.com  
949.299.0861 
 

From: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>  
Sent: Tuesday, November 8, 2022 2:34 PM 
To: Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY 
CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB 
<Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 
 
Hi Brent, 
 
I’ll look over our Board staff schedules and send you some meeting dates for next week. 
 
Thanks, 
 
Humberto Negrete 

Water Resources Engineer 
Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

(916) 574‐0633 direct 
Humberto.Negrete@CVFlood.ca.gov 
 

From: Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, November 8, 2022 2:31 PM 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 96 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 116 of 338



10

To: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; 
Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB 
<Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Hi Humberto, 

Can we also have arrange a call with your land management group so I can debrief everyone on the LAFCO annexation? 

Thanks, 

Brent 

From: Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>  
Sent: Tuesday, November 8, 2022 1:45 PM 
To: Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>; Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) 
<Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Jessica Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; 
Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB <Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov> 
Subject: RE: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Good afternoon Natalie, 

I will have the package transmitted early next week. Once the 408 Group receives the submittal, we can schedule a 
meeting, if needed. 

Regards, 

Humberto Negrete 

Water Resources Engineer 
Central Valley Flood Protection Board 

(916) 574‐0633 direct
Humberto.Negrete@CVFlood.ca.gov

From: Natalie Goetz <ngoetz@PadreInc.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, November 8, 2022 1:38 PM 
To: Matsumoto, Bryan T CIV USARMY CESPN (USA) <Bryan.T.Matsumoto@usace.army.mil> 
Cc: Chris Santala <csantala@padreinc.com>; Negrete, Humberto@CVFPB <Humberto.Negrete@cvflood.ca.gov>; Jessica 
Heidari <jheidari@rtacq.com>; Brent Little <brent@urban‐ab.com>; Buckley, Andrea@CVFPB 
<Andrea.Buckley@CVFlood.ca.gov> 
Subject: Arrive Fairfield 408 

Hi Bryan,   

Chris mentioned that you have been gathering more information regarding the Project’s need for an 
encroachment permit and 408 permission. 

We submitted an encroachment permit request to the CVFPB earlier this year and have been working toward 
having them initiate 408 consultation.  The last we heard, Humberto mentioned on 10/18 that he was preparing 
the application package to send to the 408 department.  Humberto, do you have any updates on this? 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 97 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 117 of 338



11

We are also trying to arrange a meeting to collaborate regarding the annexation process with LAFCO.  Would 
you like to join these meetings or get any updates regarding the above next steps? 
 
Thank you!  
 
Natalie Goetz 
Staff Planner 
Padre Associates, Inc. 
369 Pacific Street 
San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 
Cell Phone: (805) 863-3452 
 
The information contained in this message may be CONFIDENTIAL and is for the intended addressee 
only.  Any unauthorized use, dissemination of the information, or copying of this message is prohibited.  If you 
are not the intended addressee, please notify the sender immediately and delete this message.  Thank you. 
 
Please consider the environment before printing this email. 
 
 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 98 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 118 of 338



February 13, 2023 

Suisun Fire Protection District 
455 Jackson Street 
Fairfield, CA 94534  
ATTN: Chief Abruzinni  
Ph: (707) 425-3605 

RE:    Proposed Annexation of Parcels into the City of Fairfield and Detachment from 
the Fire District (1776 Sunset Avenue/ APN 0037-060-480, and 0037-060-490) 

Dear Chief Abruzinni, 

I am writing in regard to the “Island Annexation” of County Parcels into the City of Fairfield, 
the detachment from the Suisun Fire Protection District ("SFPD"), and payment to SFPD for 
the detachment. We are the project management team working on behalf of the developer, 
Red Tail Multifamily Land Development, LLC, for the Arrive Fairfield project, formerly 
known as Sunset Avenue Apartments.   

The City of Fairfield City Council has approved a proposal to annex the above-noted parcels 
into the City of Fairfield. We have been meeting regularly with Solano County LAFCo staff 
(Executive Officer Rich Seithel and Deputy Executive Officer Christina Love) and City 
Planning Department Staff (Meily Sheehan) to ensure a coordinated and smooth process of 
annexation. Discussions between LAFCo and the City have identified a number of other 
County "Islands" which both jurisdictions would prefer to be annexed into the City of 
Fairfield and utilize City services. These other "islands" would be "bundled" with the 
annexation of the above-listed Pittman Road properties. 

There are five total properties proposed for annexation which currently are serviced by the 
SFPD. One of the LAFCo requirements of the annexation is the detachment of these 
properties from the Suisun Fire Protection District as the City of Fairfield Fire Department is 
required to serve the property upon annexation. 

It is our understanding that the owners of the detaching properties are expected to pay in 
one lump sum 20 years' worth of the ad valorem fire tax, and the District Special Parcel Tax. 
We understand this lump sum payment is intended to compensate for the loss of expected 
revenue from these parcels and ensure that the District is properly funded moving forward. 
Rich Seithel, Executive Officer of Solano Local Agency Formation Commission, kindly 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 99 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 119 of 338



calculated the assessment on these five properties and the expected 20-year payments, 
shown below. 

The total detachment payment has been calculated as $21,708.46. Enclosed, please review 
the breakdown pertaining to the two parcels we are representing (APN #’s 0037-060-480 and 
0037-060-490) and check #260 in the amount of $1,666.79 for the said fee, which includes the 
amortized amount for the next twenty years. Please provide written confirmation accepting the 
detachment mitigation fee and approval of detachment. This would allow us to proceed to 
an August 2023 LAFCo hearing on the proposed annexations. 

Should you have any questions or comments regarding the matter, please don't hesitate to 
call (323-351-8296) or email me directly (agasparella@rtacq.com). I also would be happy to 
coordinate a conference call or virtual meeting with you, me, and City and LAFCo staff to 
discuss any questions or concerns you might have. Thank you so much for your time and 
consideration. 

Sincerely, 

Autumn Gasparella 
Project Manager, TK Consulting 
c/o of Red Tail Multifamily Land Development, LLC 

CC: Rich Seithel, Executive Officer, Solano County LAFCo, (rseithel@solanolafco.com)  
Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer, Solano County LAFCo, (clove@solanolafco.com)  
Meily Sheehan, Principal Planner, City of Fairfield, (msheehan@fairfield.ca.gov)  
Tendai Mtunga, Senior Planner, City of Fairfield, (tmtunga@fairfield.ca.gov)  

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 100 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 120 of 338



Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 101 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 121 of 338



f|itr State of California - Department of Fish and Wildlife

[tiozz ENVTRoNMENTAL DocuMENT FTLING FEE

\y cAsH REcErPr
DFW 753.5a (REV, 01/01/22) Previously DFG 753.5a

Print Save

SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON REVERSE. TYPE OR PRINT CLEARLY
LEADAGENCY

CITY OF FAIRFIELD
COUNTY/STATE AGENCY OF FILING

olano

PROJECT TITLE

SUNSET AVEN U E APARTMENTS
PROJECFPPLTCANT NAME

TK CONSULTING, INC
PROJ ECT APPLICANT ADDRESS

lOOO WEBSTER STREET, SECOND FLOOR
PROJECT APPLICANT (Check appropriate box)

fl tocal PublicAgency n School District

RECEIPT NUMBER:

48- 1 112022 f- 232

c NG HOUS E N UM BER//f applrbable)

2022080702
DATE

1212112022
DOCUMENT NUMBER

12212022-232

PHONE NUMBER

0ot)qze-rcBl
P CODE

94533

! Otner Special District ! State Agency ! Private Entity

LEADAGENCY EMAIL

PROJECT APPLTCANT EMArL

CITY

FAIRFIELD
STATE

CA

CHECK APPLICABLE FEES:

fl Environmental lmpact Report (ElR)

E Mitigated/Negative Declaration (MND)(ND)

E Certified Regulatory Program (CRP) document - payment due directly to CDF\t]l

$3,539.25

$2,548.00

$1,203.25

$

$

$

0.00

2,548.00

0.00

E Exempt from fee

E Notice of Exemption (attach)

E COnry No Effect Determination (attach)

E Fee previously paid (attach previously issued cash receipt copy)

E Water Right Application or Petition Fee (State Water Resources Control Board only) $850.00 $

E^County documentary handling fee $

! ottrer $

PAYMENT METHOD:

E Cash E Credit E Check E Other TOTAL RECEIVED $

s TURE NCY OF FILING PRINTED NAME AND TITLE

AIMEE JOHNSON, DEPUTY

Number: 194

Receipt Number: 1 066581

0.00

50.00

0.00

2,598.00

oRtGtNAL lPROJECT APPLTCANT COPY. CDFWASB COPY. LEAD AGENCY COPY - COUNry CLERK DFW 753.5a (Rev. 0'1012022\

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 102 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 122 of 338



Print Fonn

Notice of Determination Appendix D
lo:
E Ottice of Planning and Research

U.S. Mail: Street Address:
P.O. Box 3044 1400 Tenth St., Rm 1 13
Sacramento, CA 95812-9044 Sacramento, CA 9Sg14

E County Clerk
Countv of: Solano
Addreis: 6

From:
Public of
Address: 1 Floor

Contact: Jonathan Atkinson

DLead Agency (if different from

Fairfie Address

Contact

S_UBJECT: Filing of Notice of Determination in compllance with Section 2fi0g or 2tl
Resources Code,

State Clearinghouse Number (if submitted to State Clearinghouse 20220807a2 DePutY

Proj ect Title: Sunset Avenue Apartments

of tho
ot

Project Applicant TK Consultinq. lnc.

Project Location (include county) Sunset Avenue and East Tabor Avenue (Solano Countv)

Project Description:

Multifamily residential development involving 130 apartments at Sunset Avenue and East Tabor Avenue
(APNs: 0037-030-200 and -210; and 0037-060-4S0). Annexation of 4.T2acres of tand tocated at Sunset
Avenue (APNs: 0037-060-480 and -490) and Zone Change from Residential, Low Medium Density
District to Residential, Medium Density District for 2.82-acres on Sunset Avenue (APN: 0037-060-4g0).

This is to advise that the of Fairfield has approved the above
Lead Agency or Responsible Agency)

described project sn 1212012022 and has made the following determinations regarding the above
(date)

described project.

1. The project [n will E will not] have a significant effect on the environment.
2. n nn Environmental lmpact Report was prepared for this project pursuant to the provisions ol CEqA.

I A Negative Declaration was prepared for this project pursuant to the provisions of CEQA.
3. Mitigation measures [fl were n were not] made a condition of the approval of the project.
4. A mitigation reporting or monitoring plan [fl was f]was notl adopted for this project.
5. A statement ol Overriding Considerations [[ was E was not] adopted for this project.
6. Findings [fl were ! were not] made pursuant to the provisions of CEeA.

This is to certify that the final EIR with comments and responses and record of project approval, or the
negative Declaration, is available to the General Public at:

Fairfield Citv Hall: 1 000 Webster Street:2nd Floor. Fairfield. cA 94533

Signature (Public Agency) Wofu Title: Senior Planner

Date Received for filing at OPR:

Document Posted From
122-M vised 2011

0r
Qalsi 1212112022

Authority cited: Sections 21083, Public Resources Code.
Ref ere nce Sectio n 21 000 -21 1 7 4, P ublic Resou rces Code.

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 103 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 123 of 338



O
fficial D

epart
tal R

eceipt - C
ounty of S

olano
1066581

F
A

IR
F

IE
LD

, C
A

LIF
.,

rla*
R

E
C

E
IV

E
D

 F
R

O
M

o
ol

$

w
o

A
rrrd

ffiA
R

S
IN

 P
A

Y
I'E

N
T

 O
F

obh
r h'd4fiY

\ W
s

f
- lLLl'1-O

12- 24a

O
R

IG
IN

A
L

# tl:tlr.o2tL-'1-3L
p"nl fa, t /4,rd

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 104 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 124 of 338



ANNEXATION EXHIBIT

Sunset Avenue Apartments

APNs: 0037-060-480 and 0037- 060-490) EXHIBIT B

LEGEND
NZoneDesignations

MEADOWLARK OR a AG Agriculture

F=— PF
RLM: 6

CC Community Commercial

RLM' 6 -
47

CD Downtown Commercial
WARBLER WY— c o

Z 0 CDC Downtown Commercial Core
k

PF _. j CM Mixed Commercial

2 CN Neighborhood Commercial
MOCKINGBIRD -LNQ

CO Office Commercial

U  
CR Regional Commercial

E TABOR AV
C5 Service Commercial

CT Thoroughfare Commercial

F

RH U IBP Industrial Business Park

LME
IG General Industrial

WN
RLM: 6 RM IL Limited Industrial

l—
PF m

N ITP Industrial Technology Park

QU OSC Open Space Conservation

SAN PE RO ST 0 PF Public Facilities

HRECRecreation

SAN REMO ST RVL Very Low Density Residential

RLM ( RLM) (
SSG) 

RL Low Density Residential

RLM Low -Medium Density Residential

SANTAMONICA 0 1 DUSTIN -WY

BRANDON WY RM Medium Density Residential

RLM: 6
03 RH

RH High Density Residential
7

WREN CT 0 0

RVH
Very High Density Residential

Mv, V) U
0 None Not in City / No Pre -Zoning

F _ 

RH ui az 3SCOverlays
w

Q
O RM - NC North Cordelia Overlay

O
C) PD Proposed Development Overlay
z_ RM

RLM - P1 Downtown Parking Overlay

REC f -
H Hillside Overlay

N
CN

MA7TiHEW CT -_

PXRLIO
N

AVIS BL - 
m

CN
RH CC ( RM) 

l

Proposed Annexation Area

Parcels

Zoning

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 105 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 125 of 338



EEXHIBIT “A” 

LAFCO PROJECT NO.____2023-05________ 

PROJECT NAME:__Fairfield Islands Annexation - Phase 1 
Page 1 of 3 

BEING A PORTION OF SECTION 19,  

TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST, M.D.B.&M., 

COUNTY OF SOLANO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

Sheet 1- cover sheet 

Sheet 2- legal description 

Sheet 3- plat 

SURVEYOR’S STATEMENT 
This description and exhibit of “Fairfield Islands Annexation - Phase 1” boundary, prepared 

under my supervision is not a legal property description as defined in the Subdivision Map 

Act and may not be used as a basis for an offer for sale of the land described.  It is for 

assessment purposes only. 

 

Daniel Drummond, ls 6333 date 

COUNTY SURVEYOR’S STATEMENT 
This description and exhibit meets the requirements of the State Board of Equalization, the 

Solano County Assessor/Recorder’s Office and confirms to the lines of annexation.  

 

    date

  

APPROVED BY LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION: 

Rich Seithel, Executive Officer date 

Solano LAFCO 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 106 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 126 of 338



EEXHIBIT “A” 

LAFCO PROJECT NO.____2023-05________ 

PROJECT NAME:__Fairfield Islands Annexation - Phase 1 
Page 2 of 3 

The land referred to herein below is situated in the county of Solano, state of California and is 

described as follows: 

All that property lying in section 19, township 5 North, range 1 West, M. D. B. & M., County of 

Solano, State of California, being a portion of lot 52 as shown on map entitled "Map of Locke 

Paddon Colony no. 4", recorded October 11, 1912, book 4 of maps at page 13, Solano County 

records, described as follows: 

Commencing at a found monument at the intersection of Brandon Way and Sunset Ave; 

(L1)Thence from said point of commencement, North 8° 54' 06" East 164.02 feet to the true 

point of beginning being the Northwest corner of the 4th Annexation District of 1982 Fairfield 

Resolution 1982-266, recorded November 23, 1982 in book 1982 at page 44171 Official 

Records Solano County, California, and a point on the East boundary of the 9th Annexation 

District of 1978 Fairfield Resolution 1978-177, recorded October 20, 1978 in book 1978 at 

page 88876 Official Records Solano County, California;  

(L2) Thence from said true point of beginning leaving the Northwest corner of the 4th 

Annexation District of 1982 Fairfield Resolution 1982-266, along said Easterly boundary of 

said 9th Annexation District of 1978 Fairfield Resolution 1978-177 North 0° 06' 25" East ,300.35 

feet to the Southerly boundary of the 4th Annexation District of 1972 Fairfield resolution 1972-

50 (no recorded copy found);  

(L3) Thence leaving said Easterly boundary of the 9th Annexation District of 1978 Fairfield 

Resolution 1978-177 along the Southerly boundary of said 4th Annexation District of 1972 

Fairfield Resolution 1972-50 South 88° 54' 03" East 465.04 feet to the Southwesterly boundary 

of the 4th annexation district of 1970 (no recorded copy found);  

(L4) Thence leaving 4th Annexation District of 1972 Fairfield Resolution 1972-50 along said 

Southerly boundary of said 4th annexation district of 1970 South 88° 54' 03" East 242.50 feet to 

the Northwesterly corner of the First Annexation District of 1977 Fairfield Resolution 1977-27 

recorded April 21, 1977, in book 1977 at page 26448 Official Records Solano County, 

California;  

(L5) Thence leaving said 4th Annexation District of 1970 along the Westerly boundary of said 

1st Annexation District of 1977 Fairfield Resolution 1977-27 South 0° 05' 29" West, 300.10 feet 

to the most Northeasterly corner of said 4th Annexation District of 1982 Fairfield Resolution 

1982-266;  

(L6) Thence leaving said 1st Annexation District of 1977 Fairfield Resolution 1977-27, along 

the Northerly boundary of said 4th Annexation District Fairfield Resolution 1982-266 North 88° 

55' 16" West 707.63 feet to the true point of beginning. 

Containing 4.88 acres more or less. 

End of description 

prepared by:                      

Daniel Drummond, ls 6333 date

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 107 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 127 of 338



Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 108 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 128 of 338



APPENDIX C 

BLESSED BAPTIST CHURCH ISLAND DOCUMENTS 

1. City of Fairfield City Council Approval Actions
2. Will Serve Letters
3. Suisun Fire Protection District Standard No. 11 Notice
4. Blessed Baptist Church CEQA: Adopted Mitigated Negative Declaration

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 109 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 129 of 338



CITY OF FAIRFIELD

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-20

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAIRFIELD ADOPTING A MITIGATED

NEGATIVE DECLARATION ( ER2019- 043) FOR ANNEXATION AND DEVELOPMENT OF A 10, 342

SQUARE- FOOT CHURCH AND ASSOCIATED SITE IMPROVEMENTS ON A VACANT± 1. 23-ACRE

PARCEL ON SUNSET AVENUE ( APN: 0037- 160-040), AND FINDING THE PROPOSED

ANNEXATION ( ANX2019-002) OF THE ENTIRE ± 2. 1- ACRES LOCATED ON SUNSET AVENUE

APNS: 0037- 160-040, 0037- 160-060) CONSISTENT WITH THE CITY' S GENERAL PLAN AND

MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW.

WHEREAS,  on November 27,  2019 applications for Annexation  ( ANX2019- 002),  Minor

Development Review ( MD2019-010), and Environmental Review ( ER2019- 043) for a proposed

10, 342 square- foot church and associated site improvements located off of Sunset Avenue (APN:

0037- 160- 040) (" Project") was properly filed with the Department of Community Development
in accordance with the rules and regulations governing the official filing of such applications; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing for the proposed projects
on November 18,  2020,  approving the Development Review and forwarded the Mitigated
Negative Declaration and Annexation to the City Council with recommendation for adoption and
approval; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has held a duly noticed public hearing for the proposed Annexation
and Mitigated Negative Declaration for the project on January 19, 2020; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has reviewed the Mitigated Negative Declaration ( ER2019-
043) and Mitigation Monitoring Program for the Project and all comments received and, based
on the whole record before it, recommends City Council adoption of the Mitigated Negative

Declaration and Mitigation Monitoring Program, to wit:

a)      City staff prepared an Initial Study of the potential environmental effects of the
proposed Project. Staff determined that there were potential significant impacts

associated with air quality, biological resources, cultural resources, geology and soils,
and tribal cultural resources that could be mitigated to a less than significant level

through air quality control measures  ( Mitigations AQ1); obtaining required pre-

construction surveys for biological resources  ( Mitigations B1O1),  protocols if

archeological resources ( Mitigation CR1), or human remains ( Mitigation CR2) are

uncovered during construction; protocols if paleontological resources ( Mitigation

GEO1) are uncovered during construction; meeting Sound Transmission Class Ratings
construction standards (Mitigation NO11); completing cultural sensitivity training prior

to construction ( Mitigation TC1) and protocols if tribal cultural resources ( Mitigation

TC2) are uncovered during construction. A copy of the Initial Study and Mitigated
Negative Declaration are attached hereto as Exhibit " A" and incorporated herein by
reference.

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 110 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 130 of 338



RES. NO. 2021- 20

Page 2

b)      City staff provided public notice of the public comment period and of the intent to

adopt the Mitigated Negative Declaration as required by law.

c)       There is no substantial evidence, in light of the whole record before the Planning
Commission, that the Project, as conditioned, will have a significant effect on the

environment.

d)      The Mitigated Negative Declaration reflects the independent judgment and analysis

of the Planning Commission.

e)      The Mitigation Monitoring Plan set forth in the Mitigated Negative Declaration has
been prepared in accordance with law.

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has determined the following findings exist in support of
this Annexation request:

a)      The proposed annexation is consistent with the goals, policies, and objectives of the

General Plan. The site is designated Residential Medium on the General Plan Land Use

Diagram. The annexation is necessary order to obtain the provision of City services,

such as sewer and water, to serve the project' s utility needs. The site is consistent with

General Plan Land Use Element Objectives Policy ED 7.3: Preserve and enhance the

community' s assets and character,  including education,  agriculture,  open space,
recreational amenities,  cultural amenities,  and other factors,  which make the

community an attractive area to live, work, and invest, Policy LU 2.3: Review and
comment on all development proposals within the unincorporated areas of the City' s

sphere of influence and in neighboring cities; Policy LU 10. 1: Where infill development
is proposed,  the character, scale and density of existing single-family residential
neighborhoods should be preserved in the new development;  Objective LU 18:

Encourage infill development and compact growth; Objective UD 4: Ensure high

standards of quality in development, Objective UD 8: Encourage and approve infill
development which is compatible with the surrounding area.

b)      The proposed annexation would not be detrimental to the public interest, health,

safety, or welfare of the City. Annexation of the site would not be detrimental to the
public interest, health, safety or welfare of the City. Annexation of the site is necessary

to facilitate development of the Project. The Project has been designed to complement
and enhance the existing visual character of the site and its surroundings. The Project
as proposed and the conditioned will ensure that it does not bear an adverse effect on

the general welfare of the surrounding neighborhood and the City. The project has
been conditioned to meet or exceed City of Fairfield design and development

regulations and comply with all applicable sections of the Zoning Ordinance.

c)      The proposed annexation is consistent with the 2012 Municipal Service Review. The

project site is within of the City of Fairfield Sphere of Influence and has it been analyzed
in the most recent 2012 Municipal Service Review. The Project will require LAFCO

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 111 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 131 of 338



RES. NO. 2021- 20

Page 3

approval of the proposed annexation. Therefore, the project entitlements shall not be
valid unless and until LAFCO approves and completes the proposed annexation into

the City of Fairfield.

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to initiate proceedings pursuant to the Cortese- Knox-
Hertberg Act of 2000, commencing with Section 56000 of the California Government Code, for a
reorganization which would annex territory to the City of Fairfield.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAIRFIELD HEREBY RESOLVES:

Section 1. The Mitigated Negative Declaration as contained in Exhibit " A" is hereby adopted.

Section 2.  The annexation of the property described in Exhibit " B" is hereby found consistent
with the General Plan and Focused Municipal Service Review. The Solano County LAFCO is hereby
requested to take proceedings for the annexation of territory as authorized and in the manner

provided by the Cortese- Knox- Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this
191h

day of January, 2021, by the following vote:

AYES:     COUNCILMEMBERS:   PRICE/ BERTANI/ MOY/ PANDURO/ TIMM/ TONNESEN/ VACCARO

NOES:    COUNCILMEMBERS:     LnL

ABSENT: COUNCILMEMBERS:     IV o n

ABSTAIN:       COUNCILMEMBERS:  IL rI e

MAYOR

ATTEST:

CITY CLERK

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 112 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 132 of 338



EXHIBIT A

CITY OF FAIRFIELD

Initial Study Questionnaire

PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND

Project title:      Blessed Baptist Church

Contact Person: Meily Sheehan, Senior Planner (707) 428- 7474
msheehan@fairfield. ca. gov

Project Sponsor' s

Name and Address:   Joseph Palafox

3939 Smith Street

Union City, CA 94581
General Plan Designation: RM ( Residential Medium)

Zoning:     RM ( Residential Medium)

Project Location:       On Sunset Avenue, Fairfield, Solano County

Longitude/Latitude:   38. 257999" N", - 122. 019069"W"

Assessor' s Parcel Number: 0037160040

f

l

1 r

C

SITE

1

J G

O G

3
m

J

r

l

Jacaranda Dr

s J

2
t      LL

Aa
vti E

V

3 ibiscus Ln

n

AVAILABILITY OF DOCUMENT: This document is available for review at:

1000 Webster St, 2nd fl., Fairfield, CA; 8am- 12pm, 1- 5: 30pm; Monday-Thursday, and the second,
fourth, and fifth Fridays of each month.

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 113 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 133 of 338



EXHIBIT B

LAFCO PROJECT NO. 2019-

PROJECT NAME: BLESSED BAPTIST CHURCH

ANNEXATION TO THE CITY OF FAIRFIELD

GEOGRAPHIC DESCRIPTION

The land referred to is situated in the unincorporated area of the County of Solano, State of
California, and is described as follows:

Being a portion of Lot 41, as the same is shown on that certain map entitled: " LOCKE PADDON

COLONY NO. 4", which map was filed for record in the office of the County Recorder of Solano
County, California, October 11, 1912, in Book 4 of Maps, Page 13, described as follows:

Beginning at a point on the northwesterly boundary line of Southern Pacific Railroad Company

right of way at the Northeasterly corner of Lot 41, LOCKE PADDON COLONY NO. 4, also being
the common corner of Solano County with the City of Fairfield and City of Suisun City as shown
on the 3" Annexation District of 1984, City of Fairfield; thence along the prolongation of said
line,

C01) North 88054' 13" West, 509. 35 feet to the westerly line of the Parcel described in that

Grant Deed recorded as Document# 200800040225, Solano County Official Records; thence

along last said line,

CO2) South 00006' 15" West, 366. 10 feet, more or less to the northwesterly boundary of the Southern

Pacific Railroad Right of Way and the Suisun City limit line; thence along said City/ County Limit Line and
said northwesterly boundary line of the Southern Pacific Railroad Company,

CO3) North 55003' 11" East, 622. 10 feet, more or less to the Point of Beginning.

Containing 2. 1401 Acres, more or less.

See Exhibit, plat to accompany description, attached hereto and made a part hereof.

This Legal Description was prepared by or under the direction of:

LANDS.

Exp. 09- 30- 21

s,.Daniel S. Nunes, PLS 9212 Date No. 921     Q

qjF OF CAO

For assessment purposes only. This description of land is not a legal property description as defined in
the Subdivision Map Act and may not be used as the basis for an offer for sale of the land described.

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 114 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 134 of 338



45 RM 37.  38,  39 MATTHEW I COURT 44 RM 83

I
4T A N XATI N DI TRICT OF 1 82 3 D NEXA ION DISTRICT

A P N 0 3 7  -     1 0 OF 984

250 - 260 - 270 - 280 - 290 - 300 - 560 - 57 - 590 - 600   -- 610      - 620 900
C I T

oLJI0 F FI R F I E D

N9'53' 4  ' W

30.00 125. 35'       384. 00'

C01 Tln- N 88' 54' 13"  W 509. 35'
12'  R/ W w

Z

EASEMENT a/  
w Z

I
I 0

p0 /    
w

w

II o
m

WLd Q o
Q I o

5'  S F, Q P
0

0
F-

I z I
o

PQ/ 

p'
y\>    

goo
10 p Pe\

5 z
r7 0  /    L S S

N I o O i

G 0

QIP
P6tiQ N1 80 0 80 160

wLL-
of

Q

Scale:  1"  =  80'
ZIP

ABBREVIATION
EAST TABOR AVENUE

IEE INGRESS EGRESS EASEMENT

PE PIPELINE EASEMENT

PRE PRIVATE ROAD EASEMENT a SITE
PSE PUBLIC SERVICE EASEMENT

UE UTILITY EASEMENT
E       ' S

BLVD. 

LEGEND
N

PROPOSED CITY LIMIT LINE

EXISTING CITY LIMIT LINE RP

Q_

CENTER LINE
s

VICINITY MAP
EASEMENT LINE NTS

DISCLAIMER:

FOR ASSESSMENT PURPOSES ONLY.  THIS DESCRIPTION OF LAND IS NOT A ro LAND SU
LEGAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AS DEFINED IN THE SUBDIVISION MAP ACT AND

SE

MAY NOT BE USED AS THE BASIS OF AN OFFER FOR SALE OF THE LAND
o\

F1 S.
DESCRIBED"  

LAFCO PROJECT NO.  2019-

ANNEXATION TO THE CITY OF FAIRFIELD" 
Exp. 09- 30- 21

CITY OF FAIRFIELD,  COUNTY OF SOLANO,  STATE OF CALIFORNIA o. 91%     Q

POR.  LOT 37,  RANCHO TOLENAS 9TF
F CAOFp

POR.,  SEC.  30,  T. 5 N.,  R. 1. W.,  M. D. B.& M.  EXT.

mission@missionengineersinc. com TDATECALE:    1"= 80'

MM M
12- 16- 2020

LJVII OL1V   U V. l lJV9 U co WN

CH' KD

SS ME30

RESPONSIVE, RELIABLE RESULTS SINCE 1953 JOB NO.  17084

2355 De La Cruz Blvd. Santa Clara, Calif 95050 ( 408) 727- 8262 FAX:( 408) 727- 8285 DWG. NO. S14992

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 115 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 135 of 338



Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District 
1010 Chadbourne Road ● Fairfield, California 94534 ● (707) 429-8930 ● www.fssd.com

2/24/2023 

Daniel Nunes 
Mission Engineers, Inc. 
2355 De La Cruz Boulevard 
Santa Clara, CA 95050 

RE:  Wastewater Service for APN Nos. 0037-160-040 & 0037-040-060 

Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District (FSSD) is obligated to provide sewer service to all 
projects approved by the City of Fairfield on parcels within the limits of the City of 
Fairfield.  The parcels would need to be annexed into the City of Fairfield in order 
to obtain sewer service.  Please note that sewer capacity fees must be paid in 
order to secure entitlement to sewer capacity.   

Sincerely, 

Kyle Broughton 
Senior Engineer 

Sent via email 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 116 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 136 of 338

http://www.fssd.com/


 
Public  

 
PG&E Service Planning, 850 Stillwater Rd West Sacramento CA 95605 

 
February 24, 2023 
 
 
 

Mission Engineers, Inc. 

Attn: John Soares 

2355 De La Cruz Blvd Santa Clara, CA 95050 

 
RE: 4408 Sunset Avenue & 4412 Sunset Avenue, Fairfield, CA 94533 
 
Dear John Soares 
 
This is to inform you that the Pacific Gas and Electric Company is the utility and the certified 
carrier of gas and electric energy serving the territory wherein the above captioned project is 
located. 
 
Gas & Electric main extensions are made in accordance with the provisions of Gas & Electric Rule 
15.  Services are provided under Gas & Electric Rule 16.  Copies of these Rules are available upon 
request. 
 
To date, there has been no action on the part of the California Public Utilities Commission to close 
our residential or commercial rates to new or additional gas requirements.  However, since all of 
our tariffs are subject to decisions of this Commission, you should be aware that our rules and 
rates in effect at the time service to the project is required will apply. 
 
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
 
Michael Harvey 
Industrial Power Engineer 
850 Stillwater Road, West Sacramento, CA 95605 
C: (530) 434-3603 
 
 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 117 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 137 of 338



1

From: Suisun District <firechief33sui@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, December 9, 2022 9:26 PM
To: Kerri Watt
Subject: Re: Suisun Fire Protection District - Detachment Payment

Good evening Kerri,  
 
Thank you for reaching out and for speaking with me today. The Suiusn Fire Protection District is in concurrence with the 
 Deannexation from the district. If you have  any questions please feel free to reach out to me. Thank you.  
 

 
 
Fire Chief  
Alfred Abruzzini   
Suisun Fire Protection District  
Office 707‐425‐3605 
Cell 707‐333‐4567 
 
 

On Dec 8, 2022, at 3:04 PM, Kerri Watt <kwatt@denovahomes.com> wrote: 

  
Hello Chief Abruzinni, 
  
I am following up on a conversation and an email I sent in mid‐September (attached) regarding the 
detachment of some properties from the Suisun Fire Protection District and the calculation and of the 
detachment payment.  Since that email, Meadow Creek Group, Inc., owner of several annexing 
properties and who I am representing, has agreed to pay the costs of five of the residential properties 
which are proposed to be detaining from SFPD.  Please see the attached letter.   
  
I would sincerely appreciate the opportunity to speak with you, and hopefully receive the SFPD’s 
concurrence with the detachment payment and amount.  Please don’t hesitate to call or email with any 
questions or comments.  Thank you so much!  
  
KERRI WATT 
Director of Entitlements  
DeNova Homes, Inc. 
1500 Willow Pass Court 
Concord, CA 94520 
Office: (925) 685‐0110, ext 610 
Direct: (925) 291‐6828 
Cell:      (925) 605‐9304 
 
 
 
<image001.jpg> 
 

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 118 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 138 of 338



C
:\

U
se

rs
\r

se
it

h
el

\D
ro

p
b

o
x 

(S
o

la
n

o
 L

A
FC

O
)\

20
22

 P
ro

je
ct

s 
(1

)\
20

22
-0

7 
Fa

ir
fi

el
d

 Is
la

n
d

s\
D

ra
ft

 t
ab

le
 8

-4
 C

it
y 

o
f 

Fa
ir

fi
el

d
 A

P
N

 o
f 

al
l i

sl
an

d
s 

(6
)

P
ag

e 
1

n
/a

44
08

01
60

53
5 

P
IT

TM
A

N
 R

O
A

D
3.

21
A

20
60

04
1

36
8,

06
6

$ 
 

0.
05

00
09

18
4

.0
7

$ 
 

1
7

8
.3

0
$

 
3

6
2

.3
7

$
  

  
8

,8
0

4
.5

4
$

  
  

n
/a

44
08

01
70

47
5 

P
IT

TM
A

N
 R

O
A

D
4.

86
A

20
60

04
1

49
2,

64
7

$ 
 

0.
05

00
09

24
6

.3
7

$ 
 

1
7

8
.3

0
$

 
4

2
4

.6
7

$
  

  
1

0
,3

1
8

.3
1

$
  

  

x
1

A
18

01
10

12
0

G
A

R
TO

N
 M

IC
H

A
EL

 &
 B

EV
ER

LY
 J

T
22

8 
LO

P
ES

 R
O

A
D

0.
18

R
TC

1A
C

n
o

ye
s

60
04

0
16

0,
96

3
$ 

 
0.

05
07

62
81

.7
1

$ 
 

3
5

6
.6

0
$

 
4

3
8

.3
1

$
  

  
1

0
,6

4
9

.7
3

$
  

  

x
2

B
28

18
20

20
G

U
TI

ER
R

EZ
 J

U
A

N
 R

O
D

R
IG

U
EZ

 J
T

22
91

 W
O

O
LN

ER
 A

V
EN

U
E

0.
44

R
TC

1A
C

n
o

n
o

60
06

4
35

2,
18

6
$ 

 
0.

07
74

57
27

2
.7

9
$ 

 
-

$
  

2
7

2
.7

9
$

  
  

6
,6

2
8

.1
5

$
  

  

3
B

28
18

21
50

R
O

B
IN

S 
JA

N
IC

E 
JT

22
87

 W
O

O
LN

ER
 A

V
EN

U
E

0.
19

R
TC

1A
C

n
o

n
o

60
06

4
42

8,
92

9
$ 

 
0.

07
74

57
33

2
.2

4
$ 

 
-

$
  

3
3

2
.2

4
$

  
  

8
,0

7
2

.4
5

$
  

  

x
4

B
28

19
10

10
R

O
D

R
IG

U
EZ

 G
IL

B
ER

TO
 &

 J
O

SE
FI

N
A

33
5 

H
A

M
IL

TO
N

 D
R

IV
E

0.
19

R
TC

1A
C

st
u

b
b

ed
ye

s
60

06
4

10
1,

62
3

$ 
 

0.
07

74
57

78
.7

1
$ 

 
-

$
  

7
8

.7
1

$
  

  
1

,9
1

2
.5

5
$

  
  

x
5

B
28

19
10

20
B

A
R

A
JA

S 
EL

IB
ER

TO
 L

O
P

EZ
33

9 
H

A
M

IL
TO

N
 D

R
IV

E
0.

4
R

TC
1A

C
st

u
b

b
ed

n
o

60
06

4
11

3,
71

3
$ 

 
0.

07
74

57
88

.0
8

$ 
 

-
$

  
8

8
.0

8
$

  
  

2
,1

4
0

.0
8

$
  

  

x
6

B
28

19
10

40
D

A
R

K
 C

A
R

O
L 

J
40

1 
H

A
M

IL
TO

N
 D

R
IV

E
2.

82
R

R
2.

5
st

u
b

b
ed

n
o

60
06

5
15

7,
02

6
$ 

 
0.

07
74

57
12

1
.6

3
$ 

 
-

$
  

1
2

1
.6

3
$

  
  

2
,9

5
5

.2
3

$
  

  

x
9

D
37

06
04

80
C

R
O

SS
 C

H
A

R
LE

S 
R

 &
 M

A
R

Y 
E 

TR
17

76
 S

U
N

SE
T 

A
V

EN
U

E
0.

85
R

R
2.

5
ye

s
ye

s 
(2

)
60

06
5

82
,5

92
$ 

 
0.

07
74

57
63

.9
7

$ 
 

-
$

  
6

3
.9

7
$

  
  

1
,5

5
4

.3
8

$
  

  

10
D

37
06

04
90

SA
C

 &
 S

A
N

 J
O

A
Q

U
IN

 D
R

A
IN

 D
IS

T
2.

06
A

20
n

/a
n

/a
60

06
5

-
$ 

 
0.

07
74

57
-

$ 
 

-
$

  
-

$
  

   
-

$
  

  

x
11

D
37

16
00

40
B

LE
SS

ED
 B

A
P

TI
ST

 C
H

U
R

C
H

44
08

 S
U

N
SE

T 
A

V
EN

U
E

0.
7

A
20

n
o

n
o

60
06

5
13

4,
02

5
$ 

 
0.

07
74

57
10

3
.8

1
$ 

 
-

$
  

1
0

3
.8

1
$

  
  

2
,5

2
2

.3
5

$
  

  

12
D

37
16

00
60

W
O

O
D

R
U

FF
 R

O
B

ER
T 

E 
&

 D
EB

R
A

 J
 T

R
44

12
 S

U
N

SE
T 

A
V

EN
U

E
4.

94
A

20
n

o
ye

s 
(2

)
60

06
5

60
9,

24
7

$ 
 

0.
07

74
57

47
1

.9
0

$ 
 

-
$

  
4

7
1

.9
0

$
  

  
1

1
,4

6
6

.0
4

$
  

  

2,
04

5
.2

8
$ 

   
 

7
1

3
.2

0
$

   
  

2
,7

5
8

.4
8

$
  

   
6

7
,0

2
3

.8
1

$
  

  

C
o

rd
el

ia
 F

ir
e

Su
is

u
n

 F
ir

e

Y
r 

1
 

Y
r 

1
 X

 2
0

2
0

 y
rs

 w
/2

%
 ↑

/y
r

C
o

rd
el

ia
1

,2
2

5
.3

4
$

  
2

4
,5

0
6

.8
4

$
   

  
2

9
,7

7
2

.5
9

$
  

  

Su
is

u
n

1
,5

3
3

.1
4

$
  

3
0

,6
6

2
.7

6
$

   
  

3
7

,2
5

1
.2

2
$

  
  

To
ta

l
2

,7
5

8
.4

8
$

  
5

5
,1

6
9

.6
0

$
   

  
6

7
,0

2
3

.8
1

$
  

  

Phase 2Phase 1

2
0

-y
rs

 a
t 

2
%

 

gr
o

w
th

/y
r

Fi
re

 S
p

e
ci

al
 

P
ar

ce
l T

ax

2
0

2
1

-2
2

 F
ir

e 

P
ro

p
e

rt
y 

T
ax

 $
 

Es
ti

m
a

te

W
at

er
Se

w
er

A
d

 V
al

o
re

m
 

Fi
re

 T
ax

 

R
ev

en
u

e

M
ap

 

In
d

ex

D
et

ai
l 

M
ap

 
A

P
N

A
ss

e
ss

e
e

P
ar

ce
l A

d
d

re
ss

A
cr

e
s

Zo
n

in
g

TR
A

20
21

-2
2 

 

A
ss

d
 V

al
u

e

A
d

 V
al

o
re

m
 

Fi
re

 T
ax

 

Sh
ar

e

Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 119 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 139 of 338

kwatt
Rectangle



Agenda Item 7.A Fairfield Island Annexation Phase 1

Staff Report Page 120 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 140 of 338



ATTACHMENT A 

§56375
(a)(4) A commission shall not disapprove an annexation to a city, initiated by resolution, of
contiguous territory that the commission finds is any of the following:

(A) Surrounded or substantially surrounded by the city to which the annexation is
proposed or by that city and a county boundary or the Pacific Ocean if the territory to
be annexed is substantially developed or developing, is not prime agricultural land as
defined in Section 56064, is designated for urban growth by the general plan of the
annexing city, and is not within the sphere of influence of another city.

(B) Located within an urban service area that has been delineated and adopted by a
commission, which is not prime agricultural land, as defined by Section 56064, and is
designated for urban growth by the general plan of the annexing city.

(C) An annexation or reorganization of unincorporated islands meeting the requirements of
Section 56375.3.

§56375.3
(a) Island annexation may be approved without protest and election if all of the following

requirements are met:
(1) The change of organization or reorganization is initiated on or after January 1, 2000.
(2) The change of organization or reorganization is proposed by resolution adopted by the

affected city.
(3) The commission finds that the territory contained in the change of organization or

reorganization proposal meets all of the requirements set forth in subdivision (b).

(b) Subdivision (a) applies to territory that meets all of the following requirements:
(1) It does not exceed 150 acres in area, and that area constitutes the entire island.
(2) The territory constitutes an entire unincorporated island located within the limits of a

city, or constitutes a reorganization containing a number of individual unincorporated
islands.

(3) It is surrounded in either of the following ways:
A. Surrounded, or substantially surrounded, by the city to which annexation is

proposed or by the city and a county boundary or the Pacific Ocean.
B. Surrounded by the city to which annexation is proposed and adjacent cities.

(4) It is substantially developed or developing. The finding required by this paragraph shall
be based upon one or more factors, including, but not limited to, any of the following
factors:

A. The availability of public utility services.
B. The presence of public improvements.
C. The presence of physical improvements upon the parcel or parcels within the

area.
(5) It is not prime agricultural land, as defined by Section 56064.
(6) It will benefit from the change of organization or reorganization or is receiving benefits

from the annexing city.
(7) This subdivision does not apply to any unincorporated island within a city that is a gated

community where services are currently provided by a community services district
(8) Notwithstanding any other law, at the option of either the city or the county, a separate

property tax transfer agreement may be agreed to between a city and a county pursuant
to Section 99 of the Revenue and Taxation Code regarding an annexation subject to this
subdivision without affecting any existing master tax sharing agreement between the city
and county.

Staff Report Page 121 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 141 of 338



 B:ATTACHMENT B 

LAFCO Map of Existing Islands in City of 
Fairfield 

Staff Report Page 122 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 142 of 338



A
TT

A
C
H
M
EN

T 
B

Staff Report Page 123 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 143 of 338



Staff Report Page 124 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 144 of 338



Staff Report Page 125 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 145 of 338



Staff Report Page 126 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 146 of 338



Staff Report Page 127 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 147 of 338



Staff Report Page 128 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 148 of 338



ATTACHMENT C
 

City of Fairfield Community Meeting Letter for 
Property Owners

Staff Report Page 129 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 149 of 338



C I TY OF FA I R F I E L D 
Founded 1856 - l nco1porated December 7 2, 1903 

Community Development Department 

March 8, 2023 

Re: Pittman Road Proposed Bundle Annexation Comprising of a Total of Twelve (12) 

Properties on 16.51 Acres in Solano County 

Dear Property Owners: 

The City of Fairfield will be hosting a property owners' meeting on March 25, 2023, at 10:30 A. 

M. to be held at the Fairfield Civic Center Library located east of the City Hall at 1150 Kentucky

Street. The purpose of the meeting is to provide annexation procedures involving your property.

All property owners are highly encouraged to attend.

The City is pursuing the annexation of areas of unincorporated Solano County associated with 

twelve (12) Assessor's Parcel Numbers which include your property. 

The City of Fairfield is inviting you as our neighbors within our Sphere of Influence (SOI) to join 

the City through annexation. Your neighbors, namely Meadow Creek Group LLC, Blessed Baptist 

Church, and the Sunset Avenue Apartments, have already completed the City entitlement 

process towards annexation and their annexation applications are under review with the Solano 

County Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO). It is prudent to include your properties in 

this annexation so that your properties will not remain isolated as islands in the County 

surrounded by the City of Fairfield. If annexed your properties will benefit from the following City 

services: 

o A full range of superior municipal services that are provided to all Fairfield residents;

o Service from City of Fairfield Police and Fire;

o City water and sewer services;

o Ability to vote for City elected officials, be appointed a member of a Board or Commission,

or run for City Council.

1000 Webster Street• Fairfield• California • 94533-4836 • (707) 428-7400 • fairfield.ca.gov 

 

Staff Report Page 130 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 150 of 338



Page 2 

Pittman Road Proposed Bundle Annexation Comprising of a Total of Twelve (12) Properties 

on 16.51 Acres in Solano County 

Please consider this letter of invitation as a courtesy of the City of Fairfield to provide all property 

owners with the knowledge that they are being annexed and the opportunity to participate in 

the annexation willingly. In addition, this annexation does not cost your property any normal 

annexation costs. You are being offered the opportunity to be a part of the City of Fairfield 

without paying any LAFCO Annexation Application fees. However, some unforeseeable City 

service connection charges may be applicable. Such charges may vary from parcel to parcel 

depending on the City services your property is already connected to or would like to be 

connected to. 

In the case you may not want your property to be annexed, the City of Fairfield and LAFCO are 

empowered under Sections 56744 and 56375.3 of the Government Code to annex your property. 

Streamlined Island Annexation Process (Government Code §56375.3): 

The law provides that an "island annexation" initiated by a City must be approved by LAFCO and 

protest proceedings are waived if the following requirements are met: 

1. Annexation is proposed by resolution of the annexing city.

2. The island is 150 acres or less in size.

3. The island is surrounded or substantially surrounded by the annexing city or by the

annexing city and adjacent cities.

4. The island is not a gated community where services are currently provided by a

community services district.

5. The island is substantially developed or developing based on the availability of public

utilities, presence of public improvements or the presence of physical

improvements on the parcels within the area.

6. The island is not prime agricultural land as defined in Government Code Section

56064.

7. The island is receiving benefits from the annexing city or will benefit from the city.

8. The island was not created after January 1, 2000.

Furthermore, California Legislature enacted special legislation in 2001 (Government Code Section 

56375.3) to make it easier for cities to annex certain unincorporated islands. The law allows cities 

to annex islands through a streamlined process that does not require protest proceedings or 

elections, provided the island meets the above eight requirements and is 150 acres or less in size. 

If you would like to meet prior to the property owners' meeting, or have any questions, please 

feel free to call or email me at tmtunga@fairfield.ca.gov or 707-428-7446. 
I 

Staff Report Page 131 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 151 of 338



Page 3
pittman Road proposed Bundle Annexation Comprising of a Total of Twelve (12) Properties

on 15.51Acres in Solano CountY

Sincerely,

g,ltfur-
Tendai Mtunga

Senior Planner

Staff Report Page 132 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 152 of 338



ATTACHMENT D

Location Maps for Each Island

Staff Report Page 133 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 153 of 338



C
ity

 o
f F

ai
rf

ie
ld

S
ph

er
e 

of
In

flu
en

ce

Pr
op

os
ed

An
ne

xa
tio

n
Ar

ea

C
ity

 o
f

F
ai

rf
ie

ld

U
ni

nc
or

po
ra

te
d

A
re

a

C
ity

 o
f F

ai
rf

ie
ld

Pr
op

os
ed

An
ne

xa
tio

n
Ar

ea

±
0

0.
25

0.
5

0.
13

M
ile

s

Is
la

nd
 A

: 
Pi

tt
m

an
 R

oa
d

Fa
irf

ie
ld

 C
ity

 B
ou

nd
ar

y

Fa
irf

ie
ld

 S
ph

er
e 

of
 I

nf
lu

en
ce

H
ig

hw
ay

s

Se
co

nd
ar

y 
Ro

ad
s

Lo
ca

l R
oa

ds
D

is
cl

ai
m

er
: 

Th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

sh
ow

n 
is

 in
te

nd
ed

 t
o 

be
 u

se
d 

fo
r

ge
ne

ra
l d

is
pl

ay
 p

ur
po

se
s 

on
ly

 a
nd

 is
 n

ot
 t

o 
be

 u
se

d 
as

 a
n

of
fic

ia
l m

ap
.

Is
la

nd
 A
-P
R:

 P
itt

m
an

 R
oa

d

Staff Report Page 134 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 154 of 338



GRANDE CIR

SAN PEDRO CT

FR
O

ST
 P

L

SA
N

 M
AR

CO
 S

T

SA
N

 R
EM

O
 S

T

E 
TA

BO
R
 A

VE

MATTHEW CT

SA
N

TA
 M

O
N

IC
A 

CT

SU
N

SE
T 

CT

DOVER AVE

W
R
EN

 C
T

CARDINAL WAY

RA
IL

RO
AD

AV
E

FLAMINGO DR

SANTA MONICA ST

DANIEL ST

FALCON DR

DOVER AVE

BLOSSOM AVE

BLOSSOM CT

KINGFISHER WAY

SCOTT ST

UNNAMED

BR
AN

D
O

N
 W

AY

BLOSSOM AVE

LOIS LN

M
AT

TH
EW

 D
R

D
AN

IE
L 

CT

SUNSET AVE

D
U

ST
IN

 W
AY

SA
N

 P
ED

R
O

 S
T

MANOR PL

Pr
op

os
ed

An
ne

xa
tio

n
Ar

ea

C
ity

 o
f

F
ai

rf
ie

ld

S
ui

su
n 

C
ity

C
ity

 o
f F

ai
rf

ie
ld

Pr
op

os
ed

An
ne

xa
tio

n
Ar

ea

±
0

0.
25

0.
5

0.
13

M
ile

s

Is
la

nd
 B

: 
Su

ns
et

 A
ve

Fa
irf

ie
ld

 C
ity

 B
ou

nd
ar

y

Fa
irf

ie
ld

 S
ph

er
e 

of
 I

nf
lu

en
ce

H
ig

hw
ay

s

Se
co

nd
ar

y 
Ro

ad
s

Lo
ca

l R
oa

ds
D

is
cl

ai
m

er
: 

Th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

sh
ow

n 
is

 in
te

nd
ed

 t
o 

be
 u

se
d 

fo
r

ge
ne

ra
l d

is
pl

ay
 p

ur
po

se
s 

on
ly

 a
nd

 is
 n

ot
 t

o 
be

 u
se

d 
as

 a
n

of
fic

ia
l m

ap
.

Is
la

nd
 B
-S
A:

 S
un

se
t 

Av
e

Is
la

nd
 B
-S
A:

 S
un

se
t 

Av
e

Staff Report Page 135 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 155 of 338



RA
IL

RO
AD

AV
E

SUNSET AVE

BLOSSOM AVE

WILLOW CT

AM
BE

R
 D

R

SA
R
AH

 W
AY

KI
N

G
S 

W
AY

SU
NS

HI
NE

 S
T

E 
TR

AV
IS

 B
LV

D

SI
LK

 O
AK

 D
R

CAMELLIA
LN

PHOENIX DR

D
AN

IE
L 

ST

SCOTT ST

M
AT

TH
EW

 D
R

JA
CA

R
AN

D
A 

D
R

BLOSSOM AVE

M
AT

TH
EW

 C
T

Pr
op

os
ed

An
ne

xa
tio

n
Ar

ea

C
ity

 o
f

F
ai

rf
ie

ld

S
ui

su
n 

C
ity

 

C
ity

 o
f F

ai
rf

ie
ld

Pr
op

os
ed

An
ne

xa
tio

n
Ar

ea

±
0

0.
1

0.
2

0.
05

M
ile

s

Is
la

nd
 C

: 
Bl

es
se

d 
Ba

pt
is

t 
Ch

ur
ch

Fa
irf

ie
ld

 C
ity

 B
ou

nd
ar

y

Fa
irf

ie
ld

 S
ph

er
e 

of
 I

nf
lu

en
ce

H
ig

hw
ay

s

Se
co

nd
ar

y 
Ro

ad
s

Lo
ca

l R
oa

ds
D

is
cl

ai
m

er
: 

Th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

sh
ow

n 
is

 in
te

nd
ed

 t
o 

be
 u

se
d 

fo
r

ge
ne

ra
l d

is
pl

ay
 p

ur
po

se
s 

on
ly

 a
nd

 is
 n

ot
 t

o 
be

 u
se

d 
as

 a
n

of
fic

ia
l m

ap
.

Is
la

nd
 C
-B
BC

: 
Bl

es
se

d 
Ba

pt
is

t 
Ch

ur
ch

Staff Report Page 136 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 156 of 338



Ci
ty

 o
f 

Fa
irf

ie
ld

 Z
on

in
g

Ci
ty

 o
f 

Fa
irf

ie
ld

 G
en

er
al

 P
la

n

O
SC

 -
 O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e 
Co

ns
er

va
tio

n

R
VH

 -
 V

er
y 

H
ig

h 
D

en
si

ty
 R

es
id

en
tia

l

R
M

 -
 M

ed
iu

m
 D

en
si

ty
 R

es
id

en
tia

l

R
LM

 -
 L

ow
-M

ed
iu

m
 D

en
si

ty
 R

es
id

en
tia

l

PF
 -

 P
ub

lic
 F

ac
ili

tie
s

CS
 -

 S
er

vi
ce

 C
om

m
er

ci
al

CR
 -

 R
eg

io
na

l C
om

m
er

ci
al

CO
 -

 O
ff

ic
e 

Co
m

m
er

ci
al

IB
P 

- 
In

du
st

ria
l B

us
in

es
s 

Pa
rk

IL
 -

 L
im

ite
d 

In
du

st
ria

l

O
SC

 -
 O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e 
Co

ns
er

va
tio

n

R
VH

 -
 R

es
 V

er
y 

H
ig

h

R
M

 -
 R

es
 M

ed
iu

m

R
LM

 -
 R

es
 L

ow
 M

ed
iu

m

R
L 

- 
Re

s 
Lo

w

PF
 -

 P
ub

lic
 F

ac
ili

tie
s

CC
 -

 C
om

 C
om

m
un

ity

CS
 -

 C
om

 S
er

vi
ce

CH
R
 -

 C
om

 H
ig

hw
ay

 &
 R

eg
io

na
l

CO
 -

 C
om

 O
ff

ic
e

IL
 -

 I
nd

 L
im

ite
d

±
0

0.
25

0.
5

0.
13

M
ile
s

Is
la

nd
 A

-P
R:

 
Pi

tt
m

an
 R

oa
d

C
it

y 
o

f 
F

ai
rf

ie
ld

S
p

h
er

e 
o

f
In

fl
u

en
ce

C
it

y 
o

f 
F

ai
rf

ie
ld

S
p

h
er

e 
o

f
In

fl
u

en
ce

Staff Report Page 137 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 157 of 338



Ci
ty

 o
f 

Fa
irf

ie
ld

 Z
on

in
g

Ci
ty

 o
f 

Fa
irf

ie
ld

 G
en

er
al

 P
la

n

O
SC

 -
 O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e 
Co

ns
er

va
tio

n
R
H

 -
 H

ig
h 

D
en

si
ty

 R
es

id
en

tia
l

R
M

 -
 M

ed
iu

m
 D

en
si

ty
 R

es
id

en
tia

l

R
LM

 -
 L

ow
-M

ed
iu

m
 D

en
si

ty
 R

es
id

en
tia

l

PF
 -

 P
ub

lic
 F

ac
ili

tie
s

CN
 -

 N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
Co

m
m

er
ci

al

O
SC

 -
 O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e 
Co

ns
er

va
tio

n
R
H

 -
 R

es
 H

ig
h

R
M

 -
 R

es
 M

ed
iu

m

R
L 

- 
Re

s 
Lo

w

PF
 -

 P
ub

lic
 F

ac
ili

tie
s

M
U

 -
 M

ix
ed

 U
se

±
0

0.
1

0.
2

0.
05

M
ile
s

Is
la

nd
 B

-S
A:

Su
ns

et
 A

ve

C
it

y 
o

f 
F

ai
rf

ie
ld

S
p

h
er

e 
o

f
In

fl
u

en
ce

C
it

y 
o

f 
F

ai
rf

ie
ld

S
p

h
er

e 
o

f
In

fl
u

en
ce

Staff Report Page 138 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 158 of 338



Ci
ty

 o
f 

Fa
irf

ie
ld

 Z
on

in
g

Ci
ty

 o
f 

Fa
irf

ie
ld

 G
en

er
al

 P
la

n

±
0

0.
1

0.
2

0.
05

M
ile
s

Is
la

nd
 C
-B
BC

:
Bl

es
se

d 
Ba

pt
is

t 
Ch

ur
ch

C
it

y 
o

f 
F

ai
rf

ie
ld

S
p

h
er

e 
o

f
In

fl
u

en
ce

C
it

y 
o

f 
F

ai
rf

ie
ld

S
p

h
er

e 
o

f
In

fl
u

en
ce

O
R
S 

- 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e 
Re

cr
ea

tio
n

O
SC

 -
 O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e 
Co

ns
er

va
tio

n

R
M

 -
 R

es
 M

ed
iu

m

R
LM

 -
 R

es
 L

ow
 M

ed
iu

m

M
U

 -
 M

ix
ed

 U
se

CC
 -

 C
om

 C
om

m
un

ity

R
EC

 -
 R

ec
re

at
io

n

O
SC

 -
 O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e 
Co

ns
er

va
tio

n

R
H

 -
 H

ig
h 

D
en

si
ty

 R
es

id
en

tia
l

R
M

 -
 M

ed
iu

m
 D

en
si

ty
 R

es
id

en
tia

l

R
LM

 -
 L

ow
-M

ed
iu

m
 D

en
si

ty
 R

es
id

en
tia

l

CN
 -

 N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
Co

m
m

er
ci

al

CC
 -

 C
om

m
un

ity
 C

om
m

er
ci

al

Staff Report Page 139 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 159 of 338



ATTACHMENT E

Tax Exchange Letter

Staff Report Page 140 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 160 of 338



S:\PROPTAX_GRANTS\Property Tax Data\FY 2022-23\Annexation_PropTax Exchange Report\Property Tax Exchange\Fairfield Island 
Annexation to City of Fairfield\Agency Notification Letter - Fairfield Island Phase 1 Annexation to Fairfield.docx

PHYLLIS S. TAYNTON, CPA
Auditor-Controller

SHEILA O. TURGO
Assistant Auditor-Controller

OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR-CONTROLLER
675 Texas Street, Suite 2800

Fairfield, CA 94533-6338
(707) 784-6280

Fax (707) 784-3420

www.solanocounty.com

SENT VIA EMAIL

March 27, 2023

To: Taxing Agency
(See attached agency notification list)

Re: Proposed Fairfield Island Phase 1 Annexation to City of Fairfield (2023-05)

The Local Agency Formation Commission, in accordance with Revenue and Taxation 
Code section 99, has notified the Auditor-Controller’s Office that a reorganization
application has been filed that involves detachment of territory within the boundaries of 
your district to the City of Fairfield.

Revenue and Taxation Code section 99.01 provides for a negotiation of property tax 
exchange between your district and City of Fairfield. In accordance with Revenue and 
Taxation Code section 99(b)(3), the attached schedule provides information regarding 
increment tax allocations to your district in the Tax Rate Area(s) proposed for detachment.

If you have any questions, please contact Rosemary Bettencourt at (707) 784-6413.

Sincerely,

Phyllis Taynton, CPA
Auditor-Controller

Cc:  Rich Seithel, LAFCO 
 Christina Love, LAFCO

Phyllis S. 
Taynton, CPA

Digitally signed by Phyllis S. 
Taynton, CPA 
Date: 2023.03.28 06:54:56 
-07'00'

Staff Report Page 141 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 161 of 338



S:
\P

RO
PT

AX
_G

RA
N

TS
\P

ro
pe

rt
y 

Ta
x 

Da
ta

\F
Y 

20
22

-2
3\

An
ne

xa
tio

n_
Pr

op
Ta

x 
Ex

ch
an

ge
 R

ep
or

t\
Pr

op
er

ty
 T

ax
 E

xc
ha

ng
e\

Fa
irf

ie
ld

 Is
la

nd
 A

nn
ex

at
io

n 
to

 C
ity

 o
f F

ai
rf

ie
ld

\A
ge

nc
y 

N
ot

ifi
ca

tio
n 

Lis
t -

 F
ai

rf
ie

ld
 Is

la
nd

 P
ha

se
 1

 A
nn

ex
at

io
n 

to
 F

ai
rf

ie
ld

A
ge

n
cy

 N
o

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

 L
is

t

Fu
nd

Ag
en

cy
-T

ax
 S

ha
rin

g 
R

at
io

C
on

ta
ct

 N
am

e
Ag

en
cy

Ad
dr

es
s

C
ity

St
at

e
Zi

p
Em

ai
l

1
G

E
N

E
R

A
L 

C
O

U
N

T
Y

*
B

ill
 E

m
le

n
C

ou
nt

y 
A

dm
in

is
tr

at
or

’s
 O

ff
ic

e
67

5 
T

ex
as

 S
tr

ee
t,

 S
ui

te
 

65
00

F
ai

rf
ie

ld
C

A
94

53
3

W
F

E
m

le
n@

S
ol

an
oC

ou
nt

y.
co

m

10
8/

46
S

P
E

C
IA

L 
R

O
A

D
/S

O
LA

N
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

 
LI

G
H

T
IN

G
 S

V
C

 A
R

E
A

T
er

ry
 

S
ch

m
id

tb
au

er
R

es
ou

rc
e 

M
an

ag
em

en
t,

 P
ub

lic
 

W
or

ks
67

5 
T

ex
as

 S
tr

ee
t,

 S
ui

te
 

55
00

F
ai

rf
ie

ld
C

A
94

53
3

T
S

ch
m

id
tb

au
er

@
S

ol
an

oC
ou

nt
y.

co
m

77
F

A
IR

F
IE

LD
 C

IT
Y

D
av

id
 G

as
sa

w
ay

C
ity

 o
f 

F
ai

rf
ie

ld
10

00
 W

eb
st

er
 S

tr
ee

t
F

ai
rf

ie
ld

C
A

94
53

3
dg

as
sa

w
ay

@
fa

irf
ie

ld
.c

a.
go

v

12
7

C
O

R
D

E
LI

A
 F

IR
E

Ji
m

 F
ris

ch
e

C
or

de
lia

 F
ire

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

D
is

tr
ic

t
21

55
 C

or
de

lia
 R

oa
d

F
ai

rf
ie

ld
C

A
94

53
4

jfr
is

ch
ec

or
de

lia
fir

e@
gm

ai
l.c

om

13
2

S
U

IS
U

N
 F

IR
E

F
re

d 
A

br
uz

zi
ni

S
ui

su
n 

F
ire

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

D
is

tr
ic

r
44

5 
Ja

ck
so

n 
S

tr
ee

t
F

ai
rf

ie
ld

C
A

94
53

3
al

fr
ed

ab
ru

zz
in

i@
ya

ho
o.

co
m

27
6

F
A

IR
F

IE
LD

 S
U

IS
U

N
 S

E
W

E
R

 
D

IS
T

R
IC

T
Ja

m
es

 R
us

se
ll-

F
ie

ld
F

ai
rf

ie
ld

 S
ui

su
n 

S
ew

er
 D

is
tr

ic
t

10
10

 C
ha

db
ou

rn
e 

R
oa

d
F

ai
rf

ie
ld

C
A

94
53

4
jfi

el
d@

fs
sd

.c
om

Staff Report Page 142 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 162 of 338



S:\PROPTAX_GRANTS\Property Tax Data\FY 2022-23\Annexation_PropTax Exchange Report\Property Tax Exchange\Fairfield Island Annexation to City of Fairfield\LAFCO_22-
23_PropTax Exchange_2023-05 Fairfield Island Phase 1 Annext to City of FairfieldExchange Amou

EXCHANGE AMOUNTS

2023-05 Fairfield Island Phase 1 Annexation to City of Fairfield

Fund No. Fund Name Exchange Amount FY 22/23 Revenues Add To Subtract From

77 CITY OF FAIRFIELD 1,071.59$      

1 GENERAL FUND 351.79$         

46 SOL COUNTY LIGHTING SVC AREA -$              

108 SPECIAL ROAD 289.36$         

127 CORDELIA FIRE 430.44$         

276 FAIRFIELD SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT -$              

Total 1,071.59$      1,071.59$      

EXCHANGE AMOUNTS

2023-05 Fairfield Island Phase 1 Annexation to City of Fairfield

Fund No. Fund Name Exchange Amount FY 22/23 Revenues Add To Subtract From

77 CITY OF FAIRFIELD 1,048.77$      

1 GENERAL FUND 113.30$         

46 SOL COUNTY LIGHTING SVC AREA -$              

108 SPECIAL ROAD 282.98$         

132 SUISUN FIRE 652.49$         

276 FAIRFIELD SUISUN SEWER DISTRICT -$              

Total 1,048.77$      1,048.77$      

APNs 0044-080-170 & 0044-080-160 TAG 60041

APNs 0037-160-040, 0037-160-060, 0037-060-480 & 0037-060-490 TAG 60065

Staff Report Page 143 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 163 of 338



S:\PROPTAX_GRANTS\Property Tax Data\FY 2022-23\Annexation_PropTax Exchange Report\TRA Assignment\Statement of TRA Assignment - Fairfield Island Phase 1 Annexation to 
Fairfield
Sheet: Stmt of TRA Assign_Ltr 
3/22/2023

Consolidation of Existing Tax Rate Areas

District Resolution No.:

LAFCO Resolution No.:

Short Title:

The County Auditor-Controller's office certifies that changes to existing tax rate areas in the above named
action can be made as follows:

Existing TRA Assign to Existing New TRA
Affected TRA Number Number Required

060-041 New YES

060-065 003-212 NO

Phyllis S. Taynton, CPA
Auditor-Controller

by Rosemary C. Bettencourt
Deputy Auditor-Controller
Property Tax Division
rbettencourt@solanocounty.com

Phone (707) 784-6413

Statement of TRA Assignment

2023-05 - Fairfield Island Phase 1 Annexation to City of Fairfield

675 Texas Street, Suite 2800
Fairfield, CA 94533-6338
(707) 784-6280
Fax (707) 784-3420

www.solanocounty.com

PHYLLIS S. TAYNTON, CPA
Auditor-Controller

SHEILA O. TURGO
Assistant Auditor-Controller

OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR-CONTROLLER

Rosemary C. 
Bettencourt

Digitally signed by Rosemary C. 
Bettencourt 
Date: 2023.03.23 17:37:48 -07'00'

Staff Report Page 144 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 164 of 338



S:\PROPTAX_GRANTS\Property Tax Data\FY 2022-23\Annexation_PropTax Exchange Report\TRA Assignment\Statement of TRA Assignment - Fairfield Island Phase 1 Annexation to FairfieldStatement of TRA Assign 
Comp

2023-05 - Fairfield Island Phase 1 Annexation to City of Fairfield

Fund Rate
Fund 60041 Add/Deduct Fund New variance variance Comments

0001 0.407753  -0.040872 0001 0.366881  -  0.040872
Ratio matches exisiting TRAs but does not include 
Fairfield Suisun Sewer

0004 0.035702   0004 0.035702  -  0.000000
0006 0.010503   0006 0.010503   -  0.000000
0007 0.007641  0007 0.007641   -  0.000000
0010 0.001550  0010 0.001550   -  0.000000
0016 0.002635   0016 0.002635  -  0.000000
0027 0.019879   0027 0.019879  -  0.000000
0032 0.014830   0032 0.014830   -  0.000000
0036 0.015943   0036 0.015943   -  0.000000
0046 -    46   0.000000 Detach

0048 0.002855   0048 0.002855   -  0.000000
0059 -  0059 -  -     0.000000

0.124500 0077 0.124500   (77)  -0.124500 Annex to Fairfield
0108 0.033619   -0.033619 108    0.033619 Detach
0127 0.050009   -0.050009 127    0.050009 Detach
0196 0.018316   0196 0.018316   -  0.000000

276 (276) 0.000000 Added to annexation to City of Fairfield
0300 -  0300 -  -     0.000000
0317 -  0317 -  -     0.000000
0318 -  0318 -  -     0.000000
0411 -  0411 -  -     0.000000
0424 -  0424 -  -     0.000000
0431 -  0431 -  -     0.000000
0436 -  0436 -  -     0.000000
0437 -  0437 -  -     0.000000
0440 -  0440 -  -     0.000000
0451 -  0451 -  -     0.000000
0454 -    0454 -  -     0.000000
0460 -  0460 -  -     0.000000
0464 -  0464 -  -     0.000000
0466 -  0466 -  -     0.000000
0476 -  0476 -  -     0.000000
0481 -  0481 -  -     0.000000
0483 -  0483 -  -     0.000000
0484 -  0484 -  -     0.000000
0485 -  0485 -  -     0.000000
0487 -  0487 -    -     0.000000
0488 -  0488 -  -     0.000000
0494 -  0494 -  -     0.000000
0497 -  0497 -  -     0.000000
0500 0.013345  0500 0.013345   -  0.000000
0503 0.002823  0503 0.002823   -  0.000000
0512 -    0512 -  -     0.000000
0527 0.035898  0527 0.035898   -  0.000000
0611 0.320937  0611 0.320937   -  0.000000
0671 -  0671 -  -     0.000000
0998 0.001417   0998 0.001417   -  0.000000
0999 0.004345   0999 0.004345   -  0.000000

1.000000   1.000000  (0.000000)    

Statement of TRA Assignment

Proposed Assigned TRAExisting TRA

Page 1 of 2
Staff Report Page 145 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 165 of 338



S:\PROPTAX_GRANTS\Property Tax Data\FY 2022-23\Annexation_PropTax Exchange Report\TRA Assignment\Statement of TRA Assignment - Fairfield Island Phase 1 Annexation to FairfieldStatement of TRA Assign 
Com (2)

2023-05 - Fairfield Island Phase 1 Annexation to City of Fairfield

Fund Rate
Fund 60065 Add/Deduct Fund 3212 variance variance Comments
0001 0.407437  -0.01345 0001 0.393987   -  0.013450 Annex to Fairfield
0004 0.035675   0004 0.035675   -  0.000000
0006 0.010495  0006 0.010495   -  0.000000
0007 0.007635  0007 0.007635   -  0.000000
0010 0.001548   0010 0.001548   -  0.000000
0016 0.002633  0016 0.002633   -  0.000000
0027 0.019864   0027 0.019864  -  0.000000
0036 0.015931   0036 0.015931  -  0.000000
0046 -  46   0.000000 Detach
0048 0.002853   0048 0.002853   -  0.000000

0059 -  0059 -  -     0.000000
0.124500 0077 0.124500   (77)  -0.124500 Annex to Fairfield

0108 0.033593   -0.033593 108    0.033593 Detach
0132 0.077457   -0.077457 132    0.077457 Detach
0196 0.006410   0196 0.006410   -  0.000000

0276 - (276) 0.000000 Added to annexation to City of Fairfield
0300 -  0300 - - 0.000000
0317 -  0317 - - 0.000000
0318 -  0318 - - 0.000000
0411 -  0411 - - 0.000000
0424 -  0424 - - 0.000000
0431 -  0431 - - 0.000000
0436 -    0436 - - 0.000000
0437 -  0437 - - 0.000000
0440 -  0440 - - 0.000000
0451 -  0451 - - 0.000000
0454 -  0454 - - 0.000000
0460 -    0460 - - 0.000000
0464 -    0464 - - 0.000000
0466 -    0466 - - 0.000000
0476 -  0476 - - 0.000000
0481 -  0481 - - 0.000000
0483 -  0483 - - 0.000000
0484 -  0484 - - 0.000000
0485 -  0485 - - 0.000000
0487 -  0487 - - 0.000000
0488 -  0488 - - 0.000000
0494 -  0494 - - 0.000000
0497 -  0497 - - 0.000000
0500 0.013335   0500 0.013335   -  0.000000
0503 0.002821  0503 0.002821   -  0.000000
0512 -  0512 -  -     0.000000
0527 0.035870   0527 0.035870  -  0.000000
0611 0.320688   0611 0.320688  -  0.000000
0671 -  0671 -  -     0.000000
0998 0.001415   0998 0.001415  -  0.000000
0999 0.004340   0999 0.004340   -  0.000000

1.000000   1.000000  0.000000   

Statement of TRA Assignment

Existing TRA Proposed Assigned TRA

Page 2 of 2
Staff Report Page 146 of 146

Agenda Packet Page 166 of 338



Staff Report 

DATE: August 14, 2023 

TO: Local Agency Formation Commission 

FROM:  Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: LAFCO PROJECT 2023-12:  UPDATE THE SOLANO LAFCO PERSONNEL 
AND SALARY RESOLUTION APPENDIX A TO REFLECT A 5% COST OF 
LIVING ADJUSTMENT FOR LAFCO CLASSIFICATIONS OF OFFICE 
ADMINISTRATOR/CLERK, ANALYST I, ANALYST II, SR. ANALYST, AND 
DEPUTY EXECUTIVE OFFICER, EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023; AND UPDATE 
THE EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S SALARY. 

EXECUTE CONTRACT AMENDMENT 2023-01 AMENDING SECTION 5.01 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER ANNUAL SALARY, EFFECTIVE JUNE 12, 2023 

Recommendation: 

REVIEW and APPROVE the LAFCO Resolution approving a 5% cost of living adjustment, 
effective July 1, 2023; and update the LAFCO Personnel and Salary Resolution Appendix A to 
reflect the COLA updates and Executive Officer’s salary.   

EXECUTE Amendment 2023-01 to the Employment Contract for the Executive Officer 
amending Section 5.01 Annual Salary to $180,000, effective June 12, 2023. 

DIRECT staff to submit the amended documents to Solano County Auditor-Controller’s Office 
for payroll processing.  

Background: 

During the LAFCO (Commission) public hearing on the Final Budget for Fiscal Year 2023-2024 
on June 12, 2023, the Commission considered a 5% cost of living adjustment (COLA) for non-
contracted LAFCO employees, effective with the new Fiscal Year.  The Commission directed 
staff to return with a resolution to adopt said COLA.   

Additionally, the Commission directed Legal Counsel to draft an amendment to the Employment 
Contract with the Executive Officer to increase his compensation. 

Solano Local Agency Formation Commission 
675 Texas St. Ste. 6700 • Fairfield, California 94533 

(707) 439-3897 • FAX: (707) 438-1788

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 1 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 167 of 338



Discussion:  

Revised Personnel and Salary Resolution (PSR) 

Solano LAFCO has an adopted Personnel and Salary Resolution policy (PSR).  Amendments to 
Appendix A of the PSR are required to implement the 5% COLA for non-contracted employees 
and the amendment to the Executive Officer contract for a pay increase as discussed below.   

The proposed Amended PSR is Attachment A.  Specifically, Appendix A includes black strike-
through and double-underlined revisions to reflect the wage adjustments, consistent with the 
table depicted below.  

Cost of Living Adjustments for Non-contracted Employees 

Solano LAFCO staff are self-represented and therefore must make requests for cost-of-living 
adjustments to the Commission on an ongoing basis based on supporting evidence.  Without 
COLAs, Solano LAFCO salaries become less competitive compared to similar positions in other 
government agencies and have created both hiring and retention challenges.   

At the April 10, 2023, and June 12, 2023 Commission meetings, staff proposed COLAs as part 
of the Fiscal Year 23/24 Budget for non-contracted employees to begin bridging the pay-scale 
gap.  At the June 12, 2023 meeting, the Commission adopted the Fiscal Year 23/24 Final 
Budget, including a 5% COLA.  This item formally adopts the 5% COLA by resolution and by 
amending the Personnel and Salary Resolution to reflect the new pay scale.  

The following table reflects the 5% COLA effect in Appendix A. 

PSR Appendix A: The monthly pay rate for stated classification 

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 

Admin/Clerk $4,401.47 $4,621.54 $4,852.62 $5.095.25 $5,350.01 

5% increase $4,621.54 $4,852.62 $5,095.25 $5,350.01 $5,617.51 

Analyst I $5,352.88 $5,620.52 $5,901.55 $6,196.63 $6,555.49 

5% increase $5,620.52 $5,901.55 $6,196.63 $6,506.46 $6,883.26 

Analyst II $6,243.33 $6,555.49 $6,883.27 $7,227.43 $7,588.81 

5% increase $6,555.50 $6,883.26 $7,227.43 $7,588.80 $7,968.25 

Sr Analyst $7,215.87 $7,576.66 $7,955.49 $8.353.27 $8,770.93 

5% increase $7,576.66 $7,955.49 $8,353.26 $8,770.93 $9,209.48 

DEO $9,209.17 $9,669.63 $10,153.11 $10,660.76 $11,193.92 

5% increase $9,669.63 $10,153.11 $10,660.77 $11,193.80 $11,753.62 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 2 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 168 of 338



Contract Employee – Executive Officer 

The LAFCO Commission entered an Employment Contract with Richard J. Seithel for Solano 
LAFCO Executive Officer (“Employment Contract”).  On February 14, 2022, LAFCO adopted 
Amendment No. 2022-01 to the Employment Contract to increase compensation.  On June 12, 
2023, the LAFCO Commission requested LAFCO Legal Counsel to prepare an amendment to 
the Employment Contract to increase his compensation to $180,000 effective June 12, 2023.  

Action item: 
- Solano LAFCO Resolution approving a 5% cost of living adjustment, effective July 1,

2023; and updating the LAFCO Personnel and Salary Resolution Appendix A to reflect
the COLA updates and Executive Officer’s salary.

- Employment Contract for Solano LAFCO Executive Officer Amendment 2023-01
amending Section 5.01 Annual Salary.

Attachments: 
A. Proposed Personnel and Salary Resolution, Proposed August 12, 2023
B. Amendment 2023-01 to Employment Contract
C. Amendment 2022-01 to Employment Contract
D. Employment Contract

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 3 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 169 of 338



LAFCO RESOLUTION NO. 2023- 

RESOLUTION OF THE SOLANO LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
APPROVING A 5% COST OF LIVING ADJUSTMENT, EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023; AND 
UPDATING THE LAFCO PERSONNEL AND SALARY RESOLUTION APPENDIX A TO 

REFLECT THE COLA UPDATES AND EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S SALARY 

WHEREAS, the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of Solano County has 
an adopted Personnel and Salary Resolution (PSR) applicable to all employees, last amended 
October 12, 2022, and; 

WHEREAS, the LAFCO adopted the FY 2023-24 Final Budget and Workplan at the 
regular LAFCO Commission meeting held on June 12, 2023, and; 

WHEREAS, during the public hearing of the FY 2023-24 Final Budget, the LAFCO 
considered and approved a five percent (5%) cost of living adjustment for all non-contracted 
employees as part of the Final Budget and effective July 1, 2023, and; 

WHEREAS, during a public hearing on August 14, 2023, the LAFCO reviewed proposed 
amendments to the PSR updating Appendix A – Salary Schedule to reflect a 5% cost of living 
increase to all non-contracted employees.   

WHEREAS, amendments to the PSR also include an increase in the Executive Officer’s 
compensation pursuant to an amendment to his Employment Contract.   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY DETERMINED AND ORDERED as follows: 

1. The LAFCO adopts a 5% cost of living adjustment for all non-contracted employees,
effective July 1, 2023 as provided in the updated Salary Schedule listed in Appendix A,
which also reflects the salary increase for the Executive Officer also effective July 1,
2023.

2. The Executive Officer is directed to submit the amended PSR, with Appendix A – Salary
Schedule, to the Solano County Auditor-Controller’s Office for payroll processing.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Local Agency Formation Commission of Solano County at a 
regular meeting, held on the 14th day of August 2023, by the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES:  
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

________________________________ 
Nancy Shopay, Chair  
Presiding Officer Solano Local Agency  
Formation Commission 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 
Tova Guevara, Office Administrator/Clerk 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 4 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 170 of 338



EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT FOR SOLANO LAFCO EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER 

Amendment No 2023-01 

This Amendment No. 2023-01 to the EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT FOR SOLANO 
LAFCO EXECUTIVE OFFICER is made and entered into as of August 14, 2023 by and 
between the Solano Local Agency Formation Commission, hereinafter referred to as 
EMPLOYER and Richard J. Seithel, hereinafter referred to as EMPLOYEE and is hereby 
amended to make the following change, effective June 12, 2023: 

1. Section 5.01 Annual Salary is hereby amended to reads as follows:

“Section 5.01    Annual Salary:  As compensation for the services to be rendered by
EMPLOYEE here under, EMPLOYER shall pay EMPLOYEE $180,000 per year.
Future merit increases will be considered annually as part of the performance
review described above.”

2. Except as amended above, all terms of the Employment Contract and Amendment
No 2022-01 remain in full force and effect.

3. This Amendment No 2023-01 may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall
constitute an original.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment No 2023-01 to Agreement was
executed by the parties hereto as of the date first above written. 

For LAFCO: EMPLOYEE 

By:  __________________________ 
Nancy Shopay 
Chair, Solano LAFCO 

Approved as to Form: 

By:  ___________________________ 
Richard J. Seithel 

By:  __________________________ 
Mala Subramanian 
Counsel, Solano LAFCO 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 5 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 171 of 338



Solano Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) 
Personnel and Salary Resolution (PSR) 

As Proposed August 12, 2023 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Division 1.  Working Environment ....................................................................................................... 3 

Section 1.1 Introduction to LAFCo .................................................................................................. 3 

Section 1.2 Authority; Amendment; No Vested Rights ................................................................ 3 

Section 1.3 Equal Employment Opportunity Policy ...................................................................... 3 

Section 1.4 Policy Against Disability Discrimination ..................................................................... 3 

Section 1.5 Policy Against Harassment ......................................................................................... 4 

Section 1.6 Drug and Alcohol Policy ............................................................................................... 5 

Division 2.  Definitions ............................................................................................................................ 5 
Division 3.  Terms and Conditions of Employment ........................................................................ 6 

Section 3.1 Hiring Policy and Procedure ........................................................................................ 6 

Section 3.2 At-Will Employment ...................................................................................................... 7 

Section 3.3 Separation from Service .............................................................................................. 7 

Section 3.4 Incompatible Activities .................................................................................................. 8 

Section 3.5 Work Schedules ............................................................................................................ 8 

Section 3.6 Employee’s Duty to Notify of Late Arrival or Absence ............................................ 9 

Section 3.7 Excessive Tardiness/Absenteeism ............................................................................ 9 

Section 3.8 Rest Periods .................................................................................................................. 9 

Section 3.9 Workers’ Compensation and State Disability Insurance ......................................... 9 

Section 3.10 Computer and E-Mail Usage ..................................................................................... 11 

Division 4.  Employee Benefits ........................................................................................................... 12 
Section 4.1 Holidays ........................................................................................................................ 12 

Section 4.2 Vacation ........................................................................................................................ 13 

Section 4.3 Sick Leave .................................................................................................................... 14 

Section 4.4   Family and Medical Leave ........................................................................................... 16 

Section 4.5 Bereavement Leave ................................................................................................... 23 

Section 4.6 Leave of Absence Without Pay ................................................................................. 24 

Section 4.7 Jury Duty ...................................................................................................................... 25 

Section 4.8 Insurance and Service Plans .................................................................................... 25 

Section 4. 9 Unemployment Benefits ............................................................................................. 29 

Section 4.10 Pregnancy Leave ........................................................................................................ 29 

Section 4.11 Administrative Leave .................................................................................................. 34 

Section 4.12 Military Leave .............................................................................................................. 35 

Division 5.  Salary Plan Administration ............................................................................................ 36 
Section 5.1 Pay for New Employees ............................................................................................. 36 

Attachment A
Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 6 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 172 of 338



Section 5.2 Salary Plan ................................................................................................................... 36 

Section 5.3 Merit Increases within Grade .................................................................................... 37 

Section 5.4 Longevity Compensation ........................................................................................... 38 

Section 5.5 Overtime; CTO ............................................................................................................ 39 

Section 5.6 Salary Payment Procedure ....................................................................................... 40 

Section 5.7 Employee Recognition ............................................................................................... 40 

Section 5.8 Overpayments ............................................................................................................. 40 

Division 6.  Retirement Benefits ......................................................................................................... 42 
Section 6.1 Retirement .................................................................................................................... 42 

Section 6.2 Social Security ............................................................................................................. 44 

Section 6.3 Deferred Compensation ............................................................................................. 45 

Division 7.  Tuition Reimbursement Program ................................................................................ 45 
Section 7.1 Objectives .................................................................................................................... 45 

Section 7.2 Eligibility of Employees for Tuition Reimbursement .............................................. 45 

Section 7.3 Policy for Tuition Reimbursement ............................................................................ 45 

Section 7.4 Nature of Reimbursement ......................................................................................... 46 

Section 7.5 Procedure for Tuition Reimbursement ..................................................................... 47 

Section 7.6 Continued Service Requirement ............................................................................... 47 

Division 8.  Expense Reimbursement Section ............................................................................... 47 
Section 8.1 Travel Expense ........................................................................................................... 47 

Section 8.2 Other Expense Reimbursement ............................................................................... 48 

Division 9.  Personnel Files ................................................................................................................. 48 
Section 9.1 General ......................................................................................................................... 48 

Section 9.2 Notifying LAFCo of Changes in Personal Information .......................................... 48 

Section 9.3 Location of Personnel Files ....................................................................................... 48 

Section 9.4 Medical Information .................................................................................................... 48 

Section 9.5 References and Release of Information in Personnel Files ................................. 49 

Section 9.6 Employee Access to Personnel File ........................................................................ 50 

Position Description for LAFCo Executive Officer ........................................................................... 51 

Position Description for LAFCo Deputy Executive Officer ............................................................. 53 

Position Description for LAFCo Senior Analyst ............................................................................... 57 

Position Description for LAFCo Analyst I/II ...................................................................................... 61 

Position Description for LAFCo Office Administrator / Clerk ......................................................... 65 

Appendix A – Salary Schedule ........................................................................................................... 67 

Appendix B – List of Positions Exempt from Overtime Requirements ......................................... 69 

Employee Acknowledgement Form ................................................................................................... 70 

 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 7 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 173 of 338



Division 1.  Working Environment 
 
Section 1.1 Introduction to LAFCo 
 

Solano Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) is an independent public 
agency formed to regulate the boundaries and the creation of cities and special 
districts through Solano County. As a public agency, LAFCo is responsible for 
providing a service to all members of the public. 
 
LAFCo has prepared this manual to provide all employees a summary of its 
policies and benefits. It is not intended to be exhaustive of all employee 
requirements and regulations. 
LAFCo strives to improve its policies, the services that it provides, and positive 
relations with its employees. All employees are encouraged to bring suggestions for 
improvements to the attention of the Executive Officer. By working together, LAFCo 
hopes that it will share with its employees a sincere pride in the services we are 
providing. 
 

Section 1.2 Authority; Amendment; No Vested Rights 
 
These policies have been adopted by the Commission and are intended to establish 
enforceable regulations governing LAFCo employees. These policies may be 
amended by the Commission at any time, and nothing herein is intended to create 
vested rights in the employees that cannot be modified by the Commission. 

 
Section 1.3 Equal Employment Opportunity Policy 

 
LAFCo believes that all persons are entitled to equal employment opportunity. 
LAFCo does not discriminate against its employees or applicants because of 
race, color, religion, sex, pregnancy, national origin, ancestry, age, sexual 
orientation, marital status, physical or mental disability, medical condition, or any 
other grounds prohibited by state or federal law. Equal opportunity will be 
extended in all aspects of the employer-employee relationship, including 
recruitment, hiring, upgrading, training, promotion, transfer, discipline, layoff, 
recall, and termination. Employment decisions shall, therefore, comply with all 
applicable state and federal laws prohibiting discrimination in employment. 
 

Section 1.4 Policy Against Disability Discrimination 
 
LAFCo is committed to complying fully with state and federal disability 
discrimination laws. No program or activity administered by LAFCo shall exclude 
from participation, deny benefits to or subject to discrimination any individual based 
on an individuals’ actual or perceived disability or based on an individual’s 
association with someone who has an actual or perceived disability. 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 8 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 174 of 338



LAFCo is further committed to providing reasonable accommodation to the 
known physical or mental limitations of an otherwise qualified applicant or 
employee. If you 
believe you are a qualified individual with a disability and that you need a 
reasonable accommodation in order to perform the essential functions of your job, 
please notify the Executive Officer. 

 
Section 1.5 Policy Against Harassment 

 
LAFCo prohibits and will not tolerate unlawful harassment. This policy applies to all 
persons involved with LAFCo including employees, applicants, customers or 
persons providing services pursuant to a contract. This policy prohibits sexual 
harassment and harassment based on an individual’s inclusion in a protected class, 
such as race, color, religion, national origin, ancestry, sex, age, medical condition, 
sexual orientation, marital status, citizenship, pregnancy, physical and mental 
disabilities, veteran or any other consideration made unlawful by federal, state or 
local laws, including persons perceived to have these characteristics. LAFCo will 
also take all responsible steps to prevent or eliminate unlawful harassment by non-
employees, including customers, clients, and suppliers, who have workplace 
contact with LAFCo’s employees. 
 
Unlawful harassment is generally conduct that: does not relate to the business of 
LAFCo; has the purpose or effect of interfering with an individual’s ability to work, or 
that creates a hostile, intimidating or abusing work environment; and is directed at 
an individual because of the individual’s inclusion in a protected class. 
 
Conduct prohibited by this policy includes, but is not limited to the following: 
 
A. Verbal conduct such as epithets, derogatory jokes or comments, 

slurs or unwanted sexual advances, invitations or comments; 
 
B. Visual conduct such as derogatory and/or sexually-oriented 

posters, photography, cartoons, drawing or gestures; 
 
C. Physical conduct such as assault, unwanted touching, blocking, normal 

movement or interfering with work because of sex, race or any other 
protected basis; 

 
D. Threats, demands to submit to sexual requests as a condition of continued 

employment, or to avoid some other loss and offers of employment benefits 
in return for sexual favors. 

 
An employee who believes that he or she has been subjected to any form of 
prohibited harassment should make a complaint, preferably written, to the 
Executive Officer or the Chair of the Commission. If the employee is 
uncomfortable approaching either the Executive Officer or the Chair of the 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 9 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 175 of 338



Commission, any other member of management is available to hear their 
concerns. Managers must report all harassment complaints. Complaints should be 
specific and should include the names of the individuals involved and names of 
any witness. 
 
LAFCo will immediately undertake an effective, thorough, and objective 
investigation and attempt to resolve the situation. LAFCo will maintain 
confidentiality to the extent possible during the investigation, however, disclosures 
of certain information to the members of management or as required by law may 
be necessary. If LAFCo determines that unlawful discrimination has occurred, 
effective remedial action will be taken commensurate with the severity of the 
offense up to and including termination. 
 
Appropriate action will also be taken to deter any future harassment. 
 
Employees will not be retaliated against for bringing a complaint in good faith under 
the Equal Employment Opportunity Policy or the Policy Against Harassment, or for 
honestly assisting in investigating such a complaint, even if the investigation 
produces insufficient evidence that there has been a violation, or if the charges 
cannot be proven. However, disciplinary action may be taken if false or frivolous 
accusations are made in bad faith. 
 

Section 1.6 Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

It is LAFCo’s desire to provide a drug-free, healthful, and safe workplace. To 
promote this goal, employees are required to report to work in appropriate mental 
and physical condition to perform their jobs in a satisfactory manner. 
Violations of this policy may lead to disciplinary action, up to and including 
immediate termination of employment, and/or required participation in a substance 
abuse rehabilitation or treatment program. Such violations may also have legal 
consequences. 
Employees with questions or concerns about substance dependency or abuse are 
encouraged to use the resources of the Employee Assistance Program. They may 
also wish to discuss these matters with the Executive Officer to receive assistance 
or referrals to appropriate resources in the community. 
Under the Drug-Free Workplace Act, an employee who performs work for a 
government contract or grant must notify LAFCo of a criminal conviction for drug-
related activity occurring in the workplace. The report must be made within five days 
of the conviction. 
 

Division 2.  Definitions 
 

CONTINUOUS SERVICE – Shall mean employment in a regular position which 
has not been interrupted by resignation, discharge, layoff, or retirement. 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 10 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 176 of 338



TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE – A person who is employed for the purpose of relieving 
or augmenting regular staff in the accomplishment of work. Employment 
assignments in this category are typically of a limited duration. Employment beyond 
any initially stated period does not in any way imply a change in employment status. 
Temporary employees retain this status unless and until notified of a change. Time 
spent in such an appointment shall not constitute a part of the probationary period. 
While temporary employees receive all legally mandated benefits (workers' 
compensation insurance), they are ineligible for all of Solano LAFCo's other benefit 
programs. 
 
REGULAR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEE – An employee who is not in a temporary or 
part-time status and who is regularly scheduled to work at least forty (40) hours per 
week or eighty (80) hours a pay period. Generally, they are eligible for Solano 
LAFCo's benefit package, subject to the terms, conditions, and limitations of each 
benefit program. 
 
REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEE – An employee who is not in a temporary or 
full-time status and who is regularly scheduled to work less than forty (40) hours 
per week or eighty (80) hours a pay period. Generally, they are eligible for Solano 
LAFCo's benefit package, subject to the terms, conditions, and limitations of each 
benefit program. 
 
SPOUSE – As used herein shall mean the legally married spouse or 
registered domestic partner of the employee. 
 

Division 3.  Terms and Conditions of Employment 
 
Section 3.1 Hiring Policy and Procedure 
 

A. Each vacancy is announced simultaneously for internal and external 
recruitment. 
 

B. For positions under direction of the Executive Officer, the Executive Officer 
shall conduct the screening process, interview applicants, choose the top 
candidates for an open position, check references of the top candidates, 
and select the individual for the position. 
 

C. For positions which report directly to the Commission (e.g., the Executive 
Officer), the Commission shall have exclusive authority to conduct the 
selection process as it deems appropriate. 
 

D. The Executive Officer shall not appoint a member of his or her immediate 
family, nor shall he or she appoint or assign any employee to directly or 
indirectly supervise a member of the employee’s immediate family. 
 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 11 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 177 of 338



Section 3.2 At-Will Employment 
 

A. All employees of LAFCo are at-will employees and may be terminated at 
any time without cause and without any formal procedure. 
 

B. The Executive Officer shall serve at the will of the Commission subject to 
the conditions of applicable contracts. Employees shall serve at the will 
of the Executive Officer as provided by state law. 
 

Section 3.3 Separation from Service 
 

A.  RESIGNATION 
An employee who wishes to resign his/her employment in good standing 
must submit the resignation in writing to his/her supervisor two weeks prior 
to the planned separation date. A resignation becomes final when accepted 
by the Executive Officer or Chairperson. Once a resignation has been 
accepted by the Executive Officer or Chairperson, it cannot be withdrawn 
without the concurrence of the Executive Officer or Chairperson. 
 

B. JOB ABANDONMENT 
An employee is deemed to have resigned if the employee is absent from 
work without prior authorization and without notification during the period of 
the absence. Regular employees will be sent a notice of intent to terminate, 
an opportunity to respond, and final notice of termination for job 
abandonment. An employee separated for job abandonment will be 
reinstated upon proof of justification for such absence, such as severe 
accident, severe illness, false arrest, or mental or physical impairment 
which prevented notification. No employee has any right to evidentiary 
appeal for separation due to job abandonment. 
 

C. TERMINATION; REDUCTION IN HOURS 
 

(i) An employee may be terminated at any time, with or without cause, 
and with or without advance notice. Prior to any action to terminate 
an employee, the Executive Officer shall consult with the 
Commission in closed session to seek advice and direction. 
 

(ii) If LAFCo determines that a reduction in the work force expense is 
warranted, all recruitment/hiring will be frozen; employees will be 
invited and permitted to request a voluntary reduction in their hours or 
days of work; LAFCo will consider any request for time off without pay; 
and employees will be encouraged to take accrued vacation time off. If 
a voluntary reduction in employees’ hours is not sufficient to meet 
LAFCo’s needs and objectives, LAFCo may implement an involuntary 
reduction in hours or days off work. Such reductions will be 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 12 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 178 of 338



administered to maximize productivity and efficiency and can be made 
on a temporary, indefinite or permanent basis 
 

D. SEPARATION PROCEDURE  
 

(i) Upon termination, the employee shall promptly return any employer 
property such as office keys, cell phone, laptop computer etc. that 
the employee may have in his or her possession. 
 

(ii) LAFCo will calculate pay to time of separation, any accrued 
vacation, administrative leave and compensatory time off 
and issue a check in accordance with State Law after 
separation. 
 

(iii) The date of termination of employment shall be considered as the 
date certified by the Executive Officer as the last day worked, or the 
last day in an authorized leave without pay status, and shall not 
include the equivalent time involved in any vacation payoff made at 
the time of termination. 
 

Section 3.4 Incompatible Activities 
 
LAFCo employees shall not engage in any activity, which constitutes a conflict of 
interest due to the nature, conditions, or some other aspect of the activity. An 
employee may not engage in political activities during working hours nor use his or 
her office to promote propose or contribute to any political cause or candidate. Any 
officer or employee wishing to engage in any occupation or outside activity for 
compensation shall inform the Executive Officer or when appropriate the 
Commission, in advance, of the nature of such activity. It shall be the responsibility 
of the Executive Officer to ensure that employees do not engage in any activity 
which constitutes a conflict of interest. 
 

Section 3.5 Work Schedules 
 
The base work schedule for all regular full time employees is 8 hours a day, 5 days 
a week. Flexible scheduling and alternative work arrangements are available in 
some cases to allow employees to vary their starting and ending times each day 
within reasonable limits. Flextime may be possible if a mutually workable schedule 
can be negotiated with the Executive Officer. However, such issues as staffing 
needs, the employee's performance, and the nature of the job will be considered 
before approval of flextime. Employees should consult the Executive Officer to 
request participation in the flextime program. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 13 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 179 of 338



Section 3.6 Employee’s Duty to Notify of Late Arrival or Absence 
 
An employee who is unexpectedly unable to report for work as scheduled must 
notify his or her immediate supervisor no later than the scheduled work time and 
report the expected time or duration of any late arrival or absence. If the 
employee's immediate supervisor is not available, the employee must notify the 
department head or another supervisor. An employee who fails to timely notify the 
supervisor of absences, or who is not present and ready to work during all 
scheduled work times will be deemed to have an unauthorized tardy or absence. 
 

Section 3.7 Excessive Tardiness/Absenteeism 
 
Excessive tardiness occurs when an employee is late to work or returning from 
breaks more than three times during any 30-day period. Excessive absenteeism 
occurs when the number of unprotected absences (absences due to other than 
leaves authorized by state or federal law) exceeds 3 days in any three-month 
period. Excessive tardiness or absenteeism will be grounds for discipline, up to and 
including termination. Abuse of, or misrepresentation of any form of accrued or 
unpaid leave time will be grounds for discipline, up to and including termination. 
 

Section 3.8 Rest Periods 
 
A. Employees may take one 15 minute rest period for each four (4) hours 

worked. Usually breaks are scheduled mid-morning and mid-afternoon and 
are counted as time worked. If the employee does not take a break, it is 
waived. 
 

B. The normal lunch break is at least 1/2 an hour. Staffing needs and 
operational demands may necessitate variations in starting and ending 
times, as well as variations in the total hours that may be scheduled each 
day and week. 
 

C. Employees are encouraged to take rest periods for ergonomic 
considerations and the avoidance of repetitive movement injuries. 
 

Section 3.9 Workers’ Compensation and State Disability Insurance 
 

A. In accordance with the California Labor Code, LAFCo provides all statutory 
workers’ compensation benefits for LAFCo employees who sustain work-
related injuries or illnesses. Pursuant to Labor Code 3700 et seq., any 
employee claiming a work-related injury shall as soon as possible notify the 
Executive Officer and the Executive Officer shall notify the Chairperson as 
soon as possible of the injury and a written report shall be prepared. 
Employees may be required to submit to an independent medical evaluation 
to determine the extent of their disability as may be required by LAFCo’s 
workers’ compensation insurance carrier. 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 14 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 180 of 338



 
B. In lieu of the statutory three (3) day waiting period for temporary disability 

payments pursuant to Labor Code 4652, whenever an employee is 
compelled by direction of a physician to be absent from duty due to an injury 
or illness determined to be work-related by LAFCo, the employee shall 
receive full compensation for his/her scheduled work days and paid holidays 
falling during the first three (3) days of such absence. Thereafter, accrued 
leave shall be integrated with workers’ compensation temporary disability 
benefits pursuant to Section I, below. 
 

C. In the event that LAFCo is unable to determine if the injury or illness is work-
related, the employee shall use sick leave and upon exhaustion of sick leave 
may utilize any other accumulated leave benefits. If the injury or illness is 
determined to be work-related, leave benefits will be restored in accordance 
with Section B, above. Thereafter, accrued leave shall be integrated with 
workers’ compensation temporary disability benefits pursuant to Section I, 
below. 
 

D. In the event of a disability which is non-industrial or where industrial 
causation has yet to be determined, employees shall make timely 
application for State Disability Insurance temporary disability benefits. 
 

E. LAFCo will continue to pay the employer share of the monthly premium for 
medical, vision, dental, and life insurance coverage on behalf of a qualified 
regular full or part-time employee who is receiving State Disability Insurance 
for the period of time that he/she has leave accruals to integrate or for the 
period of time he/she is on approved FMLA leave, whichever is longer. 
 

F. Sick leave and vacation shall accrue during any pay period in which the 
employee is receiving workers’ compensation temporary disability 
benefits. 
 

G. Employees receiving State Disability Benefits will not accrue sick or annual 
leave during any pay period in which the employee does not have sufficient 
leave accruals to fully integrate such leave accruals to achieve 100% 
integration. In the case of an employee who is working less than his/her 
position allocation while collecting State Disability Benefits, the employee will 
continue to earn prorated accruals based on actual hours worked. 
 

H. In accordance with Division 4, Section 3, sick leave may be used for any 
appointments due to a work-related injury or illness. Up to two (2) hours paid 
LAFCo time-off may be used to attend repeat medical appointments due to a 
work related injury or illness. Sick leave may be used for medical 
appointments due to work related injuries beyond two (2) hours. 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 15 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 181 of 338



I. Service credit as provided in this Resolution toward longevity compensation 
and seniority shall not be affected by any pay period during which an 
employee received both LAFCo paid leave and temporary disability benefits 
from workers’ compensation. 
 

J. Workers’ compensation temporary disability and State Disability Insurance 
temporary disability benefits shall be integrated with accrued leave as 
follows: 
 
(i) Employees must promptly inform the Executive Officer or his/her 

designee of their worker’s compensation temporary disability benefit 
amount and provide documentation of receipt for which he/she is 
eligible. 

(ii) Employees must promptly inform the Executive Officer or his/her 
designee (when appropriate) of their State Disability benefit amount 
and provide documentation of receipt for which he/she is eligible. 
State Disability Insurance integration is not retroactive beyond one 
pay period. 

(iii) Employee’s pay, including leave accruals and workers’ compensation 
temporary disability or State Disability Insurance temporary disability 
benefits shall not exceed the employee’s regular gross pay. Gross 
pay is made up of regular base pay and longevity compensation as 
applicable. Employees must integrate all required leave to equal 
100% of their full time equivalent position. 

(iv) Upon exhaustion of sick leave, other accumulated leave will be 
integrated with the weekly Workers’ Compensation temporary 
disability or State Disability Insurance temporary disability benefits. 
 

Section 3.10 Computer and E-Mail Usage 
 
Computers, computer files, the email system, and software furnished to employees 
are LAFCo property intended for business use. Employees should not use a 
password, access a file, or retrieve any stored communication without 
authorization. Employees can have no expectation of privacy in any documents or 
materials in these systems. LAFCo reserves the right to access all systems and to 
monitor use of these systems. 
 
LAFCo strives to maintain a workplace free of harassment and sensitive to the 
diversity of its employees. Therefore, LAFCo prohibits the use of computers and 
the email system in ways that are disruptive, offensive to others, or harmful to 
morale. 
 
For example, the display or transmission of sexually explicit images, messages, 
and cartoons is not allowed. Other such misuse includes, but is not limited to, 
ethnic slurs, racial comments, off-color jokes, or anything that may be construed 
as harassment or showing disrespect for others. 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 16 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 182 of 338



 
 Email may not be used to solicit others for commercial ventures, religious or 
political causes, outside organizations, or other non-business matters. Internet 
access is for business and related professional use. 
 
LAFCo purchases and licenses the use of various computer software for business 
purposes and does not own the copyright to this software or its related 
documentation. Unless authorized by the software developer, LAFCo does not 
have the right to reproduce such software for use on more than one computer. 
 
Employees may only use software on local area networks or on multiple machines 
according to the software license agreement. LAFCo prohibits the illegal 
duplication of software and its related documentation. 
 
Employees should notify the Executive Officer upon learning of violations of this 
policy. Employees who violate this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to 
and including termination of employment. 
 
LAFCo-owned computers, with the exception of laptops designated for remote 
use, shall not be removed from the premises. Use of the LAFCo laptops, 
projector or any other equipment must be authorized in advance by the 
Executive Officer. 

Division 4.  Employee Benefits 
 

Section 4.1 Holidays 
 

A. Only regular and part time employees are eligible for paid holidays. 
 

B. A new employee, whose first working day is the day after a paid holiday, shall 
not be paid for that holiday. 
 

C. Employees terminating employment for reasons other than LAFCo 
retirement and whose last day as a paid employee is the day before a 
holiday shall not be paid for that holiday. 
 

D. Employees terminating employment for reasons other than LAFCo 
retirement may not use vacation leave, sick leave or comp time on the day 
after a holiday if the last working day is before the holiday. A holiday shall 
not be used as the date of termination (e.g., January 1st) in order to be paid 
for that holiday. 
 

E. Employees on a leave of absence without pay for both the regularly 
scheduled working day before a holiday and the regularly scheduled 
working day after a holiday shall not be paid for that holiday. 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 17 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 183 of 338



F. Part-time employees are eligible for paid holidays on a pro-rata basis as 
hours worked relates to forty (40) hours. 
 

G. When a paid holiday falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday is a paid holiday. 
When a paid holiday falls on a Sunday, the Monday following is a paid holiday. 

 
H. Holidays 

Fixed Holidays Include:  
January 1st New Years Day 
Third Monday in January Martin Luther King Jr.’s Birthday 
February 12th Lincoln’s Birthday 
Third Monday in February Washington’s Birthday 
Last Monday in May Memorial Day 
July 4th Independence Day 
First Monday in September Labor Day 
Second Monday in October Columbus Day 
November 11th Veterans’ Day 
Thanksgiving Day Traditional 
Day after Thanksgiving Day after Thanksgiving 
December 25th Christmas Day 
 

Section 4.2 Vacation 
 

A. Every employee, with the exception of the Executive Officer as outlined below, 
in a full-time regular position shall receive vacation benefit for each pay period 
of continuous service according to the following schedule: 

 
Pay Periods of  
Continuous Service 

Vacation Credits per Pay 
Period of Continuous 
Service 

Maximum Earnable 
Vacation Accrual 

0 through 78 pay periods 3.08 hours 160 hours 
79 through 259 pay 
periods 

4.62 hours 240 hours 

Over 260 pay periods 6.16 hours 320 hours 
 

Vacation accrual shall date from the first of the pay period following the pay 
period in which the employee commenced such continuous service. If such 
commencement date was the first working day of the pay period, vacation 
accrual shall start from such commencement date. Vacation accrual is 
credited at the end of each pay period and may be taken in the following pay 
period. 
 

B. Every employee in a part-time position shall receive vacation benefits and 
maximum earnable vacation accrual in the same ratio to the vacation 
benefits received by an employee in a full-time position with like pay 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 18 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 184 of 338



periods of consecutive service, as the number of hours in the part-time 
work schedule is to the numbers of hours in the full-time work schedule. 
 

C. The Executive Officer shall receive vacation benefits of 6.16 hours per pay 
period to a maximum accrual of 440 hours. In the event the Executive Officer 
is employed on a less than full time basis, he or she shall receive vacation 
benefits on a pro rata basis, proportional to their authorized hours, to a 
maximum accrual of 440 hours. 
 

D. Vacation time taken shall not be counted as time worked for the purposes of 
overtime compensation. Absence without pay for more than sixteen (16) 
working hours in a pay period shall cause the pay period’s service not to be 
counted toward earning vacation credit. 
 

E. Employees who are terminating their employment for reasons other than 
paid LAFCo retirement shall not use vacation time to extend their 
termination date (e.g., requesting vacation time to begin 3-7 and the actual 
termination date to be 3-13, etc.). 
 

F. Any person separating from LAFCo who has not taken his/her earned 
vacation, if any, shall receive the hourly equivalent of his/her salary for each 
hour of earned vacation, up to the end of the last full pay period worked, 
based on the pay rate in effect for each person on the last day actually 
worked. Such payment shall be to the nearest one tenth of an hour. 
Employees terminating from LAFCo service prior to becoming eligible to 
take earned vacation credit shall be paid for earned (accrued) vacation. For 
the purposes of this section, sick leave and compensatory time off with pay 
shall be counted as days worked. When separation is caused by death of an 
employee, payment shall be made to the estate of such employee, or in 
applicable cases, as provided by Section 630 of the Probate Code. 
 

G. An employee who has accumulated the maximum accrual for his/her years of 
service (160/240/320/440) hours and who has taken eighty (80) hours of 
vacation within the previous 26 pay periods, may request payment for up to 
forty (40) hours of vacation pay by submitting a written request for payment 
to the Executive Officer or when appropriate the Chairperson. Only one such 
request may be made or paid during any 12 calendar month period. 
 

Section 4.3 Sick Leave 
 
A. Every employee holding a full time position shall accrue 3.70 working hours 

sick leave with pay for each pay period of service; except, that no employee 
shall earn sick leave credit during a pay period in which he/she is absent 
without authorization or in which he/she is absent without pay for more than 
sixteen (16) working hours. During that pay period in which a leave of 
absence without pay is granted for two (2) days or less, the employee shall 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 19 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 185 of 338



accrue sick leave with pay in proportion to the relationship the time worked 
during that pay period bears to eighty (80) hours. It shall be computed to the 
nearest hundred of an hour. If unpaid leave exceeds 16 hours in any pay 
period, no sick leave will be accrued by the employee for that period. Sick 
leave accrual is credit at the end of each pay period and may be taken in the 
following pay period. 
 

B. Every employee holding a part-time position shall accrue sick leave with 
pay in proportions to the relationship his/her basic workweek bears to forty 
(40) hours. 
 
No such employee shall earn sick leave credit during a pay period in 
which he/she is absent without pay more than fifteen (15) percent of 
the regularly scheduled working hours for the position. 
 

C. Temporary employees shall not accrue sick leave. 
 

D. An employee who enters the service of LAFCo in a regular or limited-term 
position shall begin earning sick leave dating from the first of the pay period 
following the pay period in which the employee commenced such 
continuous service, unless such commencement date was the first working 
day of a pay period, in which case, the first day of sick leave accrual shall 
date from the first of the pay period in which the service began 
 

E. Sick leave may be applied to absence caused by illness, injury, pre-natal 
care or pregnancy of an employee. Sick leave may be used during 
pregnancy when the employee’s physician certifies that, due to her 
pregnancy, she is no longer able to perform the duties of her position. The 
employee shall be required to furnish, at intervals to be determined by the 
Executive Officer, a certificate from her physician to the effect that, due to 
her pregnancy, she is physically unable to perform the duties of her position. 
Sick leave may be used for medical, dental or vision appointments when 
absence during working hours for this purpose is authorized by the 
Executive Officer. In any instance involving use of a fraction of a day’s sick 
leave, the amount charged to the employee’s sick leave account shall be to 
the nearest one tenth of an hour. The Executive Officer shall be responsible 
for the control of abuse of the sick leave privilege. The employee may be 
required to furnish a certificate issued by a licensed physician or nurse or 
other satisfactory evidence of illness to the Executive Officer. 
 

F. Sick leave may be utilized by an employee for the care or attendance of 
ill or injured members of his/her family, up to a maximum of eighty (80) 
hours annually. 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 20 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 186 of 338



G. Sick leave shall not be used in lieu of vacation, but vacation or 
administrative leave may be used in lieu of sick leave, after accrued sick 
leave has been exhausted. 
 

H. No payment shall be made to any employee for unused sick leave 
accumulated to his/her credit at the time of termination of employment, 
except as set forth in I below. Termination of an employee’s continuous 
service, except by reason of temporary layoff for lack of work or funds, 
shall cancel all sick leave accrued to the time of such termination, 
regardless of whether or not such person subsequently re-enters 
employment. 
 

I. When an employee terminates for reasons of regular or disability 
retirement or death, an amount equal to the dollar value of the employee’s 
accumulated unused sick leave shall be contributed to a Retirement Health 
Savings Account to assist in payment of retiree medical expenses in 
accordance with LAFCo policy. 
 

J. For the purposes of this Section, a member of the immediate family is 
construed to mean the mother, father, spouse, son, daughter, brother or 
sister of the employee or the minor child for whom the employee has legal 
custody. 
 

K. Hospitalization of a member of the immediate family is a valid reason for 
sick leave under the following conditions: 
 

(i)  A day’s absence may be authorized for the employee to be at the 
hospital on the day of an operation, on the day of a birth of his child 
or in the event of a critical illness of a member of the immediate 
family. Absences for these reasons for more than one day may be 
authorized on sick leave only if a doctor provides a written statement 
that the employee’s presence, away from work, is required. 

 
L. The Auditor-Controller shall maintain sick leave records of all personnel. 

The Executive Officer or his/her designee shall report the absences of 
his/her employees for approved sick leave during the pay period 
concerned. 
 

Section 4.4   Family and Medical Leave 
 
A. STATEMENT OF POLICY 

 
(i) To the extent not already provided for under current leave policies and 

provisions, LAFCo will provide family and medical care leave for 
eligible employees as required by state and federal law. The following 
provisions set forth certain of the rights and obligations with respect to 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 21 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 187 of 338



such leave. Rights and obligations which are not specifically set forth 
below are set forth in the Department of Labor regulations 
implementing the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 
(FMLA), and the regulations of the California Family Rights Act 
(CFRA). Unless otherwise provided by this article, “Leave” under this 
article shall mean leave pursuant to the FMLA and CFRA. 

 
B. DEFINITIONS 

 
(i) “12-Month Period” means a rolling 12-month period measured 

backward from the date leave is taken and continuous with each 
additional leave day taken. 

 
(ii) “Child” means a child under the age of 18 years of age, or 18 years of 

age or older who is incapable of self care because of a mental or 
physical disability. An employee’s child is one for whom the employee 
has actual day-to-day responsibility for care and includes, a biological, 
adopted, foster or step-child, legal ward, or a child of a person 
standing in loco parentis. 

 
 A child is “incapable of self care” if he/she requires active assistance 

or supervision to provide daily self care in three or more of the 
activities of daily living or instrumental activities of daily living such as, 
caring for grooming and hygiene, bathing, dressing and eating, 
cooking, cleaning, shopping, taking public transportation, paying bills, 
maintaining a residence, using telephones and directories, etc. 

 
(iii)  “Parent” means the biological parent of an employee or an individual 

who stands or stood in loco parentis (in place of a parent) to an 
employee when the employee was a child. This term does not include 
parents-in-law. 

 
(iv)  “Spouse” means a husband or wife as defined or recognized under 

California State law for purposes of marriage or registered domestic 
partner as defined in Family Code section 297 et seq. 

 
(v) “Serious health condition” means an illness, injury, impairment, or 

physical or mental condition that involves: 
 

1) “Inpatient Care” (i.e., an overnight stay) in a hospital, hospice, or 
residential medical care facility, including any period of incapacity 
(i.e., inability to work, or perform other regular daily activities due 
to the serious health condition, treatment involved, or recovery 
therefrom); or 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 22 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 188 of 338



2) “Continuing treatment” by a health care provider: A serious health 
condition involving continuing treatment by a health care provider 
includes any one or more of the following: 
 
a) A period of incapacity (i.e., inability to work, or perform other 

regular daily activities due to serious health condition) of 
more than three consecutive calendar days, and any 
subsequent treatment or period of incapacity relating to the 
same condition that also involves: 

 
(i) Treatment two or more times by a health care 

provider, by a nurse or physician's assistant under 
direct supervision by a health care provider, or by a 
provider of health care services (e.g., a physical 
therapist) under orders of, or on referral by a health 
care provider; or 

 
(ii) Treatment by a health care provider on at least one 

occasion which results in a regimen of continuing 
treatment under the supervision of the health care 
provider. This includes for example, a course of 
prescription medication or therapy requiring special 
equipment to resolve or alleviate the health 
condition. If the medication is over the counter, and 
can be initiated without a visit to a health care 
provider, it does not constitute a regimen of 
continuing treatment. 

 
(iii) Any period of incapacity due to pregnancy or for 

prenatal care.   (Note: This entitles the employee 
to FMLA leave, but not CFRA leave. Under California 
law, an employee disabled by pregnancy is entitled to 
pregnancy disability leave.) 

 
(vi) Any period of incapacity or treatment for such incapacity due to a 

chronic serious health condition. A chronic serious health condition is 
one which: 

 
 1) Requires periodic visits for treatment by a health care provider, 

or by a nurse or physician's assistant under direct supervision of 
a health care provider; 

 
2) Continues over an extended period of time (including recurring 

episodes of a single underlying condition); and 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 23 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 189 of 338



3) May cause episodic rather than a continuing period of 
incapacity (e.g., asthma, diabetes, epilepsy, etc.). Absences 
for such incapacity qualify for leave even if the absence lasts 
only one day. 
 

4) A period of incapacity which is permanent or long term due to a 
condition for which treatment may not be effective. The employee 
or family member must be under the continuing supervision of, 
but need not be receiving active treatment by, a health care 
provider. 
 

5) Any period of absence to receive multiple treatments (including 
any period of recovery therefrom) by a health care provider or by 
a provider of health care services under orders of, or on referral 
by, a health care provider, either for restorative surgery after an 
accident or other injury, or for a condition that would likely result 
in a period of incapacity of more than three consecutive calendar 
days in the absence of medical intervention or treatment. 
 

(vii) “Health Care Provider” means: 
 

1) A doctor of medicine or osteopathy who is authorized to practice 
medicine or surgery by the State of California; 
 

2) Individuals duly licensed as a physician, surgeon, or osteopathic 
physician or surgeon in another state or jurisdiction, including 
another country, who directly treats or supervises treatment of a 
serious health condition; 
 

3) Podiatrists, dentists, clinical psychologists, optometrists, and 
chiropractors (limited to treatment consisting of manual 
manipulation of the spine to correct a subluxation as 
demonstrated by X-ray to exist) authorized to practice in 
California and performing within the scope of their practice as 
defined under California State law; 
 

4) Nurse practitioners and nurse-midwives and clinical social 
workers who are authorized to practice under California State law 
and who are performing within the scope of their practice as 
defined under California State law; 
 

5) Christian Science practitioners listed with the First Church of 
Christ, Scientist in Boston, Massachusetts; and 
 

6) Any health care provider from whom an employer or group 
health plan's benefits manager will accept certification of the 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 24 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 190 of 338



existence of a serious health condition to substantiate a claim for 
benefits. 
 

C. REASONS FOR LEAVE 
 

Leave is only permitted for the following reasons: 
 
(i) The birth of a child or to care for a newborn of an employee; 
 
(ii) The placement of a child with an employee in connection with the 

adoption or foster care of a child; 
 
(iii) Leave to care for a child, parent, spouse or domestic partner who has a 

serious health condition; or 
 
(iv) Leave because of a serious health condition that makes the employee 

unable to perform the functions of his/her position. 
 

D. EMPLOYEES ELIGIBLE FOR LEAVE 
 

An employee is eligible for leave if the employee: 
 

(i) Has been employed for at least 12 months; and 
 
(ii) Has been employed for at least 1,250 hours during the 12-

month period immediately preceding the commencement of the 
leave. 

 
E. AMOUNT OF LEAVE 

 
Eligible employees are entitled to a total of 12 workweeks of leave during any 
12-month period. 

 
(i) Minimum Duration of Leave 
 

If leave is requested for the birth, adoption or foster care placement of 
a child of the employee, leave must be concluded within one year of 
the birth or placement of the child. In addition, the basic minimum 
duration of such leave is two weeks. However, an employee is entitled 
to leave for bonding with a newborn for at least one day, but less than 
two weeks duration on any two occasions. 
 
If leave is requested to care for a child, parent, spouse or the 
employee him/herself with a serious health condition, there is no 
minimum amount of leave that must be taken. However, the notice 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 25 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 191 of 338



and medical certification provisions of this policy must be complied 
with. 

 
(ii) Spouses or Domestic Partners Both Employed by LAFCo 

 
In any case in which a husband and wife both, or domestic partners, are 
employed by the LAFCo are entitled to leave, the aggregate number of 
workweeks of leave to which both may be entitled may be limited to 12 
workweeks during any 12-month period if leave is taken for the birth or 
placement for adoption or foster care of the employees' child (i.e., 
bonding leave). This limitation does not apply to any other type of leave 
under this policy. 
 

F. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS WHILE ON LEAVE 
 

(i) Leave under this policy is unpaid. While on leave, employees will 
continue to be covered by LAFCo’s group health insurance to the 
same extent that coverage is provided while the employee is on the 
job. 
 

(ii) Employees may make the appropriate contributions for continued 
coverage under the preceding non-health benefit plans by payroll 
deductions or direct payments made to these plans. Depending on the 
particular plan, LAFCo will inform the employee whether the premiums 
should be paid to the carrier or to LAFCo. Coverage on a particular 
plan may be dropped if an employee is more than 30 days late in 
making a premium payment. However, the employee will receive notice 
at least 15 days before coverage is to cease, advising that he/she will 
be dropped if the premium payment is not paid by a certain date. 
Employee contribution rates are subject to any change in rates that 
occurs while the employee is on leave. 
 

(iii) If an employee fails to return to work after his/her leave entitlement has 
been exhausted or expires, LAFCo shall have the right to recover its 
share of health plan premiums for the entire leave period, unless the 
employee does not return because of the continuation, recurrence, or 
onset of a serious health condition of the employee or his/her family 
member which would entitle the employee to leave, or because of 
circumstances beyond the employee’s control. LAFCo shall have the 
right to recover premiums through deduction from any sums due 
LAFCo (e.g. unpaid wages, vacation pay, etc.) 
 

G. SUBSTITUTION OF PAID ACCRUED LEAVES 
 

While on leave under this policy, as set forth herein, an employee may elect to 
concurrently use paid accrued leaves. Similarly, the LAFCo may require an 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 26 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 192 of 338



employee to concurrently use paid accrued leaves after requesting FMLA 
and/or CFRA leave, and may also require an employee to use Family and 
Medical Care Leave concurrently with a non-FMLA/CFRA leave which is 
FMLA/CFRA-qualifying. 

 
(i)  Employee’s Right To Use Paid Accrued Leaves Concurrently With 

Family Leave - Where an employee has earned or accrued paid 
vacation, or compensatory time, that paid leave may be substituted 
for all or part of any (otherwise) unpaid leave under this policy. 

 
(ii)  As for sick leave, an employee is entitled to use sick leave 

concurrently with leave under this policy if: 
 

1) The leave is for the employee’s own serious health condition; or 
 

2) The leave is needed to care for a parent, spouse, domestic 
partner or child with a serious health condition, and would be 
permitted as sick leave under the LAFCo’s sick leave policy. 
 

(iii) LAFCo’s Right To Require An Employee To Use Paid Leave When 
Using FMLA/CFRA Leave - Employees must exhaust their accrued 
vacation, administrative and sick leaves concurrently with 
FMLA/CFRA leave with one exception: 

 
1) Employees will only be required to use sick leave 

concurrently with FMLA/CFRA leave if the leave is for the 
employee's own serious health condition. 

 
(iv) The LAFCo’s Right To Require An Employee To Exhaust 

FMLA/CFRA Leave Concurrently With Other Leaves - If an 
employee takes a leave of absence for any reason which is 
FMLA/CFRA qualifying, the LAFCo may designate that non-
FMLA/CFRA leave as running concurrently with the employee’s 12-
week FMLA/CFRA leave entitlement. 

 
H. MEDICAL CERTIFICATION 
 

Employees who request leave for their own serious health condition or to care 
for a child, parent, spouse or domestic partner who has a serious health 
condition must provide written certification from the health care provider of the 
individual requiring care if requested by LAFCo. 
 

I. If the leave is requested because of the employee’s own serious health 
condition, the certification must include a statement that the employee is unable 
to work at all or is unable to perform the essential functions of his/her position. 

 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 27 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 193 of 338



(i) Time to Provide a Certification 
 

When an employee’s leave is foreseeable and at least 30 days notice 
has been provided, if a medical certification is requested, the 
employee must provide the requested certification to LAFCo within 
the time frame requested by LAFCo (which must allow at least 15 
calendar days after the employer’s request), unless it is not 
practicable under the particular circumstances to do so despite the 
employee’s diligent, good faith efforts. 

 
(ii) Consequences for Failure to Provide an Adequate or Timely Certification  

 
If an employee provides an incomplete medical certification, the 
employee will be given a reasonable opportunity to cure any such 
deficiency. 
 
However, if an employee fails to provide a medical certification within 
the time frame established by this policy, LAFCo may delay the taking 
of FMLA/CFRA leave until the required certification is provided. 

 
J. EMPLOYEE NOTICE OF LEAVE 

 
Although LAFCo recognizes that emergencies arise which may require 
employees to request immediate leave, employees are required to give as 
much 
notice as possible of their need for leave. If leave is foreseeable, at least 30 
days’ notice is required. In addition, if an employee knows that he/she will 
need leave in the future, but does not know the exact date(s) (e.g. for the birth 
of a child or to take care of a newborn), the employee shall inform his/her 
supervisor as soon as possible that such leave will be needed. Such notice 
may be orally given. If LAFCo determines that an employee’s notice is 
inadequate or the employee knew about the requested leave in advance of the 
request, LAFCo may delay the granting of the leave until it can, in its 
discretion, adequately cover the position with a substitute. 
 

Section 4.5 Bereavement Leave 
 

Employees shall be entitled to a bereavement leave, not chargeable to vacation or 
sick leave, in the event of the death of one of the following members of the 
employee’s family:  

 
• natural, step, adoptive parents and grandparents of the employee;  
• natural, step, adopted children and grandchildren of the employee;  
• natural and step brothers and sisters of the employee;  
• present spouse of the employee;  

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 28 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 194 of 338



• ex-spouse who is a natural or adoptive parent of a minor child in the custody 
of the employee;  

• natural and adopted brothers and sisters of the employee’s spouse;  
• present spouses of the employee’s natural and adopted brothers and 

sisters;  
• son-in-law and daughter-in-law of the employee.  

 
Such leave shall be a maximum of forty (40) hours within ten (10) consecutive 
calendar days, whether services are within the State or outside the State of 
California. Leave benefits will be prorated for part-time employees based upon the 
number of hours worked (for example, a halftime employee has a maximum of 
twenty (20) hours). Employees desiring more time off under these circumstance 
may request vacation or other appropriate leaves which may or may not granted at 
the sole discretion of the Executive Officer when appropriate, the Chairperson. 
LAFCo may require an affected employee to submit proof of qualifying relationship 
in order to be eligible for bereavement leave. 

 
Section 4.6 Leave of Absence Without Pay 
 

A. A leave of absence may be granted only to an employee upon the exhaustion 
of all other appropriate leave balances and the employee must have a 
satisfactory employment record. The Executive Officer or Commission may 
authorize a leave of absence for an employee without pay for a period of time 
not to exceed thirty (30) calendar days. Additional leave may be granted but 
only if authorized by the Commission 

B. A leave of absence request shall normally be initiated by the employee, but 
may be initiated by the Executive Officer. 

C. Neither leave accruals nor benefits shall accrue while an employee is on leave 
of absence without pay, except as required under the Federal Family and 
Medical Leave Act. 

D. Immediately prior to or at the time of return from leave of absence to active 
duty the employee may be required by the Executive Officer to submit a 
statement from his/her physician certifying as to his/her physical and/or mental 
ability to resume the duties of his/her position. 

E. Whenever an employee has been granted a leave without pay and desires to 
return before expiration of such leave, the Executive Officer or when 
appropriate the Chairperson may require that reasonable notice not in excess 
of fifteen (15) calendar days be given. 

F. A leave of absence may be revoked by the Executive Officer or when 
appropriate the Chairperson upon evidence that the cause for granting leave 
was misrepresented or has ceased to exist. 

G. Failure to return at the expiration date of leave of absence or being absent 
without leave shall be considered as an automatic resignation. Such a 
resignation may be rescinded by the Executive Officer or when appropriate the 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 29 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 195 of 338



Chairperson if the employee presents satisfactory reasons his/her absence 
within three (3) days of the date his/her automatic resignation became effective. 

H. A leave of absence without pay may be granted for any of the following 
reasons: 
(i) Illness or disability 
(ii) Pregnancy or Childbirth 
(iii) To take a course of study which will increase the employee’s 

usefulness on return to his/her position. 
(iv) For reasons acceptable to the Executive Officer or when 

appropriate to the Commission. 
(v) Illness of a family member or other qualifying criteria under the Federal 

Family and Medical Leave Act. 
 
Section 4.7 Jury Duty 
 
Any employee ordered to appear as a witness in court other than as a litigant, to serve 
on a jury or to respond to an official order from another governmental jurisdiction for 
reasons not brought about through the misconduct of the employee shall be entitled to 
his/her regular pay provided the employee deposits fees received for such services, 
exclusive of mileage, with LAFCo’s treasurer within thirty (30) calendar days after 
his/her excused absence for such duty. Requests for Jury Duty leave should be made 
by presenting the official court summons to the Executive Officer as soon as possible 
after receipt. Verification of time release for jury duty is required. 
 
Employees are expected to report for work whenever the court schedule 
permits, including any remaining parts of a normally scheduled workday. Jury 
Duty is not considered as time worked for overtime compensation purposes. 
 
Section 4.8 Insurance and Service Plans 
 
A. Medical Insurance 

Employees in regular or limited term positions have the option of becoming 
members of the Public Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act (“PEMHCA” or 
“PERS Health”) insurance program.  LAFCo’s monthly contribution to provide 
health insurance benefits for the individual employee and the employee’s eligible 
dependents shall be adjusted in accordance with the Minimum Employer 
Contribution (“MEC”) established by PEMHCA. 

 
B. Retiree Medical Insurance 

All employees who have concurrently retired from LAFCOo and from the 
California Public Employees’ Retirement System (“PERS”) may participate in the 
PERS Health insurance program at their own expense.  LAFCo shall contribute 
the Minimum Employer Contribution (“MEC”) established by PERS. 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 30 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 196 of 338



 
C. Cafeteria Plan 

LAFCo’s contribution toward the cafeteria plan shall be set at 75% of the 2014 
PEMHCA Bay Area Kaiser Permanente family rate minus the PEMHCA MEC.  
Effective with coverage effective January 1, 2015, LAFCo’s contribution toward 
the health plan shall be set at 75% of the 2015 PEMHCA Bay Area Kaiser 
Permanent family rate minus the PEMHCA MEC.   
An employee may use LAFCo’s contribution to the cafeteria plan toward the 
medical insurance plan for which s/he has elected to enroll. 

 
An employee who has unused (unspent) cafeteria plan contributions shall retain 
those contributions as additional earnings (wages), but only to a maximum of 
$334.58 per month.   
 
An employee who waives health insurance because the employee demonstrates 
to LAFCo that s/he has alternate health insurance coverage shall receive 
$500.00 per month minus the PEMHCA MEC. 

 
A regular or limited term part-time employee shall receive a pro-rata amount of 
the total sum of the PEMHCA MEC and the cafeteria plan of the full-time 
employee contribution in proportion to the relationship their basic workweek 
bears to forty hours.  That total amount shall first be allocated to the PEMHCA 
MEC and any remaining employer contribution shall then be allocated to the 
cafeteria plan. 
 
Health Care Reimbursement Account:  During an annual open enrollment period 
(normally November), an employee may elect to enter into a salary reduction 
agreement with LAFCo whereby LAFCo will direct the amount of the salary 
reduction on a pre-tax basis into the employee’s Health Care Reimbursement 
Account (“HCRA”).  The employee’s election is irrevocable until the next open 
enrollment period, except on the occurrence of a qualifying event specified in the 
LAFCo Plan Document.  The employee will forfeit all unused funds remaining in 
his/her HCRA at the end of the plan year or at the end of the grace period, if any, 
allowed under the LAFCo Plan Document, whichever is later.  During the period 
allowed under the Plan Document, the employee may use the funds in his/her 
HCRA to obtain reimbursement for otherwise unreimbursed eligible medical 
expenses. 
 
Dependent Care Reimbursement Account:  During an annual open enrollment 
period (normally November), an employee may elect to enter into a salary 
reduction agreement whereby LAFCo will direct the amount of the salary 
reduction on a pre-tax basis into the employee’s Dependent Care 
Reimbursement Account (“DCRA”).  The employee’s election is irrevocable until 
the next open enrollment period, except on the occurrence of a qualifying event 
specified in the LAFCo Plan Document.  The employee will forfeit all unused 
funds in his/her DCRA at the end of the plan year or at the end of the grace 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 31 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 197 of 338



period, if any, allowed under the LAFCo Plan Document, whichever is later.  
During the period allowed under the Plan Document, the employee may use the 
funds in his/her DCRA to obtain reimbursement of eligible dependent care 
expenses. 

 
D. Dental Insurance 

Employees in regular or limited term positions are eligible for dental insurance 
coverage for the employee and eligible dependents beginning on the first of the 
month following three (3) months of continuous service with LAFCo.       
 
LAFCo will pay on behalf of each eligible full-time employee and his/her eligible 
dependents one hundred percent (100%) of the monthly dental care insurance 
premium rate charged by the Plan Provider.  LAFCo’s contribution will be prorated 
for regular part-time employees, to reflect the same percentage that the regularly 
scheduled hours in the employee’s basic workweek bears to forty (40) hours.  
Premium amounts in excess of LAFCo’s contribution will be paid by the 
participating employee through payroll deduction. 

 
LAFCo intends to retain the existing plan of dental insurance benefits.  However, if 
the insurance plan provider mandates a change in the benefit plan and LAFCo did 
not request the change, then LAFCo will have no obligation to replace benefits 
eliminated or modified by the Plan provider. 
 
LAFCo reserves the right to eliminate or provide additional dental insurance plans. 
 

E. Vision Insurance 
Employees in regular or limited term positions are eligible for vision insurance 
coverage for the employee and eligible dependents beginning the first of the 
month following three (3) months of continuous service with LAFCo.   
 
LAFCo will pay one hundred percent (100%) of the monthly vision plan insurance 
premium rate charged on behalf of each regular full-time employee and his/her 
eligible dependents.  LAFCo’s contribution will be prorated for regular part-time 
employees, to reflect the same percentage that the regularly scheduled hours in 
the employee’s basic workweek bears to forty (40) hours.  Premium amounts in 
excess of LAFCo’s contribution will be paid by the participating employee through 
payroll deduction.   
 
LAFCo intends to maintain the existing Plan of vision insurance benefits.  
However, if the insurance plan provider mandates a change in benefits and 
LAFCo did not request the change, then LAFCo will have no obligation to replace 
benefits eliminated or modified by the Plan provider. 
 
LAFCo reserves the right to eliminate or provide additional vision insurance 
plans. 

 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 32 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 198 of 338



F. Life Insurance 
Employees in regular or limited term positions are eligible for life insurance 
coverage and accidental death and dismemberment insurance for the employee 
beginning the first of the month following six (6) months of continuous service 
with LAFCo.   
 
The basic life insurance policy and the accidental death and dismemberment 
insurance policy are each valued at one and one-half (1.5) times the employee’s 
annualized monthly base salary valued up to the next thousand dollars (e.g., if 
annualized wage equals $21,100 then life insurance policy is valued at $22,000) 
to a maximum policy of three hundred fifty thousand dollars ($350,000).  An 
employee may purchase supplemental life insurance under costs, terms and 
conditions specified by the insurance plan provider. 
 
LAFCo pays one hundred percent (100%) of the life insurance premium on 
behalf of each regular employee. 

 
LAFCo shall maintain the existing life insurance benefits.  However, it is 
understood that insurance plan providers from time to time mandate changes in 
benefits and LAFCo has no responsibility for replacement of benefits which may 
be eliminated or modified by any plan provider. 
 
LAFCo reserves the right to eliminate or provide additional life insurance plans. 

 
G. Deferred Compensation 

A Deferred Compensation Program as established by LAFCo, is available to all 
employees employed in regular or limited term positions.  Such programs are 
hereby incorporated by reference. 

 
To encourage LAFCo remployee participation in the deferred compensation 
program, LAFCo will contribute a dollar for dollar match up to a maximum of five 
dollars ($5) a pay period to the deferred compensation account of any LAFCo 
employee who is actively enrolled in the deferred compensation program.  

 
H. Short Term Disability Insurance 

LAFCo participates in the State Disability Insurance program for employees and 
employees shall have deducted from their paychecks the cost of the State 
Disability Insurance program. 

 
I. Long Term Disability Insurance 

Employees in regular or limited term positions are eligible for long term disability 
insurance coverage for the employee beginning the first of the month following 
six (6) months of continuous service with LAFCo.   
 
The long term disability insurance policy provides a replacement income benefit, 
generally and as described by the plan, of 60% of basic monthly earnings to a 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 33 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 199 of 338



maximum benefit of $12,000 of monthly base pay. 
 
LAFCo pays one hundred percent (100%) of the long term disability insurance 
premium on behalf of each regular employee.   

 
LAFCo shall maintain the existing long term disability insurance benefits.  
However, it is understood that insurance plan providers from time to time 
mandate changes in benefits and LAFCo has no responsibility for replacement of 
benefits which may be eliminated or modified by any plan provider. 
 
LAFCo reserves the right to eliminate or provide additional long term disability 
insurance plans. 

 
Section 4. 9 Unemployment Benefits 
 
Employees are covered under the State of California Unemployment Insurance Benefits 
Program. 
 
Section 4.10 Pregnancy Leave 
 
A. Eligibility: In accordance with applicable law and this policy, female employees 

are eligible for a leave of absence and/or transfer on account of 
pregnancy, regardless of length of service with LAFCo. 
 

B. Pregnancy Disability Leave 
 

A woman is “disabled by pregnancy” if, in the opinion of her health care 
provider, she is unable to work at all or is unable to perform one or more 
of the essential functions of her job or to perform these without undue 
risk to herself, to the successful completion of her pregnancy, or to other 
persons. 

 
Pregnancy disability leave is for any period(s) of actual disability caused 
by pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. Where medically 
advisable, pregnancy disability leave may be taken for a reasonable 
period of time, up to four months per pregnancy (eighty-eight workdays 
for a full-time employee). Employees who regularly work more or less 
than a 40-hour workweek are entitled to such leave on a pro rata basis. 
 

C. Leave Due to Normal Childbirth 
 

Even if the employee is not disabled by pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical 
conditions, a pregnant employee is entitled to up to six weeks of leave for normal 
childbirth. Employees working more or less than a 40-hour workweek are 
entitled to such leave on a pro rata basis. 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 34 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 200 of 338



D. Leave and Other Reasonable Accommodation Requests 
 

(i) Pregnant employees should notify the Executive Officer as soon as 
possible regarding their intent/need to take a leave of absence due to 
pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. Such notice 
should specify the anticipated timing and duration of the leave. 

(ii) Where the need for a leave of absence is foreseeable, employees must 
provide such notice at least 30 days prior to the date the leave is to begin. 
Further, employees must consult with the Executive Officer regarding the 
scheduling of any planned medical treatment or supervision so as to 
minimize any disruption to LAFCo's operations. (Actual scheduling of the 
leave is subject to the approval of the employee’s health care provider.) 

(iii) Where 30 days advance notice is not possible, notice must be given as 
soon as possible. However, LAFCo will not deny a pregnancy disability 
leave where the need for leave is an emergency or was otherwise 
unforeseeable. 

(iv) LAFCo shall respond to the leave request as soon as practicable and, in 
any event, no later than 10 calendar days after receiving the request. 
LAFCo shall attempt to respond to the leave request before the date the 
leave is due to begin. Once given, approval shall be deemed retroactive 
to the date of the first day of the leave. 

(v) Reasonable accommodation other than leave will be granted upon 
request. Such requests must be supported by a written certification from 
the employee’s health care provider. 

E. Intermittent Leave 
 
Pregnancy disability leave need not be taken in one continuous block. It may be 
taken on an as-needed basis, intermittently or on a reduced work schedule. 
 

F. Temporary Transfers 
 

(i) An employee may request a temporary transfer to a position with less 
strenuous or less hazardous duties when where the employee’s health 
care provider certifies that such a transfer is medically advisable. 

(ii) Temporary transfers will be granted where appropriate and when LAFCo 
is able to reasonably accommodate the transfer, provided that the 
transfer would not require LAFCo to: 

 
1) Create additional employment; 
2) Discharge another employee; 
3) Transfer a more senior employee in order to make room for 

the pregnant employee’s transfer; or 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 35 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 201 of 338



4) Promote or transfer the employee or any other employee to a 
position for which he/she is not qualified. 

G. Certifications 
 

(i) As a condition of taking a pregnancy disability leave or transfer, the 
employee must provide medical certification from her health care provider 
that she is disabled due to pregnancy, childbirth or related medical 
conditions and/or that a transfer to an alternative position is medically 
advisable. 
 

(ii) The medical certification should include: 
 

The date on which the employee become disabled due to 
pregnancy or the date of the medical advisability for the 
transfer; 
 
The probable duration of the period(s) of disability or the 
period(s) for the advisability of the transfer; and 
 
A statement that, due to the disability, the employee is unable to 
work at all or to perform any one or more of the essential functions 
of her position without undue risk to herself, to the successful 
completion of her pregnancy, or to other persons or a statement 
that, due to pregnancy, the transfer is medically advisable. 

 
H. Recertification 
 

Recertification may be required where additional time is requested. 
 

I. Fitness for Duty 
 

The employee must provide certification from her health care provider of her 
fitness for duty prior to being reinstated. 
 

J. Pay During Leave 
 

(i) Pregnancy disability leave is unpaid leave. However, the employee may 
request or LAFCo may require that the employee use accrued sick leave 
to provide pay during the period of leave. 

 
(ii) An employee may also elect, at her option, to use accrued vacation or 

other accrued paid time off, if any, to provide pay during pregnancy 
disability leave. 

 
(iii) The employee may also be eligible to receive temporary disability 

insurance payments during her pregnancy disability leave, and to 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 36 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 202 of 338



coordinate the use of any accrued sick leave and/or vacation to 
supplement temporary disability insurance payments. 

 
K. Reinstatement 
 

(i) The employee is entitled to be reinstated to the same or a comparable 
position upon release to return to work by her health care provider. 

 
1) Where a definite date of reinstatement has been agreed upon at 

the beginning of the leave, the employee will be reinstated by the 
date agreed upon, provided that the employee has provided 
medical certification of her fitness for duty. 
 

2) If the actual reinstatement date differs from the original agreement, 
the employee will be reinstated within two business days, where 
feasible, after the employee notifies LAFCo of her readiness to 
return and provides medical certification of her fitness for duty. 
 

3) Failure to return to work on the next work day following the 
expiration of pregnancy disability leave may be grounds for 
termination of employment. 
 

(ii)  The employee is not, however, entitled to any greater right of 
reinstatement than she would have had if she had not taken leave. Thus, 
reinstatement to the “same position” may be denied if: 

 
1) For legitimate business reasons unrelated to the employee having 

taken a pregnancy disability leave or transfer, the employee would 
not otherwise have been employed in her same position at the time 
reinstatement is requested; or 
 

2) Each means of preserving the job or duties for the employee (such 
as leaving it unfilled or filling it with a temporary employee) would 
substantially undermine LAFCo’s ability to operate safely and 
efficiently. 
 

(iii)  Also, the employee has no greater right to reinstatement to a 
“comparable position” or to other benefits and conditions of employment 
than an employee who has been continuously employed. Thus, 
reinstatement to a comparable position may be denied if: 

  
1) There is no comparable position open on the employee’s 

scheduled date of reinstatement or within 10 working days 
thereafter; or 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 37 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 203 of 338



 2) The pregnancy disability leave does not qualify as leave pursuant 
to the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”) and a 
comparable position is available, but filling the available position 
with the returning employee would substantially undermine 
LAFCo’s ability to operate safely and efficiently. 

 
(iv)  In the event that the employee takes family and medical leave under the 

California Family Rights Act (“CFRA”) following her pregnancy disability 
leave for the birth of her child, the employee’s right to reinstatement shall 
be governed by the CFRA and LAFCo’s Family and Medical Leave Policy 
rather than these provisions. 

 
L. Seniority and Benefits 
 

(i) In general, employees taking pregnancy disability leave will be treated the 
same as other similarly situated employees taking disability leave. 

(ii) The employee returning from a pregnancy disability leave shall return 
with no less seniority than she had when the leave commenced for 
purposes of layoff, recall, promotion, job assignment, and seniority 
related benefits such as vacation. 

(iii) The employee shall retain employee status during the period of leave, 
and the leave shall not constitute a break in service for purposes of 
longevity and/or seniority. 
 

M. Federal Family and Medical Leave 
 

In accordance with the FMLA, LAFCo shall count each day of pregnancy 
disability leave against an eligible employee’s entitlement to up to 12 weeks 
of federal family and medical leave under the FMLA. 
 

N. Group Health Insurance 
 

Pursuant to the FMLA, where an eligible employee is on pregnancy 
disability/FMLA leave, LAFCo will continue the employee’s group health 
insurance coverage for up to a maximum of 12 weeks under the same terms and 
conditions as applied prior to the leave of absence. 
 
(i) In the event that the employee fails to return from leave, LAFCo may 

recover premiums it paid to maintain group health insurance coverage. 
(For details, see LAFCo’s Family and Medical Leave Policy.) 

(ii) If the employee is not eligible for continued paid coverage or if coverage 
ceases after 12 weeks, the employee may continue group health 
insurance coverage pursuant to federal and state COBRA guidelines. 

(iii) LAFCo is not required to continue paying group health insurance 
premiums during pregnancy disability leave which does not also 
constitute FMLA leave. 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 38 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 204 of 338



O. California Family and Medical Leave 
 

The right to take a pregnancy disability is separate and distinct from the right to 
take family and medical leave under the CFRA. Thus, at the end of the 
employee’s period(s) of pregnancy disability, or at the end of four months 
pregnancy disability leave, whichever occurs first, an eligible employee may 
request to take up to 12 workweeks of CFRA leave in accordance with LAFCo’s 
family and medical leave policy. 
 
(i) There is no requirement that either the employee or her child have a 

serious health condition or that the employee no longer be disabled by 
her pregnancy before taking CFRA leave for the birth of a child. 

(ii) Where the employee has used all four months of her pregnancy disability 
leave prior to the birth of her child, and her health care provider 
determines that a continuation of the leave is medically necessary, 
LAFCo may, but is not required to, allow the use of CFRA leave prior to 
the birth of a child. 

(iii) The maximum possible combined leave for pregnancy 
disability/FMLA and CFRA leave due to the birth of a child is four 
months and 12 workweeks. 

(iv) CFRA leave taken due to the birth of the employee’s child must be 
concluded within one year of the child’s birth. The basic minimum 
duration of such leave shall be two weeks, except that LAFCo will grant a 
CFRA leave of less than two weeks’ duration on any two occasions within 
one year of the child’s birth. 
 

Section 4.11 Administrative Leave 
 
A. In recognition that their responsibilities occasionally require work in excess of the 

normal 40 hour week, the Executive Officer and the LAFCo Analyst position shall 
receive Administrative Leave benefit. This will be in lieu of any payment of 
overtime or compensatory time off for work performed in excess of 40 hours per 
week. 

 
(i) The above referenced full-time positions shall be granted eighty (80) 

hours of Administrative Leave effective July 1 of each year. Any 
employee incumbent in an eligible position for less than a full fiscal year 
shall be eligible for a pro-rata lump sum number of Administrative Leave 
hours at a rate of 3.0769 hours times the number of full pay periods 
remaining in the fiscal year. Employees working in regular positions on a 
less than full-time basis shall accrue Administrative Leave on a pro-rata 
basis, proportional to the number of authorized hours employed. 

(ii) Use of Administrative Leave is subject to approval of the Executive 
Officer. Administrative Leave may be taken in increments of not less than 
one (1) hour. In the event it is the Executive Officer’s determination that 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 39 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 205 of 338



an employee covered by this provision has worked an extraordinary 
number of hours over the forty (40) hour workweek, the Executive Officer 
may approve additional informal administrative leave for that employee. 

(iii) No eligible employee shall carry over Administrative Leave from one 
fiscal year to another. Employees who have unused Administrative 
Leave at the end of the fiscal year shall be paid for those remaining 
hours at the employee’s base rate of pay in effect on the last pay period 
in the outgoing fiscal year in the following manner: 

 1)  Convert all unused Administrative Leave to their Retirement 
Health Savings Account in July of each year. 

(iv) Subject to advance approval by the Executive Officer, Administrative 
Leave may be taken at any time during the fiscal year, but must be taken 
within the fiscal year in which it is given. Administrative Leave may be 
used as sick leave, but only after all accrued sick leave has been 
exhausted. 

(v) No person shall be permitted to work for compensation for LAFCo 
in any capacity while on paid Administrative Leave. 

(vi) Any employee who separates from LAFCo employment shall not receive 
any compensation for any unused Administrative Leave. 

 
Section 4.12 Military Leave 
 
Military leave of absence will be granted to employees who are absent from work 
because of service in the U.S. uniformed services in accordance with the Uniformed 
Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA). Advance notice of 
military service is required, unless military necessity prevents such notice or it is 
otherwise impossible or unreasonable. 
 
Employees, who have been employed at least one year, are eligible for up to 30 days 
of paid leave for active duty training. 
 
Employees on military leave will receive rights and benefits comparable to those they 
would receive under LAFCo’s policies for other types of leave. Continuation of health 
insurance benefits is available based on the length of the leave and subject to the 
terms, conditions and limitations of the applicable plan for which the employee is 
otherwise eligible. Employees on leave for no more than 30 days will receive 
continued health insurance benefits but are responsible for paying their portion of the 
health care coverage continuation rights. Vacation, sick leave and holiday benefits will 
continue to accrue during any paid portion of a military leave of absence. 
 
The federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) also entitles eligible employees to 
take leave for a covered family member's service in the Armed Forces. This policy 
supplements our FMLA policy and provides general notice of employee rights to this 
leave. Except as stated below, such rights and obligations for Servicemember FMLA 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 40 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 206 of 338



are governed by our existing FMLA policy. Servicemember FMLA runs concurrent 
with other leave entitlements provided under federal, state and local law. 
Servicemember FMLA provides eligible employees unpaid leave for any one, or 
combination, of the following reasons: 
 

• A 'qualifying exigency' arising out of a covered family member's active duty or 
call to active duty in the Armed Forces in support of a contingency plan: 
and/or 

 
• To care for a covered family member who has incurred an injury or 

illness while in the Armed Forces provided that such injury or illness 
renders the family member medically unfit to perform duties of the 
member's office, grade, rank or rating and is certified by the 
servicemember's health care provider. 

 
When leave is due because of a 'Qualified Exigency' concerning the military duty of a 
family member: an eligible employee may take up to 12 workweeks of leave during 
any 12-month period. 
 
When leave is to care for an injured or ill servicemember: an eligible employee may 
take up to 26 workweeks of leave during a single 12-month period to care for the 
servicemember. Leave to care for an injured or ill servicemember, when combined 
with other FMLA-qualifying leave, may not exceed 26 workweeks in a single 12-month 
period. 
 
Where spouses are both employed by LAFCo, they may take up to, in aggregate, 26 
workweeks of servicemember FMLA, provided that any portion of the aggregate 
leave that is not for care of a family servicemember does not exceed 12 workweeks. 
 
In any case where it is foreseeable that an employee will need servicemember 
FMLA, that employee must provide notice of his or her intent to take leave as soon as 
reasonably possible and provide certification of either the 'qualified exigency' or 
family servicemember's need for care as soon as practicable. 
 

Division 5.  Salary Plan Administration 
 

Section 5.1 Pay for New Employees 
 
The Executive Officer or when appropriate the Commission shall appoint new 
employees to the appropriate salary for the position, as approved by the Commission 
in the budgetary process. 
 
Section 5.2 Salary Plan 
 
A. During the annual budget review and at other times deemed necessary, the 

Executive Officer shall submit for the Commission’s consideration a proposed 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 41 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 207 of 338



Salary Plan. Any COLAs awarded to employees will be part of the Salary Plan. 
(See Appendix A, Salary Schedule.) 
 

B. The Commission shall perform a written evaluation of the Executive Officer 
once a year per the LAFCo By-Laws as part of the budgetary process. 
 

C. The Executive Officer shall perform a written evaluation for employees once a 
year as part of the budgetary process. A successful review may result in a raise 
dependent upon the budgetary outcome and other Agency needs. LAFCo 
employees serve in an “at will” capacity; a satisfactory evaluation is not an 
assurance of continued employment. 
 

D. Eligible Employees in Appendix B, hired on the effective date of the resolution 
establishing personnel policies for LAFCo, shall still be eligible for the Salary 
Steps listed in Supplemental B. 
 

Section 5.3 Merit Increases within Grade 
 

1. Merit increases shall not be automatic, but shall be given only upon the 
recommendation of the department head.  

 
2. The merit increase eligibility dates for all employees hired or promoted into 

classifications in this unit shall be the first day of the pay period following 
completion of 26 full pay periods.   

 
3. The merit increase eligibility date for employees in regular positions shall 

be the first day of the pay period following completion of the number of full 
pay periods of service indicated as follows: 

 

After 26 Pay 
Periods 

26 Pay 
Periods 

26 Pay 
Periods 

26 Pay 
Periods 

Salary Grade Steps 2 3 4 5 

 
Employment beginning on the first working day of a pay period shall be 
considered as beginning on the first calendar day of that pay period. If the 
first working day is after the first Monday (Tuesday if Monday is a holiday) 
of the pay period, time will accrue from the first day of the next pay period 
for step increases and eligible fringe benefit accrual. 
 
Other than military leave, a leave-of-absence without pay exceeding seven 
(7) consecutive calendar days in a pay period shall defer a merit increase 
eligibility date by an amount equal to the number of pay periods during 
which the employee was on leave-of-absence without pay. 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 42 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 208 of 338



4. An employee in a regular part-time position shall be treated identically to an 
employee in a regular full-time position except that merit increases shall be 
granted in the same proportion as hours of work relate to the hours of work 
of a regular full-time position. 

 
5. Each merit increase within grade shall be accompanied by a performance 

evaluation documenting the satisfactory performance of the employee. The 
merit increase shall consist of one step on the salary range for the class. 

 
6. An overall rating of either unacceptable or improvement needed requires a 

performance re-evaluation no later than four (4) pay periods following the 
scheduled merit increase eligibility date. If the employee shows no 
improvement, the appointing authority must recommend action to be taken. 

 
7. If, in the Executive Officer’s judgment (or, as appropriate the Commission’s 

judgment), the employee’s performance does not merit a salary increase on 
the merit increase eligibility date, and a deferment of a decision 
accompanied by an effort at improved performance might be productive, the 
Executive Officer (or, as appropriate the Commission) shall complete the 
structured merit rating and defer a decision regarding the merit increase. A 
merit increase decision may be deferred for any number of pay periods, not 
to exceed 13. A merit increase may be deferred only once for any given 
step on the grade for the class. The Executive Officer or, as appropriate, 
the Commission, may reopen the matter by submitting another merit rating 
and recommendation. An employee’s merit increase eligibility date shall not 
be changed by any deferment. 

 
8. If an employee’s merit increase eligibility date is overlooked through an error 

and, upon discovery of the error, the employee is recommended for merit 
increase, the employee shall be compensated for the additional salary he 
or she would have received dating from the original merit increase eligibility 
date. 

 
Section 5.4 Longevity Compensation 
 

A. Longevity Compensation provided to the Executive Officer:   
For the purposes of longevity, continuous service is defined as employment in a 
regular position which has not been interrupted by resignation, discharge, or 
retirement.  The Executive Officer shall receive credit for prior years of longevity 
compensation service credit for employment with California cities, counties, joint 
power authorities, and other special districts as approved by the LAFCO 
Chairperson or his/her delegate.  The LAFCO Executive Officer shall receive 
longevity compensation of: 

 
2.5% increase upon completion of the following years of service: 
10 years, 15 years, 20 years, 25 years, 30 years, 35 years 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 43 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 209 of 338



 
Longevity Compensation provided to other LAFCO regular employees:  For the 
purposes of longevity, continuous service is defined as employment in a regular 
position which has not been interrupted by resignation, discharge, or retirement.  
Regular employees shall receive longevity compensation of: 

 
2.5% increase upon completion of the following years of service 
10 years, 20 years, 25 years, 30 years 

 
B. Employees in part-time positions shall be entitled to longevity compensation in 

the same ratio to the longevity compensation received by employees in a full-
time position as the number of hours in the part-time work schedule is to the 
number of hours in the full-time work schedule. 

 
C. Upon qualifying the longevity increase, any further pay increase shall be in 

addition thereto, and not restricted or reduced by any reason of the longevity 
increase. 

 
D. An employee who is laid off and subsequently re-employed in the same position 

within twenty-four (24) months by approval of the Executive Officer or when 
appropriate, the Commission will have continuous service credited to him or her 
for actual time worked prior to layoff for purposes of vacation and longevity pay 
eligibility 

 
Section 5.5 Overtime; CTO 
 
A. “Overtime” Defined. Unless otherwise stated in a memorandum of 

understanding, “overtime” is all hours an overtime-eligible employee actually 
works over 40 in his or her work week. Overtime is compensated at 1.5 times 
the Fair Labor Standards Act regular rate of pay. Only actual hours worked 
shall be counted toward the 40-hour threshold for purposes of calculating 
FLSA overtime pay. No overtime shall be recorded or reported for less than 6 
minutes of work. 
 

B. Failure to obtain preapproval prior to working overtime could subject the 
Employee to discipline. 
 

C. LAFCo has determined that certain classifications are exempt and not 
eligible for overtime in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act.  
Those classifications designed as exempt from overtime provisions are 
identified in Appendix B, List of Positions Exempt from Overtime 
Requirements. 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 44 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 210 of 338



Section 5.6 Salary Payment Procedure 
 
A. A pay period shall begin on a Sunday and end on a Saturday (14 days) and shall 

consist of eighty (80) working hours. Such pay periods will be as established by 
the Auditor-Controller. Employees shall be paid every other Friday. 
 

B. Compensation for each employee for whom compensation is established shall be 
paid out of the LAFCo fund upon certification from the Executive Officer that the 
employee has performed the services set forth in such certificates. 
 

C. When an employee separates from LAFCo and use of the regularly scheduled 
certification would create an inequitable delay, the Executive Officer or when 
appropriate the Chairperson, may immediately file a special payroll certification of 
such separation with the Auditor-Controller. The Auditor-Controller may draft a 
warrant for the period of time or day or both due such employee up to the time of 
separation. 
 

Section 5.7 Employee Recognition 
 
In addition to any other compensation provided to officers and employees of LAFCo, 
Commissioners and employees may be recognized for outstanding achievement 
and/or contributions towards excellence by adoption of the Commission. This 
recognition may be in the form of additional compensation, a gift certificate or gift. 
 
Section 5.8 Overpayments 
 
A. This provision applies when the Auditor-Controller determines that an error has 

been made to either the employees earnings, taxes, deductions or accrued 
leaves. In such cases, LAFCo, for the purposes of future compensation, shall 
adjust such earnings, taxes, deductions or accrued leaves to the correct rate. 
The Auditor shall give written notice to the employee of the error. As used in 
this section: 
 
(i)  “Earnings” means the biweekly rate of pay. 
(ii) “Taxes” means payment of Social Security (to applicable employees), 

Medicare or State Disability taxes; excluding federal and state withholding 
taxes. 

(iii) “Deductions” means employee paid deductions, including but not 
limited to medical premiums and retirement deductions; excluding 
voluntary deductions (such as deferred compensation). 

(iv) “Accrued Leave” means vacation, sick leave, compensatory time off 
and all other types of authorized leave with pay. 

(v) “Overpayment” means any compensation or accrued leave that has 
been overpaid or over-credited to an employee regardless of the 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 45 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 211 of 338



reason, including but not limited to, administrative, clerical or system 
error. 

(vi) “Underpayment” means any compensation or accrued leave that has 
been underpaid or under-credited to an employee regardless of the 
reason, including but not limited to, administrative, clerical or system 
errors. 
 

B. In the case of an overpayment of earnings or under withheld taxes or deductions, 
the employee shall reimburse LAFCo. The employee has the following options 
for reimbursement: 
 
(i) Full payment through a payroll adjustment if total amount of 

reimbursement does not exceed biweekly earnings. 
(ii) Full payment by personal check, money order or cashier’s check if total 

amount of reimbursement exceeds biweekly earnings. 
(iii) For installments made through payroll, the number of installments 

shall not exceed the number of pay periods over which the error 
occurred. 

(iv) A method mutually agreed upon by the employee and the Auditor-
Controller. 

 
C. In the case of underpayment, LAFCo will pay the employee a one-time 

adjustment through payroll. In the case of a leave accrual error which results in 
an overpayment, reimbursement may be made through one (1) of the following 
methods as mutually agreed by the employee and the Auditor-Controller. 

 
(i) Full payment through payroll adjustment if total amount of reimbursed 

does not exceed biweekly earnings. 
(ii) Full payment by a personal check, money order or cashier’s check 

if total amount of reimbursement exceeds biweekly earnings. 
(iii) For installments made through payroll, the number of installments 

shall not exceed the number of pay periods over which the error 
occurred. 

(iv) In the case of a leave accrual error, which results in an incorrect accrued 
leave balance, a one-time adjustment will be processed through payroll. 

 
D. An employee whose employment terminates prior to any reimbursements or 

adjustments being fully completed or satisfied; shall have the remaining balance 
withheld from any final compensation due to the employee, providing the final 
compensation is sufficient to provide for full reimbursement or adjustment. If the 
employee’s final compensation is not sufficient to provide for full reimbursement 
or adjustment, LAFCo retains the right to exercise other legal means to recover 
the remaining amount owed. 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 46 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 212 of 338



 
E. Any amount of overpayment for a period earlier than three (3) years prior to 

the date of the Auditor’s initial written notice to the employee shall be deemed 
waived and not reimbursable. 
 

F. The provisions of this section do not apply to grievance disputes which contend 
that LAFCo has underpaid by misapplying or incorrectly interpreting the terms 
of this or any other previous agreement. The time limits for the filing and 
processing of any grievance shall not be deemed to be excused, extended or 
otherwise modified by the provisions of this section. 
 

G. The provisions of this section only apply to errors involving earnings, taxes, 
deductions and accrued leave. No provision of this section shall preclude the 
correction or recovery of past errors (overpayments or other losses) which 
were the result of other matters. 

 
Division 6.  Retirement Benefits 
  

Section 6.1 Retirement 
 
A. Existing PERS Contract 

Subject to the terms of this section, the LAFCO will maintain its contract with the 
California Public Employees Retirement (PERS) and the benefits currently 
provided thereunder.  

 
B. PEPRA Tier 

Effective January 1, 2013 LAFCO implemented a new pension tier in accordance 
with and subject to the terms of the Public Employee Pension Reform Act of 
2013.  The new pension tier is referred to as the “PEPRA tier.”   

 
C.   PEPRA Basic Retirement Formula 

For employee required by law to participate in the PEPRA tier, the PEPRA 
established a pension formula of two percent (2%) of pensionable compensation 
for each qualifying year of service at the normal retirement age of 62 years.  For 
purposes of this formula, PERS will calculate an eligible retiree’s pension based 
on the average annual pensionable compensation earned by the member during 
the thirty-six (36) consecutive month period immediately preceding retirement (or 
date of last separation from service if prior to retirement) or any other period of 
thirty-six (36) consecutive months during the member’s applicable service that 
the member designates.   

 
D.   Disputes Over PEPRA 

If an employee or any recognized employee association/union disputes the 
manner in which LAFCo applies the PEPRA tier to employees, neither the 
employee nor the employee association/union may submit the matter as a 
grievance under any LAFCo-adopted Grievance Procedure.  If any term of this 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 47 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 213 of 338



Personnel and Salary Resolution conflicts with the PEPRA or any amendment 
thereto, the PEPRA or such amendment will prevail.   

 
E.   Pre-PEPRA 2.7% at Age 55 Formula Tier 

LAFCo’s contract with the Public Employees Retirement System provides 
Miscellaneous Retirement formula (2.7% @ age 55)  for employees who are not 
required by law to participate in the PEPRA tier. 
 
For purposes of this formula, PERS will calculate an eligible retiree’s pension 
based on the average annual pensionable compensation earned by the member 
during the twelve (12) consecutive month period immediately preceding 
retirement (or date of last separation from service if prior to prior to retirement) or 
any other period of twelve (12) consecutive months during the member’s 
applicable service that the member designates. 

 
F. Phase Out of Employer Paid Member Contribution 

LAFCo pays to PERS eight percent (8%) of the employee’s pensionable pay 
toward the employee Member Contribution for employees that are not members 
of the PEPRA, and reports to PERS the same as additional reportable 
compensation for pension calculations (“EPMC as reportable compensation”). 
 
Effective August 17, 2014 LAFCo shall no longer report the employer paid 
member contributions as additional reportable compensation. 
 
Effective August 17, 2014 LAFCo payment of the employee’s Member 
Contribution shall be reduced from eight percent (8%) to zero percent (0%) for 
the LAFCO Executive Officer and thereafter the LAFCO Executive Officer shall 
pay his/her own portion of the retirement costs.  Effective August 17, 2014 
LAFCo payment of the employee’s Member Contribution shall be reduced from 
eight percent (8%) to four percent (4%) for all other employees and employees 
shall pay his/her own four percent (4%) of the retirement costs; the LAFCO 
payment of the employee’s Member Contribution shall be further reduced to two 
percent (2%) and each employee shall pay his/her own six percent (6%) effective 
February 15, 2015; and shall be further reduced to zero percent (0%) effective 
June 21, 2015 and thereafter each employee shall pay his/her own portion of the 
retirement costs. 

 
G.   Employee Payment of PERS Member Contributions.   
 

1.   PEPRA Member Contributions. 
 

Members of the PEPRA tier will contribute toward the PEPRA tier 
employee contribution in an amount equal to not less than fifty percent 
(50%) of the normal cost of the new tier, as determined from time to time 
by PERS, or the amount of the contribution provided in this Personnel and 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 48 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 214 of 338



Salary Resolution for members of the PEPRA tier, whichever is greater.  
Such contribution will be made by payroll deduction. 

 
2. Non-PEPRA Member Contribution. 

 
Employees subject to the Pre-PEPRA formulas described in paragraph 
6.1.E above will, through August 16, 2014 contribute zero percent (0%) of 
the applicable PERS member contribution by payroll deduction.  
Thereafter, employees shall be responsible for paying their own portion of 
the applicable PERS member contribution, except for any portion 
identified in paragraph 6.1.F as an employer-paid contribution. 
 

 
3.    Employee Payment For Pre-PEPRA Formula Enhancement.   

 
In January 2004, Solano County amended its contract with PERS to 
provide for the 2.7% @ 55 retirement formula.  The cost of this benefit was 
established by PERS ($75,035,452).  Solano County and its non-safety 
employees and their respective collective bargaining units agreed that 
such cost would be the responsibility of the employees.  Solano County 
agreed to allow the employees to pay for that plan enhancement by 
payroll deduction with the cost amortized over twenty (20) years.  
Similarly, LAFCo employees were originally participants in that Solano 
County 2.7 @ 55 retirement formula and agree, in conjunction with the 
contracting by LAFCo with PERS, for the 2.7 @ 55 retirement formula for 
LAFCo employees to also subscribe to that exact same cost sharing.  
LAFCo employees will pay for the 2.7 @ 55 retirement formula 
enhancement, at the same amount and for the same duration, as do the 
mid-management employees of Solano County. 
 

4.   Pre-Tax Treatment PERS Member Contributions.  
 

To the extent permitted by applicable law, employee contributions toward 
the Employee’s  and Employer’s PERS contributions will be deducted on a 
pre-tax basis pursuant to and in accordance with section 414(h)(2) of the 
Internal Revenue Code.   

 
Section 6.2 Social Security 
 
LAFCo employees opted out of the Section 218 Agreement with the Social Security 
Administration and do not receive work credit toward Social Security benefits through 
employment with LAFCo. Through September 27, 2014 in lieu of Social Security 
contributions, LAFCo will contribute the employer’s normal rate as taxable cash back 
to the employee, and thereafter such contribution shall be discontinued. 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 49 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 215 of 338



Employees do have coverage under Medicare in accordance with the provisions of 
law.  This system requires contributions by both the employee and employer in 
accordance with schedules provided by the federal government. 
 
Section 6.3 Deferred Compensation 
 
LAFCo has established a 457 deferred compensation plan program through which 
employees can participate in a voluntary, payroll-deducted supplementary 
retirement program. 
 

Division 7.  Tuition Reimbursement Program  
 
Section 7.1 Objectives 
 
The Tuition Reimbursement Program is designed to encourage employees to continue 
their self-development by enrolling in classroom courses which will educate them in new 
concepts and methods in their occupational fields and prepare them to meet the 
changing demands of their jobs. While the Tuition Reimbursement Program is expected 
to enhance employee performance and professional abilities, LAFCo cannot guarantee 
that participation in formal education will entitle the employee to automatic 
advancement, a different job assignment, or pay increases. 
 
Section 7.2 Eligibility of Employees for Tuition Reimbursement 
 
Only full-time employees filing regular positions and who are performing their jobs 
satisfactorily are eligible to participate in the Tuition Reimbursement Program. 
Employees are not eligible for reimbursement if their educational costs are being 
defrayed by another agency such as the U.S. Veterans Administration, the California 
State Department of Veteran’s Affairs or the Commission on Peace Officer Standards 
and Training. 
 
Section 7.3 Policy for Tuition Reimbursement 
 
A. Courses must be related to the work of the employee’s position or occupation 

in such a fashion that will offer substantial benefit to LAFCo. 
 

B. Each course must be taken on not more than fifty (50%) of LAFCo’s time. 
Employees taking approved courses which encroach on their regular scheduled 
working hours shall be entitled to paid time off for such encroaching hours up to a 
total maximum amount of paid time off from work equal to fifty percent (50%) of 
the class time. 
 

C. Courses must be taken for credit; audited courses will not be reimbursed. 
 

D. Courses must be taken at accredited institutions. Correspondence courses from 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 50 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 216 of 338



reputable institutions will be considered only when equivalent courses are not 
available at local accredited schools, or when the employee’s circumstances 
prevent him/her from attending local courses. 
 

E. Prerequisite courses for eligible courses or courses which are required for the 
completion of a specific program are also eligibility for tuition reimbursement. 
However, reimbursement shall not be made until the appropriate eligible 
courses have been satisfactory completed. 
 

F. Courses are not eligible for tuition reimbursement if they: 
 

(i) Are taken to bring unsatisfactory performance up to an acceptable level. 
(ii) Are taken to acquire skills or knowledge which the employee was 

deemed to have when appointed. 
(iii) Duplicate in-service training which is available. 
(iv) Duplicate training which the employee already had. 

 
G. Conventions, workshops, institutes, etc., are not included in the Tuition 

Reimbursement Program. 
 

H. Reimbursements shall be subject to certification by the Executive Officer and 
subject to the approval of the Executive Officer or when appropriate 
the Commission. 
 

I. Request for reimbursement must be approved before the course is undertaken. 
 
J. Reimbursement shall be made only upon presentation of evidence of payment 

for and successful completion of courses (as evidenced by a passing grade) 
and a satisfactory (standard or above) current performance evaluation. 
Reimbursement is made for the same fiscal year in which the course is 
completed and documentation must be presented to the Executive Officer 
within ninety (90) calendar days after the course completion date. 
 

Section 7.4 Nature of Reimbursement 
 
A. Reimbursement in the amount of fifty (50) per cent may be made for tuition, 

registration fees, laboratory fees, and required textbooks. Other related 
expenses and incidental costs are not reimbursable. 
 

B. Reimbursement shall be limited as follows: 
 
(i) No employees shall be reimbursed for more than two (2) courses in a 

single semester or quarter. 
(ii) The maximum reimbursement that may be received by any employee 

in one fiscal year shall be one thousand one hundred ($1,100) dollars. 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 51 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 217 of 338



(iii) An employee shall be reimbursed for expenses totaling five ($5.00) 
dollars or more for a single course. Expenses less than $5.00 for a single 
course is not reimbursable. 

(iv) No employee shall be reimbursed for non-resident fees above the 
normal resident fees. 

 
Section 7.5 Procedure for Tuition Reimbursement 
 

A. The employee shall request in writing to the Executive Officer or 
when appropriate the Chairperson, tuition reimbursement. 

B.  
C. The Executive Officer or when appropriate, the Chairperson shall either 

approve or deny the request based on the criteria set forth in this policy. 
 
D. Upon completion of an approved course, the employee shall provide proof of 

fees paid and grade achieved to the Executive Officer. 
 
E. The Executive Officer shall authorize the Auditor-Controller to issue a warrant 

to the employee for reimbursement. 
 

Section 7.6 Continued Service Requirement 
 

An employee must continue in a full-time position for one (1) year from the date of last 
receipt of a tuition reimbursement warrant. Failure to continue in service to LAFCo, 
through resignation or discharge, will result in the forfeiture of any tuition 
reimbursement payments received less than one (1) year prior to separation. 
 

Division 8.  Expense Reimbursement Section  
 
Section 8.1 Travel Expense 
 
A. LAFCo will reimburse employees for reasonable business travel expenses 

incurred while on assignments away from the normal work location. All 
business travel must be approved in advance by the Executive Officer. 

 
B. When approved, the costs of travel, meals, lodging, and other expenses directly 

related to accomplishing business travel objectives will be reimbursed by LAFCo. 
Employees are expected to limit expenses to the most economically reasonable 
amounts possible, subject to the Internal Revenue Service guidelines. 

 
C. The Executive Officer may approve reimbursement for other types of 

business related expenses which are in the best interest of LAFCo. 
 
D. Employees who are involved in an accident while traveling on business must 

promptly report the incident to the Executive Officer or when appropriate, the 
Chair of the Commission. 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 52 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 218 of 338



 
E. Abuse of the business travel expenses policy, including falsifying claims to reflect 

costs not incurred by the employee, can be grounds for disciplinary action, up to 
and including termination of employment. 

 
F. LAFCo will adhere to the adopted Travel Policy of Solano County except the 

above items (A-E) will supersede any travel related policy of Solano County. 
 
Section 8.2 Other Expense Reimbursement 
 
LAFCo will reimburse employees for reasonable work-related expenses upon 
the approval of the Executive Officer. Such expenses may include: 
 
A. Meal costs for work-related meetings that run into meal times. 

 
B. LAFCo expenses advanced by the employee to cover cost when obtaining 

a warrant in advance is not practical. 
 

C. Other expenses that the Executive Officer determines were reasonably 
work-related. 

Division 9.  Personnel Files 
 
Section 9.1 General 
 
The LAFCo maintains a personnel file on each employee. An employee’s personnel file 
shall contain only material that is necessary and relevant to the administration of 
LAFCo’s personnel program. Personnel files are the property of LAFCo, and access to 
the information they contain is restricted. 
 
Section 9.2 Notifying LAFCo of Changes in Personal Information 
 
Each employee is responsible to promptly notify the LAFCo Clerk of any changes in 
relevant personal information, including (1) mailing address, (2) telephone number, 
(3) persons to contact in emergency, and (4) number and names of dependents. 
 
Section 9.3 Location of Personnel Files 
 
Personnel files shall be kept in a locked file cabinet in the Executive Officer’s 
office.  
 
Section 9.4 Medical Information 
 
A. SEPARATE CONFIDENTIAL FILES - All medical information about an 

employee or applicant is kept separately and is treated as confidential, in 
accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. section 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 53 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 219 of 338



12112(d)(3)(b)) and the California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (Cal. 
Civil Code section 56 et seq.), and any other applicable state or federal law. 
 

B. INFORMATION IN MEDICAL FILES - The LAFCo will not obtain medical 
information about an employee or applicant except in compliance with the 
California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act. To enable the LAFCo to 
obtain certain medical information, the employee or applicant may need to sign 
an AUTHORIZATION FOR RELEASE OF EMPLOYEE 
MEDICAL INFORMATION. 
 

C. ACCESS TO MEDICAL INFORMATION - Access to employee or applicant 
medical information shall be strictly limited to only those with a legitimate need 
to have such information for LAFCo business reasons, or if access is required 
by law, subpoena or court order. In the case of an employee with a disability, 
managers and supervisors may be informed regarding necessary restrictions on 
the work or duties of the employee and necessary accommodations. 
 

D. The LAFCo will not provide employee or applicant medical information to a third 
party (except as permitted under the California Confidentiality of Medical 
Information Act) unless the employee signs an AUTHORIZATION FOR 
RELEASE OF EMPLOYEE MEDICAL INFORMATION in the form attached to 
this rule. The LAFCo will release only the medical information that is identified 
in the employee’s authorization. If the employee’s authorization indicates any 
limitations regarding the use of the medical information, the LAFCo will 
communicate those limitations to the person or entity to which it discloses the 
medical information. 
 

Section 9.5 References and Release of Information in Personnel Files 
 

A. PUBLIC INFORMATION - Upon request, the LAFCo will release to the 
public information about its employees as required by the Public Records 
Act. The LAFCo will not disclose personnel information if it believes doing so 
would constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy. 

 
B. REFERENCE CHECKS - All requests from outside the LAFCo for reference 

checks or verification of employment concerning any current or former employee 
must be referred to the Executive Officer. Information will be released only if the 
employee signs and AUTHORIZATION FOR RELEASE OF EMPLOYMENT 
INFORMATION, except that without such authorization, the following limited 
information will be provided: dates of employment, and salary upon departure. 
Department heads and supervisors should not provide information in response 
to requests for reference checks or verification of employment, unless 
specifically approved by Executive Officer on a case-by-case basis. 

 
C. MEDICAL INFORMATION - Medical information will be released only 

in accordance with the rules set out in subsection 4 above. 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 54 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 220 of 338



 
 
 

Section 9.6 Employee Access to Personnel File 
 

A. INSPECTION OF FILE - An employee may inspect his or her own personnel file, 
as defined in California Labor Code section 1198.5, at reasonable times and at 
reasonable intervals. An employee who wishes to review his or her file should 
contact the Executive Officer to arrange an appointment. The review must be 
done in the presence of the Executive Officer. 

 
B. COPIES - On request, an employee is entitled to receive a copy of any 

employment-related document he or she has signed. An employee who wishes 
to receive such a copy should contact Executive Officer or his/her designee. On 
request, the LAFCo will also provide an employee single copies of any other 
documents in his or her personnel file. The LAFCo may charge a reasonable fee 
for the copies these copies. 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 55 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 221 of 338



Position Description for LAFCo Executive Officer 
 
DEFINITION:  
 
Under policy direction of the Local Agency Formation Commission of Solano County 
(LAFCo), organizes, coordinates, and directs all LAFCo functions and activities, 
provides leadership, policy guidance, strategic direction, and day-to-day management of 
LAFCo; fosters cooperative working relationships with the Commission, the County of 
Solano, cities and special districts, the public and other agencies; performs related work 
as assigned. 
 
The LAFCo Executive Officer is an “at-will” employee appointed by the LAFCo 
Commission.  The LAFCo Executive Officer reports directly to the Commission and 
performs all duties necessary for the proper and efficient management of LAFCo as 
determined by the Commission and State Law. 
 
EXAMPLES OF DUTIES:  
 
The following is used as a partial description and is not restrictive to duties required. 
Plans, organizes and directs the activities of LAFCo; develops goals, policies and work 
programs for LAFCo subject to Commission review, directs implementation of policies 
and procedures; evaluates programs, procedures and systems for overall effectiveness. 

Receives and analyzes applications and petitions for LAFCo action; determines legal 
acceptability for filings; checks and certifies petitions; conducts complex analysis and 
prepares written reports and recommendations; attends all LAFCo meetings. 

Represents LAFCo in various negotiations with other governmental agencies, property 
owners and consultants regarding the authority and functions of LAFCo and the 
policies, procedures and funding of LAFCo. 

Prepares and administers LAFCo’s annual budget, serves as the LAFCo fiscal officer. 

Works closely with and advises the Commission, staff, the County of Solano, cities, 
special districts, the public and other agencies to implement LAFCo programs and to 
ensure compliance with laws and local policies. 

Reviews and authorizes personnel actions; evaluates the work of subordinate 
personnel; reviews work plans and progress reports and confers with staff to define 
and solve problems. Responsible for the efficient and effective performance of all 
contractors. 

Represents LAFCo before the media, other agencies, and the public. 

Actively participates in LAFCo related organizations and professional associations. 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 56 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 222 of 338



QUALIFICATION GUIDELINES:  
 
Knowledge Of: 
 
Local Agency Formation Commission law, practices and procedures; principles and 
practices of organization, management, governmental budgeting, administrative analysis 
and personnel administration; urban planning practices and techniques; federal, state 
and local laws guidelines relating to environmental protection. 
 
Skills and Abilities In: 

Planning, organizing, coordinating and directing LAFCo programs and activities. 

Analyzing functional, organization and financial characteristics of local governmental 
agencies, evaluating alternatives, and recommending effective courses of action 
relating to LAFCo functions. 

Interpreting, explaining and applying LAFCo law and policies and related state 
and federal laws. 

Appointing, motivating and evaluating staff and providing for their training 
and professional development. 

Representing LAFCo effectively in contacts with the public, the County of Solano 
and cities and special districts in the County, and other public agencies. 

Promoting cooperative relationships with LAFCo constituent agencies and their staff, 
other public agencies, public groups concerned with LAFCo functions and operations. 

Supplemental Information: 

Works primarily in an office environment but regular travel is required within 
Solano County. 

RECRUITING STANDARDS:  

Education/Experience: 

Graduation from an accredited college with a bachelor’s degree in public 
administration, urban planning or a closely related field and five years of related 
experience in a professional capacity managing public programs and budgets involving 
multiple constituencies, or any combination of training and/or experience that could 
likely provide the desired knowledge, skills and abilities. 

OTHER REQUIREMENTS:  

Necessary Special Requirements: Possession of or the ability to obtain a 
valid unrestricted California driver license. 

  

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 57 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 223 of 338



Position Description for LAFCo Deputy Executive Officer 
 
DEFINITION: 
 
Under direction of the LAFCO Executive Officer, performs complex professional work in 
support of LAFCO’s statutory activities and on a variety of projects involving: research, 
data collection and other related tasks in support of the Local Agency Formation 
Commission (LAFCO) of Solano County; responsible for a variety of specialized studies 
involving data collection and analysis, report preparation and public contact; performs 
as Clerk to the Solano County Commission, and; responsible day-to-day office 
procedures.  
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS: 
 
The LAFCO Deputy Executive Officer is a single-position management classification 
and an “at‐will” management employee who performs all duties necessary for the proper 
and efficient management of LAFCO as determined by State Law, Solano LAFCO, and 
the Executive Officer.  In the absence of the Executive Officer, the Senior LAFCO 
Analyst  acts as the acting Executive Officer.  
 
Responsibilities include developing and implementing policies and procedures for 
assigned programs, budget administration and reporting, and program evaluation. 
Incumbents serve as a professional-level resource for organizational, managerial, and 
operational analyses and studies. Performance of the work requires the use of 
considerable independence, initiative, and discretion within established guidelines. The 
incumbent possesses specialized knowledge, including urban and regional planning, 
land development and environmental regulations. 
 
The LAFCO Deputy Executive Officer differs from the LAFCO Executive Officer as the 
LAFCO Executive Officer has overall responsibility for all functions and activities of the 
LAFCO program under policy direction from the Commission. 
 
TYPICAL TASKS: 
 
• Serves as assistant to the LAFCO Executive Officer and acts in place of 

the LAFCO Executive Officer in his or her absence. 

• Ensures compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA), reviews proposals for adequacy of environmental review 
documents; reviews and prepares comments on initial studies, negative 
declarations, and EIRs prepared by other agencies; and conducts initial 
studies, prepares and supervises the preparation of negative 
declarations and other environmental documents where LAFCO is the 
Lead Agency. 

• Conducts analysis on a variety of special projects involving research, data 
collection and other tasks related to the operation of Solano County 
LAFCO; performs a variety of responsible and specialized technical 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 58 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 224 of 338



services involving administrative, planning, financial, legislative, and data 
analysis. 

• Manages and conducts special studies involving inter-jurisdictional or 
inter-agency coordination, most of which is of a complex, controversial 
and politically sensitive nature. 

• Monitors and evaluates local agencies, their service capabilities and 
proposals for changes or organization or jurisdictional boundaries. 

• Reviews and analyzes proposals filed with LAFCO, conducts field 
investigations, makes recommendations and prepares and presents staff 
reports to Commission or LAFCO Executive Officer in written or oral form. 

• Researches, analyzes and interprets information and data necessary to 
meet State law requirements and Solano County LAFCO policies and 
objectives. 

• Manages contracts and consultants related to special studies. 

• Makes verbal presentations and manages public participation/outreach 
processes relating to pending LAFCO proposals, studies, policies, and 
procedures; Interprets and explains governmental regulations, policies 
and procedures to the public, governmental agencies, subordinate 
staff and consultants. 

• Executes the terms and conditions of LAFCO documents in 
accordance with determinations of LAFCO.  

• Assists with Administrative functions, including the development of LAFCO 
budget, fee schedules, surveys, policies, procedure manuals, accepting of 
applications and notifications of public hearing. 

• Maintains, revises, and interprets the LAFCO policies, procedures and 
maps. 

• Advises management on the impact of new and proposed state and 
local legislation that pertains to LAFCO. 

• Acts as a liaison between the Commission, the public, other 
governmental agencies, and organizations. 

• Assists the Executive Officer in implementing Commission directions, 
policies and procedures, and in developing, tracking and managing the 
annual work program. 

• Participates in LAFCO related organizations and professional 
associations; Participates and represents LAFCO on various 
committees and organizations; 

• Performs other related duties as required. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 59 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 225 of 338



EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS: 
 
Sufficient training, education and experience that demonstrate the ability to 
perform the above tasks and possession of the knowledge and abilities listed 
below. 
   
Four or more years of progressively responsible professional experience 
performing public sector planning, policy and program analysis.  LAFCO work 
experience or working in a professional capacity in city or county planning or 
public administration is highly desirable. 
 
A Master's degree in Public Administration or City and Regional Planning may be 
substituted for two (2) years of the required experience. A Master's degree in a 
closely related field (i.e. Business Administration) may be substituted for one (1) 
year of the required experience. 
 
Possession of a valid California Driver's License prior to appointment. 
 
Knowledge of: 
 
• Local Agency Formation Commission laws, practices and procedures. 

• Statutory purposes of LAFCO and state and local regulations relating to 
LAFCO; Principles and practices of public administration, urban and 
regional land planning and effective supervision and training; 

• Public administration and management principles, including budget 
preparation and control and effective supervision and training; 

• Federal, State and local laws and regulations relating to the organization, 
financing and functions of cities and special districts; 

• Research, analysis, and statistical methods applicable to management 
analysis; Communication techniques required for gathering, evaluating 
and informing; 

• State, local laws, and guidelines relating to environmental protection; Map 
reading. 

• Computer applications used in city and regional planning, including 
Geographical Information Systems Software. 

 
Ability to: 
 
• Reason logically and creatively and utilize a variety of analytical 

techniques to resolve complex and specialized problems. 

• Communicate and present concise, logical oral and written reports; 
Understand, interpret and apply laws, policies and procedures; 

• Plan, organize and conduct work assignments under minimum direction 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 60 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 226 of 338



or independently and meet deadlines; 
 

• Collect, interpret and evaluate data of a complex and specialized nature; 
Write clear and concise reports; 

• Manage and coordinate large projects and studies; 

• Gain and maintain the confidence and cooperation of those contacted 
during the course of work, especially in sensitive relationships with 
representatives of departmental and other outside groups; 

• Supervise, train and evaluate the work of subordinate staff and 
consultants;  

• Define problem areas; develop and evaluate alternatives; 

• Represent LAFCO and or act as LAFCO spokesperson. 
 

Desirable Work Style and Personal Traits: 
 

• Possess a high degree of integrity, be facilitative rather than 
confrontational in nature, work well with peers and supervisors as well as 
with difficult and sensitive organizational issues. 

• Possess a commitment to very high ethical standards and quality public 
services; 

• An active listener, supportive team builder; has strong interpersonal and 
communication skills, and demonstrates an energetic work style; 

• Embraces challenges, is objective, open minded, accountable, and is 
comfortable working in a complex political environment; 

• Able to establish and maintain cooperative and effective working 
relationships with a variety of representatives of public and private 
organizations, members of boards and commissions, legislative 
representatives, and the public; 

• Able to interact well and comfortably with individuals of diverse 
backgrounds; 

• Able to approach challenges with confidence, and maintain positive, productive 
and ethical interaction with peers, the public, the Commission and elected officials, 
and; 

• Maintain professional appearance. 
  

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 61 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 227 of 338



Position Description for LAFCo Senior Analyst 
 
DEFINITION: 

 
Under general direction of the LAFCO Executive Officer, performs complex 
professional work in support of LAFCO’s statutory activities and on a variety 
of projects involving: research, data collection and other related tasks in 
support of the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of Solano 
County; responsible for a variety of specialized studies involving data 
collection and analysis, report preparation and public contact; performs as 
Clerk to the Solano County Commission, and; responsible day-to-day office 
procedures. 

 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS: 
 
The LAFCO Senior Analyst is an “at‐will” management employee who performs all 
duties necessary for the proper and efficient management of LAFCO as determined 
by State Law, Solano LAFCO, and the Executive Officer. In the absence of the 
Executive Officer, the Senior LAFCO Analyst may act as the acting Executive Officer. 
 
The LAFCO Senior Analyst works independently, reports to the LAFCO 
Executive Officer and provides direct assistance and input on policy 
development and program management. The LAFCO Senior Analyst is 
distinguished from the LAFCO Executive Officer in that the LAFCO Analyst 
acts as program manager and project coordinator to implement various 
components of the LAFCO work program whereas the LAFCO Executive 
Officer is responsible for the entire program. The LAFCO Senior Analyst: may 
supervise support staff; oversees consultants, and; provides administrative 
assistance to the Executive Officer as required. The incumbent possesses 
specialized knowledge, including urban and regional planning, land 
development and environmental regulations. 
 
The LAFCO Senior Analyst position is distinguished from the LAFCO Analyst 
position by the requirement of advanced professional experience of high 
complexity and variety. The Senior Analyst performs complex analyses, 
research, and policy development and will routinely make presentations to the 
Commission and at other public meetings. Staff at this level exercise greater 
independence and judgment and have considerable latitude for the use of 
initiative and independent judgment. 
 
TYPICAL TASKS: 

• Conducts analysis relating to the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) and on a variety of special projects involving research, data 
collection and other tasks related to the operation of Solano County 
LAFCO; performs a variety of responsible and specialized technical 
services involving administrative, planning, financial, legislative, and 
data analysis; 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 62 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 228 of 338



• Manages and conducts special studies involving inter-jurisdictional or 
inter- agency coordination, most of which is of a complex, controversial 
and politically sensitive nature; 

• Monitors and evaluates local agencies, their service capabilities and 
proposals for changes or organization or jurisdictional boundaries; 

• Reviews and analyzes proposals filed with LAFCO, conducts field 
investigations, makes recommendations and prepares and presents staff 
reports to Commission or LAFCO Executive Officer in written or oral form; 

• Researches, analyzes and interprets information and data 
necessary to meet State law requirements and Solano County 
LAFCO policies and objectives; 

• Manages contracts and consultants related to special studies; 

• Makes verbal presentations and manages public 
participation/outreach processes relating to pending LAFCO 
proposals, studies, policies, and procedures; Interprets and 
explains governmental regulations, policies and procedures to the 
public, governmental agencies, subordinate staff and consultants; 

• Executes the terms and conditions of LAFCO documents in 
accordance with determinations of LAFCO; 

• May act in the Executive Officer's absence on a short-term basis. 

• Assists with Administrative functions, including the development of 
LAFCO budget, fee schedules, surveys, policies, procedure 
manuals, accepting of applications and notifications of public 
hearting; 

• Maintains, revises, and interprets the LAFCO policies, procedures and maps; 

• Advises management on the impact of new and proposed state 
and local legislation that pertains to LAFCO; 

• Acts as a liaison between the Commission, the public, other 
governmental agencies, and organizations; 

• Assists the Executive Officer in implementing the Commission’s 
directions, policies and procedures, and in developing, tracking and 
managing the annual work program. 

• Participates in LAFCO related organizations and professional 
associations; Participates and represents LAFCO on various 
committees and organizations as required; 

• Performs other related duties as required. 

• Oversees the daily administration of LAFCO affairs in accordance with 
LAFCO and County of Solano policies and MOUs, including A/C receivable 
and payable, payroll. 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 63 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 229 of 338



EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS: 
 
Sufficient training, education and experience that demonstrate the 
ability to perform the above tasks and possession of the knowledge 
and abilities listed below. 
 
Four or more years of progressively responsible professional experience performing 
public sector planning, policy and program analysis. LAFCO work experience or 
working in a professional capacity in city or county planning or public administration 
is highly desirable. 
 
A Master's degree in Public Administration or City and Regional Planning 
may be substituted for two (2) years of the required experience. A Master's 
degree in a closely related field (i.e. Business Administration) may be 
substituted for one (1) year of the required experience. 
 
Possession of a valid California Driver's License prior to appointment. 

 
Knowledge of: 
 

• Local Agency Formation Commission laws, practices and procedures; 

• Statutory purposes of LAFCO and state and local regulations relating to 
LAFCO; Principles and practices of public administration, urban and 
regional land planning and effective supervision and training; 

• Public administration and management principles, including budget 
preparation and control and effective supervision and training; 

• Federal, State and local laws and regulations relating to the 
organization, financing and functions of cities and special 
districts; 

• Research, analysis, and statistical methods applicable to 
management analysis; Communication techniques required for 
gathering, evaluating and transmitting information; 

• State and local laws and guidelines relating to 
environmental protection; Map reading; 

• Computer applications used in city and regional planning, 
including Geographical Information Systems Software. 

Ability to: 
• Reason logically and creatively and utilize a variety of analytical 

techniques to resolve complex and specialized problems; 

• Communicate and present concise, logical oral and written 
reports; Understand, interpret and apply laws, policies and 
procedures; 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 64 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 230 of 338



• Plan, organize and conduct work assignments under minimum 
direction or independently and meet deadlines; 

• Collect, interpret and evaluate data of a complex and 
specialized nature; Write clear and concise reports; 

• Manage and coordinate large projects and studies; 

• Gain and maintain the confidence and cooperation of those 
contacted during the course of work, especially in sensitive 
relationships with representatives of departmental and other 
outside groups; 

• Supervise, train and evaluate the work of subordinate staff and consultants; 

• Define problem areas; develop and evaluate alternatives; 

• Represent LAFCO and or act as LAFCO spokesperson. 
 
Desirable Work Style and Personal Traits: 

• Possess a high degree of integrity, be facilitative rather than confrontational 
in nature, work well with peers and supervisors as well as with difficult and 
sensitive organizational issues; 

• Possess a commitment to very high ethical standards and quality public 
services; 

• An active listener, supportive team builder; has strong interpersonal and 
communication skills, and demonstrates an energetic work style; 

• Embraces challenges, is objective, open minded, accountable, and is 
comfortable working in a complex political environment; 

• Able to establish and maintain cooperative and effective working 
relationships with a variety of representatives of public and private 
organizations, members of boards and commissions, legislative 
representatives, and the public; 

• Able to interact well and comfortably with individuals of diverse backgrounds; 

• Able to approach challenges with confidence, and maintain positive, 
productive and ethical interaction with peers, the public, the Commission 
and elected officials, and; 

• Maintain professional appearance. 
  

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 65 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 231 of 338



Position Description for LAFCo Analyst I/II 
 

DEFINITION: 
The LAFCO Analyst I/II works under the direction of the Executive Officer with additional 
oversite provided by senior staff.  The incumbent is principally tasked with performing 
data collection and associated analysis in assisting Solano LAFCO prepare various 
studies on local government as required under State law.  The LAFCO Analyst I/II also 
serves as the Clerk to the Solano LAFCO and is responsible for carrying out day-to-day 
office procedures.  The incumbent may provide supervision over clerical or technical 
support staff and is expected to collaborate and coordinate tasks with others within and 
outside of Solano LAFCO in meeting the position’s duties.   
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS: 
The LAFCO Analyst I/II is an “at-will” employee who performs a wide range of entry-
level to intermediate duties that include performing data collection and assisting in 
associated analysis in the preparation of studies required of Solano LAFCO under State 
law that culminate in making recommendations to the Commission on potential 
governmental reorganizations, boundary changes, and other related matters. The 
incumbent may also serve as a resource to the staff, committees, boards or 
commissions of other local agencies in Solano County as needed.  Other pertinent 
characteristics include: providing administrative assistance to the Executive Officer, 
maintaining the LAFCO website, responding to public inquiries, organizing agency 
records, and working with Geographic Information Systems (GIS) to produce 
maps.  Training will be provided, and as experience is gained, assignments may 
gradually become more complex and varied.  Incumbents are expected to exercise 
considerable initiative and judgment in performing regular ongoing duties of the position. 
 
The LAFCO Analyst I is the entry level class and is flexibly staffed to the Analyst II 
class; an employee in this classification initially works under close supervision 
completing less complex projects that are narrower in scope or specific portions of 
larger projects, progressing to general supervision as the incumbent becomes able to 
independently perform the full range of duties associated with this classification. 
 
TYPICAL TASKS: 

• Conduct basic to intermediate research, data collection, and related analysis in 
evaluating local agencies and their governmental services in the preparation of 
municipal service reviews and related regional planning studies. 

• Assist in various phases of processing application proposals for boundary 
changes, outside service extensions, and reorganizations of local government 
agencies including project initiation and completion, tracking and maintaining 
legal and policy deadlines, etc.  

• Utilize a variety of computer software programs to prepare: charts, tables, 
spreadsheets, maps, diagrams, graphs, and reports. 

• Respond to public inquiries while exercising independent judgement in providing 
information and/or referring questions to other staff.  

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 66 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 232 of 338



• Consult with staff and representatives of other governmental agencies on 
programs, projects, or specialized assigned activities. 

• Assist in the preparation of agendas and associated staff reports and organize 
and prepare Commission packet for distribution. 

• Support for all Commission meetings including the posting of legal notices, 
agendas, and meeting materials; staff support during Commission meetings; 
preparing minutes and final meeting records; and tracking and maintaining legal 
or policy deadlines. 

• Assist in making presentations before the Commission, other local agencies, and 
community groups. 

• Support for Commission actions including reviewing resolutions and related 
documents for accuracy; and the distribution, recording, and filing of Commission 
actions. 

• Maintain the LAFCO website. 
• Administer the Fair Political Practices Commission (FPPC) regulations and 

disclosure documents and serve as LAFCO’s filing officer. 
• Maintain adequate office supplies inventories including submitting orders, 

providing price comparison, conducting product research, and providing 
recommendations when necessary.  

• Provide administrative support such as processing time sheets, payroll/personnel 
transactions, claims and purchase order/requisitions; receiving monies; assisting 
in budget request preparation by researching and compiling information; 
establishing and documenting clerical operation and work methods procedures. 

• Manage records and data files, including administrative records, project files, 
archive files, inventory and directories of local agencies, etc. 

 
EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS: 
To qualify for this position, an individual must possess a combination of education and 
experience that would likely produce the required knowledge, skills, and abilities as 
detailed in this position description: 

 
Education/Experience: 
Bachelor’s Degree from an accredited college or university with major course work in 
public or business administration, government, finance, economics, land use planning, 
public policy, urban studies, political science, graphic information system, or closely 
related field. 
Analyst I - Experience: No direct experience is required, but experience in local 
government or land use planning is desirable. 
 
Analyst II – Experience: One year of experience performing analysis work involving 
research and data collection, including the preparation of recommendations and reports, 
or one year of experience as a LAFCO Analyst I.   Experience with geographic 
information systems is highly desirable, but not necessary. 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 67 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 233 of 338



 
Knowledge of: 

• Advanced knowledge of Microsoft Word and Excel, and knowledge of other 
standard computer applications and software such as PowerPoint, Adobe, etc. 

• Laws, regulations, and policies applicable to local government.  
• Legislative and judicial analysis resources. 
• Analytical techniques and practices to include administrative and statistical 

analysis, statistical report preparation, and graphic presentation of analysis. 
• Basic city and county planning principles and practices. 
• Budget preparation principles, practices, and techniques. 
• Principles and practices of accounting, cost analysis, and fiscal management. 
• Oral communication techniques to include presentations to groups of various 

sizes in a positive manner. 
• Composition, spelling, grammar, vocabulary, and punctuation for both written and 

oral communications. 
• Formats and appropriate terminology for written communications such as 

business correspondence, policies, procedures, and narrative reports. 
• Basic mathematics for developing, preparing, and completing numerical, 

budgetary, and/or statistical reports. 
• Best practices in office management, including filing and records retention. 
• Skills in organizing work, setting priorities, meeting deadlines, and following 

assignments with minimum direction. 
 

Ability to: 
• Prepare and interpret a wide variety of maps, graphic illustrations, and land use 

data. 
• Understand program objectives in relation to LAFCO’s goals and procedures. 
• Collect, compile, and analyze qualitative information. 
• Research laws, regulations, procedures, and/or technical reference materials; 

analyze, evaluate, and interpret the data gathered; draw logical conclusions; 
develop reasonable and deliverable options; make appropriate 
recommendations; and implement the resultant change effectively. 

• Understand, interpret, and apply applicable laws, regulations and policies, and 
use good judgement in their application. 

• Prepare and present concise written reports and make verbal presentations. 
• Prepare and monitor contracts according to Commission directives. 
• Manage a variety of simultaneous work projects and carry them through 

successful completion. 
• Prepare a variety of written communications to include reports, policies, 

procedures, and comprehensive narrative and statistical reports. 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 68 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 234 of 338



• Communicate information and ideas clearly and concisely, both orally and in 
writing. 

• Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
performance of required duties. 

• Represent LAFCO in meeting with representatives from various public/non-public 
agencies and with the public.  

• Maintain accurate records and document actions taken. 
• Maintain confidentiality of records and information in compliance with laws and 

regulations. 
 
Desirable Work Style and Personal Traits: 

• Possess a high degree of integrity, works well with peers and supervisors as well 
as difficult and sensitive organization issues; 

• Possess a commitment to very high ethical standards and quality public services; 
• An active listener, supportive team member, and demonstrates an energetic work 

style; 
• Embraces challenges, is objective, open minded, accountable, and is 

comfortable working in a complex political environment; 
• Able to interact well and comfortably with individuals of diverse backgrounds; 
• Able to approach challenges with confidence, and maintain positive, productive, 

and ethical interaction with peers, the public, the Commission and elected 
officials, and; 

• Maintain a professional appearance. 
 
Special Requirements: 

• Possession of a valid California Driver’s License prior to appointment. 
• Required to work some extended hours to attend meetings or assist with 

presentations. 
  

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 69 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 235 of 338



Position Description for LAFCo Office Administrator / Clerk 
 
DEFINITION: 
The LAFCO Officer Administrator/Clerk works under the direction of the Executive 
Officer, performs a wide range of administrative services in support of Solano Local 
Agency Formation Commission staff, and other related work as required.  This person 
must have good knowledge of proper grammar, spelling, and punctuation and be an 
effective communicator both orally and in writing.  This person should be able to 
independently learn and follow directions 
 
GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 
Office Tasks 

• Maintains office services by organizing office operations and procedures, 
preparing payroll, controlling correspondence, designing and maintaining filing 
systems, reviewing and approving supply requisitions, and assigning and 
monitoring clerical functions. 

• Assist Executive Officer in all administrative functions of the Commission, 
conducting research and analysis in support of, project processing, Municipal 
Services Reviews, Sphere of Influence reviews and special projects. Sort and 
distribute incoming mail and prepare outgoing mail (envelopes, packages, etc.) 

• Undertake basic bookkeeping tasks, track project deposits, process vendor 
claims and purchasing card statements.  

• Perform other office duties as assigned 
 
Clerk Tasks 

• Support for all Commission meetings including legal notice, agenda, meeting 
materials, staff support to Commissioners, preparing minutes and final meeting 
records in conjunction with Executive Officer.  

• Project processing from initiation to completion. Follow up with applicants and 
complete final filing on Commission approved proposals.  

• Maintain all Commissioner files. (Ethics training, Statement of Economic Interest 
ect…)  

• Support for Commission actions including preparation of resolutions and related 
documents.  

• Coordinate with Accountant to prepare and submit accounts payable, accounts 
receivable and payroll for LAFCo staff.  

 
EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS: 
To qualify for this position, an individual must possess a combination of education and 
experience that would likely produce the required knowledge, skills, and abilities as 
detailed in this position description: 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 70 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 236 of 338



Education/Experience: 
Bachelor’s Degree from an accredited college or university with major course work in 
public or business administration, government, finance, economics, land use planning, 
public policy, urban studies, political science, graphic information system, or closely 
related field. 
 
Knowledge of: 
 
Must have strong analytical, communication and interpersonal skills. Five years of office 
experience preferred.  
 

Must demonstrate expertise in:  

• Computers and software programs typically used for data collection, retrieval 
and analysis, including but not limited to Word, Excel, PowerPoint, and Quick 
Books.  

• Principles and practices relating to budget programs. 

• Laws, regulations, and policies applicable to local government and meetings.  
  

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 71 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 237 of 338



Appendix A – Salary Schedule 
 
Classifications represented under this Personnel and Salary Resolution are: 

• LAFCo Executive Officer 
• LAFCo Deputy Executive Officer 
• LAFCo Sr. Analyst 
• LAFCo Analyst II 
• LAFCo Analyst I 
• LAFCo Office Administrator / Clerk 

 
1.  The present monthly base pay rate for represented classification is: 
 
Classification Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 
LAFCo Office 
Administrator / Clerk 

$4,401.47 
$4,621.54 

$4,621.54 
$4,852.62 

$4,852.62 
$5.095.25 

$5.095.25 
$5,350.01 

$5,350.01 
$5,617.51 

LAFCo Analyst I $5,352.88 
$5,620.52 

$5,620.52 
$5,901.55 

$5,901.55 
$6,196.63 

$6,196.63 
$6,555.49 

$6,555.49 
$6,883.26 

LAFCo Analyst II $6,243.33 
$6,555.49 

$6,555.49 
$6,883.27 

$6,883.27 
$7,227.43 

$7,227.43 
$7,588.81 

$7,588.81 
$7,968.25 

LAFCo Sr. Analyst $7,215.87 
$7,576.66 

$7,576.66 
$7,955.49 

$7,955.49 
$8.353.27 

$8.353.27 
$8,770.93 

$8,770.93 
$9,209.48 

LAFCo Deputy Executive 
Officer 

$9,209.17 
$9,669.63 

$9,669.63 
$10,153.11 

$10,153.11 
$10,660.76 

$10,660.76 
$11,193.92 

$11,193.92 
$11,753.62 

LAFCo Executive Officer     $12,083.33 
$15,000.00 

 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 72 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 238 of 338



 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 73 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 239 of 338



Appendix B – List of Positions Exempt from Overtime Requirements 
 

1. Executive Officer 
2. LAFCo Deputy Executive Officer 
3. LAFCo Senior Analyst 
4. LAFCo Analyst I/II 
5. LAFCo Officer Administrator / Clerk 
  

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 74 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 240 of 338



Employee Acknowledgement Form 
 

I have received and read a copy of the Solano County LAFCo (“LAFCo”) 
employee policy manual and understand all the policies, guidelines and procedures 
stated within. The guideline manual describes important information about LAFCo, and 
I understand that I should consult the LAFCo Executive Officer regarding any questions 
I might have. I have entered into my employment relationship with LAFCo voluntarily 
and acknowledge that there is no specified length of employment. Accordingly, either I 
or LAFCo can terminate the relationship at will, with or without cause, at any time, so 
long as there is no violation of applicable federal or state law. Furthermore, I 
acknowledge that this manual is not a contract of employment. 

Since the information, policies, and benefits described herein are necessarily 
subject to change, I acknowledge that revisions to the manual may occur, except to 
LAFCo's policy of employment-at-will. I understand that LAFCo reserves the right to 
modify, supplement or rescind any or all of its policies whenever it deems necessary or 
useful to do so, at any time with or without notice. 

 

 
  
EMPLOYEE’S NAME (printed) 
 
    
EMPLOYEE’S SIGNATURE  Date 
 
 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 75 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 241 of 338



EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT FOR SOLANO LAFCO EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER 

Amendment No 2023-01 

This Amendment No. 2023-01 to the EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT FOR SOLANO 
LAFCO EXECUTIVE OFFICER is made and entered into as of August 12, 2023 by and 
between the Solano Local Agency Formation Commission, hereinafter referred to as 
EMPLOYER and Richard J. Seithel, hereinafter referred to as EMPLOYEE and is hereby 
amended to make the following change, effective July 1, 2023: 

1. Section 5.01 Annual Salary is hereby amended to reads as follows:

“Section 5.01    Annual Salary:  As compensation for the services to be rendered by
EMPLOYEE here under, EMPLOYER shall pay EMPLOYEE $180,000 per year.
Future merit increases will be considered annually as part of the performance
review described above.”

2. Except as amended above, all terms of the Employment Contract and Amendment
No 2022-01 remain in full force and effect.

3. This Amendment No 2023-01 may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall
constitute an original.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment No 2023-01 to Agreement was
executed by the parties hereto as of the date first above written. 

For LAFCO: EMPLOYEE 

By:  __________________________ 
Nancy Shopay 
Chair, Solano LAFCO 

Approved as to Form: 

By:  ___________________________ 
Richard J. Seithel 

By:  __________________________ 
Mala Subramanian 
Counsel, Solano LAFCO 

Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 
Attachment B

Staff Report Page 76 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 242 of 338



Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Attachment C

Staff Report Page 77 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 243 of 338



Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 
Attachment D

Staff Report Page 78 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 244 of 338



Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 79 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 245 of 338



Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 80 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 246 of 338



Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 81 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 247 of 338



Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 82 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 248 of 338



Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 83 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 249 of 338



Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 84 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 250 of 338



Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 85 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 251 of 338



Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 86 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 252 of 338



Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 87 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 253 of 338



Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 88 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 254 of 338



Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 89 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 255 of 338



Agenda Item 8.A - PSR COLA's and EO Contract 

Staff Report Page 90 of 90

Agenda Packet Page 256 of 338



Commissioners 
Nancy Shopay, Chair • Ron Kott, Vice-Chair • John Vasquez • Mitch Mashburn • Steve Bird 

Alternate Commissioners 
Robert Guerrero • Alma Hernandez • Wanda Williams 

Staff 
Rich Seithel, Executive Officer • Christina Love, Deputy Executive Officer • Aaron Norman, Analyst II • Tova Guevara, 

Office Administrator/Clerk • Mala Subramanian, Lead Legal Counsel 

Staff Report 

DATE: August 14, 2023 

TO: Local Agency Formation Commission 

FROM:  Rich Seithel, Executive Officer  

SUBJECT: LAFCO PROJECT 2023-11: AMEND THE PERSONNEL AND SALARY 
RESOLUTION BY APPROVING THE NEW LAFCO PROJECT SPECIALIST 
JOB CLASSIFICATION AND RELATED CHANGES TO SECTION 4.11 
ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE, POSITION DESCRIPTIONS, AND APPENDIX A 
AND B; and APPROPRIATE FUNDS TO FILL THE POSITION 

Recommendation: 

RECEIVE the proposed LAFCO Project Specialist classification and salary (Attachment A), and 
revised Solano LAFCO Personnel and Salary Resolution (Attachment B),  

APPROVE the LAFCO Resolution updating LAFCO Personnel and Salary Resolution sections 
related to the LAFCO Project Specialist classification, specifically sections: 

• Division 4.11 Administrative Leave
• Position Descriptions
• Appendix A and Appendix B

APPROVE or Approve with modifications FY 2023/24 Adjusted Final Budget of $1,223,316 via 
the adoption of the attached LAFCO Resolution. 

APPROVE and DIRECT staff to process a FY 2023/24 Budget Adjustment as approved. 

DIRECT staff to commence recruitment for the LAFCO Project Specialist position.  

Executive Summary: 

During the June 12, 2023, FY 2023/24 Final Budget public hearing, the Commission directed 
staff to review the fund balance in consideration of funding a new position with a primary focus 
on in-house service reviews and sphere of influence updates. This decision was a result of the 
Commission recognizing that securing top-level consultants has become difficult, costly, and 
time-consuming.  The Commission also expressed confidence in staff and the quality of work 
being produced. Having an in-house person will enhance that level and, in addition, help 
address delays in preparing service reviews and SOI updates.  The result of this discussion was 
the direction to develop a job description and salary range for an additional employee. 

Solano Local Agency Formation Commission 
675 Texas St. Ste. 6700 • Fairfield, California 94533 

(707) 439-3897 • FAX: (707) 438-1788

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 1 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 257 of 338



Given the Commission’s direction and after researching positions that carry similar responsibility 
levels and experience requirements, staff developed the LAFCO Project Specialist position. This 
position will provide a team member that will greatly aid our service review production rate, help 
the financially challenged cities update their municipal service reviews, and complement the 
existing LAFCO team. Following is a more robust discussion and details on the new position, 
funding, and required Personnel and Salary Resolution amendments.  

Discussion:  

New Position – LAFCO Project Specialist 

Description 

During the June discussion about the final budget and workplan for FY 2023-24, the 
Commission acknowledged the heavy workload and numerous high-priority tasks 
(Attachment A – FY 23/24 Workplan).  Particularly, LAFCO’s legislative responsibility of 
maintaining and updating service reviews and spheres of influence for jurisdiction, and how 
many jurisdictions have unreliable/old service reviews.  Commission acknowledged and 
appreciated the depth of review and analysis done on recent service reviews, but 
understands that the ability, cost, and management of continuously hiring outside 
consultants may be inefficient in the long term.   

As a result, Commission directed staff to research job descriptions and funding availability 
for hiring a new employee with a focus on in-house service reviews and sphere updates.  
Having an in-house employee will better support Solano LAFCO’s expectations of high-
quality service reviews, and likely expedite the process because staff will not have to 
facilitate and manage an outside consultant.  

Staff constructed the attached 
proposed job classification for 
LAFCO Project Specialist 
(Attachment B).   This action helps 
to complete the FY 2023-24 
Workplan Task 1 (MSR and SOI 
updates) and Task 5 
(Reorganizations) by LAFCO 
initiating and completing updates 
in-house.  

This action also updates the Solano 
LAFCO Personnel and Salary 
Resolution by incorporating the new 
Project Specialist classification.  
This position qualifies for exemption 
under the applicable Fair Labor 
Standards Act (FLSA). 

Proposed Salary 

The new position requires a high 
level of education and experience. 
In order to fill the position with an 

eligible person that can meet the needs of LAFCO, the salary and benefits must be 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 2 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 258 of 338



competitive with the existing market for like positions.  Staff searched “project specialist 
management position” salaries to weigh considerations, as well as comparing similar 
positions to existing Solano County positions and salaries1.   

As a result, staff proposes the following pay scale: 

Classification Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 
LAFCo Project 

Specialist $10,103.41 $10,608.58 $11,138.58 $11,695.51 $12,280.28 

Funding of new Expenses 

As of July 2023, and as noted in the final budget hearing, Solano LAFCO’s Fund Balance 
Available is approximately $500,000; excluding the mandatory Reserve and the approved 
appropriation for the Final Budget for FY 2023/24.   

The position can be filled as early as October 2023 so that the approved FY 2023/24 
Workplan tasks related to Municipal Service Reviews and Sphere of Influence updates can 
begin quickly.  The new position would require a $177,757 adjustment to the approved Final 
Budget for FY 2023/24.  

The following table summarizes the Proposed Adjusted Final Budget FY 2023/24.  The 
columns display the Approved Final Budget next to the proposed Adjustment for the New 
Position with the new Adjusted Final Budget.   

Approved Final 
Budget FY 
2023/24 

New Job 
Classification 
Adjustment 

Adjusted Final 
Budget FY 
2023/24 

(1000s)  
Salary and Employee Benefits $659,443 $170,877 $830,320 

(2000s) 
Services and Supplies $386,116 $6,880 $392,996 

Total Expenses $1,045,559 $177,757 $1,223,316 

Fund Balance Appropriation $94,771 $177,757 $272,528 

The Salary and Employee Benefits (1000s) are anticipated to be an increase of $170,877, 
with the position being filled as early as October.  Expenses for Services and Supplies 
(2000s) are required to furnish a new workstation, an anticipated $6,880.   

The difference between the Approved Final Budget and the proposed Adjusted Final Budget 
is $177,757.  Therefore, an additional appropriation of $177,757 from Fund Balance is 
necessary to balance the Proposed Adjusted Budget for FY 2023/24.   

On-going funding for this position will be included in the FY 2024-25 Budget and fiscal year 
budgets moving forward. 

1 (Special) Planning Program Manager, Project Manager, Management Analyst, and Compliance and Quality 
Assurance Manager 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 3 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 259 of 338



Revised Personnel and Salary Resolution (PSR) 

Solano LAFCO has an adopted Personnel and Salary Resolution policy (PSR).  The 
aforementioned proposals require related updates to the PSR.  The proposed Amended PSR is 
Attachment B.  The highlighted parts in the Table of Contents reflect the sections with 
amendments.   

• Division 4.11 will be amended to identify that all positions listed in Appendix B are
exempt and therefore eligible for Administrative Leave.  The proposed revision is shown
with black strike-through and double-underline.

• Position Descriptions section includes double-underlined text reflecting the addition of
the proposed LAFCO Project Specialist classification.

• Appendix A includes double-underlined text reflecting the addition of the new
classification.

• Appendix B includes double-underlined text reflecting the addition of the new
classification as exempt from overtime.

Conclusion 

In conclusion, MSRs and SOIs are legislative directives given to LAFCOs by State law, and 
are essential for LAFCO to accomplish its public purposes under the CKH Act.  As such, 
MSRs and SOI updates are legitimate and necessary LAFCO expenses.  By having an in-
house specialist with a major focus on MSRs and SOIs, Solano LAFCO will more effectively 
and efficiently fulfill this legislative mandate.  

Action Items: 

- Resolution of the Solano Local Agency Formation Commission Adopting the New Job
Classification and Salary for LAFCO Project Specialist Job Description and Salary and
the Related Amendments to the Personnel and Salary Resolution

- Resolution of the Local Agency Formation Commission of Solano County Adopting an
Adjusted Final Budget Fiscal Year 2023-2024

Attachments: 

A. Proposed LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification and Salary
B. Proposed Personnel and Salary Resolution, Revised August 14, 2023

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 4 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 260 of 338



8.B – Action Item 1

LAFCO RESOLUTION NO. 2023- 

RESOLUTION OF THE SOLANO LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION  
AMENDING THE PERSONNEL AND SALARY RESOLUTION SECTION 4.11 

ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE; POSITION DESCRIPTIONS; APPENDIX A; AND APPENDIX B 
TO INCORPORATE A NEW PROJECT SPECIALIST CLASSIFICATION 

WHEREAS, the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of Solano County has 
an adopted Personnel and Salary Resolution (PSR) applicable to all employees, last amended 
October 12, 2022, and; 

WHEREAS, service reviews and sphere of influence updates are legislative directives 
given to LAFCOs by State law, and essential for LAFCO to accomplish its public purposes 
under the CKH Act.  As such, MSRs and SOI updates are legitimate and necessary LAFCO 
expenses, and; 

WHEREAS, LAFCO practices have been to seek and hire contracted consultants to 
conduct service reviews and sphere of influence updates that meet State law, and the needs 
and expectations of LAFCO, and’ 

WHEREAS, at the June 12, 2023 public hearing, the Commission directed staff to 
research and draft a new position classification with a focus on in-house service reviews and 
sphere of influence updates with a proposed salary schedule and funding means, and; 

WHEREAS, MSRs and SOIs are legislative directives given to LAFCOs by State law, 
and are essential for LAFCO to accomplish its public purposes under the CKH Act.  As such, 
MSRs and SOI updates are legitimate and necessary LAFCO expenses.  By having an in-house 
specialist with a major focus on MSRs and SOIs, Solano LAFCO will more effectively and 
efficiently fulfill this legislative mandate, and; 

WHEREAS, at the August 14, 2023 public hearing, the Commission received and 
considered a draft position classification for a LAFCO Project Specialist with proposed funding, 
and; 

WHEREAS, at the August 14, 2023 public hearing, the Commission received and 
considered amendments to the Personnel and Salary Resolution Section 4.11, Position 
Descriptions, Appendix A – Salary Schedule, and Appendix B – List of Positions Exempt from 
Overtime Requirements to include the new LAFCO Project Specialist and Salary, and; 

WHEREAS, the LAFCO Project Specialist Classification is funded in the Adjusted Final 
Budget Fiscal Year 2023-24 that was considered and approved at the regular LAFCO 
Commission meeting held on August 14, 2023, and; 

***CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE*** 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 5 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 261 of 338



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY DETERMINED AND ORDERED as follows: 

1. The LAFCO Project Specialist Position is created pursuant to the Adjusted Final Budget
Fiscal Year 2023-24.

2. The salary range for the position is $10,103.41 - $12,280.28 Monthly, exempt from
FLSA.

3. The Executive Officer is directed to commence recruitment.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Local Agency Formation Commission of Solano County at a 
regular meeting, held on the 14th day of August 2023, by the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES:  
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

________________________________ 
Nancy Shopay, Chair  
Presiding Officer Solano Local Agency  
Formation Commission 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 
Tova Guevara, Office Administrator/Clerk 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 6 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 262 of 338



8.B – Action Item 2

LAFCO RESOLUTION NO. 2023- 

RESOLUTION OF THE LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
OF SOLANO COUNTY ADOPTING THE  

ADJUSTED FINAL BUDGET FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024 

WHEREAS, the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 
2000(CKH) section 56000 et seq. of the California Government Code (GC) requires the Local 
Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO or Commission) of Solano County  to perform planning 
duties by encouraging the orderly development and coordination of local agencies; and,  

WHEREAS, the Commission is required to adopt annual final budgets by June 15; and, 

WHEREAS, staff consulted with the Budget Committee group on March 23, 2023 to help 
inform and make decisions regarding the agency’s funding requirements; and, 

WHEREAS, the Executive Officer prepared a written report and recommendations on a 
proposed budget and proposed work plan for the fiscal year 2023-24 adopted by the 
Commission on April 10, 2023, and subsequently circulated for review and comment to all 
funding agencies; and,  

WHEREAS, the Commission considered and adopted the Final Budget and Workplan 
for Fiscal Year 2023-24 at the public hearing held on June 12, 2023; and, 

WHEREAS, during the public hearing for the Final Budget Fiscal Year 2023-24 on June 
12, 2023, the Commission also directed staff to create a new position classification for an in-
house service review specialist and to propose a salary and funding for such a position; and  

WHEREAS, on August 14, 2023, the Commission received and considered a new 
position classification and salary schedule for LAFCO Project Specialist with proposed funding; 
and, 

WHEREAS, on August 14, 2023, the Commission heard and considered all evidence 
and testimony for an Adjusted Final Budget for Fiscal Year 2023-24 for the new LAFCO Project 
Specialist position; and,   

WHEREAS, the Commission’s Adjusted operating budget for FY 2023-24 is $1,223,316; 
and,  

WHEREAS, expenses for Adjusted Final Budget Fiscal Year 2023-24 are 
hereby allocated by budget category in the following manner:  

Salaries and Employee Benefits $ 830,320 
Services and Supplies $ 392,996 
Designated Reserve $            0 
Total Expenses        $ 1,223,316 

WHEREAS, the Adjusted Final Budget Fiscal Year 2023-24 includes an 
increased appropriation from Fund Balance by an additional $177,757; and, 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 7 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 263 of 338



WHEREAS, the Adjusted Final Budget Fiscal Year 2023-24 does not change the 
City/County Apportionment amount; and,  

WHEREAS, revenues for Adjusted Final Budget Fiscal Year 2023-24 or the means 
of financing the LAFCO program will be by monies derived from the following sources of 
funding: 

Anticipated Revenue $   50,000 
Anticipated Interest $     5,000 
Fund Balance $ 272,528 
City/County Apportionment $ 895,788 
Total Revenue $1,223,316 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AND ORDERED, that the Local Agency 
Formation Commission of the County of Solano does approve and adopt the Adjusted Final 
Budget as shown in Exhibit A, attached, and by this reference incorporated herein and does 
further order and direct the following: 

Section 1: The Executive Officer shall transmit the Adjusted Final Budget to the 
Auditor and all parties specified in Government Code §56381(a) as promptly as possible. 

The foregoing resolution was duly passed and adopted by the Local Agency Formation 
Commission of the County of Solano at a duly noticed public hearing held on August 14, 2023, 
by the following roll call vote: 

AYES: 
NOES:  
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

______________________________ 
Nancy Shopay, Chair 
Presiding Officer of Local Agency Formation 
Commission County of Solano, State of California 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 
Christina Love, Clerk of the Commission 

Exhibit A: 2023-24 Adjusted Final Budget

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 8 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 264 of 338



Sub-
object Object Description

23/24
 Final Budget

(FB)

Adjustment for 
New Position

23/24
Adjusted Budget 

1000 SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
1110 SALARY/WAGES REGULAR $498,740 118,758.98$       $617,499
1210 RETIREMENT-EMPLOYER $50,714 $20,035 $70,749
1212 DEFERRED COMP-COUNTY MATCH $520 $130 $650
1220 FICA-EMPLOYER $7,014 $1,722 $8,736
1230 HEALTH INS-EMPLOYER $63,786 $20,501 $84,287
1231 VISION CARE INSURANCE $584 $166 $750
1240 COMPENSATION INSURANCE $2,000 $200 $2,200
1241 LT DISABILITY INSURANCE ER $3,831 $1,173 $5,004
1250 UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE $900 $150 $1,050
1260 DENTAL INS-EMPLOYER $4,493 $1,323 $5,816
1270 ACCRUED LEAVE CTO PAYOFF $23,092 $5,400 $28,492
1290 LIFE INSURANCE-EMPLOYER $3,770 $1,318 $5,088

TOTAL SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS $659,443 $170,877 $830,320

2000 SERVICES AND SUPPLIES
2021 COMMUNICATION-TELEPHONE SYSTEM $11,904 $11,904
2026 CELL PHONE ALLOWANCE $2,100 $2,100
2028 TELEPHONE SERVICES $12,180 $12,180
2051 LIABILITY INSURANCE $8,089 $1,000 $9,089
2140 MAINTENANCE-BLDGS & IMPROVE $500 $500
2170 MEMBERSHIPS $11,498 $11,498
2180 BOOKS & SUBSCRIPTIONS $488 $80 $568
2200 OFFICE EXPENSE $12,000 $12,000
2201 EQUIPMENT UNDER $1,500 $15,000 $600 $15,600
2202 CONT ASSETS COMPUTER RELATED $1,500 $3,000 $4,500
2204 COMPUTER RELATED ITEMS:<$500 $1,000 $600 $1,600
2205 POSTAGE $700 $700
2235 ACCOUNTING & FINANCIAL SERVICE $15,000 $15,000
2239 LEGAL SERVICE $30,200 $30,200
2245 CONTRACTED SERVICES $130,000 $130,000
2250 OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES $16,000 $16,000
2266 CENTRAL DATA PROCESSING SVCE $41,157 $41,157
2271 SOFTWARE RENTAL / SUBSCRIPTION $2,400 $300 $2,700
2280 PUBLICATIONS AND LEGAL NOTICES $1,000 $1,000
2285 LEASE EXPENSE-COPIERS/MFD'S ST $7,000 $7,000
2295 LEASE EXPENSE - BUILDINGS ST $28,000 $28,000
2310 EDUCATION & TRAINING $8,000 $8,000
2335 TRAVEL EXPENSE $18,600 $1,300 $19,900
2339 MANAGEMENT BUSINESS EXPENSE $2,000 $2,000
2354 CAR ALLOWANCE $7,800 $7,800
2355 PERSONAL MILEAGE $2,000 $2,000

TOTAL SERVICES AND SUPPLIES $386,116 $6,880 $392,996

OTHER EXPENSES
730 20% RESERVE POLICY ADJUSTMENT $0 $0

TOTAL TOTAL EXPENSES $1,045,559 $177,757 $1,223,316

9200 LICENSES & PERMITS-OTHER
9229 LICENSES & PERMITS-OTHER $50,000 $50,000

9400 REVENUE FROM USE OF MONEY/PROP
9401 INTEREST INCOME $5,000 $5,000

9500 INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUES
9511 OTHER GOVERNMENTAL AGENCIES $895,788 $895,788

740 OTHER REVENUE
740 FUND BALANCE FROM PRIOR YEAR $94,771 $177,757 $272,528

TOTAL REVENUES $1,045,559 $177,757 $1,223,316

1000 $659,443 $170,877 $830,320

2000 $386,116 $6,880 $392,996

Reserve Adjustment $0 $0 $0
TOTAL EXPENSES $1,045,559 $177,757 $1,223,316

9200 $50,000 $50,000
9400 $5,000 $5,000
9500 $895,788 $895,788
Fund Balance Appropriation $94,771 $177,757 $272,528
Encumbrance Roll-over

TOTAL REVENUES $1,045,559 $177,757 $1,223,316

SU
M

M
A

R
Y EX

PE
N

SE
S

R
EV

EN
U

ES

EX
PE

NS
ES

RE
VE

NU
ES

EXHIBIT A
FY 23/24 PROPOSED BUDGET

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 9 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 265 of 338



ATTACHMENT A 

LAFCO Project Specialist 

SALARY RANGE  
$10,103.41 - $12,280.28 Monthly 

$121,240.92 - $147,363.36 Annually 

DEFINITION: 
The LAFCO Project Specialist position’s primary function/role is to maintain a cycle of updated 
municipal service reviews, updated spheres of influence, and conduct regional service reviews 
and project reviews.  This person will generally work independently with some collaboration 
when necessary.  The position will be under the supervision of the Executive Officer and Deputy 
Executive Officer. 

This individual must have a highly specialized understanding of agency municipal services, city 
and special district operations and functions, Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg legislation, and 
interagency cooperation.  This person must be a well-rounded professional with exceptional 
technical and project management skills, and a proven ability to be able to be adaptable and 
innovative.  This person will be expected to deliver high-quality, outstanding reports and 
projects.  

GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES: 

• Management-level understanding of how municipal services function and are financed.

• Familiarity with the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act, the role and functions of LAFCOs, and
the MSR/SOI Study process.

• Experience in governmental organization analysis, including performance measurement
and evaluation.

• Ability to facilitate and synthesize input from a variety of sources, including archival
research.

• Ability to interpret varied financial and planning documents.

• Experience in identifying and fostering multi-agency cooperation.

• Ability to conduct public input processes.

• Experience presenting and disseminating information to the Commission, local agencies,
and the public for review and comment.

• Ability to work cooperatively with multi-agency interests on regional and complex
projects.

Service Review/Sphere of Influence Updates 

• Obtain information about municipal services in a geographic area.

• Evaluate the provision of municipal services from a comprehensive perspective,
including regional.

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 10 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 266 of 338



• Recommend actions when necessary, to promote the efficient provision of those
services.

• Gather and obtain information and data for a municipal service review.

• Prepare and issue a draft service review report which includes draft determinations
required by state law.

• Provide the technical expertise and administrative management to complete the final
municipal service review.

EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS: 
To qualify for this position, an individual must possess a combination of education and 
experience that would likely produce the required knowledge, skills, and abilities as detailed in 
this position description: 

Education: 
Bachelor’s Degree from an accredited college or university with major course work in public or 
business administration, government, finance, economics, land use planning, public policy, 
urban studies, political science, graphic information system, or closely related field. 

Experience: 
Must have strong analytical, communication, and written skills. Minimum 5 years of government 
agency experience at a management level.  

Must demonstrate expertise in: 

• Computers and software programs typically used for data collection, retrieval, and
analysis; including but not limited to Word, Excel, and PowerPoint.

• Laws, regulations, and policies applicable to CKH/LAFCO law, special districts, and
local government.

• Excellent written and oral communications, reports, and presentations.

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 11 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 267 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 1 of 71 

Solano Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) 
Personnel and Salary Resolution (PSR) 

As Proposed August 12, 2023 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Division 1.  Working Environment ....................................................................................................... 3 

Section 1.1 Introduction to LAFCo .................................................................................................. 3 

Section 1.2 Authority; Amendment; No Vested Rights ................................................................ 3 

Section 1.3 Equal Employment Opportunity Policy ...................................................................... 3 

Section 1.4 Policy Against Disability Discrimination ..................................................................... 3 

Section 1.5 Policy Against Harassment ......................................................................................... 4 

Section 1.6 Drug and Alcohol Policy ............................................................................................... 5 

Division 2.  Definitions ............................................................................................................................ 5 
Division 3.  Terms and Conditions of Employment ........................................................................ 6 

Section 3.1 Hiring Policy and Procedure ........................................................................................ 6 

Section 3.2 At-Will Employment ...................................................................................................... 7 

Section 3.3 Separation from Service .............................................................................................. 7 

Section 3.4 Incompatible Activities .................................................................................................. 8 

Section 3.5 Work Schedules ............................................................................................................ 8 

Section 3.6 Employee’s Duty to Notify of Late Arrival or Absence ............................................ 9 

Section 3.7 Excessive Tardiness/Absenteeism ............................................................................ 9 

Section 3.8 Rest Periods .................................................................................................................. 9 

Section 3.9 Workers’ Compensation and State Disability Insurance ......................................... 9 

Section 3.10 Computer and E-Mail Usage ..................................................................................... 11 

Division 4.  Employee Benefits ........................................................................................................... 12 
Section 4.1 Holidays ........................................................................................................................ 12 

Section 4.2 Vacation ........................................................................................................................ 13 

Section 4.3 Sick Leave .................................................................................................................... 14 

Section 4.4   Family and Medical Leave ........................................................................................... 16 

Section 4.5 Bereavement Leave ................................................................................................... 23 

Section 4.6 Leave of Absence Without Pay ................................................................................. 24 

Section 4.7 Jury Duty ...................................................................................................................... 25 

Section 4.8 Insurance and Service Plans .................................................................................... 25 

Section 4. 9 Unemployment Benefits ............................................................................................. 29 

Section 4.10 Pregnancy Leave ........................................................................................................ 29 

Section 4.11 Administrative Leave .................................................................................................. 34 

Section 4.12 Military Leave .............................................................................................................. 35 

Division 5.  Salary Plan Administration ............................................................................................ 36 
Section 5.1 Pay for New Employees ............................................................................................. 36 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 12 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 268 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 2 of 71 

Section 5.2 Salary Plan ................................................................................................................... 36 

Section 5.3 Merit Increases within Grade .................................................................................... 37 

Section 5.4 Longevity Compensation ........................................................................................... 38 

Section 5.5 Overtime; CTO ............................................................................................................ 39 

Section 5.6 Salary Payment Procedure ....................................................................................... 40 

Section 5.7 Employee Recognition ............................................................................................... 40 

Section 5.8 Overpayments ............................................................................................................. 40 

Division 6.  Retirement Benefits ......................................................................................................... 42 
Section 6.1 Retirement .................................................................................................................... 42 

Section 6.2 Social Security ............................................................................................................. 44 

Section 6.3 Deferred Compensation ............................................................................................. 45 

Division 7.  Tuition Reimbursement Program ................................................................................ 45 
Section 7.1 Objectives .................................................................................................................... 45 

Section 7.2 Eligibility of Employees for Tuition Reimbursement .............................................. 45 

Section 7.3 Policy for Tuition Reimbursement ............................................................................ 45 

Section 7.4 Nature of Reimbursement ......................................................................................... 46 

Section 7.5 Procedure for Tuition Reimbursement ..................................................................... 47 

Section 7.6 Continued Service Requirement ............................................................................... 47 

Division 8.  Expense Reimbursement Section ............................................................................... 47 
Section 8.1 Travel Expense ........................................................................................................... 47 

Section 8.2 Other Expense Reimbursement ............................................................................... 48 

Division 9.  Personnel Files ................................................................................................................. 48 
Section 9.1 General ......................................................................................................................... 48 

Section 9.2 Notifying LAFCo of Changes in Personal Information .......................................... 48 

Section 9.3 Location of Personnel Files ....................................................................................... 48 

Section 9.4 Medical Information .................................................................................................... 48 

Section 9.5 References and Release of Information in Personnel Files ................................. 49 

Section 9.6 Employee Access to Personnel File ........................................................................ 50 

Position Description for LAFCo Executive Officer ........................................................................... 51 

Position Description for LAFCo Deputy Executive Officer ............................................................. 53 

Position Description for LAFCo Senior Analyst ............................................................................... 57 

Position Description for LAFCo Analyst I/II ...................................................................................... 61 

Position Description for LAFCo Office Administrator / Clerk ......................................................... 65 

Position Description for LAFCo Project Specialist .......................................................................... 67 

Appendix A – Salary Schedule ........................................................................................................... 69 

Appendix B – List of Positions Exempt from Overtime Requirements ......................................... 70 

Employee Acknowledgement Form ................................................................................................... 71 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 13 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 269 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 3 of 71 

Division 1.  Working Environment 

Section 1.1 Introduction to LAFCo 

Solano Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) is an independent public 
agency formed to regulate the boundaries and the creation of cities and special 
districts through Solano County. As a public agency, LAFCo is responsible for 
providing a service to all members of the public. 

LAFCo has prepared this manual to provide all employees a summary of its 
policies and benefits. It is not intended to be exhaustive of all employee 
requirements and regulations. 
LAFCo strives to improve its policies, the services that it provides, and positive 
relations with its employees. All employees are encouraged to bring suggestions for 
improvements to the attention of the Executive Officer. By working together, LAFCo 
hopes that it will share with its employees a sincere pride in the services we are 
providing. 

Section 1.2 Authority; Amendment; No Vested Rights 

These policies have been adopted by the Commission and are intended to establish 
enforceable regulations governing LAFCo employees. These policies may be 
amended by the Commission at any time, and nothing herein is intended to create 
vested rights in the employees that cannot be modified by the Commission. 

Section 1.3 Equal Employment Opportunity Policy 

LAFCo believes that all persons are entitled to equal employment opportunity. 
LAFCo does not discriminate against its employees or applicants because of 
race, color, religion, sex, pregnancy, national origin, ancestry, age, sexual 
orientation, marital status, physical or mental disability, medical condition, or any 
other grounds prohibited by state or federal law. Equal opportunity will be 
extended in all aspects of the employer-employee relationship, including 
recruitment, hiring, upgrading, training, promotion, transfer, discipline, layoff, 
recall, and termination. Employment decisions shall, therefore, comply with all 
applicable state and federal laws prohibiting discrimination in employment. 

Section 1.4 Policy Against Disability Discrimination 

LAFCo is committed to complying fully with state and federal disability 
discrimination laws. No program or activity administered by LAFCo shall exclude 
from participation, deny benefits to or subject to discrimination any individual based 
on an individuals’ actual or perceived disability or based on an individual’s 
association with someone who has an actual or perceived disability. 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 14 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 270 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 4 of 71 

LAFCo is further committed to providing reasonable accommodation to the 
known physical or mental limitations of an otherwise qualified applicant or 
employee. If you 
believe you are a qualified individual with a disability and that you need a 
reasonable accommodation in order to perform the essential functions of your job, 
please notify the Executive Officer. 

Section 1.5 Policy Against Harassment 

LAFCo prohibits and will not tolerate unlawful harassment. This policy applies to all 
persons involved with LAFCo including employees, applicants, customers or 
persons providing services pursuant to a contract. This policy prohibits sexual 
harassment and harassment based on an individual’s inclusion in a protected class, 
such as race, color, religion, national origin, ancestry, sex, age, medical condition, 
sexual orientation, marital status, citizenship, pregnancy, physical and mental 
disabilities, veteran or any other consideration made unlawful by federal, state or 
local laws, including persons perceived to have these characteristics. LAFCo will 
also take all responsible steps to prevent or eliminate unlawful harassment by non-
employees, including customers, clients, and suppliers, who have workplace 
contact with LAFCo’s employees. 

Unlawful harassment is generally conduct that: does not relate to the business of 
LAFCo; has the purpose or effect of interfering with an individual’s ability to work, or 
that creates a hostile, intimidating or abusing work environment; and is directed at 
an individual because of the individual’s inclusion in a protected class. 

Conduct prohibited by this policy includes, but is not limited to the following: 

A. Verbal conduct such as epithets, derogatory jokes or comments,
slurs or unwanted sexual advances, invitations or comments;

B. Visual conduct such as derogatory and/or sexually-oriented
posters, photography, cartoons, drawing or gestures;

C. Physical conduct such as assault, unwanted touching, blocking, normal
movement or interfering with work because of sex, race or any other
protected basis;

D. Threats, demands to submit to sexual requests as a condition of continued
employment, or to avoid some other loss and offers of employment benefits
in return for sexual favors.

An employee who believes that he or she has been subjected to any form of 
prohibited harassment should make a complaint, preferably written, to the 
Executive Officer or the Chair of the Commission. If the employee is 
uncomfortable approaching either the Executive Officer or the Chair of the 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 15 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 271 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 5 of 71 

Commission, any other member of management is available to hear their 
concerns. Managers must report all harassment complaints. Complaints should be 
specific and should include the names of the individuals involved and names of 
any witness. 

LAFCo will immediately undertake an effective, thorough, and objective 
investigation and attempt to resolve the situation. LAFCo will maintain 
confidentiality to the extent possible during the investigation, however, disclosures 
of certain information to the members of management or as required by law may 
be necessary. If LAFCo determines that unlawful discrimination has occurred, 
effective remedial action will be taken commensurate with the severity of the 
offense up to and including termination. 

Appropriate action will also be taken to deter any future harassment. 

Employees will not be retaliated against for bringing a complaint in good faith under 
the Equal Employment Opportunity Policy or the Policy Against Harassment, or for 
honestly assisting in investigating such a complaint, even if the investigation 
produces insufficient evidence that there has been a violation, or if the charges 
cannot be proven. However, disciplinary action may be taken if false or frivolous 
accusations are made in bad faith. 

Section 1.6 Drug and Alcohol Policy 

It is LAFCo’s desire to provide a drug-free, healthful, and safe workplace. To 
promote this goal, employees are required to report to work in appropriate mental 
and physical condition to perform their jobs in a satisfactory manner. 
Violations of this policy may lead to disciplinary action, up to and including 
immediate termination of employment, and/or required participation in a substance 
abuse rehabilitation or treatment program. Such violations may also have legal 
consequences. 
Employees with questions or concerns about substance dependency or abuse are 
encouraged to use the resources of the Employee Assistance Program. They may 
also wish to discuss these matters with the Executive Officer to receive assistance 
or referrals to appropriate resources in the community. 
Under the Drug-Free Workplace Act, an employee who performs work for a 
government contract or grant must notify LAFCo of a criminal conviction for drug-
related activity occurring in the workplace. The report must be made within five days 
of the conviction. 

Division 2.  Definitions 

CONTINUOUS SERVICE – Shall mean employment in a regular position which 
has not been interrupted by resignation, discharge, layoff, or retirement. 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 16 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 272 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 6 of 71  

TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE – A person who is employed for the purpose of relieving 
or augmenting regular staff in the accomplishment of work. Employment 
assignments in this category are typically of a limited duration. Employment beyond 
any initially stated period does not in any way imply a change in employment status. 
Temporary employees retain this status unless and until notified of a change. Time 
spent in such an appointment shall not constitute a part of the probationary period. 
While temporary employees receive all legally mandated benefits (workers' 
compensation insurance), they are ineligible for all of Solano LAFCo's other benefit 
programs. 
 
REGULAR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEE – An employee who is not in a temporary or 
part-time status and who is regularly scheduled to work at least forty (40) hours per 
week or eighty (80) hours a pay period. Generally, they are eligible for Solano 
LAFCo's benefit package, subject to the terms, conditions, and limitations of each 
benefit program. 
 
REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEE – An employee who is not in a temporary or 
full-time status and who is regularly scheduled to work less than forty (40) hours 
per week or eighty (80) hours a pay period. Generally, they are eligible for Solano 
LAFCo's benefit package, subject to the terms, conditions, and limitations of each 
benefit program. 
 
SPOUSE – As used herein shall mean the legally married spouse or 
registered domestic partner of the employee. 
 

Division 3.  Terms and Conditions of Employment 
 
Section 3.1 Hiring Policy and Procedure 
 

A. Each vacancy is announced simultaneously for internal and external 
recruitment. 
 

B. For positions under direction of the Executive Officer, the Executive Officer 
shall conduct the screening process, interview applicants, choose the top 
candidates for an open position, check references of the top candidates, 
and select the individual for the position. 
 

C. For positions which report directly to the Commission (e.g., the Executive 
Officer), the Commission shall have exclusive authority to conduct the 
selection process as it deems appropriate. 
 

D. The Executive Officer shall not appoint a member of his or her immediate 
family, nor shall he or she appoint or assign any employee to directly or 
indirectly supervise a member of the employee’s immediate family. 
 
 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 17 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 273 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 7 of 71  

Section 3.2 At-Will Employment 
 

A. All employees of LAFCo are at-will employees and may be terminated at 
any time without cause and without any formal procedure. 
 

B. The Executive Officer shall serve at the will of the Commission subject to 
the conditions of applicable contracts. Employees shall serve at the will 
of the Executive Officer as provided by state law. 
 

Section 3.3 Separation from Service 
 

A.  RESIGNATION 
An employee who wishes to resign his/her employment in good standing 
must submit the resignation in writing to his/her supervisor two weeks prior 
to the planned separation date. A resignation becomes final when accepted 
by the Executive Officer or Chairperson. Once a resignation has been 
accepted by the Executive Officer or Chairperson, it cannot be withdrawn 
without the concurrence of the Executive Officer or Chairperson. 
 

B. JOB ABANDONMENT 
An employee is deemed to have resigned if the employee is absent from 
work without prior authorization and without notification during the period of 
the absence. Regular employees will be sent a notice of intent to terminate, 
an opportunity to respond, and final notice of termination for job 
abandonment. An employee separated for job abandonment will be 
reinstated upon proof of justification for such absence, such as severe 
accident, severe illness, false arrest, or mental or physical impairment 
which prevented notification. No employee has any right to evidentiary 
appeal for separation due to job abandonment. 
 

C. TERMINATION; REDUCTION IN HOURS 
 

(i) An employee may be terminated at any time, with or without cause, 
and with or without advance notice. Prior to any action to terminate 
an employee, the Executive Officer shall consult with the 
Commission in closed session to seek advice and direction. 
 

(ii) If LAFCo determines that a reduction in the work force expense is 
warranted, all recruitment/hiring will be frozen; employees will be 
invited and permitted to request a voluntary reduction in their hours or 
days of work; LAFCo will consider any request for time off without pay; 
and employees will be encouraged to take accrued vacation time off. If 
a voluntary reduction in employees’ hours is not sufficient to meet 
LAFCo’s needs and objectives, LAFCo may implement an involuntary 
reduction in hours or days off work. Such reductions will be 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 18 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 274 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 8 of 71  

administered to maximize productivity and efficiency and can be made 
on a temporary, indefinite or permanent basis 
 

D. SEPARATION PROCEDURE  
 

(i) Upon termination, the employee shall promptly return any employer 
property such as office keys, cell phone, laptop computer etc. that 
the employee may have in his or her possession. 
 

(ii) LAFCo will calculate pay to time of separation, any accrued 
vacation, administrative leave and compensatory time off 
and issue a check in accordance with State Law after 
separation. 
 

(iii) The date of termination of employment shall be considered as the 
date certified by the Executive Officer as the last day worked, or the 
last day in an authorized leave without pay status, and shall not 
include the equivalent time involved in any vacation payoff made at 
the time of termination. 
 

Section 3.4 Incompatible Activities 
 
LAFCo employees shall not engage in any activity, which constitutes a conflict of 
interest due to the nature, conditions, or some other aspect of the activity. An 
employee may not engage in political activities during working hours nor use his or 
her office to promote propose or contribute to any political cause or candidate. Any 
officer or employee wishing to engage in any occupation or outside activity for 
compensation shall inform the Executive Officer or when appropriate the 
Commission, in advance, of the nature of such activity. It shall be the responsibility 
of the Executive Officer to ensure that employees do not engage in any activity 
which constitutes a conflict of interest. 
 

Section 3.5 Work Schedules 
 
The base work schedule for all regular full time employees is 8 hours a day, 5 days 
a week. Flexible scheduling and alternative work arrangements are available in 
some cases to allow employees to vary their starting and ending times each day 
within reasonable limits. Flextime may be possible if a mutually workable schedule 
can be negotiated with the Executive Officer. However, such issues as staffing 
needs, the employee's performance, and the nature of the job will be considered 
before approval of flextime. Employees should consult the Executive Officer to 
request participation in the flextime program. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 19 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 275 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 9 of 71  

Section 3.6 Employee’s Duty to Notify of Late Arrival or Absence 
 
An employee who is unexpectedly unable to report for work as scheduled must 
notify his or her immediate supervisor no later than the scheduled work time and 
report the expected time or duration of any late arrival or absence. If the 
employee's immediate supervisor is not available, the employee must notify the 
department head or another supervisor. An employee who fails to timely notify the 
supervisor of absences, or who is not present and ready to work during all 
scheduled work times will be deemed to have an unauthorized tardy or absence. 
 

Section 3.7 Excessive Tardiness/Absenteeism 
 
Excessive tardiness occurs when an employee is late to work or returning from 
breaks more than three times during any 30-day period. Excessive absenteeism 
occurs when the number of unprotected absences (absences due to other than 
leaves authorized by state or federal law) exceeds 3 days in any three-month 
period. Excessive tardiness or absenteeism will be grounds for discipline, up to and 
including termination. Abuse of, or misrepresentation of any form of accrued or 
unpaid leave time will be grounds for discipline, up to and including termination. 
 

Section 3.8 Rest Periods 
 
A. Employees may take one 15 minute rest period for each four (4) hours 

worked. Usually breaks are scheduled mid-morning and mid-afternoon and 
are counted as time worked. If the employee does not take a break, it is 
waived. 
 

B. The normal lunch break is at least 1/2 an hour. Staffing needs and 
operational demands may necessitate variations in starting and ending 
times, as well as variations in the total hours that may be scheduled each 
day and week. 
 

C. Employees are encouraged to take rest periods for ergonomic 
considerations and the avoidance of repetitive movement injuries. 
 

Section 3.9 Workers’ Compensation and State Disability Insurance 
 

A. In accordance with the California Labor Code, LAFCo provides all statutory 
workers’ compensation benefits for LAFCo employees who sustain work-
related injuries or illnesses. Pursuant to Labor Code 3700 et seq., any 
employee claiming a work-related injury shall as soon as possible notify the 
Executive Officer and the Executive Officer shall notify the Chairperson as 
soon as possible of the injury and a written report shall be prepared. 
Employees may be required to submit to an independent medical evaluation 
to determine the extent of their disability as may be required by LAFCo’s 
workers’ compensation insurance carrier. 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 20 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 276 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 10 of 71  

 
B. In lieu of the statutory three (3) day waiting period for temporary disability 

payments pursuant to Labor Code 4652, whenever an employee is 
compelled by direction of a physician to be absent from duty due to an injury 
or illness determined to be work-related by LAFCo, the employee shall 
receive full compensation for his/her scheduled work days and paid holidays 
falling during the first three (3) days of such absence. Thereafter, accrued 
leave shall be integrated with workers’ compensation temporary disability 
benefits pursuant to Section I, below. 
 

C. In the event that LAFCo is unable to determine if the injury or illness is work-
related, the employee shall use sick leave and upon exhaustion of sick leave 
may utilize any other accumulated leave benefits. If the injury or illness is 
determined to be work-related, leave benefits will be restored in accordance 
with Section B, above. Thereafter, accrued leave shall be integrated with 
workers’ compensation temporary disability benefits pursuant to Section I, 
below. 
 

D. In the event of a disability which is non-industrial or where industrial 
causation has yet to be determined, employees shall make timely 
application for State Disability Insurance temporary disability benefits. 
 

E. LAFCo will continue to pay the employer share of the monthly premium for 
medical, vision, dental, and life insurance coverage on behalf of a qualified 
regular full or part-time employee who is receiving State Disability Insurance 
for the period of time that he/she has leave accruals to integrate or for the 
period of time he/she is on approved FMLA leave, whichever is longer. 
 

F. Sick leave and vacation shall accrue during any pay period in which the 
employee is receiving workers’ compensation temporary disability 
benefits. 
 

G. Employees receiving State Disability Benefits will not accrue sick or annual 
leave during any pay period in which the employee does not have sufficient 
leave accruals to fully integrate such leave accruals to achieve 100% 
integration. In the case of an employee who is working less than his/her 
position allocation while collecting State Disability Benefits, the employee will 
continue to earn prorated accruals based on actual hours worked. 
 

H. In accordance with Division 4, Section 3, sick leave may be used for any 
appointments due to a work-related injury or illness. Up to two (2) hours paid 
LAFCo time-off may be used to attend repeat medical appointments due to a 
work related injury or illness. Sick leave may be used for medical 
appointments due to work related injuries beyond two (2) hours. 
 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 21 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 277 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 11 of 71  

I. Service credit as provided in this Resolution toward longevity compensation 
and seniority shall not be affected by any pay period during which an 
employee received both LAFCo paid leave and temporary disability benefits 
from workers’ compensation. 
 

J. Workers’ compensation temporary disability and State Disability Insurance 
temporary disability benefits shall be integrated with accrued leave as 
follows: 
 
(i) Employees must promptly inform the Executive Officer or his/her 

designee of their worker’s compensation temporary disability benefit 
amount and provide documentation of receipt for which he/she is 
eligible. 

(ii) Employees must promptly inform the Executive Officer or his/her 
designee (when appropriate) of their State Disability benefit amount 
and provide documentation of receipt for which he/she is eligible. 
State Disability Insurance integration is not retroactive beyond one 
pay period. 

(iii) Employee’s pay, including leave accruals and workers’ compensation 
temporary disability or State Disability Insurance temporary disability 
benefits shall not exceed the employee’s regular gross pay. Gross 
pay is made up of regular base pay and longevity compensation as 
applicable. Employees must integrate all required leave to equal 
100% of their full time equivalent position. 

(iv) Upon exhaustion of sick leave, other accumulated leave will be 
integrated with the weekly Workers’ Compensation temporary 
disability or State Disability Insurance temporary disability benefits. 
 

Section 3.10 Computer and E-Mail Usage 
 
Computers, computer files, the email system, and software furnished to employees 
are LAFCo property intended for business use. Employees should not use a 
password, access a file, or retrieve any stored communication without 
authorization. Employees can have no expectation of privacy in any documents or 
materials in these systems. LAFCo reserves the right to access all systems and to 
monitor use of these systems. 
 
LAFCo strives to maintain a workplace free of harassment and sensitive to the 
diversity of its employees. Therefore, LAFCo prohibits the use of computers and 
the email system in ways that are disruptive, offensive to others, or harmful to 
morale. 
 
For example, the display or transmission of sexually explicit images, messages, 
and cartoons is not allowed. Other such misuse includes, but is not limited to, 
ethnic slurs, racial comments, off-color jokes, or anything that may be construed 
as harassment or showing disrespect for others. 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 22 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 278 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 12 of 71  

 
 Email may not be used to solicit others for commercial ventures, religious or 
political causes, outside organizations, or other non-business matters. Internet 
access is for business and related professional use. 
 
LAFCo purchases and licenses the use of various computer software for business 
purposes and does not own the copyright to this software or its related 
documentation. Unless authorized by the software developer, LAFCo does not 
have the right to reproduce such software for use on more than one computer. 
 
Employees may only use software on local area networks or on multiple machines 
according to the software license agreement. LAFCo prohibits the illegal 
duplication of software and its related documentation. 
 
Employees should notify the Executive Officer upon learning of violations of this 
policy. Employees who violate this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to 
and including termination of employment. 
 
LAFCo-owned computers, with the exception of laptops designated for remote 
use, shall not be removed from the premises. Use of the LAFCo laptops, 
projector or any other equipment must be authorized in advance by the 
Executive Officer. 

Division 4.  Employee Benefits 
 

Section 4.1 Holidays 
 

A. Only regular and part time employees are eligible for paid holidays. 
 

B. A new employee, whose first working day is the day after a paid holiday, shall 
not be paid for that holiday. 
 

C. Employees terminating employment for reasons other than LAFCo 
retirement and whose last day as a paid employee is the day before a 
holiday shall not be paid for that holiday. 
 

D. Employees terminating employment for reasons other than LAFCo 
retirement may not use vacation leave, sick leave or comp time on the day 
after a holiday if the last working day is before the holiday. A holiday shall 
not be used as the date of termination (e.g., January 1st) in order to be paid 
for that holiday. 
 

E. Employees on a leave of absence without pay for both the regularly 
scheduled working day before a holiday and the regularly scheduled 
working day after a holiday shall not be paid for that holiday. 
 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 23 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 279 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 13 of 71  

F. Part-time employees are eligible for paid holidays on a pro-rata basis as 
hours worked relates to forty (40) hours. 
 

G. When a paid holiday falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday is a paid holiday. 
When a paid holiday falls on a Sunday, the Monday following is a paid holiday. 

 
H. Holidays 

Fixed Holidays Include:  
January 1st New Years Day 
Third Monday in January Martin Luther King Jr.’s Birthday 
February 12th Lincoln’s Birthday 
Third Monday in February Washington’s Birthday 
Last Monday in May Memorial Day 
July 4th Independence Day 
First Monday in September Labor Day 
Second Monday in October Columbus Day 
November 11th Veterans’ Day 
Thanksgiving Day Traditional 
Day after Thanksgiving Day after Thanksgiving 
December 25th Christmas Day 
 

Section 4.2 Vacation 
 

A. Every employee, with the exception of the Executive Officer as outlined below, 
in a full-time regular position shall receive vacation benefit for each pay period 
of continuous service according to the following schedule: 

 
Pay Periods of  
Continuous Service 

Vacation Credits per Pay 
Period of Continuous 
Service 

Maximum Earnable 
Vacation Accrual 

0 through 78 pay periods 3.08 hours 160 hours 
79 through 259 pay 
periods 

4.62 hours 240 hours 

Over 260 pay periods 6.16 hours 320 hours 
 

Vacation accrual shall date from the first of the pay period following the pay 
period in which the employee commenced such continuous service. If such 
commencement date was the first working day of the pay period, vacation 
accrual shall start from such commencement date. Vacation accrual is 
credited at the end of each pay period and may be taken in the following pay 
period. 
 

B. Every employee in a part-time position shall receive vacation benefits and 
maximum earnable vacation accrual in the same ratio to the vacation 
benefits received by an employee in a full-time position with like pay 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 24 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 280 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 14 of 71  

periods of consecutive service, as the number of hours in the part-time 
work schedule is to the numbers of hours in the full-time work schedule. 
 

C. The Executive Officer shall receive vacation benefits of 6.16 hours per pay 
period to a maximum accrual of 440 hours. In the event the Executive Officer 
is employed on a less than full time basis, he or she shall receive vacation 
benefits on a pro rata basis, proportional to their authorized hours, to a 
maximum accrual of 440 hours. 
 

D. Vacation time taken shall not be counted as time worked for the purposes of 
overtime compensation. Absence without pay for more than sixteen (16) 
working hours in a pay period shall cause the pay period’s service not to be 
counted toward earning vacation credit. 
 

E. Employees who are terminating their employment for reasons other than 
paid LAFCo retirement shall not use vacation time to extend their 
termination date (e.g., requesting vacation time to begin 3-7 and the actual 
termination date to be 3-13, etc.). 
 

F. Any person separating from LAFCo who has not taken his/her earned 
vacation, if any, shall receive the hourly equivalent of his/her salary for each 
hour of earned vacation, up to the end of the last full pay period worked, 
based on the pay rate in effect for each person on the last day actually 
worked. Such payment shall be to the nearest one tenth of an hour. 
Employees terminating from LAFCo service prior to becoming eligible to 
take earned vacation credit shall be paid for earned (accrued) vacation. For 
the purposes of this section, sick leave and compensatory time off with pay 
shall be counted as days worked. When separation is caused by death of an 
employee, payment shall be made to the estate of such employee, or in 
applicable cases, as provided by Section 630 of the Probate Code. 
 

G. An employee who has accumulated the maximum accrual for his/her years of 
service (160/240/320/440) hours and who has taken eighty (80) hours of 
vacation within the previous 26 pay periods, may request payment for up to 
forty (40) hours of vacation pay by submitting a written request for payment 
to the Executive Officer or when appropriate the Chairperson. Only one such 
request may be made or paid during any 12 calendar month period. 
 

Section 4.3 Sick Leave 
 
A. Every employee holding a full time position shall accrue 3.70 working hours 

sick leave with pay for each pay period of service; except, that no employee 
shall earn sick leave credit during a pay period in which he/she is absent 
without authorization or in which he/she is absent without pay for more than 
sixteen (16) working hours. During that pay period in which a leave of 
absence without pay is granted for two (2) days or less, the employee shall 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 25 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 281 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 15 of 71  

accrue sick leave with pay in proportion to the relationship the time worked 
during that pay period bears to eighty (80) hours. It shall be computed to the 
nearest hundred of an hour. If unpaid leave exceeds 16 hours in any pay 
period, no sick leave will be accrued by the employee for that period. Sick 
leave accrual is credit at the end of each pay period and may be taken in the 
following pay period. 
 

B. Every employee holding a part-time position shall accrue sick leave with 
pay in proportions to the relationship his/her basic workweek bears to forty 
(40) hours. 
 
No such employee shall earn sick leave credit during a pay period in 
which he/she is absent without pay more than fifteen (15) percent of 
the regularly scheduled working hours for the position. 
 

C. Temporary employees shall not accrue sick leave. 
 

D. An employee who enters the service of LAFCo in a regular or limited-term 
position shall begin earning sick leave dating from the first of the pay period 
following the pay period in which the employee commenced such 
continuous service, unless such commencement date was the first working 
day of a pay period, in which case, the first day of sick leave accrual shall 
date from the first of the pay period in which the service began 
 

E. Sick leave may be applied to absence caused by illness, injury, pre-natal 
care or pregnancy of an employee. Sick leave may be used during 
pregnancy when the employee’s physician certifies that, due to her 
pregnancy, she is no longer able to perform the duties of her position. The 
employee shall be required to furnish, at intervals to be determined by the 
Executive Officer, a certificate from her physician to the effect that, due to 
her pregnancy, she is physically unable to perform the duties of her position. 
Sick leave may be used for medical, dental or vision appointments when 
absence during working hours for this purpose is authorized by the 
Executive Officer. In any instance involving use of a fraction of a day’s sick 
leave, the amount charged to the employee’s sick leave account shall be to 
the nearest one tenth of an hour. The Executive Officer shall be responsible 
for the control of abuse of the sick leave privilege. The employee may be 
required to furnish a certificate issued by a licensed physician or nurse or 
other satisfactory evidence of illness to the Executive Officer. 
 

F. Sick leave may be utilized by an employee for the care or attendance of 
ill or injured members of his/her family, up to a maximum of eighty (80) 
hours annually. 
 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 26 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 282 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 16 of 71  

G. Sick leave shall not be used in lieu of vacation, but vacation or 
administrative leave may be used in lieu of sick leave, after accrued sick 
leave has been exhausted. 
 

H. No payment shall be made to any employee for unused sick leave 
accumulated to his/her credit at the time of termination of employment, 
except as set forth in I below. Termination of an employee’s continuous 
service, except by reason of temporary layoff for lack of work or funds, 
shall cancel all sick leave accrued to the time of such termination, 
regardless of whether or not such person subsequently re-enters 
employment. 
 

I. When an employee terminates for reasons of regular or disability 
retirement or death, an amount equal to the dollar value of the employee’s 
accumulated unused sick leave shall be contributed to a Retirement Health 
Savings Account to assist in payment of retiree medical expenses in 
accordance with LAFCo policy. 
 

J. For the purposes of this Section, a member of the immediate family is 
construed to mean the mother, father, spouse, son, daughter, brother or 
sister of the employee or the minor child for whom the employee has legal 
custody. 
 

K. Hospitalization of a member of the immediate family is a valid reason for 
sick leave under the following conditions: 
 

(i)  A day’s absence may be authorized for the employee to be at the 
hospital on the day of an operation, on the day of a birth of his child 
or in the event of a critical illness of a member of the immediate 
family. Absences for these reasons for more than one day may be 
authorized on sick leave only if a doctor provides a written statement 
that the employee’s presence, away from work, is required. 

 
L. The Auditor-Controller shall maintain sick leave records of all personnel. 

The Executive Officer or his/her designee shall report the absences of 
his/her employees for approved sick leave during the pay period 
concerned. 
 

Section 4.4   Family and Medical Leave 
 
A. STATEMENT OF POLICY 

 
(i) To the extent not already provided for under current leave policies and 

provisions, LAFCo will provide family and medical care leave for 
eligible employees as required by state and federal law. The following 
provisions set forth certain of the rights and obligations with respect to 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 27 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 283 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 17 of 71  

such leave. Rights and obligations which are not specifically set forth 
below are set forth in the Department of Labor regulations 
implementing the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 
(FMLA), and the regulations of the California Family Rights Act 
(CFRA). Unless otherwise provided by this article, “Leave” under this 
article shall mean leave pursuant to the FMLA and CFRA. 

 
B. DEFINITIONS 

 
(i) “12-Month Period” means a rolling 12-month period measured 

backward from the date leave is taken and continuous with each 
additional leave day taken. 

 
(ii) “Child” means a child under the age of 18 years of age, or 18 years of 

age or older who is incapable of self care because of a mental or 
physical disability. An employee’s child is one for whom the employee 
has actual day-to-day responsibility for care and includes, a biological, 
adopted, foster or step-child, legal ward, or a child of a person 
standing in loco parentis. 

 
 A child is “incapable of self care” if he/she requires active assistance 

or supervision to provide daily self care in three or more of the 
activities of daily living or instrumental activities of daily living such as, 
caring for grooming and hygiene, bathing, dressing and eating, 
cooking, cleaning, shopping, taking public transportation, paying bills, 
maintaining a residence, using telephones and directories, etc. 

 
(iii)  “Parent” means the biological parent of an employee or an individual 

who stands or stood in loco parentis (in place of a parent) to an 
employee when the employee was a child. This term does not include 
parents-in-law. 

 
(iv)  “Spouse” means a husband or wife as defined or recognized under 

California State law for purposes of marriage or registered domestic 
partner as defined in Family Code section 297 et seq. 

 
(v) “Serious health condition” means an illness, injury, impairment, or 

physical or mental condition that involves: 
 

1) “Inpatient Care” (i.e., an overnight stay) in a hospital, hospice, or 
residential medical care facility, including any period of incapacity 
(i.e., inability to work, or perform other regular daily activities due 
to the serious health condition, treatment involved, or recovery 
therefrom); or 
 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 28 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 284 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 18 of 71  

2) “Continuing treatment” by a health care provider: A serious health 
condition involving continuing treatment by a health care provider 
includes any one or more of the following: 
 
a) A period of incapacity (i.e., inability to work, or perform other 

regular daily activities due to serious health condition) of 
more than three consecutive calendar days, and any 
subsequent treatment or period of incapacity relating to the 
same condition that also involves: 

 
(i) Treatment two or more times by a health care 

provider, by a nurse or physician's assistant under 
direct supervision by a health care provider, or by a 
provider of health care services (e.g., a physical 
therapist) under orders of, or on referral by a health 
care provider; or 

 
(ii) Treatment by a health care provider on at least one 

occasion which results in a regimen of continuing 
treatment under the supervision of the health care 
provider. This includes for example, a course of 
prescription medication or therapy requiring special 
equipment to resolve or alleviate the health 
condition. If the medication is over the counter, and 
can be initiated without a visit to a health care 
provider, it does not constitute a regimen of 
continuing treatment. 

 
(iii) Any period of incapacity due to pregnancy or for 

prenatal care.   (Note: This entitles the employee 
to FMLA leave, but not CFRA leave. Under California 
law, an employee disabled by pregnancy is entitled to 
pregnancy disability leave.) 

 
(vi) Any period of incapacity or treatment for such incapacity due to a 

chronic serious health condition. A chronic serious health condition is 
one which: 

 
 1) Requires periodic visits for treatment by a health care provider, 

or by a nurse or physician's assistant under direct supervision of 
a health care provider; 

 
2) Continues over an extended period of time (including recurring 

episodes of a single underlying condition); and 
 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 29 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 285 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 19 of 71  

3) May cause episodic rather than a continuing period of 
incapacity (e.g., asthma, diabetes, epilepsy, etc.). Absences 
for such incapacity qualify for leave even if the absence lasts 
only one day. 
 

4) A period of incapacity which is permanent or long term due to a 
condition for which treatment may not be effective. The employee 
or family member must be under the continuing supervision of, 
but need not be receiving active treatment by, a health care 
provider. 
 

5) Any period of absence to receive multiple treatments (including 
any period of recovery therefrom) by a health care provider or by 
a provider of health care services under orders of, or on referral 
by, a health care provider, either for restorative surgery after an 
accident or other injury, or for a condition that would likely result 
in a period of incapacity of more than three consecutive calendar 
days in the absence of medical intervention or treatment. 
 

(vii) “Health Care Provider” means: 
 

1) A doctor of medicine or osteopathy who is authorized to practice 
medicine or surgery by the State of California; 
 

2) Individuals duly licensed as a physician, surgeon, or osteopathic 
physician or surgeon in another state or jurisdiction, including 
another country, who directly treats or supervises treatment of a 
serious health condition; 
 

3) Podiatrists, dentists, clinical psychologists, optometrists, and 
chiropractors (limited to treatment consisting of manual 
manipulation of the spine to correct a subluxation as 
demonstrated by X-ray to exist) authorized to practice in 
California and performing within the scope of their practice as 
defined under California State law; 
 

4) Nurse practitioners and nurse-midwives and clinical social 
workers who are authorized to practice under California State law 
and who are performing within the scope of their practice as 
defined under California State law; 
 

5) Christian Science practitioners listed with the First Church of 
Christ, Scientist in Boston, Massachusetts; and 
 

6) Any health care provider from whom an employer or group 
health plan's benefits manager will accept certification of the 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 30 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 286 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 20 of 71  

existence of a serious health condition to substantiate a claim for 
benefits. 
 

C. REASONS FOR LEAVE 
 

Leave is only permitted for the following reasons: 
 
(i) The birth of a child or to care for a newborn of an employee; 
 
(ii) The placement of a child with an employee in connection with the 

adoption or foster care of a child; 
 
(iii) Leave to care for a child, parent, spouse or domestic partner who has a 

serious health condition; or 
 
(iv) Leave because of a serious health condition that makes the employee 

unable to perform the functions of his/her position. 
 

D. EMPLOYEES ELIGIBLE FOR LEAVE 
 

An employee is eligible for leave if the employee: 
 

(i) Has been employed for at least 12 months; and 
 
(ii) Has been employed for at least 1,250 hours during the 12-

month period immediately preceding the commencement of the 
leave. 

 
E. AMOUNT OF LEAVE 

 
Eligible employees are entitled to a total of 12 workweeks of leave during any 
12-month period. 

 
(i) Minimum Duration of Leave 
 

If leave is requested for the birth, adoption or foster care placement of 
a child of the employee, leave must be concluded within one year of 
the birth or placement of the child. In addition, the basic minimum 
duration of such leave is two weeks. However, an employee is entitled 
to leave for bonding with a newborn for at least one day, but less than 
two weeks duration on any two occasions. 
 
If leave is requested to care for a child, parent, spouse or the 
employee him/herself with a serious health condition, there is no 
minimum amount of leave that must be taken. However, the notice 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 31 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 287 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 21 of 71  

and medical certification provisions of this policy must be complied 
with. 

 
(ii) Spouses or Domestic Partners Both Employed by LAFCo 

 
In any case in which a husband and wife both, or domestic partners, are 
employed by the LAFCo are entitled to leave, the aggregate number of 
workweeks of leave to which both may be entitled may be limited to 12 
workweeks during any 12-month period if leave is taken for the birth or 
placement for adoption or foster care of the employees' child (i.e., 
bonding leave). This limitation does not apply to any other type of leave 
under this policy. 
 

F. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS WHILE ON LEAVE 
 

(i) Leave under this policy is unpaid. While on leave, employees will 
continue to be covered by LAFCo’s group health insurance to the 
same extent that coverage is provided while the employee is on the 
job. 
 

(ii) Employees may make the appropriate contributions for continued 
coverage under the preceding non-health benefit plans by payroll 
deductions or direct payments made to these plans. Depending on the 
particular plan, LAFCo will inform the employee whether the premiums 
should be paid to the carrier or to LAFCo. Coverage on a particular 
plan may be dropped if an employee is more than 30 days late in 
making a premium payment. However, the employee will receive notice 
at least 15 days before coverage is to cease, advising that he/she will 
be dropped if the premium payment is not paid by a certain date. 
Employee contribution rates are subject to any change in rates that 
occurs while the employee is on leave. 
 

(iii) If an employee fails to return to work after his/her leave entitlement has 
been exhausted or expires, LAFCo shall have the right to recover its 
share of health plan premiums for the entire leave period, unless the 
employee does not return because of the continuation, recurrence, or 
onset of a serious health condition of the employee or his/her family 
member which would entitle the employee to leave, or because of 
circumstances beyond the employee’s control. LAFCo shall have the 
right to recover premiums through deduction from any sums due 
LAFCo (e.g. unpaid wages, vacation pay, etc.) 
 

G. SUBSTITUTION OF PAID ACCRUED LEAVES 
 

While on leave under this policy, as set forth herein, an employee may elect to 
concurrently use paid accrued leaves. Similarly, the LAFCo may require an 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 32 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 288 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 22 of 71  

employee to concurrently use paid accrued leaves after requesting FMLA 
and/or CFRA leave, and may also require an employee to use Family and 
Medical Care Leave concurrently with a non-FMLA/CFRA leave which is 
FMLA/CFRA-qualifying. 

 
(i)  Employee’s Right To Use Paid Accrued Leaves Concurrently With 

Family Leave - Where an employee has earned or accrued paid 
vacation, or compensatory time, that paid leave may be substituted 
for all or part of any (otherwise) unpaid leave under this policy. 

 
(ii)  As for sick leave, an employee is entitled to use sick leave 

concurrently with leave under this policy if: 
 

1) The leave is for the employee’s own serious health condition; or 
 

2) The leave is needed to care for a parent, spouse, domestic 
partner or child with a serious health condition, and would be 
permitted as sick leave under the LAFCo’s sick leave policy. 
 

(iii) LAFCo’s Right To Require An Employee To Use Paid Leave When 
Using FMLA/CFRA Leave - Employees must exhaust their accrued 
vacation, administrative and sick leaves concurrently with 
FMLA/CFRA leave with one exception: 

 
1) Employees will only be required to use sick leave 

concurrently with FMLA/CFRA leave if the leave is for the 
employee's own serious health condition. 

 
(iv) The LAFCo’s Right To Require An Employee To Exhaust 

FMLA/CFRA Leave Concurrently With Other Leaves - If an 
employee takes a leave of absence for any reason which is 
FMLA/CFRA qualifying, the LAFCo may designate that non-
FMLA/CFRA leave as running concurrently with the employee’s 12-
week FMLA/CFRA leave entitlement. 

 
H. MEDICAL CERTIFICATION 
 

Employees who request leave for their own serious health condition or to care 
for a child, parent, spouse or domestic partner who has a serious health 
condition must provide written certification from the health care provider of the 
individual requiring care if requested by LAFCo. 
 

I. If the leave is requested because of the employee’s own serious health 
condition, the certification must include a statement that the employee is unable 
to work at all or is unable to perform the essential functions of his/her position. 

 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 33 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 289 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 23 of 71 

(i) Time to Provide a Certification

When an employee’s leave is foreseeable and at least 30 days notice
has been provided, if a medical certification is requested, the
employee must provide the requested certification to LAFCo within
the time frame requested by LAFCo (which must allow at least 15
calendar days after the employer’s request), unless it is not
practicable under the particular circumstances to do so despite the
employee’s diligent, good faith efforts.

(ii) Consequences for Failure to Provide an Adequate or Timely Certification

If an employee provides an incomplete medical certification, the
employee will be given a reasonable opportunity to cure any such
deficiency.

However, if an employee fails to provide a medical certification within
the time frame established by this policy, LAFCo may delay the taking
of FMLA/CFRA leave until the required certification is provided.

J. EMPLOYEE NOTICE OF LEAVE

Although LAFCo recognizes that emergencies arise which may require
employees to request immediate leave, employees are required to give as
much
notice as possible of their need for leave. If leave is foreseeable, at least 30
days’ notice is required. In addition, if an employee knows that he/she will
need leave in the future, but does not know the exact date(s) (e.g. for the birth
of a child or to take care of a newborn), the employee shall inform his/her
supervisor as soon as possible that such leave will be needed. Such notice
may be orally given. If LAFCo determines that an employee’s notice is
inadequate or the employee knew about the requested leave in advance of the
request, LAFCo may delay the granting of the leave until it can, in its
discretion, adequately cover the position with a substitute.

Section 4.5 Bereavement Leave 

Employees shall be entitled to a bereavement leave, not chargeable to vacation or 
sick leave, in the event of the death of one of the following members of the 
employee’s family:  

• natural, step, adoptive parents and grandparents of the employee;
• natural, step, adopted children and grandchildren of the employee;
• natural and step brothers and sisters of the employee;
• present spouse of the employee;

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 34 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 290 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 24 of 71  

• ex-spouse who is a natural or adoptive parent of a minor child in the custody 
of the employee;  

• natural and adopted brothers and sisters of the employee’s spouse;  
• present spouses of the employee’s natural and adopted brothers and 

sisters;  
• son-in-law and daughter-in-law of the employee.  

 
Such leave shall be a maximum of forty (40) hours within ten (10) consecutive 
calendar days, whether services are within the State or outside the State of 
California. Leave benefits will be prorated for part-time employees based upon the 
number of hours worked (for example, a halftime employee has a maximum of 
twenty (20) hours). Employees desiring more time off under these circumstance 
may request vacation or other appropriate leaves which may or may not granted at 
the sole discretion of the Executive Officer when appropriate, the Chairperson. 
LAFCo may require an affected employee to submit proof of qualifying relationship 
in order to be eligible for bereavement leave. 

 
Section 4.6 Leave of Absence Without Pay 
 

A. A leave of absence may be granted only to an employee upon the exhaustion 
of all other appropriate leave balances and the employee must have a 
satisfactory employment record. The Executive Officer or Commission may 
authorize a leave of absence for an employee without pay for a period of time 
not to exceed thirty (30) calendar days. Additional leave may be granted but 
only if authorized by the Commission 

B. A leave of absence request shall normally be initiated by the employee, but 
may be initiated by the Executive Officer. 

C. Neither leave accruals nor benefits shall accrue while an employee is on leave 
of absence without pay, except as required under the Federal Family and 
Medical Leave Act. 

D. Immediately prior to or at the time of return from leave of absence to active 
duty the employee may be required by the Executive Officer to submit a 
statement from his/her physician certifying as to his/her physical and/or mental 
ability to resume the duties of his/her position. 

E. Whenever an employee has been granted a leave without pay and desires to 
return before expiration of such leave, the Executive Officer or when 
appropriate the Chairperson may require that reasonable notice not in excess 
of fifteen (15) calendar days be given. 

F. A leave of absence may be revoked by the Executive Officer or when 
appropriate the Chairperson upon evidence that the cause for granting leave 
was misrepresented or has ceased to exist. 

G. Failure to return at the expiration date of leave of absence or being absent 
without leave shall be considered as an automatic resignation. Such a 
resignation may be rescinded by the Executive Officer or when appropriate the 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 35 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 291 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 25 of 71  

Chairperson if the employee presents satisfactory reasons his/her absence 
within three (3) days of the date his/her automatic resignation became effective. 

H. A leave of absence without pay may be granted for any of the following 
reasons: 
(i) Illness or disability 
(ii) Pregnancy or Childbirth 
(iii) To take a course of study which will increase the employee’s 

usefulness on return to his/her position. 
(iv) For reasons acceptable to the Executive Officer or when 

appropriate to the Commission. 
(v) Illness of a family member or other qualifying criteria under the Federal 

Family and Medical Leave Act. 
 
Section 4.7 Jury Duty 
 
Any employee ordered to appear as a witness in court other than as a litigant, to serve 
on a jury or to respond to an official order from another governmental jurisdiction for 
reasons not brought about through the misconduct of the employee shall be entitled to 
his/her regular pay provided the employee deposits fees received for such services, 
exclusive of mileage, with LAFCo’s treasurer within thirty (30) calendar days after 
his/her excused absence for such duty. Requests for Jury Duty leave should be made 
by presenting the official court summons to the Executive Officer as soon as possible 
after receipt. Verification of time release for jury duty is required. 
 
Employees are expected to report for work whenever the court schedule 
permits, including any remaining parts of a normally scheduled workday. Jury 
Duty is not considered as time worked for overtime compensation purposes. 
 
Section 4.8 Insurance and Service Plans 
 
A. Medical Insurance 

Employees in regular or limited term positions have the option of becoming 
members of the Public Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act (“PEMHCA” or 
“PERS Health”) insurance program.  LAFCo’s monthly contribution to provide 
health insurance benefits for the individual employee and the employee’s eligible 
dependents shall be adjusted in accordance with the Minimum Employer 
Contribution (“MEC”) established by PEMHCA. 

 
B. Retiree Medical Insurance 

All employees who have concurrently retired from LAFCOo and from the 
California Public Employees’ Retirement System (“PERS”) may participate in the 
PERS Health insurance program at their own expense.  LAFCo shall contribute 
the Minimum Employer Contribution (“MEC”) established by PERS. 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 36 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 292 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 26 of 71  

 
C. Cafeteria Plan 

LAFCo’s contribution toward the cafeteria plan shall be set at 75% of the 2014 
PEMHCA Bay Area Kaiser Permanente family rate minus the PEMHCA MEC.  
Effective with coverage effective January 1, 2015, LAFCo’s contribution toward 
the health plan shall be set at 75% of the 2015 PEMHCA Bay Area Kaiser 
Permanent family rate minus the PEMHCA MEC.   
An employee may use LAFCo’s contribution to the cafeteria plan toward the 
medical insurance plan for which s/he has elected to enroll. 

 
An employee who has unused (unspent) cafeteria plan contributions shall retain 
those contributions as additional earnings (wages), but only to a maximum of 
$334.58 per month.   
 
An employee who waives health insurance because the employee demonstrates 
to LAFCo that s/he has alternate health insurance coverage shall receive 
$500.00 per month minus the PEMHCA MEC. 

 
A regular or limited term part-time employee shall receive a pro-rata amount of 
the total sum of the PEMHCA MEC and the cafeteria plan of the full-time 
employee contribution in proportion to the relationship their basic workweek 
bears to forty hours.  That total amount shall first be allocated to the PEMHCA 
MEC and any remaining employer contribution shall then be allocated to the 
cafeteria plan. 
 
Health Care Reimbursement Account:  During an annual open enrollment period 
(normally November), an employee may elect to enter into a salary reduction 
agreement with LAFCo whereby LAFCo will direct the amount of the salary 
reduction on a pre-tax basis into the employee’s Health Care Reimbursement 
Account (“HCRA”).  The employee’s election is irrevocable until the next open 
enrollment period, except on the occurrence of a qualifying event specified in the 
LAFCo Plan Document.  The employee will forfeit all unused funds remaining in 
his/her HCRA at the end of the plan year or at the end of the grace period, if any, 
allowed under the LAFCo Plan Document, whichever is later.  During the period 
allowed under the Plan Document, the employee may use the funds in his/her 
HCRA to obtain reimbursement for otherwise unreimbursed eligible medical 
expenses. 
 
Dependent Care Reimbursement Account:  During an annual open enrollment 
period (normally November), an employee may elect to enter into a salary 
reduction agreement whereby LAFCo will direct the amount of the salary 
reduction on a pre-tax basis into the employee’s Dependent Care 
Reimbursement Account (“DCRA”).  The employee’s election is irrevocable until 
the next open enrollment period, except on the occurrence of a qualifying event 
specified in the LAFCo Plan Document.  The employee will forfeit all unused 
funds in his/her DCRA at the end of the plan year or at the end of the grace 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 37 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 293 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 27 of 71  

period, if any, allowed under the LAFCo Plan Document, whichever is later.  
During the period allowed under the Plan Document, the employee may use the 
funds in his/her DCRA to obtain reimbursement of eligible dependent care 
expenses. 

 
D. Dental Insurance 

Employees in regular or limited term positions are eligible for dental insurance 
coverage for the employee and eligible dependents beginning on the first of the 
month following three (3) months of continuous service with LAFCo.       
 
LAFCo will pay on behalf of each eligible full-time employee and his/her eligible 
dependents one hundred percent (100%) of the monthly dental care insurance 
premium rate charged by the Plan Provider.  LAFCo’s contribution will be prorated 
for regular part-time employees, to reflect the same percentage that the regularly 
scheduled hours in the employee’s basic workweek bears to forty (40) hours.  
Premium amounts in excess of LAFCo’s contribution will be paid by the 
participating employee through payroll deduction. 

 
LAFCo intends to retain the existing plan of dental insurance benefits.  However, if 
the insurance plan provider mandates a change in the benefit plan and LAFCo did 
not request the change, then LAFCo will have no obligation to replace benefits 
eliminated or modified by the Plan provider. 
 
LAFCo reserves the right to eliminate or provide additional dental insurance plans. 
 

E. Vision Insurance 
Employees in regular or limited term positions are eligible for vision insurance 
coverage for the employee and eligible dependents beginning the first of the 
month following three (3) months of continuous service with LAFCo.   
 
LAFCo will pay one hundred percent (100%) of the monthly vision plan insurance 
premium rate charged on behalf of each regular full-time employee and his/her 
eligible dependents.  LAFCo’s contribution will be prorated for regular part-time 
employees, to reflect the same percentage that the regularly scheduled hours in 
the employee’s basic workweek bears to forty (40) hours.  Premium amounts in 
excess of LAFCo’s contribution will be paid by the participating employee through 
payroll deduction.   
 
LAFCo intends to maintain the existing Plan of vision insurance benefits.  
However, if the insurance plan provider mandates a change in benefits and 
LAFCo did not request the change, then LAFCo will have no obligation to replace 
benefits eliminated or modified by the Plan provider. 
 
LAFCo reserves the right to eliminate or provide additional vision insurance 
plans. 

 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 38 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 294 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 28 of 71  

F. Life Insurance 
Employees in regular or limited term positions are eligible for life insurance 
coverage and accidental death and dismemberment insurance for the employee 
beginning the first of the month following six (6) months of continuous service 
with LAFCo.   
 
The basic life insurance policy and the accidental death and dismemberment 
insurance policy are each valued at one and one-half (1.5) times the employee’s 
annualized monthly base salary valued up to the next thousand dollars (e.g., if 
annualized wage equals $21,100 then life insurance policy is valued at $22,000) 
to a maximum policy of three hundred fifty thousand dollars ($350,000).  An 
employee may purchase supplemental life insurance under costs, terms and 
conditions specified by the insurance plan provider. 
 
LAFCo pays one hundred percent (100%) of the life insurance premium on 
behalf of each regular employee. 

 
LAFCo shall maintain the existing life insurance benefits.  However, it is 
understood that insurance plan providers from time to time mandate changes in 
benefits and LAFCo has no responsibility for replacement of benefits which may 
be eliminated or modified by any plan provider. 
 
LAFCo reserves the right to eliminate or provide additional life insurance plans. 

 
G. Deferred Compensation 

A Deferred Compensation Program as established by LAFCo, is available to all 
employees employed in regular or limited term positions.  Such programs are 
hereby incorporated by reference. 

 
To encourage LAFCo remployee participation in the deferred compensation 
program, LAFCo will contribute a dollar for dollar match up to a maximum of five 
dollars ($5) a pay period to the deferred compensation account of any LAFCo 
employee who is actively enrolled in the deferred compensation program.  

 
H. Short Term Disability Insurance 

LAFCo participates in the State Disability Insurance program for employees and 
employees shall have deducted from their paychecks the cost of the State 
Disability Insurance program. 

 
I. Long Term Disability Insurance 

Employees in regular or limited term positions are eligible for long term disability 
insurance coverage for the employee beginning the first of the month following 
six (6) months of continuous service with LAFCo.   
 
The long term disability insurance policy provides a replacement income benefit, 
generally and as described by the plan, of 60% of basic monthly earnings to a 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 39 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 295 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 29 of 71  

maximum benefit of $12,000 of monthly base pay. 
 
LAFCo pays one hundred percent (100%) of the long term disability insurance 
premium on behalf of each regular employee.   

 
LAFCo shall maintain the existing long term disability insurance benefits.  
However, it is understood that insurance plan providers from time to time 
mandate changes in benefits and LAFCo has no responsibility for replacement of 
benefits which may be eliminated or modified by any plan provider. 
 
LAFCo reserves the right to eliminate or provide additional long term disability 
insurance plans. 

 
Section 4. 9 Unemployment Benefits 
 
Employees are covered under the State of California Unemployment Insurance Benefits 
Program. 
 
Section 4.10 Pregnancy Leave 
 
A. Eligibility: In accordance with applicable law and this policy, female employees 

are eligible for a leave of absence and/or transfer on account of 
pregnancy, regardless of length of service with LAFCo. 
 

B. Pregnancy Disability Leave 
 

A woman is “disabled by pregnancy” if, in the opinion of her health care 
provider, she is unable to work at all or is unable to perform one or more 
of the essential functions of her job or to perform these without undue 
risk to herself, to the successful completion of her pregnancy, or to other 
persons. 

 
Pregnancy disability leave is for any period(s) of actual disability caused 
by pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. Where medically 
advisable, pregnancy disability leave may be taken for a reasonable 
period of time, up to four months per pregnancy (eighty-eight workdays 
for a full-time employee). Employees who regularly work more or less 
than a 40-hour workweek are entitled to such leave on a pro rata basis. 
 

C. Leave Due to Normal Childbirth 
 

Even if the employee is not disabled by pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical 
conditions, a pregnant employee is entitled to up to six weeks of leave for normal 
childbirth. Employees working more or less than a 40-hour workweek are 
entitled to such leave on a pro rata basis. 
 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 40 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 296 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 30 of 71  

D. Leave and Other Reasonable Accommodation Requests 
 

(i) Pregnant employees should notify the Executive Officer as soon as 
possible regarding their intent/need to take a leave of absence due to 
pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. Such notice 
should specify the anticipated timing and duration of the leave. 

(ii) Where the need for a leave of absence is foreseeable, employees must 
provide such notice at least 30 days prior to the date the leave is to begin. 
Further, employees must consult with the Executive Officer regarding the 
scheduling of any planned medical treatment or supervision so as to 
minimize any disruption to LAFCo's operations. (Actual scheduling of the 
leave is subject to the approval of the employee’s health care provider.) 

(iii) Where 30 days advance notice is not possible, notice must be given as 
soon as possible. However, LAFCo will not deny a pregnancy disability 
leave where the need for leave is an emergency or was otherwise 
unforeseeable. 

(iv) LAFCo shall respond to the leave request as soon as practicable and, in 
any event, no later than 10 calendar days after receiving the request. 
LAFCo shall attempt to respond to the leave request before the date the 
leave is due to begin. Once given, approval shall be deemed retroactive 
to the date of the first day of the leave. 

(v) Reasonable accommodation other than leave will be granted upon 
request. Such requests must be supported by a written certification from 
the employee’s health care provider. 

E. Intermittent Leave 
 
Pregnancy disability leave need not be taken in one continuous block. It may be 
taken on an as-needed basis, intermittently or on a reduced work schedule. 
 

F. Temporary Transfers 
 

(i) An employee may request a temporary transfer to a position with less 
strenuous or less hazardous duties when where the employee’s health 
care provider certifies that such a transfer is medically advisable. 

(ii) Temporary transfers will be granted where appropriate and when LAFCo 
is able to reasonably accommodate the transfer, provided that the 
transfer would not require LAFCo to: 

 
1) Create additional employment; 
2) Discharge another employee; 
3) Transfer a more senior employee in order to make room for 

the pregnant employee’s transfer; or 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 41 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 297 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 31 of 71  

4) Promote or transfer the employee or any other employee to a 
position for which he/she is not qualified. 

G. Certifications 
 

(i) As a condition of taking a pregnancy disability leave or transfer, the 
employee must provide medical certification from her health care provider 
that she is disabled due to pregnancy, childbirth or related medical 
conditions and/or that a transfer to an alternative position is medically 
advisable. 
 

(ii) The medical certification should include: 
 

The date on which the employee become disabled due to 
pregnancy or the date of the medical advisability for the 
transfer; 
 
The probable duration of the period(s) of disability or the 
period(s) for the advisability of the transfer; and 
 
A statement that, due to the disability, the employee is unable to 
work at all or to perform any one or more of the essential functions 
of her position without undue risk to herself, to the successful 
completion of her pregnancy, or to other persons or a statement 
that, due to pregnancy, the transfer is medically advisable. 

 
H. Recertification 
 

Recertification may be required where additional time is requested. 
 

I. Fitness for Duty 
 

The employee must provide certification from her health care provider of her 
fitness for duty prior to being reinstated. 
 

J. Pay During Leave 
 

(i) Pregnancy disability leave is unpaid leave. However, the employee may 
request or LAFCo may require that the employee use accrued sick leave 
to provide pay during the period of leave. 

 
(ii) An employee may also elect, at her option, to use accrued vacation or 

other accrued paid time off, if any, to provide pay during pregnancy 
disability leave. 

 
(iii) The employee may also be eligible to receive temporary disability 

insurance payments during her pregnancy disability leave, and to 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 42 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 298 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 32 of 71  

coordinate the use of any accrued sick leave and/or vacation to 
supplement temporary disability insurance payments. 

 
K. Reinstatement 
 

(i) The employee is entitled to be reinstated to the same or a comparable 
position upon release to return to work by her health care provider. 

 
1) Where a definite date of reinstatement has been agreed upon at 

the beginning of the leave, the employee will be reinstated by the 
date agreed upon, provided that the employee has provided 
medical certification of her fitness for duty. 
 

2) If the actual reinstatement date differs from the original agreement, 
the employee will be reinstated within two business days, where 
feasible, after the employee notifies LAFCo of her readiness to 
return and provides medical certification of her fitness for duty. 
 

3) Failure to return to work on the next work day following the 
expiration of pregnancy disability leave may be grounds for 
termination of employment. 
 

(ii)  The employee is not, however, entitled to any greater right of 
reinstatement than she would have had if she had not taken leave. Thus, 
reinstatement to the “same position” may be denied if: 

 
1) For legitimate business reasons unrelated to the employee having 

taken a pregnancy disability leave or transfer, the employee would 
not otherwise have been employed in her same position at the time 
reinstatement is requested; or 
 

2) Each means of preserving the job or duties for the employee (such 
as leaving it unfilled or filling it with a temporary employee) would 
substantially undermine LAFCo’s ability to operate safely and 
efficiently. 
 

(iii)  Also, the employee has no greater right to reinstatement to a 
“comparable position” or to other benefits and conditions of employment 
than an employee who has been continuously employed. Thus, 
reinstatement to a comparable position may be denied if: 

  
1) There is no comparable position open on the employee’s 

scheduled date of reinstatement or within 10 working days 
thereafter; or 
 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 43 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 299 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 33 of 71  

 2) The pregnancy disability leave does not qualify as leave pursuant 
to the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”) and a 
comparable position is available, but filling the available position 
with the returning employee would substantially undermine 
LAFCo’s ability to operate safely and efficiently. 

 
(iv)  In the event that the employee takes family and medical leave under the 

California Family Rights Act (“CFRA”) following her pregnancy disability 
leave for the birth of her child, the employee’s right to reinstatement shall 
be governed by the CFRA and LAFCo’s Family and Medical Leave Policy 
rather than these provisions. 

 
L. Seniority and Benefits 
 

(i) In general, employees taking pregnancy disability leave will be treated the 
same as other similarly situated employees taking disability leave. 

(ii) The employee returning from a pregnancy disability leave shall return 
with no less seniority than she had when the leave commenced for 
purposes of layoff, recall, promotion, job assignment, and seniority 
related benefits such as vacation. 

(iii) The employee shall retain employee status during the period of leave, 
and the leave shall not constitute a break in service for purposes of 
longevity and/or seniority. 
 

M. Federal Family and Medical Leave 
 

In accordance with the FMLA, LAFCo shall count each day of pregnancy 
disability leave against an eligible employee’s entitlement to up to 12 weeks 
of federal family and medical leave under the FMLA. 
 

N. Group Health Insurance 
 

Pursuant to the FMLA, where an eligible employee is on pregnancy 
disability/FMLA leave, LAFCo will continue the employee’s group health 
insurance coverage for up to a maximum of 12 weeks under the same terms and 
conditions as applied prior to the leave of absence. 
 
(i) In the event that the employee fails to return from leave, LAFCo may 

recover premiums it paid to maintain group health insurance coverage. 
(For details, see LAFCo’s Family and Medical Leave Policy.) 

(ii) If the employee is not eligible for continued paid coverage or if coverage 
ceases after 12 weeks, the employee may continue group health 
insurance coverage pursuant to federal and state COBRA guidelines. 

(iii) LAFCo is not required to continue paying group health insurance 
premiums during pregnancy disability leave which does not also 
constitute FMLA leave. 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 44 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 300 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 34 of 71  

O. California Family and Medical Leave 
 

The right to take a pregnancy disability is separate and distinct from the right to 
take family and medical leave under the CFRA. Thus, at the end of the 
employee’s period(s) of pregnancy disability, or at the end of four months 
pregnancy disability leave, whichever occurs first, an eligible employee may 
request to take up to 12 workweeks of CFRA leave in accordance with LAFCo’s 
family and medical leave policy. 
 
(i) There is no requirement that either the employee or her child have a 

serious health condition or that the employee no longer be disabled by 
her pregnancy before taking CFRA leave for the birth of a child. 

(ii) Where the employee has used all four months of her pregnancy disability 
leave prior to the birth of her child, and her health care provider 
determines that a continuation of the leave is medically necessary, 
LAFCo may, but is not required to, allow the use of CFRA leave prior to 
the birth of a child. 

(iii) The maximum possible combined leave for pregnancy 
disability/FMLA and CFRA leave due to the birth of a child is four 
months and 12 workweeks. 

(iv) CFRA leave taken due to the birth of the employee’s child must be 
concluded within one year of the child’s birth. The basic minimum 
duration of such leave shall be two weeks, except that LAFCo will grant a 
CFRA leave of less than two weeks’ duration on any two occasions within 
one year of the child’s birth. 
 

Section 4.11 Administrative Leave 
 
A. In recognition that their responsibilities occasionally require work in excess of the 

normal 40 hour week, the Executive Officer and the LAFCo Analyst position 
Appendix B positions shall receive Administrative Leave benefit. This will be in 
lieu of any payment of overtime or compensatory time off for work performed in 
excess of 40 hours per week. 

 
(i) The above referenced full-time positions shall be granted eighty (80) 

hours of Administrative Leave effective July 1 of each year. Any 
employee incumbent in an eligible position for less than a full fiscal year 
shall be eligible for a pro-rata lump sum number of Administrative Leave 
hours at a rate of 3.0769 hours times the number of full pay periods 
remaining in the fiscal year. Employees working in regular positions on a 
less than full-time basis shall accrue Administrative Leave on a pro-rata 
basis, proportional to the number of authorized hours employed. 

(ii) Use of Administrative Leave is subject to approval of the Executive 
Officer. Administrative Leave may be taken in increments of not less than 
one (1) hour. In the event it is the Executive Officer’s determination that 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 45 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 301 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 35 of 71  

an employee covered by this provision has worked an extraordinary 
number of hours over the forty (40) hour workweek, the Executive Officer 
may approve additional informal administrative leave for that employee. 

(iii) No eligible employee shall carry over Administrative Leave from one 
fiscal year to another. Employees who have unused Administrative 
Leave at the end of the fiscal year shall be paid for those remaining 
hours at the employee’s base rate of pay in effect on the last pay period 
in the outgoing fiscal year in the following manner: 

 1)  Convert all unused Administrative Leave to their Retirement 
Health Savings Account in July of each year. 

(iv) Subject to advance approval by the Executive Officer, Administrative 
Leave may be taken at any time during the fiscal year, but must be taken 
within the fiscal year in which it is given. Administrative Leave may be 
used as sick leave, but only after all accrued sick leave has been 
exhausted. 

(v) No person shall be permitted to work for compensation for LAFCo 
in any capacity while on paid Administrative Leave. 

(vi) Any employee who separates from LAFCo employment shall not receive 
any compensation for any unused Administrative Leave. 

 
Section 4.12 Military Leave 
 
Military leave of absence will be granted to employees who are absent from work 
because of service in the U.S. uniformed services in accordance with the Uniformed 
Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA). Advance notice of 
military service is required, unless military necessity prevents such notice or it is 
otherwise impossible or unreasonable. 
 
Employees, who have been employed at least one year, are eligible for up to 30 days 
of paid leave for active duty training. 
 
Employees on military leave will receive rights and benefits comparable to those they 
would receive under LAFCo’s policies for other types of leave. Continuation of health 
insurance benefits is available based on the length of the leave and subject to the 
terms, conditions and limitations of the applicable plan for which the employee is 
otherwise eligible. Employees on leave for no more than 30 days will receive 
continued health insurance benefits but are responsible for paying their portion of the 
health care coverage continuation rights. Vacation, sick leave and holiday benefits will 
continue to accrue during any paid portion of a military leave of absence. 
 
The federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) also entitles eligible employees to 
take leave for a covered family member's service in the Armed Forces. This policy 
supplements our FMLA policy and provides general notice of employee rights to this 
leave. Except as stated below, such rights and obligations for Servicemember FMLA 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 46 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 302 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 36 of 71  

are governed by our existing FMLA policy. Servicemember FMLA runs concurrent 
with other leave entitlements provided under federal, state and local law. 
Servicemember FMLA provides eligible employees unpaid leave for any one, or 
combination, of the following reasons: 
 

• A 'qualifying exigency' arising out of a covered family member's active duty or 
call to active duty in the Armed Forces in support of a contingency plan: 
and/or 

 
• To care for a covered family member who has incurred an injury or 

illness while in the Armed Forces provided that such injury or illness 
renders the family member medically unfit to perform duties of the 
member's office, grade, rank or rating and is certified by the 
servicemember's health care provider. 

 
When leave is due because of a 'Qualified Exigency' concerning the military duty of a 
family member: an eligible employee may take up to 12 workweeks of leave during 
any 12-month period. 
 
When leave is to care for an injured or ill servicemember: an eligible employee may 
take up to 26 workweeks of leave during a single 12-month period to care for the 
servicemember. Leave to care for an injured or ill servicemember, when combined 
with other FMLA-qualifying leave, may not exceed 26 workweeks in a single 12-month 
period. 
 
Where spouses are both employed by LAFCo, they may take up to, in aggregate, 26 
workweeks of servicemember FMLA, provided that any portion of the aggregate 
leave that is not for care of a family servicemember does not exceed 12 workweeks. 
 
In any case where it is foreseeable that an employee will need servicemember 
FMLA, that employee must provide notice of his or her intent to take leave as soon as 
reasonably possible and provide certification of either the 'qualified exigency' or 
family servicemember's need for care as soon as practicable. 
 

Division 5.  Salary Plan Administration 
 

Section 5.1 Pay for New Employees 
 
The Executive Officer or when appropriate the Commission shall appoint new 
employees to the appropriate salary for the position, as approved by the Commission 
in the budgetary process. 
 
Section 5.2 Salary Plan 
 
A. During the annual budget review and at other times deemed necessary, the 

Executive Officer shall submit for the Commission’s consideration a proposed 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 47 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 303 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 37 of 71 

Salary Plan. Any COLAs awarded to employees will be part of the Salary Plan. 
(See Appendix A, Salary Schedule.) 

B. The Commission shall perform a written evaluation of the Executive Officer
once a year per the LAFCo By-Laws as part of the budgetary process.

C. The Executive Officer shall perform a written evaluation for employees once a
year as part of the budgetary process. A successful review may result in a raise
dependent upon the budgetary outcome and other Agency needs. LAFCo
employees serve in an “at will” capacity; a satisfactory evaluation is not an
assurance of continued employment.

D. Eligible Employees in Appendix B, hired on the effective date of the resolution
establishing personnel policies for LAFCo, shall still be eligible for the Salary
Steps listed in Supplemental B.

Section 5.3 Merit Increases within Grade 

1. Merit increases shall not be automatic, but shall be given only upon the
recommendation of the department head.

2. The merit increase eligibility dates for all employees hired or promoted into
classifications in this unit shall be the first day of the pay period following
completion of 26 full pay periods.

3. The merit increase eligibility date for employees in regular positions shall
be the first day of the pay period following completion of the number of full
pay periods of service indicated as follows:

After 26 Pay 
Periods 

26 Pay 
Periods 

26 Pay 
Periods 

26 Pay 
Periods 

Salary Grade Steps 2 3 4 5 

Employment beginning on the first working day of a pay period shall be 
considered as beginning on the first calendar day of that pay period. If the 
first working day is after the first Monday (Tuesday if Monday is a holiday) 
of the pay period, time will accrue from the first day of the next pay period 
for step increases and eligible fringe benefit accrual. 

Other than military leave, a leave-of-absence without pay exceeding seven 
(7) consecutive calendar days in a pay period shall defer a merit increase
eligibility date by an amount equal to the number of pay periods during
which the employee was on leave-of-absence without pay.

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 48 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 304 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 38 of 71  

4. An employee in a regular part-time position shall be treated identically to an 
employee in a regular full-time position except that merit increases shall be 
granted in the same proportion as hours of work relate to the hours of work 
of a regular full-time position. 

 
5. Each merit increase within grade shall be accompanied by a performance 

evaluation documenting the satisfactory performance of the employee. The 
merit increase shall consist of one step on the salary range for the class. 

 
6. An overall rating of either unacceptable or improvement needed requires a 

performance re-evaluation no later than four (4) pay periods following the 
scheduled merit increase eligibility date. If the employee shows no 
improvement, the appointing authority must recommend action to be taken. 

 
7. If, in the Executive Officer’s judgment (or, as appropriate the Commission’s 

judgment), the employee’s performance does not merit a salary increase on 
the merit increase eligibility date, and a deferment of a decision 
accompanied by an effort at improved performance might be productive, the 
Executive Officer (or, as appropriate the Commission) shall complete the 
structured merit rating and defer a decision regarding the merit increase. A 
merit increase decision may be deferred for any number of pay periods, not 
to exceed 13. A merit increase may be deferred only once for any given 
step on the grade for the class. The Executive Officer or, as appropriate, 
the Commission, may reopen the matter by submitting another merit rating 
and recommendation. An employee’s merit increase eligibility date shall not 
be changed by any deferment. 

 
8. If an employee’s merit increase eligibility date is overlooked through an error 

and, upon discovery of the error, the employee is recommended for merit 
increase, the employee shall be compensated for the additional salary he 
or she would have received dating from the original merit increase eligibility 
date. 

 
Section 5.4 Longevity Compensation 
 

A. Longevity Compensation provided to the Executive Officer:   
For the purposes of longevity, continuous service is defined as employment in a 
regular position which has not been interrupted by resignation, discharge, or 
retirement.  The Executive Officer shall receive credit for prior years of longevity 
compensation service credit for employment with California cities, counties, joint 
power authorities, and other special districts as approved by the LAFCO 
Chairperson or his/her delegate.  The LAFCO Executive Officer shall receive 
longevity compensation of: 

 
2.5% increase upon completion of the following years of service: 
10 years, 15 years, 20 years, 25 years, 30 years, 35 years 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 49 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 305 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 39 of 71  

 
Longevity Compensation provided to other LAFCO regular employees:  For the 
purposes of longevity, continuous service is defined as employment in a regular 
position which has not been interrupted by resignation, discharge, or retirement.  
Regular employees shall receive longevity compensation of: 

 
2.5% increase upon completion of the following years of service 
10 years, 20 years, 25 years, 30 years 

 
B. Employees in part-time positions shall be entitled to longevity compensation in 

the same ratio to the longevity compensation received by employees in a full-
time position as the number of hours in the part-time work schedule is to the 
number of hours in the full-time work schedule. 

 
C. Upon qualifying the longevity increase, any further pay increase shall be in 

addition thereto, and not restricted or reduced by any reason of the longevity 
increase. 

 
D. An employee who is laid off and subsequently re-employed in the same position 

within twenty-four (24) months by approval of the Executive Officer or when 
appropriate, the Commission will have continuous service credited to him or her 
for actual time worked prior to layoff for purposes of vacation and longevity pay 
eligibility 

 
Section 5.5 Overtime; CTO 
 
A. “Overtime” Defined. Unless otherwise stated in a memorandum of 

understanding, “overtime” is all hours an overtime-eligible employee actually 
works over 40 in his or her work week. Overtime is compensated at 1.5 times 
the Fair Labor Standards Act regular rate of pay. Only actual hours worked 
shall be counted toward the 40-hour threshold for purposes of calculating 
FLSA overtime pay. No overtime shall be recorded or reported for less than 6 
minutes of work. 
 

B. Failure to obtain preapproval prior to working overtime could subject the 
Employee to discipline. 
 

C. LAFCo has determined that certain classifications are exempt and not 
eligible for overtime in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act.  
Those classifications designed as exempt from overtime provisions are 
identified in Appendix B, List of Positions Exempt from Overtime 
Requirements. 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 50 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 306 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 40 of 71  

Section 5.6 Salary Payment Procedure 
 
A. A pay period shall begin on a Sunday and end on a Saturday (14 days) and shall 

consist of eighty (80) working hours. Such pay periods will be as established by 
the Auditor-Controller. Employees shall be paid every other Friday. 
 

B. Compensation for each employee for whom compensation is established shall be 
paid out of the LAFCo fund upon certification from the Executive Officer that the 
employee has performed the services set forth in such certificates. 
 

C. When an employee separates from LAFCo and use of the regularly scheduled 
certification would create an inequitable delay, the Executive Officer or when 
appropriate the Chairperson, may immediately file a special payroll certification of 
such separation with the Auditor-Controller. The Auditor-Controller may draft a 
warrant for the period of time or day or both due such employee up to the time of 
separation. 
 

Section 5.7 Employee Recognition 
 
In addition to any other compensation provided to officers and employees of LAFCo, 
Commissioners and employees may be recognized for outstanding achievement 
and/or contributions towards excellence by adoption of the Commission. This 
recognition may be in the form of additional compensation, a gift certificate or gift. 
 
Section 5.8 Overpayments 
 
A. This provision applies when the Auditor-Controller determines that an error has 

been made to either the employees earnings, taxes, deductions or accrued 
leaves. In such cases, LAFCo, for the purposes of future compensation, shall 
adjust such earnings, taxes, deductions or accrued leaves to the correct rate. 
The Auditor shall give written notice to the employee of the error. As used in 
this section: 
 
(i)  “Earnings” means the biweekly rate of pay. 
(ii) “Taxes” means payment of Social Security (to applicable employees), 

Medicare or State Disability taxes; excluding federal and state withholding 
taxes. 

(iii) “Deductions” means employee paid deductions, including but not 
limited to medical premiums and retirement deductions; excluding 
voluntary deductions (such as deferred compensation). 

(iv) “Accrued Leave” means vacation, sick leave, compensatory time off 
and all other types of authorized leave with pay. 

(v) “Overpayment” means any compensation or accrued leave that has 
been overpaid or over-credited to an employee regardless of the 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 51 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 307 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 41 of 71  

reason, including but not limited to, administrative, clerical or system 
error. 

(vi) “Underpayment” means any compensation or accrued leave that has 
been underpaid or under-credited to an employee regardless of the 
reason, including but not limited to, administrative, clerical or system 
errors. 
 

B. In the case of an overpayment of earnings or under withheld taxes or deductions, 
the employee shall reimburse LAFCo. The employee has the following options 
for reimbursement: 
 
(i) Full payment through a payroll adjustment if total amount of 

reimbursement does not exceed biweekly earnings. 
(ii) Full payment by personal check, money order or cashier’s check if total 

amount of reimbursement exceeds biweekly earnings. 
(iii) For installments made through payroll, the number of installments 

shall not exceed the number of pay periods over which the error 
occurred. 

(iv) A method mutually agreed upon by the employee and the Auditor-
Controller. 

 
C. In the case of underpayment, LAFCo will pay the employee a one-time 

adjustment through payroll. In the case of a leave accrual error which results in 
an overpayment, reimbursement may be made through one (1) of the following 
methods as mutually agreed by the employee and the Auditor-Controller. 

 
(i) Full payment through payroll adjustment if total amount of reimbursed 

does not exceed biweekly earnings. 
(ii) Full payment by a personal check, money order or cashier’s check 

if total amount of reimbursement exceeds biweekly earnings. 
(iii) For installments made through payroll, the number of installments 

shall not exceed the number of pay periods over which the error 
occurred. 

(iv) In the case of a leave accrual error, which results in an incorrect accrued 
leave balance, a one-time adjustment will be processed through payroll. 

 
D. An employee whose employment terminates prior to any reimbursements or 

adjustments being fully completed or satisfied; shall have the remaining balance 
withheld from any final compensation due to the employee, providing the final 
compensation is sufficient to provide for full reimbursement or adjustment. If the 
employee’s final compensation is not sufficient to provide for full reimbursement 
or adjustment, LAFCo retains the right to exercise other legal means to recover 
the remaining amount owed. 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 52 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 308 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 42 of 71  

 
E. Any amount of overpayment for a period earlier than three (3) years prior to 

the date of the Auditor’s initial written notice to the employee shall be deemed 
waived and not reimbursable. 
 

F. The provisions of this section do not apply to grievance disputes which contend 
that LAFCo has underpaid by misapplying or incorrectly interpreting the terms 
of this or any other previous agreement. The time limits for the filing and 
processing of any grievance shall not be deemed to be excused, extended or 
otherwise modified by the provisions of this section. 
 

G. The provisions of this section only apply to errors involving earnings, taxes, 
deductions and accrued leave. No provision of this section shall preclude the 
correction or recovery of past errors (overpayments or other losses) which 
were the result of other matters. 

 
Division 6.  Retirement Benefits 
  

Section 6.1 Retirement 
 
A. Existing PERS Contract 

Subject to the terms of this section, the LAFCO will maintain its contract with the 
California Public Employees Retirement (PERS) and the benefits currently 
provided thereunder.  

 
B. PEPRA Tier 

Effective January 1, 2013 LAFCO implemented a new pension tier in accordance 
with and subject to the terms of the Public Employee Pension Reform Act of 
2013.  The new pension tier is referred to as the “PEPRA tier.”   

 
C.   PEPRA Basic Retirement Formula 

For employee required by law to participate in the PEPRA tier, the PEPRA 
established a pension formula of two percent (2%) of pensionable compensation 
for each qualifying year of service at the normal retirement age of 62 years.  For 
purposes of this formula, PERS will calculate an eligible retiree’s pension based 
on the average annual pensionable compensation earned by the member during 
the thirty-six (36) consecutive month period immediately preceding retirement (or 
date of last separation from service if prior to retirement) or any other period of 
thirty-six (36) consecutive months during the member’s applicable service that 
the member designates.   

 
D.   Disputes Over PEPRA 

If an employee or any recognized employee association/union disputes the 
manner in which LAFCo applies the PEPRA tier to employees, neither the 
employee nor the employee association/union may submit the matter as a 
grievance under any LAFCo-adopted Grievance Procedure.  If any term of this 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 53 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 309 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 43 of 71  

Personnel and Salary Resolution conflicts with the PEPRA or any amendment 
thereto, the PEPRA or such amendment will prevail.   

 
E.   Pre-PEPRA 2.7% at Age 55 Formula Tier 

LAFCo’s contract with the Public Employees Retirement System provides 
Miscellaneous Retirement formula (2.7% @ age 55)  for employees who are not 
required by law to participate in the PEPRA tier. 
 
For purposes of this formula, PERS will calculate an eligible retiree’s pension 
based on the average annual pensionable compensation earned by the member 
during the twelve (12) consecutive month period immediately preceding 
retirement (or date of last separation from service if prior to prior to retirement) or 
any other period of twelve (12) consecutive months during the member’s 
applicable service that the member designates. 

 
F. Phase Out of Employer Paid Member Contribution 

LAFCo pays to PERS eight percent (8%) of the employee’s pensionable pay 
toward the employee Member Contribution for employees that are not members 
of the PEPRA, and reports to PERS the same as additional reportable 
compensation for pension calculations (“EPMC as reportable compensation”). 
 
Effective August 17, 2014 LAFCo shall no longer report the employer paid 
member contributions as additional reportable compensation. 
 
Effective August 17, 2014 LAFCo payment of the employee’s Member 
Contribution shall be reduced from eight percent (8%) to zero percent (0%) for 
the LAFCO Executive Officer and thereafter the LAFCO Executive Officer shall 
pay his/her own portion of the retirement costs.  Effective August 17, 2014 
LAFCo payment of the employee’s Member Contribution shall be reduced from 
eight percent (8%) to four percent (4%) for all other employees and employees 
shall pay his/her own four percent (4%) of the retirement costs; the LAFCO 
payment of the employee’s Member Contribution shall be further reduced to two 
percent (2%) and each employee shall pay his/her own six percent (6%) effective 
February 15, 2015; and shall be further reduced to zero percent (0%) effective 
June 21, 2015 and thereafter each employee shall pay his/her own portion of the 
retirement costs. 

 
G.   Employee Payment of PERS Member Contributions.   
 

1.   PEPRA Member Contributions. 
 

Members of the PEPRA tier will contribute toward the PEPRA tier 
employee contribution in an amount equal to not less than fifty percent 
(50%) of the normal cost of the new tier, as determined from time to time 
by PERS, or the amount of the contribution provided in this Personnel and 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 54 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 310 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 44 of 71  

Salary Resolution for members of the PEPRA tier, whichever is greater.  
Such contribution will be made by payroll deduction. 

 
2. Non-PEPRA Member Contribution. 

 
Employees subject to the Pre-PEPRA formulas described in paragraph 
6.1.E above will, through August 16, 2014 contribute zero percent (0%) of 
the applicable PERS member contribution by payroll deduction.  
Thereafter, employees shall be responsible for paying their own portion of 
the applicable PERS member contribution, except for any portion 
identified in paragraph 6.1.F as an employer-paid contribution. 
 

 
3.    Employee Payment For Pre-PEPRA Formula Enhancement.   

 
In January 2004, Solano County amended its contract with PERS to 
provide for the 2.7% @ 55 retirement formula.  The cost of this benefit was 
established by PERS ($75,035,452).  Solano County and its non-safety 
employees and their respective collective bargaining units agreed that 
such cost would be the responsibility of the employees.  Solano County 
agreed to allow the employees to pay for that plan enhancement by 
payroll deduction with the cost amortized over twenty (20) years.  
Similarly, LAFCo employees were originally participants in that Solano 
County 2.7 @ 55 retirement formula and agree, in conjunction with the 
contracting by LAFCo with PERS, for the 2.7 @ 55 retirement formula for 
LAFCo employees to also subscribe to that exact same cost sharing.  
LAFCo employees will pay for the 2.7 @ 55 retirement formula 
enhancement, at the same amount and for the same duration, as do the 
mid-management employees of Solano County. 
 

4.   Pre-Tax Treatment PERS Member Contributions.  
 

To the extent permitted by applicable law, employee contributions toward 
the Employee’s  and Employer’s PERS contributions will be deducted on a 
pre-tax basis pursuant to and in accordance with section 414(h)(2) of the 
Internal Revenue Code.   

 
Section 6.2 Social Security 
 
LAFCo employees opted out of the Section 218 Agreement with the Social Security 
Administration and do not receive work credit toward Social Security benefits through 
employment with LAFCo. Through September 27, 2014 in lieu of Social Security 
contributions, LAFCo will contribute the employer’s normal rate as taxable cash back 
to the employee, and thereafter such contribution shall be discontinued. 
 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 55 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 311 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 45 of 71  

Employees do have coverage under Medicare in accordance with the provisions of 
law.  This system requires contributions by both the employee and employer in 
accordance with schedules provided by the federal government. 
 
Section 6.3 Deferred Compensation 
 
LAFCo has established a 457 deferred compensation plan program through which 
employees can participate in a voluntary, payroll-deducted supplementary 
retirement program. 
 

Division 7.  Tuition Reimbursement Program  
 
Section 7.1 Objectives 
 
The Tuition Reimbursement Program is designed to encourage employees to continue 
their self-development by enrolling in classroom courses which will educate them in new 
concepts and methods in their occupational fields and prepare them to meet the 
changing demands of their jobs. While the Tuition Reimbursement Program is expected 
to enhance employee performance and professional abilities, LAFCo cannot guarantee 
that participation in formal education will entitle the employee to automatic 
advancement, a different job assignment, or pay increases. 
 
Section 7.2 Eligibility of Employees for Tuition Reimbursement 
 
Only full-time employees filing regular positions and who are performing their jobs 
satisfactorily are eligible to participate in the Tuition Reimbursement Program. 
Employees are not eligible for reimbursement if their educational costs are being 
defrayed by another agency such as the U.S. Veterans Administration, the California 
State Department of Veteran’s Affairs or the Commission on Peace Officer Standards 
and Training. 
 
Section 7.3 Policy for Tuition Reimbursement 
 
A. Courses must be related to the work of the employee’s position or occupation 

in such a fashion that will offer substantial benefit to LAFCo. 
 

B. Each course must be taken on not more than fifty (50%) of LAFCo’s time. 
Employees taking approved courses which encroach on their regular scheduled 
working hours shall be entitled to paid time off for such encroaching hours up to a 
total maximum amount of paid time off from work equal to fifty percent (50%) of 
the class time. 
 

C. Courses must be taken for credit; audited courses will not be reimbursed. 
 

D. Courses must be taken at accredited institutions. Correspondence courses from 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 56 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 312 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 46 of 71  

reputable institutions will be considered only when equivalent courses are not 
available at local accredited schools, or when the employee’s circumstances 
prevent him/her from attending local courses. 
 

E. Prerequisite courses for eligible courses or courses which are required for the 
completion of a specific program are also eligibility for tuition reimbursement. 
However, reimbursement shall not be made until the appropriate eligible 
courses have been satisfactory completed. 
 

F. Courses are not eligible for tuition reimbursement if they: 
 

(i) Are taken to bring unsatisfactory performance up to an acceptable level. 
(ii) Are taken to acquire skills or knowledge which the employee was 

deemed to have when appointed. 
(iii) Duplicate in-service training which is available. 
(iv) Duplicate training which the employee already had. 

 
G. Conventions, workshops, institutes, etc., are not included in the Tuition 

Reimbursement Program. 
 

H. Reimbursements shall be subject to certification by the Executive Officer and 
subject to the approval of the Executive Officer or when appropriate 
the Commission. 
 

I. Request for reimbursement must be approved before the course is undertaken. 
 
J. Reimbursement shall be made only upon presentation of evidence of payment 

for and successful completion of courses (as evidenced by a passing grade) 
and a satisfactory (standard or above) current performance evaluation. 
Reimbursement is made for the same fiscal year in which the course is 
completed and documentation must be presented to the Executive Officer 
within ninety (90) calendar days after the course completion date. 
 

Section 7.4 Nature of Reimbursement 
 
A. Reimbursement in the amount of fifty (50) per cent may be made for tuition, 

registration fees, laboratory fees, and required textbooks. Other related 
expenses and incidental costs are not reimbursable. 
 

B. Reimbursement shall be limited as follows: 
 
(i) No employees shall be reimbursed for more than two (2) courses in a 

single semester or quarter. 
(ii) The maximum reimbursement that may be received by any employee 

in one fiscal year shall be one thousand one hundred ($1,100) dollars. 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 57 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 313 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 47 of 71  

(iii) An employee shall be reimbursed for expenses totaling five ($5.00) 
dollars or more for a single course. Expenses less than $5.00 for a single 
course is not reimbursable. 

(iv) No employee shall be reimbursed for non-resident fees above the 
normal resident fees. 

 
Section 7.5 Procedure for Tuition Reimbursement 
 

A. The employee shall request in writing to the Executive Officer or 
when appropriate the Chairperson, tuition reimbursement. 

B.  
C. The Executive Officer or when appropriate, the Chairperson shall either 

approve or deny the request based on the criteria set forth in this policy. 
 
D. Upon completion of an approved course, the employee shall provide proof of 

fees paid and grade achieved to the Executive Officer. 
 
E. The Executive Officer shall authorize the Auditor-Controller to issue a warrant 

to the employee for reimbursement. 
 

Section 7.6 Continued Service Requirement 
 

An employee must continue in a full-time position for one (1) year from the date of last 
receipt of a tuition reimbursement warrant. Failure to continue in service to LAFCo, 
through resignation or discharge, will result in the forfeiture of any tuition 
reimbursement payments received less than one (1) year prior to separation. 
 

Division 8.  Expense Reimbursement Section  
 
Section 8.1 Travel Expense 
 
A. LAFCo will reimburse employees for reasonable business travel expenses 

incurred while on assignments away from the normal work location. All 
business travel must be approved in advance by the Executive Officer. 

 
B. When approved, the costs of travel, meals, lodging, and other expenses directly 

related to accomplishing business travel objectives will be reimbursed by LAFCo. 
Employees are expected to limit expenses to the most economically reasonable 
amounts possible, subject to the Internal Revenue Service guidelines. 

 
C. The Executive Officer may approve reimbursement for other types of 

business related expenses which are in the best interest of LAFCo. 
 
D. Employees who are involved in an accident while traveling on business must 

promptly report the incident to the Executive Officer or when appropriate, the 
Chair of the Commission. 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 58 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 314 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 48 of 71  

 
E. Abuse of the business travel expenses policy, including falsifying claims to reflect 

costs not incurred by the employee, can be grounds for disciplinary action, up to 
and including termination of employment. 

 
F. LAFCo will adhere to the adopted Travel Policy of Solano County except the 

above items (A-E) will supersede any travel related policy of Solano County. 
 
Section 8.2 Other Expense Reimbursement 
 
LAFCo will reimburse employees for reasonable work-related expenses upon 
the approval of the Executive Officer. Such expenses may include: 
 
A. Meal costs for work-related meetings that run into meal times. 

 
B. LAFCo expenses advanced by the employee to cover cost when obtaining 

a warrant in advance is not practical. 
 

C. Other expenses that the Executive Officer determines were reasonably 
work-related. 

Division 9.  Personnel Files 
 
Section 9.1 General 
 
The LAFCo maintains a personnel file on each employee. An employee’s personnel file 
shall contain only material that is necessary and relevant to the administration of 
LAFCo’s personnel program. Personnel files are the property of LAFCo, and access to 
the information they contain is restricted. 
 
Section 9.2 Notifying LAFCo of Changes in Personal Information 
 
Each employee is responsible to promptly notify the LAFCo Clerk of any changes in 
relevant personal information, including (1) mailing address, (2) telephone number, 
(3) persons to contact in emergency, and (4) number and names of dependents. 
 
Section 9.3 Location of Personnel Files 
 
Personnel files shall be kept in a locked file cabinet in the Executive Officer’s 
office.  
 
Section 9.4 Medical Information 
 
A. SEPARATE CONFIDENTIAL FILES - All medical information about an 

employee or applicant is kept separately and is treated as confidential, in 
accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. section 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 59 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 315 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 49 of 71  

12112(d)(3)(b)) and the California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (Cal. 
Civil Code section 56 et seq.), and any other applicable state or federal law. 
 

B. INFORMATION IN MEDICAL FILES - The LAFCo will not obtain medical 
information about an employee or applicant except in compliance with the 
California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act. To enable the LAFCo to 
obtain certain medical information, the employee or applicant may need to sign 
an AUTHORIZATION FOR RELEASE OF EMPLOYEE 
MEDICAL INFORMATION. 
 

C. ACCESS TO MEDICAL INFORMATION - Access to employee or applicant 
medical information shall be strictly limited to only those with a legitimate need 
to have such information for LAFCo business reasons, or if access is required 
by law, subpoena or court order. In the case of an employee with a disability, 
managers and supervisors may be informed regarding necessary restrictions on 
the work or duties of the employee and necessary accommodations. 
 

D. The LAFCo will not provide employee or applicant medical information to a third 
party (except as permitted under the California Confidentiality of Medical 
Information Act) unless the employee signs an AUTHORIZATION FOR 
RELEASE OF EMPLOYEE MEDICAL INFORMATION in the form attached to 
this rule. The LAFCo will release only the medical information that is identified 
in the employee’s authorization. If the employee’s authorization indicates any 
limitations regarding the use of the medical information, the LAFCo will 
communicate those limitations to the person or entity to which it discloses the 
medical information. 
 

Section 9.5 References and Release of Information in Personnel Files 
 

A. PUBLIC INFORMATION - Upon request, the LAFCo will release to the 
public information about its employees as required by the Public Records 
Act. The LAFCo will not disclose personnel information if it believes doing so 
would constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy. 

 
B. REFERENCE CHECKS - All requests from outside the LAFCo for reference 

checks or verification of employment concerning any current or former employee 
must be referred to the Executive Officer. Information will be released only if the 
employee signs and AUTHORIZATION FOR RELEASE OF EMPLOYMENT 
INFORMATION, except that without such authorization, the following limited 
information will be provided: dates of employment, and salary upon departure. 
Department heads and supervisors should not provide information in response 
to requests for reference checks or verification of employment, unless 
specifically approved by Executive Officer on a case-by-case basis. 

 
C. MEDICAL INFORMATION - Medical information will be released only 

in accordance with the rules set out in subsection 4 above. 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 60 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 316 of 338



ATTACHMENT B 

Page 50 of 71  

 
 
 

Section 9.6 Employee Access to Personnel File 
 

A. INSPECTION OF FILE - An employee may inspect his or her own personnel file, 
as defined in California Labor Code section 1198.5, at reasonable times and at 
reasonable intervals. An employee who wishes to review his or her file should 
contact the Executive Officer to arrange an appointment. The review must be 
done in the presence of the Executive Officer. 

 
B. COPIES - On request, an employee is entitled to receive a copy of any 

employment-related document he or she has signed. An employee who wishes 
to receive such a copy should contact Executive Officer or his/her designee. On 
request, the LAFCo will also provide an employee single copies of any other 
documents in his or her personnel file. The LAFCo may charge a reasonable fee 
for the copies these copies. 
 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 61 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 317 of 338



Page 51 of 71 

Position Description for LAFCo Executive Officer 

DEFINITION:  

Under policy direction of the Local Agency Formation Commission of Solano County 
(LAFCo), organizes, coordinates, and directs all LAFCo functions and activities, 
provides leadership, policy guidance, strategic direction, and day-to-day management of 
LAFCo; fosters cooperative working relationships with the Commission, the County of 
Solano, cities and special districts, the public and other agencies; performs related work 
as assigned. 

The LAFCo Executive Officer is an “at-will” employee appointed by the LAFCo 
Commission.  The LAFCo Executive Officer reports directly to the Commission and 
performs all duties necessary for the proper and efficient management of LAFCo as 
determined by the Commission and State Law. 

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES: 

The following is used as a partial description and is not restrictive to duties required. 
Plans, organizes and directs the activities of LAFCo; develops goals, policies and work 
programs for LAFCo subject to Commission review, directs implementation of policies 
and procedures; evaluates programs, procedures and systems for overall effectiveness. 

Receives and analyzes applications and petitions for LAFCo action; determines legal 
acceptability for filings; checks and certifies petitions; conducts complex analysis and 
prepares written reports and recommendations; attends all LAFCo meetings. 

Represents LAFCo in various negotiations with other governmental agencies, property 
owners and consultants regarding the authority and functions of LAFCo and the 
policies, procedures and funding of LAFCo. 

Prepares and administers LAFCo’s annual budget, serves as the LAFCo fiscal officer. 

Works closely with and advises the Commission, staff, the County of Solano, cities, 
special districts, the public and other agencies to implement LAFCo programs and to 
ensure compliance with laws and local policies. 

Reviews and authorizes personnel actions; evaluates the work of subordinate 
personnel; reviews work plans and progress reports and confers with staff to define 
and solve problems. Responsible for the efficient and effective performance of all 
contractors. 

Represents LAFCo before the media, other agencies, and the public. 

Actively participates in LAFCo related organizations and professional associations. 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 62 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 318 of 338



 

Page 52 of 71  

QUALIFICATION GUIDELINES:  
 
Knowledge Of: 
 
Local Agency Formation Commission law, practices and procedures; principles and 
practices of organization, management, governmental budgeting, administrative analysis 
and personnel administration; urban planning practices and techniques; federal, state 
and local laws guidelines relating to environmental protection. 
 
Skills and Abilities In: 

Planning, organizing, coordinating and directing LAFCo programs and activities. 

Analyzing functional, organization and financial characteristics of local governmental 
agencies, evaluating alternatives, and recommending effective courses of action 
relating to LAFCo functions. 

Interpreting, explaining and applying LAFCo law and policies and related state 
and federal laws. 

Appointing, motivating and evaluating staff and providing for their training 
and professional development. 

Representing LAFCo effectively in contacts with the public, the County of Solano 
and cities and special districts in the County, and other public agencies. 

Promoting cooperative relationships with LAFCo constituent agencies and their staff, 
other public agencies, public groups concerned with LAFCo functions and operations. 

Supplemental Information: 

Works primarily in an office environment but regular travel is required within 
Solano County. 

RECRUITING STANDARDS:  

Education/Experience: 

Graduation from an accredited college with a bachelor’s degree in public 
administration, urban planning or a closely related field and five years of related 
experience in a professional capacity managing public programs and budgets involving 
multiple constituencies, or any combination of training and/or experience that could 
likely provide the desired knowledge, skills and abilities. 

OTHER REQUIREMENTS:  

Necessary Special Requirements: Possession of or the ability to obtain a 
valid unrestricted California driver license. 

  

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 63 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 319 of 338



 

Page 53 of 71  

Position Description for LAFCo Deputy Executive Officer 
 
DEFINITION: 
 
Under direction of the LAFCO Executive Officer, performs complex professional work in 
support of LAFCO’s statutory activities and on a variety of projects involving: research, 
data collection and other related tasks in support of the Local Agency Formation 
Commission (LAFCO) of Solano County; responsible for a variety of specialized studies 
involving data collection and analysis, report preparation and public contact; performs 
as Clerk to the Solano County Commission, and; responsible day-to-day office 
procedures.  
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS: 
 
The LAFCO Deputy Executive Officer is a single-position management classification 
and an “at‐will” management employee who performs all duties necessary for the proper 
and efficient management of LAFCO as determined by State Law, Solano LAFCO, and 
the Executive Officer.  In the absence of the Executive Officer, the Senior LAFCO 
Analyst  acts as the acting Executive Officer.  
 
Responsibilities include developing and implementing policies and procedures for 
assigned programs, budget administration and reporting, and program evaluation. 
Incumbents serve as a professional-level resource for organizational, managerial, and 
operational analyses and studies. Performance of the work requires the use of 
considerable independence, initiative, and discretion within established guidelines. The 
incumbent possesses specialized knowledge, including urban and regional planning, 
land development and environmental regulations. 
 
The LAFCO Deputy Executive Officer differs from the LAFCO Executive Officer as the 
LAFCO Executive Officer has overall responsibility for all functions and activities of the 
LAFCO program under policy direction from the Commission. 
 
TYPICAL TASKS: 
 
• Serves as assistant to the LAFCO Executive Officer and acts in place of 

the LAFCO Executive Officer in his or her absence. 

• Ensures compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA), reviews proposals for adequacy of environmental review 
documents; reviews and prepares comments on initial studies, negative 
declarations, and EIRs prepared by other agencies; and conducts initial 
studies, prepares and supervises the preparation of negative 
declarations and other environmental documents where LAFCO is the 
Lead Agency. 

• Conducts analysis on a variety of special projects involving research, data 
collection and other tasks related to the operation of Solano County 
LAFCO; performs a variety of responsible and specialized technical 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 64 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 320 of 338



Page 54 of 71 

services involving administrative, planning, financial, legislative, and data 
analysis. 

• Manages and conducts special studies involving inter-jurisdictional or
inter-agency coordination, most of which is of a complex, controversial
and politically sensitive nature.

• Monitors and evaluates local agencies, their service capabilities and
proposals for changes or organization or jurisdictional boundaries.

• Reviews and analyzes proposals filed with LAFCO, conducts field
investigations, makes recommendations and prepares and presents staff
reports to Commission or LAFCO Executive Officer in written or oral form.

• Researches, analyzes and interprets information and data necessary to
meet State law requirements and Solano County LAFCO policies and
objectives.

• Manages contracts and consultants related to special studies.

• Makes verbal presentations and manages public participation/outreach
processes relating to pending LAFCO proposals, studies, policies, and
procedures; Interprets and explains governmental regulations, policies
and procedures to the public, governmental agencies, subordinate
staff and consultants.

• Executes the terms and conditions of LAFCO documents in
accordance with determinations of LAFCO.

• Assists with Administrative functions, including the development of LAFCO
budget, fee schedules, surveys, policies, procedure manuals, accepting of
applications and notifications of public hearing.

• Maintains, revises, and interprets the LAFCO policies, procedures and
maps.

• Advises management on the impact of new and proposed state and
local legislation that pertains to LAFCO.

• Acts as a liaison between the Commission, the public, other
governmental agencies, and organizations.

• Assists the Executive Officer in implementing Commission directions,
policies and procedures, and in developing, tracking and managing the
annual work program.

• Participates in LAFCO related organizations and professional
associations; Participates and represents LAFCO on various
committees and organizations;

• Performs other related duties as required.

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 65 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 321 of 338



 

Page 55 of 71  

EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS: 
 
Sufficient training, education and experience that demonstrate the ability to 
perform the above tasks and possession of the knowledge and abilities listed 
below. 
   
Four or more years of progressively responsible professional experience 
performing public sector planning, policy and program analysis.  LAFCO work 
experience or working in a professional capacity in city or county planning or 
public administration is highly desirable. 
 
A Master's degree in Public Administration or City and Regional Planning may be 
substituted for two (2) years of the required experience. A Master's degree in a 
closely related field (i.e. Business Administration) may be substituted for one (1) 
year of the required experience. 
 
Possession of a valid California Driver's License prior to appointment. 
 
Knowledge of: 
 
• Local Agency Formation Commission laws, practices and procedures. 

• Statutory purposes of LAFCO and state and local regulations relating to 
LAFCO; Principles and practices of public administration, urban and 
regional land planning and effective supervision and training; 

• Public administration and management principles, including budget 
preparation and control and effective supervision and training; 

• Federal, State and local laws and regulations relating to the organization, 
financing and functions of cities and special districts; 

• Research, analysis, and statistical methods applicable to management 
analysis; Communication techniques required for gathering, evaluating 
and informing; 

• State, local laws, and guidelines relating to environmental protection; Map 
reading. 

• Computer applications used in city and regional planning, including 
Geographical Information Systems Software. 

 
Ability to: 
 
• Reason logically and creatively and utilize a variety of analytical 

techniques to resolve complex and specialized problems. 

• Communicate and present concise, logical oral and written reports; 
Understand, interpret and apply laws, policies and procedures; 

• Plan, organize and conduct work assignments under minimum direction 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 66 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 322 of 338



 

Page 56 of 71  

or independently and meet deadlines; 
 

• Collect, interpret and evaluate data of a complex and specialized nature; 
Write clear and concise reports; 

• Manage and coordinate large projects and studies; 

• Gain and maintain the confidence and cooperation of those contacted 
during the course of work, especially in sensitive relationships with 
representatives of departmental and other outside groups; 

• Supervise, train and evaluate the work of subordinate staff and 
consultants;  

• Define problem areas; develop and evaluate alternatives; 

• Represent LAFCO and or act as LAFCO spokesperson. 
 

Desirable Work Style and Personal Traits: 
 

• Possess a high degree of integrity, be facilitative rather than 
confrontational in nature, work well with peers and supervisors as well as 
with difficult and sensitive organizational issues. 

• Possess a commitment to very high ethical standards and quality public 
services; 

• An active listener, supportive team builder; has strong interpersonal and 
communication skills, and demonstrates an energetic work style; 

• Embraces challenges, is objective, open minded, accountable, and is 
comfortable working in a complex political environment; 

• Able to establish and maintain cooperative and effective working 
relationships with a variety of representatives of public and private 
organizations, members of boards and commissions, legislative 
representatives, and the public; 

• Able to interact well and comfortably with individuals of diverse 
backgrounds; 

• Able to approach challenges with confidence, and maintain positive, productive 
and ethical interaction with peers, the public, the Commission and elected officials, 
and; 

• Maintain professional appearance. 
  

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 67 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 323 of 338



 

Page 57 of 71  

Position Description for LAFCo Senior Analyst 
 
DEFINITION: 

 
Under general direction of the LAFCO Executive Officer, performs complex 
professional work in support of LAFCO’s statutory activities and on a variety 
of projects involving: research, data collection and other related tasks in 
support of the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of Solano 
County; responsible for a variety of specialized studies involving data 
collection and analysis, report preparation and public contact; performs as 
Clerk to the Solano County Commission, and; responsible day-to-day office 
procedures. 

 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS: 
 
The LAFCO Senior Analyst is an “at‐will” management employee who performs all 
duties necessary for the proper and efficient management of LAFCO as determined 
by State Law, Solano LAFCO, and the Executive Officer. In the absence of the 
Executive Officer, the Senior LAFCO Analyst may act as the acting Executive Officer. 
 
The LAFCO Senior Analyst works independently, reports to the LAFCO 
Executive Officer and provides direct assistance and input on policy 
development and program management. The LAFCO Senior Analyst is 
distinguished from the LAFCO Executive Officer in that the LAFCO Analyst 
acts as program manager and project coordinator to implement various 
components of the LAFCO work program whereas the LAFCO Executive 
Officer is responsible for the entire program. The LAFCO Senior Analyst: may 
supervise support staff; oversees consultants, and; provides administrative 
assistance to the Executive Officer as required. The incumbent possesses 
specialized knowledge, including urban and regional planning, land 
development and environmental regulations. 
 
The LAFCO Senior Analyst position is distinguished from the LAFCO Analyst 
position by the requirement of advanced professional experience of high 
complexity and variety. The Senior Analyst performs complex analyses, 
research, and policy development and will routinely make presentations to the 
Commission and at other public meetings. Staff at this level exercise greater 
independence and judgment and have considerable latitude for the use of 
initiative and independent judgment. 
 
TYPICAL TASKS: 

• Conducts analysis relating to the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) and on a variety of special projects involving research, data 
collection and other tasks related to the operation of Solano County 
LAFCO; performs a variety of responsible and specialized technical 
services involving administrative, planning, financial, legislative, and 
data analysis; 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 68 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 324 of 338



 

Page 58 of 71  

• Manages and conducts special studies involving inter-jurisdictional or 
inter- agency coordination, most of which is of a complex, controversial 
and politically sensitive nature; 

• Monitors and evaluates local agencies, their service capabilities and 
proposals for changes or organization or jurisdictional boundaries; 

• Reviews and analyzes proposals filed with LAFCO, conducts field 
investigations, makes recommendations and prepares and presents staff 
reports to Commission or LAFCO Executive Officer in written or oral form; 

• Researches, analyzes and interprets information and data 
necessary to meet State law requirements and Solano County 
LAFCO policies and objectives; 

• Manages contracts and consultants related to special studies; 

• Makes verbal presentations and manages public 
participation/outreach processes relating to pending LAFCO 
proposals, studies, policies, and procedures; Interprets and 
explains governmental regulations, policies and procedures to the 
public, governmental agencies, subordinate staff and consultants; 

• Executes the terms and conditions of LAFCO documents in 
accordance with determinations of LAFCO; 

• May act in the Executive Officer's absence on a short-term basis. 

• Assists with Administrative functions, including the development of 
LAFCO budget, fee schedules, surveys, policies, procedure 
manuals, accepting of applications and notifications of public 
hearting; 

• Maintains, revises, and interprets the LAFCO policies, procedures and maps; 

• Advises management on the impact of new and proposed state 
and local legislation that pertains to LAFCO; 

• Acts as a liaison between the Commission, the public, other 
governmental agencies, and organizations; 

• Assists the Executive Officer in implementing the Commission’s 
directions, policies and procedures, and in developing, tracking and 
managing the annual work program. 

• Participates in LAFCO related organizations and professional 
associations; Participates and represents LAFCO on various 
committees and organizations as required; 

• Performs other related duties as required. 

• Oversees the daily administration of LAFCO affairs in accordance with 
LAFCO and County of Solano policies and MOUs, including A/C receivable 
and payable, payroll. 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 69 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 325 of 338



 

Page 59 of 71  

EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS: 
 
Sufficient training, education and experience that demonstrate the 
ability to perform the above tasks and possession of the knowledge 
and abilities listed below. 
 
Four or more years of progressively responsible professional experience performing 
public sector planning, policy and program analysis. LAFCO work experience or 
working in a professional capacity in city or county planning or public administration 
is highly desirable. 
 
A Master's degree in Public Administration or City and Regional Planning 
may be substituted for two (2) years of the required experience. A Master's 
degree in a closely related field (i.e. Business Administration) may be 
substituted for one (1) year of the required experience. 
 
Possession of a valid California Driver's License prior to appointment. 

 
Knowledge of: 
 

• Local Agency Formation Commission laws, practices and procedures; 

• Statutory purposes of LAFCO and state and local regulations relating to 
LAFCO; Principles and practices of public administration, urban and 
regional land planning and effective supervision and training; 

• Public administration and management principles, including budget 
preparation and control and effective supervision and training; 

• Federal, State and local laws and regulations relating to the 
organization, financing and functions of cities and special 
districts; 

• Research, analysis, and statistical methods applicable to 
management analysis; Communication techniques required for 
gathering, evaluating and transmitting information; 

• State and local laws and guidelines relating to 
environmental protection; Map reading; 

• Computer applications used in city and regional planning, 
including Geographical Information Systems Software. 

Ability to: 
• Reason logically and creatively and utilize a variety of analytical 

techniques to resolve complex and specialized problems; 

• Communicate and present concise, logical oral and written 
reports; Understand, interpret and apply laws, policies and 
procedures; 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 70 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 326 of 338



 

Page 60 of 71  

• Plan, organize and conduct work assignments under minimum 
direction or independently and meet deadlines; 

• Collect, interpret and evaluate data of a complex and 
specialized nature; Write clear and concise reports; 

• Manage and coordinate large projects and studies; 

• Gain and maintain the confidence and cooperation of those 
contacted during the course of work, especially in sensitive 
relationships with representatives of departmental and other 
outside groups; 

• Supervise, train and evaluate the work of subordinate staff and consultants; 

• Define problem areas; develop and evaluate alternatives; 

• Represent LAFCO and or act as LAFCO spokesperson. 
 
Desirable Work Style and Personal Traits: 

• Possess a high degree of integrity, be facilitative rather than confrontational 
in nature, work well with peers and supervisors as well as with difficult and 
sensitive organizational issues; 

• Possess a commitment to very high ethical standards and quality public 
services; 

• An active listener, supportive team builder; has strong interpersonal and 
communication skills, and demonstrates an energetic work style; 

• Embraces challenges, is objective, open minded, accountable, and is 
comfortable working in a complex political environment; 

• Able to establish and maintain cooperative and effective working 
relationships with a variety of representatives of public and private 
organizations, members of boards and commissions, legislative 
representatives, and the public; 

• Able to interact well and comfortably with individuals of diverse backgrounds; 

• Able to approach challenges with confidence, and maintain positive, 
productive and ethical interaction with peers, the public, the Commission 
and elected officials, and; 

• Maintain professional appearance. 
  

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 71 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 327 of 338



 

Page 61 of 71  

Position Description for LAFCo Analyst I/II 
 

DEFINITION: 
The LAFCO Analyst I/II works under the direction of the Executive Officer with additional 
oversite provided by senior staff.  The incumbent is principally tasked with performing 
data collection and associated analysis in assisting Solano LAFCO prepare various 
studies on local government as required under State law.  The LAFCO Analyst I/II also 
serves as the Clerk to the Solano LAFCO and is responsible for carrying out day-to-day 
office procedures.  The incumbent may provide supervision over clerical or technical 
support staff and is expected to collaborate and coordinate tasks with others within and 
outside of Solano LAFCO in meeting the position’s duties.   
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS: 
The LAFCO Analyst I/II is an “at-will” employee who performs a wide range of entry-
level to intermediate duties that include performing data collection and assisting in 
associated analysis in the preparation of studies required of Solano LAFCO under State 
law that culminate in making recommendations to the Commission on potential 
governmental reorganizations, boundary changes, and other related matters. The 
incumbent may also serve as a resource to the staff, committees, boards or 
commissions of other local agencies in Solano County as needed.  Other pertinent 
characteristics include: providing administrative assistance to the Executive Officer, 
maintaining the LAFCO website, responding to public inquiries, organizing agency 
records, and working with Geographic Information Systems (GIS) to produce 
maps.  Training will be provided, and as experience is gained, assignments may 
gradually become more complex and varied.  Incumbents are expected to exercise 
considerable initiative and judgment in performing regular ongoing duties of the position. 
 
The LAFCO Analyst I is the entry level class and is flexibly staffed to the Analyst II 
class; an employee in this classification initially works under close supervision 
completing less complex projects that are narrower in scope or specific portions of 
larger projects, progressing to general supervision as the incumbent becomes able to 
independently perform the full range of duties associated with this classification. 
 
TYPICAL TASKS: 

• Conduct basic to intermediate research, data collection, and related analysis in 
evaluating local agencies and their governmental services in the preparation of 
municipal service reviews and related regional planning studies. 

• Assist in various phases of processing application proposals for boundary 
changes, outside service extensions, and reorganizations of local government 
agencies including project initiation and completion, tracking and maintaining 
legal and policy deadlines, etc.  

• Utilize a variety of computer software programs to prepare: charts, tables, 
spreadsheets, maps, diagrams, graphs, and reports. 

• Respond to public inquiries while exercising independent judgement in providing 
information and/or referring questions to other staff.  

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 72 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 328 of 338



 

Page 62 of 71  

• Consult with staff and representatives of other governmental agencies on 
programs, projects, or specialized assigned activities. 

• Assist in the preparation of agendas and associated staff reports and organize 
and prepare Commission packet for distribution. 

• Support for all Commission meetings including the posting of legal notices, 
agendas, and meeting materials; staff support during Commission meetings; 
preparing minutes and final meeting records; and tracking and maintaining legal 
or policy deadlines. 

• Assist in making presentations before the Commission, other local agencies, and 
community groups. 

• Support for Commission actions including reviewing resolutions and related 
documents for accuracy; and the distribution, recording, and filing of Commission 
actions. 

• Maintain the LAFCO website. 
• Administer the Fair Political Practices Commission (FPPC) regulations and 

disclosure documents and serve as LAFCO’s filing officer. 
• Maintain adequate office supplies inventories including submitting orders, 

providing price comparison, conducting product research, and providing 
recommendations when necessary.  

• Provide administrative support such as processing time sheets, payroll/personnel 
transactions, claims and purchase order/requisitions; receiving monies; assisting 
in budget request preparation by researching and compiling information; 
establishing and documenting clerical operation and work methods procedures. 

• Manage records and data files, including administrative records, project files, 
archive files, inventory and directories of local agencies, etc. 

 
EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS: 
To qualify for this position, an individual must possess a combination of education and 
experience that would likely produce the required knowledge, skills, and abilities as 
detailed in this position description: 

 
Education/Experience: 
Bachelor’s Degree from an accredited college or university with major course work in 
public or business administration, government, finance, economics, land use planning, 
public policy, urban studies, political science, graphic information system, or closely 
related field. 
Analyst I - Experience: No direct experience is required, but experience in local 
government or land use planning is desirable. 
 
Analyst II – Experience: One year of experience performing analysis work involving 
research and data collection, including the preparation of recommendations and reports, 
or one year of experience as a LAFCO Analyst I.   Experience with geographic 
information systems is highly desirable, but not necessary. 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 73 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 329 of 338



 

Page 63 of 71  

 
Knowledge of: 

• Advanced knowledge of Microsoft Word and Excel, and knowledge of other 
standard computer applications and software such as PowerPoint, Adobe, etc. 

• Laws, regulations, and policies applicable to local government.  
• Legislative and judicial analysis resources. 
• Analytical techniques and practices to include administrative and statistical 

analysis, statistical report preparation, and graphic presentation of analysis. 
• Basic city and county planning principles and practices. 
• Budget preparation principles, practices, and techniques. 
• Principles and practices of accounting, cost analysis, and fiscal management. 
• Oral communication techniques to include presentations to groups of various 

sizes in a positive manner. 
• Composition, spelling, grammar, vocabulary, and punctuation for both written and 

oral communications. 
• Formats and appropriate terminology for written communications such as 

business correspondence, policies, procedures, and narrative reports. 
• Basic mathematics for developing, preparing, and completing numerical, 

budgetary, and/or statistical reports. 
• Best practices in office management, including filing and records retention. 
• Skills in organizing work, setting priorities, meeting deadlines, and following 

assignments with minimum direction. 
 

Ability to: 
• Prepare and interpret a wide variety of maps, graphic illustrations, and land use 

data. 
• Understand program objectives in relation to LAFCO’s goals and procedures. 
• Collect, compile, and analyze qualitative information. 
• Research laws, regulations, procedures, and/or technical reference materials; 

analyze, evaluate, and interpret the data gathered; draw logical conclusions; 
develop reasonable and deliverable options; make appropriate 
recommendations; and implement the resultant change effectively. 

• Understand, interpret, and apply applicable laws, regulations and policies, and 
use good judgement in their application. 

• Prepare and present concise written reports and make verbal presentations. 
• Prepare and monitor contracts according to Commission directives. 
• Manage a variety of simultaneous work projects and carry them through 

successful completion. 
• Prepare a variety of written communications to include reports, policies, 

procedures, and comprehensive narrative and statistical reports. 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 74 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 330 of 338



 

Page 64 of 71  

• Communicate information and ideas clearly and concisely, both orally and in 
writing. 

• Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 
performance of required duties. 

• Represent LAFCO in meeting with representatives from various public/non-public 
agencies and with the public.  

• Maintain accurate records and document actions taken. 
• Maintain confidentiality of records and information in compliance with laws and 

regulations. 
 
Desirable Work Style and Personal Traits: 

• Possess a high degree of integrity, works well with peers and supervisors as well 
as difficult and sensitive organization issues; 

• Possess a commitment to very high ethical standards and quality public services; 
• An active listener, supportive team member, and demonstrates an energetic work 

style; 
• Embraces challenges, is objective, open minded, accountable, and is 

comfortable working in a complex political environment; 
• Able to interact well and comfortably with individuals of diverse backgrounds; 
• Able to approach challenges with confidence, and maintain positive, productive, 

and ethical interaction with peers, the public, the Commission and elected 
officials, and; 

• Maintain a professional appearance. 
 
Special Requirements: 

• Possession of a valid California Driver’s License prior to appointment. 
• Required to work some extended hours to attend meetings or assist with 

presentations. 
  

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 75 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 331 of 338



 

Page 65 of 71  

Position Description for LAFCo Office Administrator / Clerk 
 
DEFINITION: 
The LAFCO Officer Administrator/Clerk works under the direction of the Executive 
Officer, performs a wide range of administrative services in support of Solano Local 
Agency Formation Commission staff, and other related work as required.  This person 
must have good knowledge of proper grammar, spelling, and punctuation and be an 
effective communicator both orally and in writing.  This person should be able to 
independently learn and follow directions 
 
GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 
Office Tasks 

• Maintains office services by organizing office operations and procedures, 
preparing payroll, controlling correspondence, designing and maintaining filing 
systems, reviewing and approving supply requisitions, and assigning and 
monitoring clerical functions. 

• Assist Executive Officer in all administrative functions of the Commission, 
conducting research and analysis in support of, project processing, Municipal 
Services Reviews, Sphere of Influence reviews and special projects. Sort and 
distribute incoming mail and prepare outgoing mail (envelopes, packages, etc.) 

• Undertake basic bookkeeping tasks, track project deposits, process vendor 
claims and purchasing card statements.  

• Perform other office duties as assigned 
 
Clerk Tasks 

• Support for all Commission meetings including legal notice, agenda, meeting 
materials, staff support to Commissioners, preparing minutes and final meeting 
records in conjunction with Executive Officer.  

• Project processing from initiation to completion. Follow up with applicants and 
complete final filing on Commission approved proposals.  

• Maintain all Commissioner files. (Ethics training, Statement of Economic Interest 
ect…)  

• Support for Commission actions including preparation of resolutions and related 
documents.  

• Coordinate with Accountant to prepare and submit accounts payable, accounts 
receivable and payroll for LAFCo staff.  

 
EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS: 
To qualify for this position, an individual must possess a combination of education and 
experience that would likely produce the required knowledge, skills, and abilities as 
detailed in this position description: 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 76 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 332 of 338



 

Page 66 of 71  

Education/Experience: 
Bachelor’s Degree from an accredited college or university with major course work in 
public or business administration, government, finance, economics, land use planning, 
public policy, urban studies, political science, graphic information system, or closely 
related field. 
 
Knowledge of: 
 
Must have strong analytical, communication and interpersonal skills. Five years of office 
experience preferred.  
 

Must demonstrate expertise in:  

• Computers and software programs typically used for data collection, retrieval 
and analysis, including but not limited to Word, Excel, PowerPoint, and Quick 
Books.  

• Principles and practices relating to budget programs. 

• Laws, regulations, and policies applicable to local government and meetings.  
  

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 77 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 333 of 338



Page 67 of 71 

Position Description for LAFCo Project Specialist 

DEFINITION: 
The LAFCO Project Specialist position’s primary function/role is to maintain a cycle of 
updated municipal service reviews, updated spheres of influence, and conduct regional 
service reviews and project reviews.  This person will generally work independently with 
some collaboration when necessary.  The position will be under the supervision of the 
Executive Officer and Deputy Executive Officer. 

This individual must have a highly specialized understanding of agency municipal 
services, city and special district operations and functions, Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg 
legislation, and interagency cooperation.  This person must be a well-rounded 
professional with exceptional technical and project management skills, and a proven 
ability to be able to be adaptable and innovative.  This person will be expected to deliver 
high-quality, outstanding reports and projects.  

GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES: 

• Management-level understanding of how municipal services function and are
financed.

• Familiarity with the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act, the role and functions of
LAFCOs, and the MSR/SOI Study process.

• Experience in governmental organization analysis, including performance
measurement and evaluation.

• Ability to facilitate and synthesize input from a variety of sources, including
archival research.

• Ability to interpret varied financial and planning documents.

• Experience in identifying and fostering multi-agency cooperation.

• Ability to conduct public input processes.

• Experience presenting and disseminating information to the Commission, local
agencies, and the public for review and comment.

• Ability to work cooperatively with multi-agency interests on regional and complex
projects.

Service Review/Sphere of Influence Updates 

• Obtain information about municipal services in a geographic area.

• Evaluate the provision of municipal services from a comprehensive perspective,
including regional.

• Recommend actions when necessary, to promote the efficient provision of those
services.

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 78 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 334 of 338



 

Page 68 of 71  

• Gather and obtain information and data for a municipal service review. 
• Prepare and issue a draft service review report which includes draft 

determinations required by state law. 
• Provide the technical expertise and administrative management to complete the 

final municipal service review. 
 
EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS: 
To qualify for this position, an individual must possess a combination of education and 
experience that would likely produce the required knowledge, skills, and abilities as 
detailed in this position description: 

 
Education: 
Bachelor’s Degree from an accredited college or university with major course work in 
public or business administration, government, finance, economics, land use planning, 
public policy, urban studies, political science, graphic information system, or closely 
related field. 
 
Experience: 
Must have strong analytical, communication, and written skills. Minimum 5 years of 
government agency experience at a management level.  
 

Must demonstrate expertise in:  

• Computers and software programs typically used for data collection, retrieval, 
and analysis; including but not limited to Word, Excel, and PowerPoint.  

• Laws, regulations, and policies applicable to CKH/LAFCO law, special 
districts, and local government.  

• Excellent written and oral communications, reports, and presentations.  
  

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 79 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 335 of 338



Page 69 of 71 

Appendix A – Salary Schedule 

Classifications represented under this Personnel and Salary Resolution are: 
• LAFCo Executive Officer
• LAFCo Deputy Executive Officer
• LAFCo Sr. Analyst
• LAFCo Analyst II
• LAFCo Analyst I
• LAFCo Office Administrator / Clerk
• LAFCo Project Specialist

1. The present monthly pay rate for represented classification is:

Classification Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 
LAFCo Office 
Administrator / Clerk $4,621.54 $4,852.62 $5.095.25 $5,350.01 $5,617.51 

LAFCo Analyst I $5,620.52 $5,901.55 $6,196.63 $6,555.49 $6,883.26 

LAFCo Analyst II $6,555.49 $6,883.27 $7,227.43 $7,588.81 $7,968.25 

LAFCo Sr. Analyst $7,576.66 $7,955.49 $8.353.27 $8,770.93 $9,209.48 

LAFCo Project Specialist $10,103.41 $10,608.58 $11,138.58 $11,695.51 $12,280.28 
LAFCo Deputy Executive 
Officer $9,669.63 $10,153.11 $10,660.76 $11,193.92 $11,753.62 

LAFCo Executive Officer $15,000.00 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 80 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 336 of 338



 

Page 70 of 71  

Appendix B – List of Positions Exempt from Overtime Requirements 
 

1. Executive Officer 
2. LAFCo Deputy Executive Officer 
3. LAFCo Senior Analyst 
4. LAFCo Analyst I/II 
5. LAFCo Officer Administrator / Clerk 
6. LAFCO Project Specialist 
  

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 81 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 337 of 338



Page 71 of 71 

Employee Acknowledgement Form 

I have received and read a copy of the Solano County LAFCo (“LAFCo”) 
employee policy manual and understand all the policies, guidelines and procedures 
stated within. The guideline manual describes important information about LAFCo, and 
I understand that I should consult the LAFCo Executive Officer regarding any questions 
I might have. I have entered into my employment relationship with LAFCo voluntarily 
and acknowledge that there is no specified length of employment. Accordingly, either I 
or LAFCo can terminate the relationship at will, with or without cause, at any time, so 
long as there is no violation of applicable federal or state law. Furthermore, I 
acknowledge that this manual is not a contract of employment. 

Since the information, policies, and benefits described herein are necessarily 
subject to change, I acknowledge that revisions to the manual may occur, except to 
LAFCo's policy of employment-at-will. I understand that LAFCo reserves the right to 
modify, supplement or rescind any or all of its policies whenever it deems necessary or 
useful to do so, at any time with or without notice. 

EMPLOYEE’S NAME (printed) 

EMPLOYEE’S SIGNATURE Date 

Agenda Item 8.B - LAFCO Project Specialist Job Classification

Staff Report Page 82 of 82

Agenda Packet Page 338 of 338


	00_Agenda August 14 2023.pdf
	Agenda Item 6.A_Minutes_July 19 2023.pdf
	Agenda Item 6.B_Financials - July 2023.pdf
	jul.pdf
	jul 23.pdf

	Agenda Item 6.C_Technical Adjustment for Encumbrances.pdf
	6.C_Technical Adjustment for Encumbrances_Staff Report.pdf
	6.C_Technical Adjustment for Encumbrances_Action Item.pdf
	6.C_Technical Adjustment for Encumbrances_Action Ex A.pdf
	JV Form (1)


	Agenda Item 7.A_FF Island Annexation Phase 1.pdf
	1_7.A_2023-05  FF Island Annexation Phase 1 Staff Report.pdf
	Policy Consistency
	Analysis
	Standard

	2_7.A_2023-05  FF Island Annexation Phase 1 staff report - Reso 1 CEQA.pdf
	3_7.A_2023-05  FF Island Annexation Phase 1 staff report - Reso 2 Pittman Approval.pdf
	4_7.A_2023-05  FF Island Annexation Phase 1 staff report - Reso 3 Sunset Apartments Approval.pdf
	5_7.A_2023-05  FF Island Annexation Phase 1 staff report - Reso 4 BBC Approval.pdf
	6_7.A_2023-05  FF Island Annexation Phase 1 staff report_Appendix A.pdf
	Appendix A contents.pdf
	A1_City Approval Actions.pdf
	A2_Will Server letters.pdf
	21.08.05_FSSD Wastewater Service for Parcels on Pittman Road.pdf
	FSSD Wastewater Service 535_475 Pittman Rd.pdf
	Solano County to Provide Disposal of Sewage - First Amendment (1).pdf
	w county amendment_14112.pdf
	Page 1



	21.07.30_PG&E will serve email.pdf

	A3_Cordelia FPD Letter.pdf
	A4_Cordelia FPD Letter.pdf
	22.08.19_Cordelia Fire District_Detachment Payment Ltr.pdf

	A4_map legal.pdf

	7_7.A_2023-05  FF Island Annexation Phase 1 staff report_Appendix B.pdf
	Appendix B contents.pdf
	B1_City actions.pdf
	B2_will serve letters.pdf
	Fairfield Arrive - FSSD will serve.pdf
	11a. Comcast - Will Serve - E Tabor Ave & Sunset Ave Fairfield 94533.pdf
	11c. ATT - Will Serve Letter.pdf
	11b. PG&E - Will serve letter.pdf

	B3_CVFPB Letter of Consent to Annex.pdf
	B4_Suisun Fire Letter.pdf
	4b. Fire District Detachment Letter 02.13.2023.pdf
	4c. Copy Fire Detachement Fee Check.pdf

	B5_Sunset CEQA.pdf
	3a. ANX2021-002 NOD 2022-12-21 FILED.pdf

	B6_map legal.pdf

	8_7.A_2023-05  FF Island Annexation Phase 1 staff report_Appendix C.pdf
	Appendix C contents.pdf
	C1_City Resolutions.pdf
	C2_Will Serve Letters.pdf
	4408 4412 Sunset Sewer Availability Letter
	Will serve letter pge

	C3_Suisun Fire District.pdf
	Exhibit p1
	Exhibit p2

	C4_CEQA.pdf

	9_7.A_2023-05  FF Island Annexation Phase 1 staff report_Attachments.pdf
	Attach A_CKH Islands section.pdf
	Attach B_FF Islands.pdf
	City of Fairfield Map022422.pdf
	Fairfield Detail A Cordelia.pdf
	Fairfield Detail Map B Island.pdf
	Fairfield Detail Map C Island.pdf
	Fairfield Detail Map D Fairfield Suisun.pdf
	Fairfield Detail Map E Island East.pdf

	Attach C_City Notice of Annex to islands.pdf
	Attach D_location maps.pdf
	Island A Overview.pdf
	Island B Overview.pdf
	Island C Overview.pdf
	Island A GP + Zoning.pdf
	Island B GP + Zoning.pdf
	Island C GP + Zoning.pdf

	Attach E_Complete tax exchange.pdf
	Agency Notification Letter - Fairfield Island Phase 1 Annexation to Fairfield _PT.pdf
	LAFCO_22-23_PropTax Exchange_2023-05 Fairfield Island Phase 1 Annext to City of Fairfield.pdf
	Exchange Amounts

	Statement of TRA Assignment - Fairfield Island Phase 1 Annexation to Fairfield.pdf
	Statement of TRA Assign Comp
	Statement of TRA Assign Com (2)


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page


	Agenda Item 8.A_PSR update for COLAs and EO Contract.pdf
	8.A_PSR update for COLAs and contract amend_staff report.pdf
	8.A_PSR update for COLAs and contract amend_staff report_Action 1.pdf
	8.A_PSR update for COLAs and contract amend_staff report_Action 2.pdf
	8.A_PSR update for COLAs and contract amend_staff report_Attach A_LAFCO PSR pay increase.pdf
	Division 1.  Working Environment
	Section 1.1 Introduction to LAFCo
	Section 1.2 Authority; Amendment; No Vested Rights
	Section 1.3 Equal Employment Opportunity Policy
	Section 1.4 Policy Against Disability Discrimination
	Section 1.5 Policy Against Harassment
	Section 1.6 Drug and Alcohol Policy

	Division 2.  Definitions
	Division 3.  Terms and Conditions of Employment
	Section 3.1 Hiring Policy and Procedure
	Section 3.2 At-Will Employment
	Section 3.3 Separation from Service
	Section 3.4 Incompatible Activities
	Section 3.5 Work Schedules
	Section 3.6 Employee’s Duty to Notify of Late Arrival or Absence
	Section 3.7 Excessive Tardiness/Absenteeism
	Section 3.8 Rest Periods
	Section 3.9 Workers’ Compensation and State Disability Insurance
	Section 3.10 Computer and E-Mail Usage

	Division 4.  Employee Benefits
	Section 4.1 Holidays
	Section 4.2 Vacation
	Section 4.3 Sick Leave
	Section 4.4   Family and Medical Leave
	Section 4.5 Bereavement Leave
	Section 4.6 Leave of Absence Without Pay
	Section 4.7 Jury Duty
	Section 4.8 Insurance and Service Plans
	Section 4. 9 Unemployment Benefits
	Section 4.10 Pregnancy Leave
	Section 4.11 Administrative Leave
	Section 4.12 Military Leave

	Division 5.  Salary Plan Administration
	Section 5.1 Pay for New Employees
	Section 5.2 Salary Plan
	Section 5.3 Merit Increases within Grade
	Section 5.4 Longevity Compensation
	Section 5.5 Overtime; CTO
	Section 5.6 Salary Payment Procedure
	Section 5.7 Employee Recognition
	Section 5.8 Overpayments
	Section 6.1 Retirement
	Section 6.2 Social Security
	Section 6.3 Deferred Compensation

	Division 7.  Tuition Reimbursement Program
	Section 7.1 Objectives
	Section 7.2 Eligibility of Employees for Tuition Reimbursement
	Section 7.3 Policy for Tuition Reimbursement
	Section 7.4 Nature of Reimbursement
	Section 7.5 Procedure for Tuition Reimbursement
	Section 7.6 Continued Service Requirement

	Division 8.  Expense Reimbursement Section
	Section 8.1 Travel Expense
	Section 8.2 Other Expense Reimbursement

	Division 9.  Personnel Files
	Section 9.1 General
	Section 9.2 Notifying LAFCo of Changes in Personal Information
	Section 9.3 Location of Personnel Files
	Section 9.4 Medical Information
	Section 9.5 References and Release of Information in Personnel Files
	Section 9.6 Employee Access to Personnel File
	Position Description for LAFCo Executive Officer
	Position Description for LAFCo Deputy Executive Officer
	Position Description for LAFCo Senior Analyst
	Position Description for LAFCo Analyst I/II
	Position Description for LAFCo Office Administrator / Clerk
	Appendix A – Salary Schedule
	Appendix B – List of Positions Exempt from Overtime Requirements
	Employee Acknowledgement Form


	8.A_PSR update for COLAs and contract amend_staff report_Attach B_Amend 2023-01.pdf
	8.A_PSR update for COLAs and contract amend_staff report_Attach C_Amend 2022-01.pdf
	8.A_PSR update for COLAs and contract amend_staff report_Attach D_EO contract.pdf

	Agenda Item 8.B_PSR Update for Project Specialist job.pdf
	8.B_PSR update for Project Specialist job_staff report.pdf
	8.B_PSR update for Project Specialist job_staff report_Action 1.pdf
	8.B_PSR update for Project Specialist job_staff report_Action 2.pdf
	8.B_PSR update for Project Specialist job_staff report_Action 2_EX a.pdf
	8.B_PSR update for Project Specialist job_staff report_Attach A_Solano LAFCO Project Specialist Classification.pdf
	8.B_PSR update for Project Specialist job_staff report_Attach B_LAFCO PSR_new job.pdf
	Division 1.  Working Environment
	Section 1.1 Introduction to LAFCo
	Section 1.2 Authority; Amendment; No Vested Rights
	Section 1.3 Equal Employment Opportunity Policy
	Section 1.4 Policy Against Disability Discrimination
	Section 1.5 Policy Against Harassment
	Section 1.6 Drug and Alcohol Policy

	Division 2.  Definitions
	Division 3.  Terms and Conditions of Employment
	Section 3.1 Hiring Policy and Procedure
	Section 3.2 At-Will Employment
	Section 3.3 Separation from Service
	Section 3.4 Incompatible Activities
	Section 3.5 Work Schedules
	Section 3.6 Employee’s Duty to Notify of Late Arrival or Absence
	Section 3.7 Excessive Tardiness/Absenteeism
	Section 3.8 Rest Periods
	Section 3.9 Workers’ Compensation and State Disability Insurance
	Section 3.10 Computer and E-Mail Usage

	Division 4.  Employee Benefits
	Section 4.1 Holidays
	Section 4.2 Vacation
	Section 4.3 Sick Leave
	Section 4.4   Family and Medical Leave
	Section 4.5 Bereavement Leave
	Section 4.6 Leave of Absence Without Pay
	Section 4.7 Jury Duty
	Section 4.8 Insurance and Service Plans
	Section 4. 9 Unemployment Benefits
	Section 4.10 Pregnancy Leave
	Section 4.11 Administrative Leave
	Section 4.12 Military Leave

	Division 5.  Salary Plan Administration
	Section 5.1 Pay for New Employees
	Section 5.2 Salary Plan
	Section 5.3 Merit Increases within Grade
	Section 5.4 Longevity Compensation
	Section 5.5 Overtime; CTO
	Section 5.6 Salary Payment Procedure
	Section 5.7 Employee Recognition
	Section 5.8 Overpayments
	Section 6.1 Retirement
	Section 6.2 Social Security
	Section 6.3 Deferred Compensation

	Division 7.  Tuition Reimbursement Program
	Section 7.1 Objectives
	Section 7.2 Eligibility of Employees for Tuition Reimbursement
	Section 7.3 Policy for Tuition Reimbursement
	Section 7.4 Nature of Reimbursement
	Section 7.5 Procedure for Tuition Reimbursement
	Section 7.6 Continued Service Requirement

	Division 8.  Expense Reimbursement Section
	Section 8.1 Travel Expense
	Section 8.2 Other Expense Reimbursement

	Division 9.  Personnel Files
	Section 9.1 General
	Section 9.2 Notifying LAFCo of Changes in Personal Information
	Section 9.3 Location of Personnel Files
	Section 9.4 Medical Information
	Section 9.5 References and Release of Information in Personnel Files
	Section 9.6 Employee Access to Personnel File
	Position Description for LAFCo Executive Officer
	Position Description for LAFCo Deputy Executive Officer
	Position Description for LAFCo Senior Analyst
	Position Description for LAFCo Analyst I/II
	Position Description for LAFCo Office Administrator / Clerk
	Position Description for LAFCo Project Specialist
	Appendix A – Salary Schedule
	Appendix B – List of Positions Exempt from Overtime Requirements
	Employee Acknowledgement Form






